




01268-EPA-5501

Al Armendariz/R6/USEPA/US 

12/28/2010 07:53 PM

To "Lisa Garcia", "Richard Windsor", "Seth Oster", "Betsaida 
Alcantara"

cc "Larry Starfield"

bcc

Subject Fw: following up on WH EJ Forum

FYI: note from Suzie.

As we'll talk about next week (and as you can see in her email), Suzie is really interested in 1 thing, and 1 thing 
only.

Relocation of fenceline communities.

Best to all - Happy new year.

Al

____________________
Al Armendariz
Regional Administrator
U.S. EPA
Region 6
armendariz.al@epa.gov
office: 214-665-2100
twitter: @al_armendariz

  From: "Suzie Canales" [scanales@grandecom net]
  Sent: 12/28/2010 06:42 PM CST
  To: LisaP Jackson
  Cc: "Morales, Toni" <  "Shapiro, Jack" < v>; 
"Buffa, Nikki" <  "'EJ Forum'" <  Al Armendariz; Jeannine 
Hale; Shirley Quinones
  Subject: following up on WH EJ Forum

Dear Lisa Jackson,
 
You may remember me from the WH EJ forum (12/15/10). I was the one who disrupted the morning by 
speaking out to express my dissatisfaction for the day’s agenda and at the government’s efforts on 
environmental justice. My actions resulted in the White House agenda being changed to allow for 
decent community input and it resulted in a face‐to‐face meeting with you in the hallway. 
 
I handed you a copy of the report I wrote titled, “Risk Assessment or Risk Acceptance: Why EPA’s 
attempts to achieve environmental justice have failed and what they can do about it.” 
 
You asked me for three things I want. I responded by saying:
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1)      I’d like to be invited to attend an upcoming EJ interagency working group meeting to 
discuss how this group of powerful agencies with vast resources could work toward prioritizing 
and relocate fence‐line communities to safety, in a way that is fair to them.
2)      Stop studying us to death. Stop  imposing already suffering communities to risk 
assessments when you already know EJ communities are at risk and incorporate the 
precautionary principle.
3)      Roll up your sleeves, get to work on truly addressing EJ issues. I said the documents EPA 
has produced have no value to us, they’re words on paper, what we need is real action.
 

Then you stood up and I asked you, “Will I hear back from you?” And you said, “Yes.”
 
A DC reporter happened to be close by, witnessed our meeting and documented 
it in an article that was picked up by the New York Times . Link to article: 
http://www.nytimes.com/gwire/2010/12/16/16greenwire‐environmental‐justice‐act
ivist‐urges‐epa‐chief‐24157.html
 
Reflections on WH EJ Forum
 
For some time now I’ve felt that this administration “just doesn’t get it.” Evidence of that was the fact 
that the WH held an EJ forum yet provided no assistance for travel. Last November, after receiving my 
invitation to the forum, I called Nancy Sutley’s office and explained to them that by definition, EJ is 
low‐income people of color. How then should we be expected to cover travel expenses? I was told that it 
came from the top: no federal money will go for travel.
 
It was only through the grace of God and the generosity of my good friends that I was able to cover the 
travel costs. 
 
But the hypocrisy was clear to me ‐‐‐  I have no doubt that the WH has spent federal funds for other 
events (i.e., state dinners, lavish Christmas parties) yet at the WH EJ forum, when I was thirsty, instead 
of getting a simple glass of water, I was given directions to the closest water fountain which was to walk 
outside the auditorium, (exposed to the freezing elements) and into another building to get to the water 
fountain. At lunch time, we were on our own but we were pointed to the direction of the cafeteria…
 
The fact that the EJ activists invited to the forum weren’t given the same consideration as celebrities and 
others invited to various other WH events tells me that we’ve being discriminated against. We deserve 
to be treated with dignity and respect. I left DC feeling very disillusioned by this administration.
 
One more thing, we keep hearing “the WH has made EJ a priority,” but what I see is our serious issues 
being  “paraded about” by the EPA and WH at press conferences and media releases in a way that gives 
the illusion  that meaningful things are being done for us, when in reality they’re not. It’s all a smoke 
screen to advance the WH agenda. My hope is that the WH and EPA stop using our grave issues to make 
the WH look good. 
 
I hope this New Year brings a renewed and sincere effort on the part of the WH and EPA with regard to 
EJ and I hope to hear from you soon on the three items you asked me to share with you that day.
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Sincerely,
Suzie Canales
EJ Activist/Advocate
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01268-EPA-5502

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

12/28/2010 08:36 PM

To Al Armendariz, "Lisa Garcia", "Lisa Jackson", "Seth Oster", 
"Betsaida Alcantara"

cc Lawrence Starfield

bcc

Subject Re: following up on WH EJ Forum

 
 

 

  From: Al Armendariz
  Sent: 12/28/2010 07:53 PM EST
  To: "Lisa Garcia" <garcia.lisa@epa.gov>; "Richard Windsor" <Windsor.Richard@epa.gov>; "Seth Oster" 
<oster.seth@epa.gov>; "Betsaida Alcantara" <alcantara.betsaida@epa.gov>
  Cc: Lawrence Starfield
  Subject: Fw: following up on WH EJ Forum

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
  Cc: "Morales, Toni" <  "Shapiro, Jack" <  
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
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01268-EPA-5503

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

01/07/2011 06:57 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

 
 

----- Forwarded by David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US on 01/07/2011 06:54 PM -----

From: "Utech, Dan G." <
To: "Moilanen, Stephen S." <  "Fetter, Steve" 

<  "Bhowmik, Rachana" <  
"Lew, Shoshana M. (WHO)" <  "Levinson, Arik" 
<  "Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov" <Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov>, 
"Bordoff, Jason E." <  David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, 
"Zichal, Heather R." <  "Deese, Brian C." 
<  "Furman, Jason L." <  
"Siegel, Avra" <  "Ferris, Ann E." <  
"Fawcett, Allen" <  "Maher, Jessica A." 
<  "Heimbach, Jay" <  
"Maxted, Sarah Jane" <Sarah.Maxted@Hq.Doe.Gov>, "DeGolia, Alexander H." 
<  "William.Pizer@do.treas.gov" 
<William.Pizer@do.treas.gov>, "cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov" <cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov>, "Levine, Brian 
S." <  "'Newell, Richard'" <Richard.Newell@eia.gov>

Cc: "Keohane, Nathaniel" <
Date: 01/07/2011 06:30 PM
Subject: RE: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 
Dan Utech
White House Office of Energy and Climate Change

-----Original Appointment-----
From: Moilanen, Stephen S. 
Sent: Friday, January 07, 2011 4:50 PM
To: Fetter, Steve; Bhowmik, Rachana; Utech, Dan G.; Lew, Shoshana M. (WHO); Levinson, Arik; 
Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov; Bordoff, Jason E.; McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov; Zichal, Heather R.; 
Deese, Brian C.; Furman, Jason L.; Siegel, Avra; Ferris, Ann E.; Fawcett, Allen; Maher, Jessica A.; 
Heimbach, Jay; Maxted, Sarah Jane; DeGolia, Alexander H.; William.Pizer@do.treas.gov; Keohane, 
Nathaniel; cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov
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01268-EPA-5506

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 01:43 PM

To Bob Perciasepe, Gina McCarthy

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

  
----- Forwarded by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US on 01/09/2011 01:46 PM -----

From: David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US
To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Date: 01/07/2011 06:57 PM
Subject: Fw: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

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
Subject: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES
When: Monday, January 10, 2011 2:00 PM-3:00 PM (GMT-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada).
Where: EEOB TBC
 
 
All,
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Best,
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Office of Energy and Climate Change
 
[attachment "DRAFT CES Memo 1-7-11.docx" deleted by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US]
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
 [attachment "DRAFT CES Memo 1‐7‐11.docx" deleted by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US] 
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
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01268-EPA-5513

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 02:25 PM

To "Carol Browner"

cc "Nancy Sutley"

bcc

Subject 2 impt things

Hi Carol,
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01268-EPA-5514

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 02:25 PM

To "David McIntosh"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: 2 impt things

Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 02:25 PM EST
    To: "Carol Browner" <
    Cc: "Nancy Sutley" <
    Subject: 2 impt things
Hi Carol,
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01268-EPA-5515

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 02:32 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Re: 2 impt things

Good, thanks.
Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 02:25 PM EST
    To: "David McIntosh" <mcintosh.david@epa.gov>
    Subject: Fw: 2 impt things

Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 02:25 PM EST
    To: "Carol Browner" <
    Cc: "Nancy Sutley" <
    Subject: 2 impt things
Hi Carol,
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01268-EPA-5516

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 04:34 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc "Bob Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

Ok.  Let me know when you want to talk.  . 
Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 01:43 PM EST
    To: Bob Perciasepe; Gina McCarthy
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
 
[attachment "DRAFT CES Memo 1-7-11.docx" deleted by Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US]
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01268-EPA-5517

Bob 
Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 06:29 PM

To Gina McCarthy

cc Richard Windsor, "Bob Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

Lisa and Gina:
 
I will be on Boston on Monday at R1.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
It looks like David McIntosh was also on the distribution from Dan.
 
If you all want to discuss before someone goes to the deputy meeting tomorrow, I could have phone time 
in late morning through early afternoon.
Bob P

-----Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US wrote: -----

To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
From: Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US
Date: 01/09/2011 04:34PM
Cc: "Bob Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
Subject: Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

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

  
----- Forwarded by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US  on 01/09/2011 01:46 PM  -----

Fro
m:

David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US

To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Dat 01/07/2011 06:57 PM
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Ex. 5 Deliberative

Ex. 5 Deliberative



e:
Sub
ject
:

Fw: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

----- Forwarded by David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US on 01/07/2011 06:54 PM -----

Fro
m:

"Utech, Dan G." <

To: "Moilanen, Stephen S." <  "Fetter, Steve" 
<  "Bhowmik, Rachana" <  "Lew, 
Shoshana M. (WHO)" <  "Levinson, Arik" 
<  "Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov" <Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov>, "Bordoff, 
Jason E." <  David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Zichal, Heather R." 
<  "Deese, Brian C." <  "Furman, Jason 
L." <  "Siegel, Avra" <  "Ferris, Ann E." 
<Ann_E._Ferris@ceq.eop.gov>, "Fawcett, Allen" <  "Maher, Jessica A." 
<  "Heimbach, Jay" <  "Maxted, 
Sarah Jane" <Sarah.Maxted@Hq.Doe.Gov>, "DeGolia, Alexander H." 
<  "William.Pizer@do.treas.gov" <William.Pizer@do.treas.gov>, 
"cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov" <cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov>, "Levine, Brian S." <  
"'Newell, Richard'" <Richard.Newell@eia.gov>

Cc: "Keohane, Nathaniel" <
Dat
e:

01/07/2011 06:30 PM

Sub
ject
:

RE: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

 

  

     
       

 
 

 
Dan Utech
White House Office of Energy and Climate Change

-----Original Appointment----- 
From:  Moilanen, Stephen S. 
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Sent:  Friday, January 07, 2011 4:50 PM 
To:  Fetter, Steve; Bhowmik, Rachana; Utech, Dan G.; Lew, Shoshana M. (WHO); Levinson, Arik; 
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
Subject:  Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES 
When:  Monday, January 10, 2011 2:00 PM-3:00 PM (GMT-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where:  EEOB TBC
 
 
All,
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Best,
 
 
Office of Energy and Climate Change
 
[attachment "DRAFT CES Memo 1-7-11.docx" deleted by Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US] 
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01268-EPA-5518

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/09/2011 06:54 PM

To Bob Perciasepe

cc Gina McCarthy, "Bob Perciasepe", David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

Looping in David who has been conveying our concerns.  Lisa

Bob Perciasepe 01/09/2011 06:29:25 PMLisa and Gina:

From: Bob Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US
To: Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Cc: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Bob Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
Date: 01/09/2011 06:29 PM
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

Ok.  Let me know when you want to talk.   
Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 01:43 PM EST
    To: Bob Perciasepe; Gina McCarthy
    Subject: Fw: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson
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
<  "Bhowmik, Rachana" <  "Lew, Shoshana 
M. (WHO)" <  "Levinson, Arik" <  
"Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov" <Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov>, "Bordoff, Jason E." 
<  David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Zichal, Heather R." 
<  "Deese, Brian C." <  "Furman, Jason L." 
<  "Siegel, Avra" <  "Ferris, Ann E." 
<  "Fawcett, Allen" <  "Maher, Jessica A." 
<  "Heimbach, Jay" <  "Maxted, Sarah Jane" 
<Sarah.Maxted@Hq.Doe.Gov>, "DeGolia, Alexander H." <  
"William.Pizer@do.treas.gov" <William.Pizer@do.treas.gov>, "cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov" <cathy.zoi@hq.doe.gov>, 
"Levine, Brian S." <  "'Newell, Richard'" <Richard.Newell@eia.gov>

Cc: "Keohane, Nathaniel" <
Dat
e:

01/07/2011 06:30 PM

Sub
ject:

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

(b) (6)

Ex.5 - Deliberative

Ex.5 - Deliberative

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6) (b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6) (b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (5)



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
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01268-EPA-5519

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

01/10/2011 12:38 AM

To Richard Windsor, Bob Perciasepe

cc "Bob Perciasepe", David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 

 
      

Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 01/09/2011 06:54 PM EST
    To: Bob Perciasepe
    Cc: Gina McCarthy; "Bob Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>; David 
McIntosh
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
M. (WHO)" <  "Levinson, Arik" <Arik_M._Levinson@cea.eop.gov>, 
"Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov" <Judson.Jaffe@do.treas.gov>, "Bordoff, Jason E." 
<Jason_E._Bordoff@ceq.eop.gov>, David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Zichal, Heather R." 
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
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01268-EPA-5520

Bob 
Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US 

01/10/2011 05:47 AM

To Gina McCarthy, Richard Windsor

cc "Bob Perciasepe", David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

 
 

 

 

This needs to be addressed. 
Bob Perciasepe
 Deputy Administrator
(o)202 564 4711
(c) 

Gina McCarthy

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Gina McCarthy
    Sent: 01/10/2011 12:38 AM EST
    To: Richard Windsor; Bob Perciasepe
    Cc: "Bob Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>; David McIntosh
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
<  "Deese, Brian C."  "Furman, Jason L." 
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
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01268-EPA-5521

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/10/2011 06:00 AM

To Bob Perciasepe, Gina McCarthy

cc "Bob Perciasepe", David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Re: Follow-up Deputies Meeting on CES

Yep. Let's discuss. 
Bob Perciasepe

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Bob Perciasepe
    Sent: 01/10/2011 05:47 AM EST
    To: Gina McCarthy; Richard Windsor
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
M. (WHO)" <  "Levinson, Arik" >, 
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
<Sarah.Maxted@Hq.Doe.Gov>, "DeGolia, Alexander H." < >, 
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
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01268-EPA-5522

"Luster, Jeffrey P." 
<Jeffrey_P._Luster@ceq.eop.g
ov> 

01/10/2011 10:20 AM

To "  "  "  
"  "shawnita.jackson@js.pentagon.mil", 
"jane.lubchenco@noaa.gov", "james.clapper@dni.gov" , 
"woodardew@state.gov", "ssuresh@nsf.gov", 
"annie.bradley@usdoj.gov" , "'robert.work@navy.mil'", 
"Browner, Carol M.", "Summers, Lawrence" , "Barnes, 
Melody C." , "Brennan, John O." , "Donilon, Thomas 
E." , "Zients, Jeffrey D." , "Klain, Ron", 
"  " , 
"charles.bolden@nasa.gov" , 
" , Richard Windsor, 
" , "jon.wellinghoff@ferc.gov"

, "janet.napolitano@dhs.gov"
cc "aretha.robinson@osec.usda.gov", 

"howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov", 
"Ashley.Chappell@noaa.gov", 
"Teresa.Christopher@noaa.gov", "robin.brake@navy.mil", 
"Damian.Bednarz@hq.doe.gov" , Paul Cough, Kate Perry, 
"merrill.hathaway@ferc.gov" , 
"Carolyn.templeton@ferc.gov" , "  
"John.T.Oliver@uscg.mil", "mike.m.sollosi@uscg.mil" , 
"Terry_Holman@ios.doi.gov" , 
"BRADLEY.APPLEMAN@js.pentagon.mil" , 
"Karen.wardzinski@usdoj.gov" , 
" v" , "Uzzell.Megan@dol.gov", 
"jack.kaye@nasa.gov", "dconover@nsf.gov" , 
"'O'BrienGJ@state.gov'", "Camille.Mittelholtz@dot.gov", 
"Janice.Weaver@dot.gov", "anne.christenson@dot.gov" , 
"Levine, Brian S.", "  
"  "McConville1, Andrew" , 
"Zichal, Heather R." , "Connors, Celeste A." , 
"S , "Ericsson, Sally C." , 
"tina.palacios@nasa.gov" , "Luster, Jeffrey P." , 
"Praskovich, Alisa L." , "Nikolaus, Roxanne" , 
"barnesmd@state.gov" , "Shanedda.bogan@usdoj.gov", 
"jstewart@nmic.navy.mil", "Deborah.D.Smith@uscg.mil" , 
"Allandra.Washington@noaa.gov" , 
"Emily.barson@hhs.gov" , "lmoorman@nsf.gov", 
"kathryn.manuel-1@nasa.gov", "brizzi.djuna.y@dol.gov", 
"howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov", "Levenbach, Stuart", 
"Weiss, Michael I." , "Miller, Jerry L." , "'Sarri, Kristen'", 
"Borlik, Bryan", "'Byron.Black@dot.gov'" , 
"'Ann.Mills@osec.usda.gov'", "Boatman, Mary C.", "Lipsky, 
Andy"

bcc

Subject NOC Principal-level Committee Virtual Action on the Alaska 
Representative to the GCC

Dear National Ocean Council Principal‐level Committee Members, 
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01268-EPA-5524

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

01/11/2011 07:44 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Fyi

 

----- Forwarded by David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US on 01/11/2011 07:42 AM -----

From: David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US
To: "Heimbach, Jay" <
Date: 01/11/2011 07:40 AM
Subject: Re: Fyi

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

----- Original Message -----
From: "Heimbach, Jay" [
Sent: 01/11/2011 07:07 AM EST
To: David McIntosh
Subject: Re: Fyi
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Give me your topline points so I can make sure I get them across
--------------------------
Sent using BlackBerry

----- Original Message -----
From: McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov <McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov>
To: Heimbach, Jay
Sent: Tue Jan 11 06:50:14 2011
Subject: Re: Fyi

Thanks

----- Original Message -----
From: "Heimbach, Jay" [
Sent: 01/11/2011 06:30 AM EST
To: David McIntosh
Subject: Fyi

Am going to discuss ces w utech later this morning
--------------------------
Sent using BlackBerry
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01268-EPA-5525

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/11/2011 08:12 AM

To David McIntosh

cc

bcc

Subject Re: Fyi

Cool
David McIntosh

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: David McIntosh
    Sent: 01/11/2011 07:44 AM EST
    To: Richard Windsor
    Subject: Fw: Fyi

 

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
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01268-EPA-5526

"Browner, Carol M." 

 

01/11/2011 10:16 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject FW: Chamber Speech

 
 

From: Collamore, Tom <TCollamore@USChamber.com> 
To: Psaki, Jennifer R. 
Cc: Fielder, J.P. <JPFielder@uschamber.com>; Freeman, Tita <TFreeman@USChamber.com> 
Sent: Tue Jan 11 08:31:13 2011
Subject: Tom Donohue's Speech for Today 
Jen,
 
Here’s a copy of today’s speech and our press release.  Please let us now 
if you have any questions. 
 
Best,
 
Tom
 
Thomas J. Collamore 
Senior Vice President, Communications and Strategy 
Counselor to the President 
U.S. Chamber of Commerce 
1615 H Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20062 
(202) 463­5686 
TCollamore@USChamber.com 
www USChamber com 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 State_of_American_Business_2011--As_Prepared_for_Delivery_v2.docxState_of_American_Business_2011--As_Prepared_for_Delivery_v2.docxPress Release - 1 11 11 - SOAB.docPress Release - 1 11 11 - SOAB.doc
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE – January 11, 2011      Contact:  Tita Freeman 202-463-5682  
 

U.S. Chamber President Looks Toward an  
Improving Economy, Promotes Plan to Spur Job Creation 

In Annual State of American Business Address, Donohue Outlines  
How to Turn Economic Recovery Into a Jobs Recovery 

 
WASHINGTON, D.C.—In his annual State of American Business address, U.S. Chamber of 
Commerce President and CEO Thomas J. Donohue was cautiously optimistic about the state of the 
economy and outlined a four-point plan to put jobless Americans back to work. 
 
“We begin 2011 in a lot better shape than we found ourselves last year.  The state of American 
business is improving,” Donohue said, pointing to expectations that the GDP will grow by 3.2% this 
year.  “While the recovery may be picking up steam, it is fragile and uneven.  There are many 
unanswered questions that must be addressed before companies will start aggressively hiring.  Over 
the next year, the Chamber’s number one priority will be to turn this economic recovery into a jobs 
recovery so that we can start putting Americans back to work.” 
 
“We face an array of potentially serious risks that at any moment could send us back in the wrong 
direction,” Donohue continued.   His speech outlined four immediate priorities that the Chamber 
will address to boost America’s competitiveness in the global economy: 
  

1. Regulatory restraint and reform—Work to reform the regulatory process—to restore 
some badly needed balance, restraint, and common sense.  We will also stand up a new 
group to tell the story to the American people about the massive costs of excessive 
regulations on jobs and their personal and economic freedom. 
 

2. Expanding American trade—Work to pass the pending free trade agreements and launch a 
major initiative to educate citizens and policymakers on trade that will clearly link global 
engagement to American jobs.   

  
3. Rebuilding our economic platform—Rebuild America’s economic foundation—the 

platform our society runs on.  Roads, bridges, rail and mass transit networks, airports, and 
air transport systems must be modernized.  Broadband capacity, power generation, and 
water supplies must be expanded.  We can create jobs, reduce our trade and budget deficits, 
and increase our own security by developing all forms of alternative, renewable, and 
traditional energy.  We will also commence a new project to outline what our nation must do 
to create and secure a 21st century global supply chain and logistics system. 
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4. Reducing deficits and debt—Support congressional efforts to lower spending. We will 
make the case for entitlement reform as any plan that fails to tackle these runaway programs 
is doomed to fail. We will also support efforts by Republican and Democratic governors to 
challenge public employee unions and their excessive payroll, health, and retirement 
demands.  

 
In order to deepen the understanding about our nation’s competitive challenges, Donohue 
announced that the Chamber is going to undertake an analysis of the American business 
community’s understanding of our strengths and weaknesses and those of our competitors. 
 
“The Chamber is examining, in a factual and objective way, the actions by our government and the 
actions by the business community that are either moving us forward in the global economy or 
holding us back,” said Donohue.  “We’ll then compare this analysis to what our competitors are 
doing with the goal of identifying the major factors that shape the decisions of job creators, 
innovators, and investors—to pinpoint our strengths so that we can build on them and our 
weaknesses so that we can fix them.” 
 
Donohue began his speech by expressing the Chamber’s shock and sadness over the tragic 
shootings in Arizona.  “Under any circumstance, the violence, injury, and loss of life that occurred 
are an outrage to us all,” Donohue said.  “We are specifically offended by the fact that this rampage 
was directed at our democracy itself—striking down public servants as well as free citizens who had 
come to engage in a dialogue and express their views.  We are praying for a full recovery for 
Congresswoman Giffords and the others who were injured.  And our hearts go out to the families of 
those who lost their lives.” 
 
With President Obama scheduled to speak at the Chamber on February 7, Donohue pledged to work 
with the administration, the new House majority, and Democratic legislators on the Chamber’s 
priorities over the next year.  He also noted the new political realities of getting things done in a 
divided government.   
 
In the coming weeks and months, Donohue and the Chamber’s leadership will echo this message 
through various speeches throughout the country.  This begins with Donohue’s address before the 
Economic Club of Minnesota in Minneapolis on January 18. 
 
“No one should expect the Chamber to march in lock step with anyone else’s agenda but our own,” 
he said.  “And our agenda is simple.  We will continue to win important policy victories for the 
business community; we’ll support, protect, improve, and advance the free enterprise system; and 
we’ll help create good jobs and promising opportunities so the people of our country can reach the 
American Dream.” 
 
The U.S. Chamber of Commerce is the world’s largest business federation representing the interests 
of more than 3 million businesses of all sizes, sectors, and regions, as well as state and local 
chambers and industry associations. 

 
www.uschamber.com            # # #            www.chamberpost.com  
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As Prepared for Delivery 
(Note: due to event time constraints, some material may not be delivered from the podium but 

remains a part of the Chamber’s 2011 State of American Business report.) 
 

 

The State of American Business 2011 
 

Address by Thomas J. Donohue, President and CEO 
U.S. Chamber of Commerce 

 
Outlook 2011: The State of American Business 

National Chamber Foundation 
January 11, 2011 

 
The Economic Outlook 
 

Thank you very much and good morning ladies and gentlemen.  
 
Let me thank the National Chamber Foundation and all the staff who organized this 

event—and thank you all for coming.  
 
At the outset, I’d like to express, on behalf of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, our shock 

and sadness over the tragic shootings in Arizona.  
 
Under any circumstance, the violence, injury, and loss of life that occurred are an outrage 

to us all. We are especially offended by the fact that this rampage was directed at our democracy 
itself—striking down public servants as well as free citizens who had come to engage in a 
dialogue and express their views.  

 
We are praying for a full recovery for Congresswoman Giffords and the others who were 

injured. And our hearts go out to the families of those who lost their lives.  
 
While the New Year has begun on this sad note, I can report that when it comes to the 

nation’s economy, we begin 2011 in better shape than we found ourselves last year. The state of 
American business is improving.  

 
Last year, we worried about a double dip recession. Today, we are cautiously optimistic 

that the recovery will continue and pick up steam as the year progresses. The new tax package 
could give growth and jobs a significant boost—which is precisely why the Chamber, along with 
many of you, worked hard to renew all of the 2001 and 2003 tax cuts. 

 
Overall, we believe the economy will expand by 3.2 percent in 2011 and create 2.4 to 2.6 

million net new jobs by the end of the year.  
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Yet we still face a number of risks that could send us in the wrong direction and our 
recovery is fragile and uneven.  

 
Housing and construction are still very weak. A new wave of home foreclosures could 

drive down real estate values and household wealth. Oil and gasoline prices are rising rapidly 
and could reignite inflation. Major states are nearly insolvent and will be looking to raise taxes 
on consumers and businesses.  

 
And, we face a long list of known and unknown geopolitical and national security threats 

that could change our economic prospects overnight.  
 
To be sure, November’s election results, the tax package, progress on a Korea trade 

agreement, and a new tone coming out of the White House have addressed some of the business 
community’s immediate concerns. Yet uncertainty among companies, lenders, and investors still 
abounds. There are many unanswered questions about regulations, taxes, and other policies that 
must be addressed in order to unleash aggressive hiring by the private sector. 

 
Turning an Economic Recovery into a Jobs Recovery 
 

When it comes to jobs, we have a steep hill to climb.   
 
Unemployment has exceeded 9 percent for 20 consecutive months. That hasn’t happened 

since the 1930s. Some 27 million Americans are either unemployed, underemployed, or have 
given up looking for work. 

 
Let’s suppose we do create about 2 ½ million net new jobs this year. As welcome as this 

would be, it would only drive the unemployment rate down by about one percent.  
 
In fact, we must create 1.2 million jobs a year just to absorb the new entrants into our 

workforce. On our current course, it could take years to get back to where we were before the 
recession and the financial crisis hit.  In my book, that’s not good enough.  

 
Therefore, in 2011, the Chamber’s top priority will be to turn an economic recovery into 

a jobs recovery so that we can put Americans back to work.  
 
To succeed, we must work to enact policies that will sustain and accelerate economic 

growth by removing regulatory uncertainty and doubling U.S. exports over five years.  
 
We must make our domestic economy more attractive to global investors, job creators, 

and start-up entrepreneurs by clearing away the impediments that are causing them to sit on their 
capital or invest it outside of the United States.  

 
And we must do right for future generations and our economy by beginning a serious 

effort to cut runaway spending, reform entitlements, and bring government deficits and debt 
under control.  
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Strengthening America’s Competitive Position 
 

To successfully improve our own economy, we must take into account what other nations 
are doing to improve theirs.  

 
Other countries are signing trade deals, forming alliances to share natural resources, and 

rapidly developing their own domestic energy supplies. Some are cutting taxes and regulations, 
pushing legions of young people through science and engineering schools, and building brand-
new infrastructure in a fraction of time that it takes to build anything here.  

 
In many respects, America is not keeping up.  
 
To deepen our understanding about our nation’s competitive challenges, we are doing 

what any smart coach or political candidate would do before a big game or important 
campaign—and that is to learn everything there is to know about their own strengths and 
weaknesses and those of their competitors. 

 
The Chamber is now conducting this kind of competitive analysis. We are examining, in 

a factual and objective way, the actions by our government and the actions by the business 
community that are either moving us forward in the global economy or holding us back. We’ll 
then compare it to what our competitors are doing. Our goal is to identify the major factors that 
shape the decisions of job creators, innovators and investors—to pinpoint our strengths so we 
can build on them and our weaknesses so we can fix them.   

 
These findings, which we plan to release this spring, will set the stage for a major project 

to strengthen America’s competitive position in the global economy.  
 
At the same time, the Chamber will seek to focus our government’s attention on a host of 

immediate priorities, and we’re prepared to work with anyone in order to make progress. Time 
doesn’t permit me to cover them all, so let me briefly touch upon a few issues in four areas: 

 
• Regulatory restraint and reform  

 
• Expanding American trade 

 
• Rebuilding the nation’s economic foundation, and 

 
• Reducing runaway spending, deficits, and debt 

 
 

THE REGULATORY TSUNAMI 
 

First, we must rein in excessive regulations and reform the regulatory process.  
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At the federal level alone, regulations already fill 150,000 pages of fine-print text and 

cost Americans $1.7 trillion a year. Many of these rules are necessary and business strongly 
supports them.  

 
 Yet in recent years, we have seen an unprecedented explosion of new regulatory activity. 

Furthermore, the administration is likely to turn increasingly to the regulatory agencies now that 
getting legislation out of Congress could be more difficult. 

 
The resulting regulatory tsunami poses, in our view, the single biggest challenge to jobs, 

our global competitiveness, and the future of American enterprise. 
 
Health Care—For example, the new health care law creates 159 new agencies, 

commissions, panels, and other bodies. It grants extraordinary powers to the Department of 
Health and Human Services to redefine health care as we know it.  

 
When the bill passed, Americans were promised that it would lower costs and allow 

anyone who liked their existing coverage to keep it. Instead, costs are rising and health plans are 
being forced to change.  

 
Officials have already raised the cost estimates of the bill and have acknowledged that the 

savings earmarked for Medicare will never materialize.  
 
In some states, Medicare Advantage participants are being told their plans will no longer 

be available.  
 
Workers who have been banking on employer-based coverage when they retire are being 

told not to count on it. And as premiums rise, thanks in part to the law’s new mandates, many 
companies are thinking about ending their employer-based plans, and moving workers into 
government-run exchanges.  

 
By mid-December, HHS had already granted 222 waivers to the law—a revealing 

acknowledgement that the law is unworkable. And, with key provisions under challenge in the 
courts by states and others, it’s time to go back to the drawing board.  

 
Last year, while strongly advocating health care reform, the Chamber was a leader in the 

fight against this particular bill—and thus we support legislation in the House to repeal it. We 
see the upcoming House vote as an opportunity for everyone to take a fresh look at health care 
reform—and to replace unworkable approaches with more effective measures that will lower 
costs, expand access, and improve quality.  

 
Financial Regulations—The regulatory tsunami is also about to wash over our capital 

markets.  
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Dodd-Frank contains 259 mandated rulemakings, another 188 suggested rulemakings, 63 
reports, and 59 studies. My grandchildren will be old and retired before it is all implemented.  

 
The Chamber’s Center for Capital Markets Competitiveness is deeply involved in the 

regulatory rulemaking triggered by this massive law.   
 
We are particularly concerned that the new Consumer Financial Protection Bureau does 

not use its broad authority in ways that deny small businesses and consumers the credit and 
financial products they need.  

 
We want to make sure that Main Street end-users are still able to use derivatives in an 

effective way to manage their legitimate business risk—without sidelining billions of dollars in 
productive capital and costing tens of thousands of jobs. 

 
And although our pending litigation against the SEC over its proxy access rule has 

delayed its implementation, that battle is far from over. We’ll continue to oppose proposals that 
would expand the ability of special interest shareholders such as unions to exploit proxy access 
rules to the detriment of companies, jobs, and all shareholders.   

 
Even as we actively participate in these and many other rulemakings, we will renew our 

efforts to create a more modern, coherent regulatory structure with more effective regulators—
areas where the new legislation fell far short. If we want to create enough jobs, we must ensure 
that our nation has the most vibrant, transparent, efficient, and well-regulated capital markets in 
the world.  

 
Labor Market Regulations and Policies—Job creators are also facing unprecedented 

regulatory activity and case law changes in the Department of Labor, the National Labor 
Relations Board, and similar agencies. Over 100 such efforts are underway covering 
compensation, contracting, leave, ergonomics, workplace safety, hiring and firing, and union 
organizing. 
 

The Chamber is going to fight hard throughout the year to challenge policies and rulings 
that are unfair to employers. But much more than workplace rules are at stake here.  

 
Some unions—particularly the public employee unions—are are pushing an extreme 

agenda that extends well beyond representing their members in the workplace. They have been 
using their position as a powerful political force to sabotage the nation’s trade agenda, which has 
damaged our standing overseas. Some want to vastly expand the size and cost of government, 
perpetuate the status quo in our failing public schools, and attack the nation’s best companies 
through destructive tactics.  
 

The sad irony is that all of these activities undermine the nation’s ability to create and 
keep good-paying American jobs.  
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EPA Rulemakings and Greenhouse Gas Regulations—We will also continue our legal 
and legislative efforts to stop the EPA from misapplying environmental laws in order to 
unilaterally regulate greenhouse gases. The Chamber will support appropriate bipartisan 
legislation to delay or stop the EPA and return the important climate change issue to the purview 
of the Congress.  

 
While EPA is starting with the largest emitters, it could eventually regulate 6 million 

entities—including small businesses, hotels, warehouses, and even churches. Before any of these 
facilities could build or expand, they would have to get pre-construction permits that take 6 to 9 
months to obtain at a cost in excess of $100,000 per permit—and even then, the permits can be 
challenged in court. This could seriously disrupt construction activity across our nation and 
throw a lot of people out of work.  

 
Beyond greenhouse gases, EPA’s regulatory agenda lists 342 rulemakings in various 

stages of development and completion. Of these, 30 are deemed “economically significant”—
each with a cost to our economy of $100 million or more. 

 
Regulatory Reform and Advocacy—I could cite many other troubling examples of 

regulatory over-reach. Here’s just one:  By unfairly imposing a one-size-fits-all test that has little 
to do with academic quality, the Department of Education would make entire higher education 
programs ineligible for federal financial aid.  
 

As a result, hundreds of thousands of students could be denied access to our excellent for-
profit colleges, universities, and technical institutes. The administration should take the advice of 
many in the Congressional Black Caucus and withdraw the regulation. 

 
How will the Chamber challenge this vast array of regulatory activities across our 

government? 
 
We will use a range of tools depending on the circumstance. We will work cooperatively 

with the agencies whenever we can to reach a reasonable outcome. We will support, when 
appropriate, efforts to limit agency funding to implement regulations. We may pursue legislation 
or seek the application of the Congressional Review Act.  

 
Yet the time has come to reform the regulatory process itself—to restore some badly 

needed balance and accountability to the system. This could be done by giving Congress the 
right to vote up or down on major rules before they take effect—and by strengthening the burden 
of proof that all agencies would have to demonstrate in court when they are imposing major 
rules.  

 
Speaking of courts, new regulations mean new opportunities for the trial bar to expand 

lawsuits. The need for legal reform as well as courtroom advocacy on behalf of business will be 
greater than ever in the coming year and beyond.  Our Institute for Legal Reform and our law 
firm, the National Chamber Litigation Center, will therefore play a critical role in the Chamber’s 
ongoing program of work.  
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Finally, the Chamber will soon stand up a new group that will engage one or more 

respected advocates of stature and experience in the regulatory arena. This group will continually 
tell the story to the American people, policymakers, and the media about the massive costs of 
excessive regulations on jobs and on our personal and economic freedoms.  

 
We cannot allow this nation to move from a government of the people to a government of 

the regulators. That’s where it has been headed under Republicans and Democrats alike. We’re 
going to be engaged in this fight for years to come.  

 
A PRO-AMERICA TRADE AGENDA 
 

Another key priority for the Chamber is to create jobs by advancing a pro-America trade 
agenda that doubles exports in five years, and doubles them again in the five years after that.   

 
Last year, we heard a lot of talk about expanding trade but we didn’t see much action. We 

have a good bipartisan opportunity to change that in 2011.  
 

Market Opening Trade Agreements—A year ago, the Chamber released a study which 
warned that the United States will lose more than 380,000 existing jobs and $40 billion in export 
sales if we fail to implement our pending Free Trade Agreements, while within months, the EU 
and Canada will move ahead with theirs.  

 
The administration must work urgently with the new Congress to approve the FTAs with 

South Korea, Colombia, and Panama. We will pull out all the stops to help get the votes.  
 
We also strongly support the Trans-Pacific Partnership negotiations to open markets and 

expand trade with some of the fastest growing Asian economies—and if Japan can make the 
necessary reform commitments to join the negotiations, so much the better.  
 

Transatlantic Zero-Tariff Agreement—And let’s not overlook America’s largest 
commercial partner—the EU. This month, I’ll be traveling to Dublin, Brussels, and the World 
Economic Forum in Davos. One key objective of my trip will be to advance the idea of simply 
eliminating all tariffs on goods in the $600 billion transatlantic trading relationship.  

 
An independent study commissioned by the Chamber found that doing this would 

increase transatlantic trade by more than $100 billion between now and 2015.  
 
We think it could also jump-start global trade negotiations and set the stage for similar 

agreements with other partners.  
 
Protecting Intellectual Property—We also need stronger global rules as well as more 

effective enforcement efforts to address the rampant theft of intellectual property in both the 
digital and physical worlds.  
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This is an issue that unites business and labor as well as Republicans and Democrats. 
Consumers should not be threatened by unsafe counterfeit products. And we cannot stand by as 
19 million jobs in our most innovative and creative industries are threatened.  

 
Modernizing Export Controls—In addition, we need to reform export control rules, 

which were designed during the Cold War and have cost us billions in lost exports sales. 
 
The administration deserves credit for the progress it has made in creating a single export 

control list that distinguishes between the “crown jewels” of American technologies and those 
that are widely available. We urge officials to get the job done soon.  

 
Fair Treatment in China—We must also continue to press our major trading partners to 

open their markets and create a level playing field for American goods and services.  
 
Our relationship with China was a big issue in many campaigns last fall. China is a vital 

market for the United States. Our exports to that country are growing faster than almost 
anywhere else. But we are also concerned about a host of Chinese policies—from its effort to 
promote indigenous innovation, to the favoritism it shows to domestic industries, to its lax IP 
protections, to its undervalued currency.  

 
Some progress has been made on these issues. More progress is needed—and soon. But 

starting a trade war with one of our fastest growing export markets is not the answer. 
 
Mexican Trucks—As we work to persuade China and others to adhere to the principles 

of free and fair trade, we must live up to these principles ourselves.  
 
That’s why we welcome last week’s news that the administration is taking a first step 

towards resolving the long-running U.S.-Mexico trucking dispute.  
 
It’s been some 15 years since the United States promised to allow safe, carefully-

inspected trucks to move back and forth between our countries. The resulting tariffs imposed 
against us and authorized under NAFTA, have cost us 25,000 American jobs. It’s time to keep 
our word. 

 
Tax Reform, Visas, and Tourism—We also need to make the United States more 

attractive to global investors, talent, and tourists.  The Chamber will work to reform our tax code 
and lower the corporate tax rate, which is the second highest in the developed world.  

 
Almost all of us are sons, daughters, or descendents of immigrants. The Chamber will 

continue to pursue comprehensive immigration reform.  We urgently need to improve visa 
processing, oppose attempts to gut temporary worker programs, and increase the number of 
worker visas.  
 

A smarter visa policy would also allow us to greatly expand one of the surest job-creating 
exports to be found – foreign tourists and all the money they bring, spend and leave behind.  
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Regrettably, many Americans think that trade agreements cost jobs, that foreign 

investment and immigration threaten our national sovereignty, and that U.S. investments abroad 
take domestic jobs away. To change these misperceptions, we’ll launch a major initiative to 
educate citizens and policymakers on trade that will clearly link global engagement to American 
jobs. 

 
Ninety-five percent of the people we want to sell something to live overseas. There are 

283 free trade agreements in force around the globe today, the United States has just 11 FTAs 
covering 17 countries. It’s time to get the United States back into the game in a vigorous way.  

 
REBUILDING OUR ECONOMIC FOUNDATION 
 

Another priority we’re putting front and center this year is the need to rebuild America’s 
economic foundation—the platform on which our society runs.  

 
Roads, bridges, rail and mass transit networks, airports, and air transport systems must be 

modernized. Broadband capacity, power generation, and water supplies must be expanded. If we 
fail to act as growth returns, we will soon run out of capacity. Our economy will hit the wall and 
we will be physically unable to grow. We’ll lose jobs and even lives as a result.  
 

Investing in Transportation—Our core surface transportation, aviation, and water 
resources programs are all operating under a series of short-term funding extensions. Neither 
states nor private investors can get projects off the drawing board with this kind of uncertainty—
American jobs hang in the balance.  
 

The Chamber will lead the fight to remove the regulatory, financial, and legal barriers 
that have locked away hundreds of billions of dollars in private infrastructure spending. But we 
must also have a strong, consistent, and reliable federal commitment to infrastructure—or these 
private dollars will go somewhere else.  
 

Developing American Energy—With crude oil prices on the rise again, we are also 
reminded of the compelling need to develop more of our own vast energy and other natural 
resources.  

 
According to one study, increasing access to America’s domestic oil and gas resources 

could, by 2025, create a minimum of 530,000 jobs, $150 billion in government revenue, and the 
equivalent of four million barrels of oil per day. 

 
Yet instead of moving forward, we are slipping backwards. Government delays in issuing 

permits for energy development in the Gulf of Mexico have prompted companies to move 
drilling rigs—and jobs—to other oil producing countries. Excluding the Eastern Gulf of Mexico 
and the Atlantic and Pacific coasts from the upcoming Five Year offshore plan will seriously 
undercut jobs and America’s energy security. 
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There’s no good or valid reason to send our money to other countries to pay for 
something we have plenty of right here at home. We can create jobs, reduce our trade and budget 
deficits, and increase our own security by prudently developing all forms of alternative, 
renewable, and traditional energy.  
 

Global Supply Chain—In order to expand trade and move people, goods, information, 
and money throughout the country and around the world, we must focus new attention on 
America’s global supply chain. We need to connect our entire economy in a seamless 21st 
century system of superior transportation, high speed information and communications 
technology, and modern seaports, airports and border crossings. 

 
And so we have just engaged Jack Potter, the former Postmaster General of the United 

States, to lead an important new project for us. He will consult with the leading supply chain 
firms and experts worldwide and help us rally the business community around a plan to improve, 
maintain, secure, and advocate for a 21st century global supply chain and logistics system.  

 
Restoring Educational Excellence—Rebuilding America’s economic foundation is 

about more than the physical infrastructure.  It is fundamentally about people—developing the 
talents of our children and workers, and ensuring that our country continues to lead the world in 
innovation.  

 
In 2011, the Chamber will continue to mobilize our grassroots federation to the cause of 

improving educational and training opportunities for all Americans. This is more than an 
economic issue. How can any of us sit still when millions of American children are trapped in 
failing schools and a third of them don’t even get a high school diploma? This is a moral outrage 
and a ticking social time bomb. 

 
I commend President Obama for challenging some of the orthodoxy among his own 

political supporters. But we must move faster and more ambitiously on fundamental school 
reform or we will all pay a horrific price in the years ahead.  

 
AMERICA’S DEBT CRISIS  

 
Business, like all Americans, must also do its part to help address another defining 

challenge of our times—the growth of government spending and entitlements, and with it, the 
explosion of government debt. 

 
The national debt already exceeds $14 trillion and is on track to nearly double over the 

next decade. Our current fiscal path leads to only one destination—insolvency. 
 

The conventional wisdom says that no effort to address deficits will be considered until 
after the 2012 elections. But we can’t wait that long. At the very least, a serious down payment 
on bringing deficits and debt under control should be made this year.   
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To control deficits, we must first put unemployed Americans back to work so that they 
are paying taxes instead of collecting benefits. But Congress and the administration must also 
move swiftly to reduce spending. The Chamber will support strong proposals even if we don’t 
like all the details.  

 
We’ll also make the case for entitlement reform because any plan that fails to tackle these 

runaway programs is doomed to fail. And, we’re going to support efforts by Republican and 
Democratic governors to challenge public employee unions and their excessive payroll, health, 
and retirement demands which are causing states to accumulate massive and unsustainable debt.  
 
Getting Things Done in a Divided Government 
 

Ladies and gentlemen, let me end where I began—on a note of optimism about our 
economy. It is picking up steam. We’ll see stronger job creation. And while the philosophical 
gap on some issues will be too wide to bridge, I believe our elected officials can find enough 
common ground—or at least some shared enlightened self-interest—to make progress on the 
priorities I have outlined today.  

 
To help persuade them, the Chamber will keep our grassroots systems—including our 

voter education and issue advocacy programs—fully mobilized, funded, and fired up throughout 
2011.  

 
We’ll continue to expand our free enterprise campaign and educate all Americans about 

the need for a proven economic system based on open markets, limited government, and the 
freedom to take a risk, work hard, and be rewarded for those efforts.  

 
We will also significantly expand our efforts to support small businesses and do 

everything we can to ensure their success. At the same time, we will get small businesses more 
actively engaged in the Chamber’s political, legislative, and advocacy efforts.  

 
And while we’re doing that, the Chamber will vigorously defend the rights of companies 

and the associations that represent them to lobby, to petition the government, and to fully 
participate in the political and policy debates that will shape the future of our country. We will 
not allow the business community to be intimidated and we will use every tool at our disposal to 
challenge those who try to silence our voice.  

 
Our approach in Washington will be to call them as we see them. We’ll continue to have 

our differences with the White House on some issues but we’ll work together on other issues. 
We’ll support the new House leadership on many occasions, and we’ll work with Democratic 
legislators as well, but no one should expect the Chamber to march in lock step with anyone.  

 
We have a clear mission and agenda of our own: 
 
It’s to continue to win important policy victories for our members and the American 

business community. 
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It’s to support, protect, and advance the free enterprise system that made this country 

great.  
 
And it’s to help create good jobs and promising opportunities for all the people of our 

country so that they can achieve the American dream. 
 
I want to thank you again for coming today. We look forward to working with all of you 

throughout this year and beyond to vigorously and proudly represent the one institution in our 
nation that really works, the one institution that can put our nation back to work—the American 
business community.  

 
Thank you very much.  
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01268-EPA-5527

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/11/2011 10:19 AM

To "Seth Oster"

cc "Gina (Sheila) McCarthy", "David McIntosh"

bcc

Subject Fw: Chamber Speech

 

  From: "Browner, Carol M." [
  Sent: 01/11/2011 10:16 AM EST
  To: Richard Windsor
  Subject: FW: Chamber Speech

 
 

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
www.USChamber.com 
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 State_of_American_Business_2011--As_Prepared_for_Delivery_v2.docxState_of_American_Business_2011--As_Prepared_for_Delivery_v2.docxPress Release - 1 11 11 - SOAB.docPress Release - 1 11 11 - SOAB.doc
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 [attachment "State_of_American_Business_2011‐‐As_Prepared_for_Delivery_v2.docx" deleted by Seth 
Oster/DC/USEPA/US] [attachment "Press Release ‐ 1 11 11 ‐ SOAB.doc" deleted by Seth 
Oster/DC/USEPA/US] 
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
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01268-EPA-5531

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/12/2011 10:58 AM

To Bob Perciasepe, Peter Silva

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: NOC Principal-level committee virtual action on the GCC 
Slate and ORM-IPC Charter

 

----- Forwarded by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US on 01/12/2011 10:52 AM -----

From: "Sutley, Nancy H." <
To: "  <  "  <  "  

<  "  <  "shawnita.jackson@js.pentagon.mil" 
<shawnita.jackson@js.pentagon.mil>, "jane.lubchenco@noaa.gov" <jane.lubchenco@noaa.gov>, 
"james.clapper@dni.gov" <james.clapper@dni.gov>, "woodardew@state.gov" 
<woodardew@state.gov>, "ssuresh@nsf.gov" <ssuresh@nsf.gov>, "annie.bradley@usdoj.gov" 
<annie.bradley@usdoj.gov>, "robert.rangel@sd.mil" <robert.rangel@sd.mil>, "Browner, Carol M." 
<  "Summers, Lawrence" 
<  "Barnes, Melody C." <  
"Brennan, John O." <  "Donilon, Thomas E." 
<  "Zients, Jeffrey D." <  
"Klain, Ron" <  "  <  
"kensalazar@ios.doi.gov" <kensalazar@ios.doi.gov>, "charles.bolden@nasa.gov" 
<charles.bolden@nasa.gov>, "  <  
Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "  
<  "jon.wellinghoff@ferc.gov" <jon.wellinghoff@ferc.gov>, 
"janet.napolitano@dhs.gov" <janet.napolitano@dhs.gov>

Cc: "aretha.robinson@osec.usda.gov" <aretha.robinson@osec.usda.gov>, 
"howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov" <howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov>, "Ashley.Chappell@noaa.gov" 
<Ashley.Chappell@noaa.gov>, "Teresa.Christopher@noaa.gov" <Teresa.Christopher@noaa.gov>, 
"robin.brake@navy.mil" <robin.brake@navy.mil>, "Damian.Bednarz@hq.doe.gov" 
<Damian.Bednarz@hq.doe.gov>, Paul Cough/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Kate 
Perry/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "merrill.hathaway@ferc.gov" <merrill.hathaway@ferc.gov>, 
"Carolyn.templeton@ferc.gov" <Carolyn.templeton@ferc.gov>, "  
<  "John.T.Oliver@uscg.mil" <John.T.Oliver@uscg.mil>, 
"mike.m.sollosi@uscg.mil" <mike.m.sollosi@uscg.mil>, "Terry_Holman@ios.doi.gov" 
<Terry_Holman@ios.doi.gov>, "BRADLEY.APPLEMAN@js.pentagon.mil" 
<BRADLEY.APPLEMAN@js.pentagon.mil>, "Karen.wardzinski@usdoj.gov" 
<Karen.wardzinski@usdoj.gov>, "  < v>, 
"Uzzell.Megan@dol.gov" <Uzzell.Megan@dol.gov>, "jack.kaye@nasa.gov" 
<jack.kaye@nasa.gov>, "dconover@nsf.gov" <dconover@nsf.gov>, "O'BrienGJ@state.gov" 
<O?BrienGJ@state.gov>, "Camille.Mittelholtz@dot.gov" <Camille.Mittelholtz@dot.gov>, 
"Janice.Weaver@dot.gov" <Janice.Weaver@dot.gov>, "anne.christenson@dot.gov" 
<anne.christenson@dot.gov>, "Levine, Brian S." <  
"  <  
"  <  "McConville, Drew" 
<  "Zichal, Heather R." <  
"Connors, Celeste A." <  "  
<  "Ericsson, Sally C." <  
"tina.palacios@nasa.gov" <tina.palacios@nasa.gov>, "Luster, Jeffrey P." 
<  "Praskovich, Alisa L." <  
"Nikolaus, Roxanne" <  "aretha.robinson@osec.usda.gov" 
<aretha.robinson@osec.usda.gov>, "barnesmd@state.gov" <barnesmd@state.gov>, 
"Shanedda.bogan@usdoj.gov" <Shanedda.bogan@usdoj.gov>, "jstewart@nmic.navy.mil" 
<jstewart@nmic.navy.mil>, "Deborah.D.Smith@uscg.mil" <Deborah.D.Smith@uscg.mil>, 
"Allandra.Washington@noaa.gov" <Allandra.Washington@noaa.gov>, "Emily.barson@hhs.gov" 
<Emily.barson@hhs.gov>, "lmoorman@nsf.gov" <lmoorman@nsf.gov>, 
"kathryn.manuel-1@nasa.gov" <kathryn.manuel-1@nasa.gov>, "brizzi.djuna.y@dol.gov" 
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Ex.5 - Deliberative
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<brizzi.djuna.y@dol.gov>, "howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov" <howard.hankin@wdc.usda.gov>, 
"Levenbach, Stuart" <

Date: 12/28/2010 02:06 PM
Subject: NOC Principal-level committee virtual action on the GCC Slate and ORM-IPC Charter

Dear National Ocean Council Members:
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 
 

 
  

 
Nancy H. Sutley                                                                John P. Holdren
Chair, Council on Environmental Quality                Director, Office of Science and Technology Policy 
Co‐Chair National Ocean Council                               Co‐Chair National Ocean Council
 
 

   GCC Slate (revised 12-27-10)(with Jan 7 due date).pdf    GCC Slate (revised 12-27-10)(with Jan 7 due date).pdf    ORM-IPC Charter (with Jan 7 due date).pdf    ORM-IPC Charter (with Jan 7 due date).pdf  
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DELIBERATIVE PRE-DECISIONAL COMMUNICATION ~ NOT ADMINISTRATION POLICY ~ DO NOT RELEASE 

 

National Ocean Council 

ACTION ITEM  
DECISION NEEDED 

 
TOPIC:  Governance Coordinating Committee (GCC) Selection 
 
Overview 
Executive Order 13547, Stewardship of the Ocean, Our Coasts, and the Great Lakes, establishes the GCC.  

The role of the GCC is to serve as a formal body for State, tribal, and local government representatives 

to deliberate and coordinate with the National Ocean Council (Council)on issues of inter-jurisdictional 

collaboration and cooperation on the National Policy and related matters.  The GCC will consist of 

eighteen officials from State, tribal, and local governments serving staggered two-year terms, and must 

be either an elected official or be designated by an elected official with jurisdiction to act on that 

official’s behalf for purposes of the GCC.  Nominees were to be evaluated utilizing the Council-approved 

GCC Selection Criteria.  Broadly speaking, these criteria included; knowledge and experience on 

maritime or land use stewardship issues, including economic, social, conservation, commerce, trade, 

energy, recreation, agriculture, national security, and underserved communities. 

 

The GCC Selection Committee, which is comprised of Council Deputies Byron Black (DOT), Laura Davis 

(DOI), and Dr. Larry Robinson (NOAA), reviewed the pool of GCC nominees and finalized a slate for NOC 

Deputy and Principal approval.  The Selection Committee presented the 2011 GCC slate for l Deputy-

level Committee approval at its December 16 meeting.   At the meeting, it was recommended that each 

newly appointed GCC member serve a minimum one-year term, to afford the Council flexibility in 

developing an effective strategy to stagger the terms based on GCC member input and consideration of 

any relevant  issues that may arise during that first year.  The Deputies-level Committee approved the 

GCC slate, and adopted the recommendation that each nominee be selected for an initial one-year term.   

 

Given the importance in standing up the GCC in accordance with the aggressive timeline outlined in the 

Final Recommendations, the Principal-level Committee must expeditiously approve the GCC slate 

virtually in lieu of delaying action until its next meeting.   Principal-level Committee approval is the last 

step prior to official GCC member selection, and requires our full consensus.  Please note that we have 

yet to receive the Inland State nominees.  They will be sent at a future date for review and action. 

 
The attachment (2011 GCC Slate) is the Deputy-level Committee’s approved slate of nominees.  It is 
important to note that each GCC nominee has undergone a detailed vetting and screening process 
conducted jointly by the White House Office of Presidential Personnel and CEQ/OSTP General Counsel.  
The Deputy-level Committee members and agency Senior Staff Contacts have additional background 
material regarding the membership slate for the GCC. 
 
Action Requested of Principal Committee 
Approve GCC slate 
 
Timeline 
Due January 7, 2011  
 
Attachment 
2011 GCC Slate  
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2011 Governance Coordinating Committee 
Member Slate 

 
The 2011 Governance Coordinating Committee (GCC) member slate is organized by the five GCC 
categories of seats, starting first with the State regional representatives, followed by the tribal officials, 
local government officials, and the State legislative representative.  This slate overview provides a 
synopsis of the nominees, summarizing the geographical areas they represent, current job title, and the 
career highlights the GCC Selection Committee thought were most relevant to meeting the GCC selection 
criteria.  More detailed information on each nominee, including current resumes and biographies, is 
included in the 2011 GCC Slate Background Information document.  There is a placeholder for the inland 
State regional representatives, since the NOC has yet to receive any formal nominees for this category.  
Once nominations in this category are received, the GCC Selection Committee will review them, and its 
recommendation will be subsequently provided to the NOC Deputies for consideration. 
 

State Regional Representatives 

 
Brian Baird: California (West Coast Region) 
Assistant Secretary for Ocean and Coastal Policy, California Natural Resources Agency 
 
Director of the CA Ocean Resources Management Program under three CA Governors.  Chief author of 
the CA Ocean Strategies for Governors Schwarzenegger and Wilson.  Current Executive Committee 
Member and former Chair of the U.S. Coastal States Organization, and former Chair of its Ocean Policy 
Committee.  Commissioner of the CA Coastal Commission.  CA's representative on the West Coast 
Governors' Agreement on Ocean Health and the Pacific Coast Collaborative.  2008 recipient of NOAA's 
Susan Snow-Cotter Award for Excellence in Ocean and Coastal Management.  Initiated and served as 
Vice-Chair on each of the State’s four international conferences, “California and the World Ocean.”   
 
Bob Ballard: Florida (South Atlantic Region) 
Deputy Secretary of Land and Recreation for the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
 
Has served as the Deputy Secretary of Land and Recreation since 1999.  FL Representative serving on the 
Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic Alliances, the U.S. Coral Reef Task Force, and Co-Chairs the FL Oceans 
and Coastal Council.  Supervises the Department of Environmental Protection’s administration of the 
world's largest land and water conservation program - Florida Forever, a $3 billion, 20-year program to 
preserve land and water resources.  Chairs the 11-member Acquisition and Restoration Council that 
reviews management plans and land uses for all state-owned conservation lands.  Former Chief Cabinet 
Aide at the FL Department of Education serving under two previous Education Commissioners. 
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Kathleen Leyden: Maine (Northeast Region) 
Director of Maine's Coastal Zone Management Program 
 
Has served as Maine's Coastal Zone Program Manager since 1998.  Current Chair of the Gulf of Maine 
Council on the Marine Environment, and immediate past Chair of the Northeast Regional Ocean Council.  
Recently served as a member of Governor Baldacci's Ocean Energy Task Force, and serves as ME's lead 
on the Department of Interior's Atlantic States Offshore Wind Energy Consortium.  Elected as Vice Chair 
of the Coastal States Organization in 2010, where she chairs the workgroup on Ocean Governance.  
Former Planning Director for the City of Saco, ME from 1985-1987.  2008 recipient of NOAA's Susan 
Snow-Cotter Award for Excellence in Coastal and Marine Resource Management. 
 
David Naftzger: Illinois (Great Lakes Region) 
Executive Director, Great Lakes-St. Lawrence River Basin Water Resources Council 
 
Executive Director of the Council of Great Lakes Governors, directing eight State regional Governors’ 
organizations focused on environmental protection and economic development.  Facilitated negotiation 
and implementation of the "Great Lakes Compact" which was enacted into law in 2008 and details how 
the States manage the use of the Great Lakes Basin's water supply.  Previous Committee Director on the 
National Conference of State Legislatures from 1999-2001 where he directed government relations on 
international trade and agricultural issues.  Appointed member since 2004 on the Office of the U.S. 
Trade Representative, Intergovernmental Policy Advisory Committee on Trade 
 
Lelei Peau: American Samoa (Pacific Islands Region) 
Deputy Director, Department of Commerce for the American Samoa Government 
 
More than 25 years of service within the American Samoa Government, primarily in the Department of 
Commerce (DOC).  Operates as the senior advisor to the Governor on environment and economic issues.  
Provided oversight on behalf of American Samoa for the establishment of the Rose Atoll Marine 
National Monument that protects 13,450 sq. miles of territory.  As the Resource Management Program 
Manager under the DOC, managed nine sections with oversight of all permitting, enforcement, water 
quality and ocean and coastal and ocean resource management.  Member of the U.S. Coral Reef Task 
Force for the last 10 years.  Former Chairman of the U.S. All Islands Committee and the Coastal States 
Organization All Islands Committee.   
 
Paige Rothenberger: U.S. Virgin Islands (Caribbean Region) 
Coral Reef Initiative Coordinator, USVI Dept. of Planning & Natural Resources 
 
Has worked in the resource management field for the last 15 years (13 within the USVI).  USVI appointed 
member to the U.S. Coral Reef Task Force and U.S. All Islands Coral Reef Committee.  Extensive coral 
reef research, and conservation program development, including site assessments and collaboration 
with Federal, territorial, and non-governmental agencies.  Oversees development and coordination of 
the St. Croix East End Marine Park, which she led the efforts to have incorporated into the U.S. National 
System of Marine Protected Areas in 2010.  Education coordinator with the Coastal Conservation 
Foundation, operating out of Mexico, to develop bilingual outreach ocean educational venues.  
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George Stafford: New York (Mid-Atlantic Region) 
Deputy Secretary of State 
 
Has led NY's Coastal Resources programs since its inception 28 years ago.  Initiated creation of the Mid-
Atlantic Regional Council on the Ocean.  Negotiated and authored the Mid-Atlantic Governor's 
Agreement on Ocean Conservation in 2009.  Oversees departmental programs related to maritime 
transportation in NY Harbor.  Previous Chair to the NY Maritime Advisory Council. Manages over $200 
million of grants for 500 waterfront and community revitalization projects.  Represents the Secretary of 
State on the Governor's Environmental Justice Interagency Task Force.  Oversees the Governor's Smart 
Growth Cabinet which strives to redevelop underserved urban areas and promote economic growth. 
 
Bill Walker: Mississippi (Gulf of Mexico Region) 
Chair of the Gulf of Mexico Alliance Management Team and Executive Director of the MS Department of 
Marine Resources 
 
Over 25 years of experience and expertise in Gulf Coast environmental toxicology research and analysis. 
Completed a 28-year career at the University of MS Gulf Coast Research Laboratory as the Associate 
Director.  Previous U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Legislative Fellow in the Office of 
Senator Trent Lott.  Former Chief of the U.S. EPA's Ecological Diagnostics Branch and Molecular Ecology 
Branch, Gulf Ecology Division.  Member of the MS Research Consortium Water Quality Task Force since 
1991.  Adjunct faculty member at four other universities.   
 
Gordon Williams: Alaska (AK Region) 
Special Assistant to the Commissioner of Fish and Game 
 
Over ten years experience working with the AK Department of Fish and Game, and 20+ years in fisheries 
and small business management.  Primary advisor for AK's Pacific Salmon Treaty involvement, and co-
chair of the Pacific Salmon Commission's bilateral Northern Panel.  Fish and Game Commissioner's 
designee as AK's non-voting member of the Pacific Fishery Management Council.  Previous commercial 
fisherman from 1977-1992 in Southeast AK, holding a Coast Guard 50 ton Master's License.  Served as 
the Southeast Regional Fish and Game Council Chair from 1983-1987.  Former U.S. (AK) Delegate to the 
U.S./Canadian Pacific Salmon Treaty Negotiations from 1984-1985. 
 

Tribal Officials 

 
Steve Crawford: Maine 
Environmental Director, Passamaquoddy Tribe of Pleasant Point, ME 
 
Long-time consultant in bio-remediation technology in aquaculture systems.  Former Peace Corps 
volunteer and technical trainer in fisheries, serving in India, Philippines, Nepal, and Africa. Designed, 
built, and ran Oklahoma's largest commercial catfish farm from 1976 to 1989.  Founded and ran the 120-
acre Coastal Plantations international, Inc., the only company to commercially produce the marine algae 
"nori" (used in sushi wrappers) in the Western Hemisphere.  Nominated to serve on the Gulf of Maine 
Council on Marine Environment and the Northeastern Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force. Chair of the 
United South and Eastern Tribes Inc. Natural Resources Committee since 2005. 
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Jacque Hostler: California 
Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Transportation and Land-Use Department, Cher-Ae Heights 
Indian Community of the Trinidad Rancheria 
 
17 years of working in Indian Country, specializing in construction, land-use, and transportation projects.  
Current Chair, North Coast Tribal Transportation Commission, and member of Cal Trans Native American 
Advisory Committee. Cal Trans award recipient for the “Transportation Planning for American Indian 
Tribes.”Represents all CA tribes on the National Indian Reservation Roads Coordinating Committee. 
Active member of the CA Marine Life Protected Act (MLPA) North Coast Regional Stakeholders Group, 
and tribal leader heavily engaged in the North Coast MLPA planning process.   Participates on the 
Bureau of Land Management’s Gateway Committee for the CA Coastal Rocks Monument.   
 
Micah McCarty: Washington State 
Tribal Councilman Member & Marine Policy & Fisheries Advisor, Makah Tribal Council 
 
Has served on the Makah Tribal Council for over six years including terms as both Chairman and Vice 
Chairman.  Created first ever Makah Office of Marine Affairs.  Co-founder of the Olympic Coast National 
Marine Sanctuary's Inter-governmental Policy Council.  Represented Makah interests in three joint U.S./ 
Canadian Western Juan de Fuca Ecology Symposiums that focused on implementing borderless 
ecosystem-based management and research initiatives.  Led Makah Tribal Council's efforts to secure the 
tribe's first chartered institution with the U.S. Navy to address military training exercise issues, resulting 
in stand-up of a formal Navy/Tribal Council.  Tribal Treaty fisherman since 1980. 
 

Local Government Officials 

 
Kristin Jacobs: Florida 
County Commissioner - District 2, Broward County, Florida 
 
Commissioner since 1998, representing 24 miles of coastline and the Port Everglades world-ranked 
Cruise Ship terminal.  As the former Mayor of Broward County, led the emergency response efforts 
following devastation of Hurricane Wilma in 2005. Initiated the creation of, and current Chair of the 
county's first ever Climate Change Task Force.  Sponsored the South FL Regional Climate Change Summit 
which resulted in a 4-county compact to address climate change impacts in Southeast FL.  As Vice Chair 
of the county's Water Resources Task Force, developed and implemented a now nationally-recognized 
water conservation program.  Current Chair of the FL Association of Counties Large Urban Caucus.     
 
Geraldine Knatz: California 
Executive Director, Port of Los Angeles 
 
Has held senior leadership positions with the Nation's two busiest container ports, Los Angeles and Long 
Beach, for over 30 years.  Chief Executive of the nation's largest container port, responsible for overall 
port management and operations.  Managing director of the Port of Long Beach for over 20 years.  Key 
leader in development and implementation of the San Pedro Bay Clean Air Action Plan and Green Ports 
Policy.  Current Chair of the International Association of Ports and Harbors World Ports Climate Initiative 
and Port Environment Committees.  2008-2009 Chair of the American Association of Port Authorities.  
Former member of the Scientific Advisory Board to the U.S. Ocean Commission from 2002-2004. 
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Joan Murphy: Illinois 
Cook County Commissioner, IL, 6th District 
 
Commissioner since 2002, representing the entire upper northeastern section of IL (District 6 includes 
Chicago).  Commissioner of Cook County’s Forest Preserve District, responsible for stewardship of over 
68,000 acres.  Current Chair of the National Association of Counties (NACo) Ports Subcommittee, and 
Vice Chair of NACo's Transportation Steering Committee.  Since 2003, has secured over $100 million to 
the District for neighborhood stabilization program allocations, community development block grant 
funds, and justice assistance grant funds.  County Chair of the Construction Committee and Labor 
Finance Subcommittee, and Vice Chair of the Worker's Compensation and Zoning, Building Committees. 
 

State Legislative Representative 

 
Kevin Ranker: Washington State 
Washington State Senator 
 
Over 15 years experience with coastal and ocean policy at the State, national and international level.  
Senior Fellow at the Ocean Foundation, and Senior Advisor to the Meridian Institute where he advises 
on coastal and ocean policy issues. In 2009, elected Chair of the Coastal States Caucus to represent 
legislators from the nation's coastal and Great Lakes States.  In the WA State Senate, serves as Chair of 
the Natural Resources and Marine Waters Committee where he sponsored the successful marine spatial 
management and oil spill response and preparedness legislation.  Chair of the San Juan County Board of 
County Commissioners from 2005-2008, responsible for all executive, legislative, and land use matters. 
 

Inland State Representatives 
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Last Name First Name
Category  

(Membership 
Group)

Submitted By Title State/Province

Ahgeak Doreen Tribal
Inupiat Community of the 
Arctic Slope (ICAS)

North Slope Planning Dept AK

Andersen Ralph Tribal
Bristol Bay Native Association 
(BBNA)

President & CEO, Bristol Bay 
Native Association

AK

Andrews-Maltais Cheryl Tribal
United South & Eastern Tribes 
Inc.

Chairwoman, Wampanoag 
Tribe of Gay Head (Aquinnah)

MA

Crawford Steve Tribal
United South and Eastern 
Tribes Inc.

Environmental Director, 
Passamaquoddy Tribe of 
Pleasant Point

ME

Cromwell Cedric Tribal
United South & Eastern Tribes 
Inc.

Chairman, Mashpee 
Wampanoag Tribe

MA

Hartley-Kelso Deanna Tribal Chickasaw Nation
Attorney General, Chickasaw 
Nation

OK

Hostler Jacque Tribal
Trinidad Rancheria Tribal 
Council

Chief Executive Officer & 
Director of Transportation & 
Land Use Department, 
Trinidad Rancheria

CA

Johnstone Ed Tribal Quinault Indian Nation
Fisheries & Marine Policy 
Representative for Quinault 
Indian Nation

WA

Matylewitch Michael Tribal
Columbia River Inter-Tribal 
Fish Commission (CRITFC)

Manager, CRITFC Fish 
Management Department

OR

McCarty Micah Tribal Makah Tribal Council
Tribal Councilman Member & 
Marine Policy & Fisheries 
Advisor

WA

List of Nominees to the Governance Coordinating Committee (organized by category)
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Orosco Kristie Tribal
San Pasqual band of Indians of 
CA

Director, Environmental 
Protection and Compliance

CA

Osterback David Tribal
Aleutian Pribilof Islands 
Association

President, Qagan Tayagungin 
Tribe of Sand Point AK

AK

Patterson Brian Tribal Oneida Nations Homeland
President, United South & 
Eastern Tribes

WA

Pyatskowit Jeremy Tribal
Menominee Tribal Chairman's 
Office

Environmental Scientist, 
Menominee Indian Tribe

WI

Sharma Rishi Tribal
Columbia River Inter-Tribal 
Fish Commission

Biometrician, CRITFC OR

Zorn James Tribal
Great Lakes Indian Fish and 
Wildlife Commission

Executive Administrator, 
GLIFWC

WI

Bates Randall (Randy)
Regional - 
Alaska

Governor of Alaska

Director of the Division of 
Coastal and Ocean 
Management in the 
Department of Natural 
Resources

AK

Robbins Mark
Regional - 
Alaska

Governor of Alaska
Associate Director of the 
Washington, DC Office of the 
Governor of Alaska

MD

Williams Gordon (Gordy)
Regional - 
Alaska

Governor of Alaska
Special Assistant to the 
Commissioner of Fish and 
Game

AK

Diaz Ernesto
Regional - 
Caribbean

Governor of Puerto Rico (in 
agreement with the Governor 
of US Virgin Islands). Note that 
this is PR's first choice of 
nominee, but not USVI's first 
choice.

Director of the Puerto Rico 
Coastal Management Program

PR
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Rothenberger Paige
Regional - 
Caribbean

Governor of U.S. Virgin Islands 
and Governor of Puerto Rico 
(note that this nominee is 
USVI's first choice, but PR's 
second choice)

Coral Reef Initiative 
Coordinator, USVI Dept. of 
Planning & Natural Resources

VI

Naftzger David
Regional - Great 
Lakes

Great Lakes Governors
Executive Director, Great 
Lakes-St. Lawrence River Basin 
Water Resources Council

IL

Walker Bill
Regional - Gulf 
of Mexico

Gulf of Mexico Governors

Chair of the Gulf of Mexico 
Alliance Management Team 
and Exec Dir
MS Dept. of Marine Resources

MS

Cooksey Sarah
Regional - Mid-
Atlantic

Governor of Delaware on 
behalf of the Governors of the 
Mid-Atlantic states

Administrator of Delaware 
Coastal Programs, 
Department of Natural 
Resource and Environmental 
Control

DE

Schultz Gwynne
Regional - Mid-
Atlantic

Governor of Maryland on 
behalf of the Mid-Atlantic 
Governors

Senior Coastal and Ocean 
Policy Advisor

MD

Stafford George
Regional - Mid-
Atlantic

Governor of New York on 
behalf of the Mid-Atlantic 
Governors

Deputy Secretary of State NY

Carlise Bruce
Regional - 
Northeast

Northeast Governors
Deputy Director, 
Massachusetts Office of 
Coastal Zone Management

MA

Fugate Grover
Regional - 
Northeast

Northeast Governors
Executive Director, Coastal 
Resources Management 
Council

RI
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Leyden Kathleen
Regional - 
Northeast

Northeast Governors
Director of Maine's Coastal 
Zone Management Program

ME

Mayer Abbey
Regional - 
Pacific Islands

Governor of Hawaii
Director, State of Hawaii 
Office of Planning

HI

Peau Lelei
Regional - 
Pacific Islands

Governor of American Samoa
Deputy Director, Department 
of Commerce for the 
American Samoa Government

AS

Ballard Bob
Regional - South 
Atlantic

South Atlantic Governors

Deputy Secretary of Land and 
Recreation for the Florida 
Department of Environmental 
Protection

FL

Baird Brian
Regional - West 
Coast

West Coast Governors
Assistant Secretary for Ocean 
and Coastal Policy, California 
Natural Resources Agency

CA

Hennessey Jennifer
Regional - West 
Coast

West Coast Governors
Ocean Policy Planner, 
Washington State Department 
of Ecology

WA

Solliday Louise
Regional - West 
Coast

West Coast Governors
Director of the Department of 
State Lands, Oregon

OR

Harrison Joe State Legislative
National Conference of State 
Legislatures

Louisiana State Representative LA

Jameson Sally Young State Legislative
National Conference of State 
Legislatures

Delegate, Maryland House of 
Delegates

MD

Ranker Kevin State Legislative
National Conference of State 
Legislatures

Washington State Senator WA

Heartwell George
Local 
Government

U.S. Conference of Mayors Mayor, Grand Rapids, MI MI
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Hibbard Frank
Local 
Government

U.S. Conference of Mayors Mayor of Clearwater, FL FL

Jacobs Kristin
Local 
Government

National Association of 
Counties

County Commissioner - 
District 2, Broward County, 
Florida

FL

Josi Tim
Local 
Government

National Association of 
Counties

Tillamook County 
Commissioner, OR

OR

Knatz Geraldine
Local 
Government

U.S. Conference of Mayors
Executive Director, Port of Los 
Angeles

CA

McElveen Joseph
Local 
Government

U.S. Conference of Mayors Mayor of Sumter, SC SC

Murphy Joan
Local 
Government

National Association of 
Counties

Cook County Commissioner, 
IL, 6th District

IL

Randolph Charlotte
Local 
Government

National Association of 
Counties

President, Lafourche Parish, 
LA

LA

Tobey Bruce
Local 
Government

National League of Cities
Councilor-at Large, 
Gloucester, Massachusetts

MA
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DELIBERATIVE PRE-DECISIONAL COMMUNICATION ~ NOT ADMINISTRATION POLICY ~ DO NOT RELEASE 

 

National Ocean Council 

ACTION ITEM  
DECISION NEEDED 

 
 
 
TOPIC:  Ocean Resource Management Interagency Policy Committee Charter 
 
 
Overview 
The Ocean Resource Management Interagency Policy Committee (ORM-IPC) is the ocean resource 
management body of the National Ocean Council (Council) with an emphasis on ensuring the 
interagency implementation of the National Ocean Policy, national priority objectives, and other 
priorities defined or approved by the Council. It is the successor to the Subcommittee on Integrated 
Management of Ocean Resources, and consists of Deputy Assistant Secretaries or comparable 
representatives, or appropriate senior-level representatives with decision-making authority from 
departments, agencies and offices represented on the Council.  
 
The charter addresses purpose and scope, functions, membership, meetings, Council Steering 
Committee participation, establishment of sub-IPCs, transparency and collaboration, and termination 
date. The Council, through the Co-chairs of the Council Deputy-level Committee, designates the Chairs 
of the ORM-IPC; the Chairs develop the ORM-IPC charter for Council approval. The draft charter 
prepared by Council staff was provided to the Council Deputies at the September 24, 2010, Deputies 
meeting with a request for comments. Comments received were incorporated. The revised charter was 
provided to the ORM-IPC Co-chairs for review and finalizing.  
 
The Council Deputies recommended at their December 16, 2010, meeting that the Council Principals 
approve the ORM-IPC Charter. 
 
Action Requested of Deputies Committee 
Approve ORM-IPC Charter 
 
Timeline 
Due January 7, 2011  
 
Attachments 
Final Draft ORM-IPC Charter 
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DRAFT 

CHARTER  
of the  

Ocean Resource Management Interagency Policy Committee  
 

 
A. Official Establishment and Designation  
 
Executive Order 13547, Stewardship of the Ocean, Our Coasts, and the Great Lakes, of 
July 19, 2010, establishes the Ocean Resource Management Interagency Policy 
Committee (ORM-IPC) of the National Ocean Council, as described in the Final 
Recommendations of the Interagency Ocean Policy Task Force (Final 
Recommendations).      
  
B. Purpose and Scope  
 
The purpose of the ORM-IPC is to serve as the ocean resource management body of the 
Council, with an emphasis on ensuring the interagency implementation of the National 
Ocean Policy as directed in Executive Order 13547 (National Policy) and set forth in the 
Final Recommendations, the national priority objectives, and other priorities as defined 
or approved by the Council. In implementing the National Policy, the ORM-IPC will 
work closely with the Ocean Science and Technology Interagency Policy Committee 
(OST-IPC) and will interact with other entities, including the Governance Coordinating 
Committee (GCC) and the Ocean Research and Resources Advisory Panel (ORRAP), as 
necessary and appropriate.  
 
The ORM-IPC reports to the Council and is the successor organization to the 
Subcommittee on Integrated Management of Ocean Resources (SIMOR). 
 
C. Functions 
 
The ORM-IPC will regularly coordinate with the OST-IPC to ensure coordination of 
science and resource management issues to further the National Policy.  
 
The ORM-IPC will carry out the following functions: 

• Develop strategic action plans, in coordination with the OST-IPC, for the 
implementation of priority management objectives described in the Final 
Recommendations. Strategic action plans will include: 

o Clear outcomes; 
o Milestones; 
o Deadlines; 
o Designated Agencies;  
o Performance Measures; and 
o Adaptive Review Process. 
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• Develop and maintain a plan of work, including revisions and updates as 
appropriate, for submission to the Council for approval; 

• Coordinate with the OST-IPC, and with input from the ORRAP and the GCC, to 
develop a process for encouraging and obtaining input from States, tribes, local, 
governments, regional governance structures, stakeholders, and the public in the 
development and implementation of strategic action plans; and 

• Perform other assignments and actions as directed by the Council. 
 
Within 60 days of its first meeting, the ORM-IPC will develop detailed procedures for its 
operation to be approved by the Council’s Deputy-level Committee. 
 
D. Membership  
 
ORM-IPC membership will consist of Deputy Assistant Secretaries or comparable 
representative, or appropriate senior-level representatives with decision-making authority 
from departments, agencies, and offices represented on the Council. Council member 
departments, in consultation with the ORM-IPC Co-Chairs, may invite agencies and 
bureaus within their department structure to attend ORM-IPC meetings as non-voting, 
non-member attendees and to participate in ORM-IPC discussions. In addition, the ORM-
IPC Co-chairs may invite the Chair of the Oceans Sub-Interagency Policy Committee, the 
Co-Chairs of the OST-IPC, the Chair and Vice-Chairs of the ORRAP, and the Chair and 
Vice Chair of the GCC to be non-voting, ex officio members of the ORM-IPC to 
encourage strong coordination of national ocean affairs. Non-voting, ex officio invitations 
are not delegable.  
 
The Co-chairs of the Deputy-level Committee of the Council will select federal agencies 
to serve as Co-chairs of the ORM-IPC from among a list of self-nominations provided by 
the Council member agencies. There will be a minimum of two and a maximum of three 
Co-chairs. Co-chairs will serve for three-year terms, which may be renewed. The Co-
Chairs shall serve in addition to, and independent of, their respective agency’s ORM-IPC 
member. Co-Chair agencies will also be responsible for providing one staff member each 
for support of the ORM-IPC in meeting its duties in implementing the National Policy.  
 
The Co-Chairs of the ORM-IPC may designate additional non-voting, ex officio members 
as deemed necessary. 
 
E.  Meetings 
 
The ORM-IPC will meet at least once every two months. The Co-Chairs of the ORM-IPC 
may convene additional meetings as they find appropriate, including Co-Chair meetings. 
The Co-Chairs will provide a meeting agenda and meeting materials to the ORM-IPC 
members at least one week prior to the meeting, denoting those items on which action 
will be required. Meetings are open only to the ORM-IPC membership, additional federal 
attendees as defined in the Membership section, and invited guests. Meetings or portions 
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of meetings may be designated as “federal only” to allow discussion of any sensitive, 
deliberative, or proprietary information. 
 
F. Steering Committee Participation 
 
Each ORM-IPC Co-chair may participate on the Council Steering Committee, but one, 
designated by the Council’s Deputy level Co-Chairs in consultation with the ORM-IPC 
Co-Chairs, will serve as the voting member should voting be required.  In this capacity 
the designated ORM-IPC Co-Chair will represent the views of the ORM-IPC to ensure 
integration and coordination on priority areas within the Council. The role of the ORM-
IPC Co-chairs on the Steering Committee is to help ensure that there is coordination of 
resource management and science issues and that the activities of the ORM-IPC and 
OST-IPC are aligned to fully support implementation of the National Policy and priorities 
agreed upon by the Council. 
 
G.  Sub-IPCs  
 
The ORM-IPC may, in coordination with the OST-IPC and with approval from the 
Council Deputy-level Committee, establish sub-Interagency Policy Committees (sub-
IPCs) as necessary to accomplish ORM-IPC functions, including developing strategic 
action plans. All products of the sub-IPCs must be submitted for review and deliberation 
by the ORM-IPC, in coordination with the OST-IPC as appropriate, for submission to the 
Council.  
 
The ORM-IPC may, with approval from the Council, continue Interagency Working 
Groups established under SIMOR that contribute to ORM-IPC functions or address 
legislated or other requirements.  
 
G. Transparency and Collaboration 
 
In implementing the National Policy, the ORM-IPC will solicit input from State, tribal, 
and local authorities; regional governance structures; academic institutions; 
nongovernmental organizations; recreational interests; and private enterprise, as 
appropriate, through the GCC, ORRAP, conferences and workshops, and other means. 
The ORM-IPC may also collaborate with international ocean research and resource 
management entities as appropriate. 
 
H. Termination Date  
 
This charter will become effective upon approval by the Council’s Principal-level 
Committee.  The Council may modify this charter in writing as it deems appropriate. The 
ORM-IPC Co-chairs will review the charter prior to its expiration and update it as 
necessary, for review and approval by the Council. Unless the Council renews this 
charter prior to its expiration, it will expire on XXXX.    
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01268-EPA-5532

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

01/12/2011 12:27 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc Arvin Ganesan, Bob Perciasepe, Bob Sussman, Diane 
Thompson, Seth Oster

bcc

Subject Re: Fw: Business Roundtable releases "Roadmap for 
Growth"
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Richard Windsor 01/12/2011 11:50:37 AMNot sure if I ever sent this to you the li...

From: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US
To: David McIntosh <McIntosh.David@EPA.GOV>, Seth Oster/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Bob 

Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Diane Thompson/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Bob 
Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Arvin Ganesan/DC/USEPA/US@EPA

Date: 01/12/2011 11:50 AM
Subject: Fw: Business Roundtable releases "Roadmap for Growth"

Not sure if I ever sent this to you the link to this report.  I deleted the actual report since it take up a lot of 
disk space but the link is below.  LPJ

----- Forwarded by Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US on 01/12/2011 11:25 AM -----

From: "Browner, Carol M." <
To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Sutley, Nancy H." <
Date: 12/08/2010 05:38 PM
Subject: FW: Business Roundtable releases "Roadmap for Growth"

 
 
From: Eric Thomas [mailto:ethomas@fratelli.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, December 08, 2010 10:02 AM
To: Eric Thomas
Subject: Business Roundtable releases "Roadmap for Growth"
 

Attached, please find Business Roundtable’s “Roadmap for Growth,” including a cover letter sent today 
to all Members of Congress.

The Roadmap  offers data-driven recommendations in five key areas:

-Fiscal Policy and Competitive Taxation 
-Market Access 
-Education 
-Government Regulation 
-Energy and the Environment
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For more information, visit: http://businessroundtable.org/studies-and-reports/roadmap-for-growth/ 
or www.brt.org. [attachment "Roadmap_for_Growth_Full_Report_1.pdf" deleted by Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US] [attachment "Roadmap 2010 - transmittal letter.pdf" deleted by Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US] 
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01268-EPA-5533

Arvin Ganesan/DC/USEPA/US 

01/13/2011 03:01 PM

To Richard Windsor, Bob Sussman

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Rockefeller Letter re: Spruce

ROckefeller letter to POTUS attached, regarding Spruce. 

--------------------------------------------
ARVIN R. GANESAN
Deputy Associate Administrator 
Office of the Administrator
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Ganesan.Arvin@epa.gov
(p) 202.564.5200
(f) 202.501.1519
----- Forwarded by Arvin Ganesan/DC/USEPA/US on 01/13/2011 03:00 PM -----

From: "Kennedy, Sean D." <
To: "Maher, Jessica A." <  "Heimbach, Jay" 

<  Arvin Ganesan/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Gavin, Tom" 
<

Cc: "Terrell, Louisa" <  "Papa, Jim" <
Date: 01/13/2011 02:59 PM
Subject: Rockefeller Letter re: Spruce

Rocky letter to POTUS... uses the word "outrage" in sentence one.

Manchin did a press release too... pasted below.

Charleston, W.Va. — Senator Joe Manchin today voiced his strong opposition to 
the unprecedented decision by the Environmental Protection Agency to 
retroactively veto a coal mining permit for the Spruce No. 1 Mine in Logan 
County, West Virginia.  The permit was already approved after an exhaustive, 
approximately 10-year regulatory process which included time for an extensive 
review by the EPA.
 
“Today's EPA decision is not just fundamentally wrong, it is an unprecedented 
act by the federal government that will cost our state and our nation even 
more jobs during the worst recession in this country’s history," Senator 
Manchin said. "While the EPA decision hurts West Virginia today, it has 
negative ramifications for every state in our nation, and I strongly urge 
every Senator and every Member of Congress to voice their opposition."
 
Manchin continued: "It goes without saying, such an irresponsible regulatory 
step is not only a shocking display of overreach, it will have a chilling 
effect on investments and our economic recovery. I plan to do everything in my 
power to fight this decision.”
 
The US Army Corps of Engineers awarded the Spruce Mine permit to the Mingo 
Logan Coal Company in 2007.  The permit, known as a Section 404(c) permit, is 
a requirement for constructing valley fills, a process used in surface coal 
mining.  The EPA has authority under the Clean Water Act to “veto” Section 
404(c) permits before they are awarded by the US Army Corps.  However, the EPA 
has never before attempted to veto a previously awarded and active permit.
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“The EPA is setting a dangerous precedent with this decision,” Manchin said.
“According to the EPA, it doesn't matter if you did everything right, if you 
followed all of the rules. Why? They just change the rules. But what the EPA 
doesn't seem to understand is that this decision has ramifications that reach 
far beyond coal mining in West Virginia. The EPA is jeopardizing thousands of 
jobs and essentially sending a message to every business and industry that the 
federal government has no intention of honoring past promises and that no 
investment is safe. That message will destroy not only our jobs, but our way 
of life.”
 
Mingo Logan Coal Company was poised to invest $250 million dollars in the 
Spruce Mine project, which would have created approximately 200 well-paying 
jobs with benefits.  The EPA’s decision to retroactively veto the permit casts 
serious doubt on the future of this project.

-----Original Message-----
From: Moore, Jocelyn (Rockefeller) [
mailto:Jocelyn_Moore@rockefeller.senate.gov] 
Sent: Thursday, January 13, 2011 11:21 AM
To: Kennedy, Sean D.
Cc: Ates, Kerry (Rockefeller)
Subject: Spruce Mine Letter to the President

Hi Sean,

The Spruce Mine letter to President Obama is attached. Please call with any 
questions.

Thanks,
Jocelyn
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01268-EPA-5534

Daniel 
Kanninen/DC/USEPA/US 

01/18/2011 06:11 PM

To Richard Windsor, Bob Perciasepe

cc Diane Thompson, Lisa Garcia

bcc

Subject Fw: Revised AGO Exec Summary and Report

Administrator: 

 
 

 
 

 

Dan Kanninen
White House Liaison
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
202.564.7960
kanninen.daniel@epa.gov

----- Forwarded by Daniel Kanninen/DC/USEPA/US on 01/18/2011 06:05 PM -----

From: "Conant, Kathryn" <
To: "Conant, Kathryn" <  "Salzman, Amelia S." 

<  "Boots, Michael J." <  
"'Shafroth, William'" <Will_Shafroth@ios.doi.gov>, "'Carrillo, Francisco'" 
<Francisco_Carrillo@ios.doi.gov>, "'Bonnie, Robert'" <Robert.Bonnie@osec.usda.gov>, 
"'rock.salt@us.army.mil'" <rock.salt@us.army.mil>, "'Raychaudhuri, Arnab Mr CIV USA ASA CW'" 
<arnab.raychaudhuri@us.army.mil>, Daniel Kanninen/DC/USEPA/US@EPA

Date: 01/18/2011 04:48 PM
Subject: Revised Exec Summary

  

 

Kathryn
 
__________________________
Kathryn Conant
Deputy Associate Director for Lands
Council on Environmental Quality

 (office)
 (cell)
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We are writing to you about the Clean Air Act, a remarkably successful public health law that has saved hundreds of 
thousands of lives over the last 40 years while our economy has tripled in size. Our organizations cannot overstate 
the priority we put on preventing efforts to block, weaken or delay implementation of this vital law, which at every 
stage in its history has garnered overwhelming bipartisan support. We urge you to use your upcoming State of the 
Union address to underscore the critical need for the Clean Air Actâ��s sensible safeguards and to oppose any 
attempt to block, weaken, or delay its continued implementation. 

As you know, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has begun to roll out long-overdue safeguards to reduce 
carbon, mercury, and other life-threatening pollution from big sources that have been allowed to dump unlimited 
amounts of pollution into our air for far too long. These clean air safeguards will save tens of thousands more lives, 
prevent millions of illnesses, and reduce health care costs, while spurring innovation and job growth. Their health 
benefits will vastly outweigh their costs. 

Unfortunately, the nationâ��s biggest polluters and some members of Congress have launched an unprecedented 
attack on the Clean Air Act. Your recent Wall Street Journal op-ed emphasized your administrationâ��s 
achievements under the Clean Air Act. In order to build on those achievements, the EPA must retain its authority to 
hold polluters accountable and continue moving forward to implement all of these much-needed safeguards. 

You have demonstrated a strong commitment to protecting public health and bringing about a clean energy economy 
throughout your presidency. Your upcoming State of the Union address offers a perfect opportunity to renew that 
commitment by making clear that you will continue to stand with the public -- not polluters -- and do everything in your 
power to ensure that the EPA retains the authority and the resources to take the life-saving actions necessary to 
protect the air we breathe and the water we drink. 

Sincerely,

Liz Butler, Campaign Director

1Sky

Rebecca Wodder, President

American Rivers

John D. Podesta, President and CEO 

Center for American Progress

John Kassel, President

Conservation Law Foundation
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Bob Wendelgass, President and CEO

Clean Water Action

Rodger Schlickeisen, President and CEO

Defenders of Wildlife

Trip Van Noppen, President

Earthjustice

Margie Alt, Executive Director

Environment America

Fred Krupp, President

Environmental Defense Fund

Erich Pica, President

Friends of the Earth

Phil Radford, Executive Director

Greenpeace

Gene Karpinski, President 

League of Conservation Voters

David Yarnold, President and CEO

National Audubon Society

Thomas C. Kiernan, President

National Parks Conservation Association

Larry Schweiger, President and CEO
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National Wildlife Federation

Frances Beinecke, President

Natural Resources Defense Council

Andrew Sharpless, Chief Executive Officer

Oceana

Joshua Reichert, Managing Director

Pew Environment Group

Michael Brune, Executive Director

Sierra Club

William Meadows, President 

The Wilderness Society

Kevin Knobloch, President 

Union of Concerned Scientists

Peter Bahouth, Executive Director

U.S. Climate Action Network

Carter Roberts, President and CEO

World Wildlife Fund

POTUS SOTU letter FINAL.pdfPOTUS SOTU letter FINAL.pdf
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1Sky * American Rivers * Center for American Progress * Clean Water Action * 

Conservation Law Foundation * Defenders of Wildlife * Earthjustice * Environment 

America * Environmental Defense Fund * Friends of the Earth * Greenpeace * League of 

Conservation Voters * National Audubon Society * National Parks Conservation 

Association * National Wildlife Federation * Natural Resources Defense Council * Oceana 

* Pew Environment Group * Sierra Club * The Wilderness Society * Union of Concerned 

Scientists * U.S. Climate Action Network * World Wildlife Fund 

 

January 20, 2011 

 

 

The President 

The White House 

1600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 

Washington, DC 20500 

 

Dear Mr. President, 

 

We are writing to you about the Clean Air Act, a remarkably successful public health law that 

has saved hundreds of thousands of lives over the last 40 years while our economy has tripled in 

size.  Our organizations cannot overstate the priority we put on preventing efforts to block, 

weaken or delay implementation of this vital law, which at every stage in its history has garnered 

overwhelming bipartisan support.  We urge you to use your upcoming State of the Union address 

to underscore the critical need for the Clean Air Act’s sensible safeguards and to oppose any 

attempt to block, weaken, or delay its continued implementation.   

 

As you know, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has begun to roll out long-overdue 

safeguards to reduce carbon, mercury, and other life-threatening pollution from big sources that 

have been allowed to dump unlimited amounts of pollution into our air for far too long. These 

clean air safeguards will save tens of thousands more lives, prevent millions of illnesses, and 

reduce health care costs, while spurring innovation and job growth.  Their health benefits will 

vastly outweigh their costs.   

 

Unfortunately, the nation’s biggest polluters and some members of Congress have launched an 

unprecedented attack on the Clean Air Act.  Your recent Wall Street Journal op-ed emphasized 

your administration’s achievements under the Clean Air Act.  In order to build on those 

achievements, the EPA must retain its authority to hold polluters accountable and continue 

moving forward to implement all of these much-needed safeguards.   

 

You have demonstrated a strong commitment to protecting public health and bringing about a 

clean energy economy throughout your presidency.  Your upcoming State of the Union address 

offers a perfect opportunity to renew that commitment by making clear that you will continue to 

stand with the public -- not polluters -- and do everything in your power to ensure that the EPA 

retains the authority and the resources to take the life-saving actions necessary to protect the air 

we breathe and the water we drink.   

 

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
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01268-EPA-5537

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/20/2011 09:29 AM

To "Carol Browner", "Nancy Sutley", "Cass Sunstein"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: good statements from Dominion in this story

FYI
David McIntosh

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: David McIntosh
    Sent: 01/20/2011 09:09 AM EST
    To: Richard Windsor; Gina McCarthy; Seth Oster; Joseph Goffman; Adora 
Andy; Brendan Gilfillan; Arvin Ganesan; Michael Moats
    Subject: good statements from Dominion in this story

 
REGULATIONS: EPA's regulatory 'train wreck' sparks little 
concern beyond Beltway  (Thursday, January 20, 2011)
Dina Fine Maron, E&E reporter

Beyond the Beltway, utilities and state regulators are adopting a conciliatory tone 
as they eye a suite of future regulations on smokestack emissions and water 
pollution from coal-fired power plants.

Speaking at a panel sponsored by the Bipartisan Policy Center yesterday, Pamela 
Faggert, the chief environmental officer for Dominion, a Virginia-based power 
company, and several state regulators agreed that postponing any of the 
regulations that are geared toward cleaning up the air and water around coal plants 
in the next several years would not make economic sense and could harm public 
health.

Industry advocates on Capitol Hill have blasted the rules -- which would cover 
traditional air pollutants, carbon and water -- as a "regulatory train wreck" that 
will hurt the economy and lead to plant shutdowns.

Faggert, though, emphasized that the agency should not wait on its regulations. 
Instead of delaying the rules, she said, the industry would like to see EPA 
consider the regulations in a synchronized manner so companies could plan to 
comply with various regulations all at once.

She also called for "flexibility" from U.S. EPA to lighten utilities' load whenever 
possible, such as when choosing whether to designate coal ash as hazardous 
material.

"Utility regulators are concerned that failure to address such uncertainty in the 
near term could lead to higher costs and less reliability in the future," agreed 
Richard Morgan, commissioner of the Washington, D.C., Public Service 
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Commission.

"There are an increasing number of utilities who are pursuing multi-pollutant 
planning," to address those issues, he said, adding that energy efficiency and fuel 
switching are on utilities' radar as a hedge against uncertainty.

"What some people refer to as a 'train wreck' may actually be a golden opportunity 
to look for synergies between different compliance options," he said.

Congress gears up for an EPA fight

Sue Tierney, a managing principal for Analysis Group and former assistant 
secretary for policy at the Department of Energy, said that any delays would 
further fuel uncertainty.

"It's a bad idea to think flexibility means everyone should move back," she said. 
There are more "surgical" approaches available to solve problems on a 
case-by-case basis if they should crop up, she said.

Various projections have been presented by the private sector and the Obama 
administration about future retirements of coal-fired power plants (ClimateWire , 
Jan. 12). But what factors decisionmakers will weigh more heavily when deciding 
plants' fates -- EPA's regulations or expectations about a future price on carbon or 
the cost of natural gas -- is a study in balancing uncertainties, since EPA's rules 
have not been finalized.

Yesterday's event took place against a backdrop of strong Republican rhetoric 
about how the party plans to rein in EPA's regulatory authority.

"We don't want EPA to go too far, too fast," said Michael Catanzaro, a Republican 
staffer for the Senate Environment and Public Works Committee. He declined to 
discuss how the Republicans plan to ratchet up their battle on EPA's regulations, 
but it is in their cross hairs, he said.
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01268-EPA-5538

"Sunstein, Cass R." 
<
.gov> 

01/20/2011 09:32 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject RE: good statements from Dominion in this story

Great and hi Lisa! This is very helpful. Also: Meant to wish you a very happy 
New Year! (  

-----Original Message-----
From: Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov [mailto:Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov
] 
Sent: Thursday, January 20, 2011 9:29 AM
To: Browner, Carol M.; Sutley, Nancy H.; Sunstein, Cass R.
Subject: Fw: good statements from Dominion in this story

FYI

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: David McIntosh
    Sent: 01/20/2011 09:09 AM EST
    To: Richard Windsor; Gina McCarthy; Seth Oster; Joseph Goffman;
Adora Andy; Brendan Gilfillan; Arvin Ganesan; Michael Moats
    Subject: good statements from Dominion in this story

                                                                    
 REGULATIONS: EPA's regulatory 'train wreck' sparks little concern  
 beyond Beltway  (Thursday, January 20, 2011)                       
 Dina Fine Maron, E&E reporter                                      
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Beyond the Beltway, utilities and state regulators are adopting a  
 conciliatory tone as they eye a suite of future regulations on     
 smokestack emissions and water pollution from coal-fired power     
 plants.                                                            
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Speaking at a panel sponsored by the Bipartisan Policy Center      
 yesterday, Pamela Faggert, the chief environmental officer for     
 Dominion, a Virginia-based power company, and several state        
 regulators agreed that postponing any of the regulations that are  
 geared toward cleaning up the air and water around coal plants in  
 the next several years would not make economic sense and could     
 harm public health.                                                
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Industry advocates on Capitol Hill have blasted the rules -- which 
 would cover traditional air pollutants, carbon and water -- as a   
 "regulatory train wreck" that will hurt the economy and lead to    
 plant shutdowns.                                                   
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Faggert, though, emphasized that the agency should not wait on its 
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 regulations. Instead of delaying the rules, she said, the industry 
 would like to see EPA consider the regulations in a synchronized   
 manner so companies could plan to comply with various regulations  
 all at once.                                                       
                                                                    
                                                                    
 She also called for "flexibility" from U.S. EPA to lighten         
 utilities' load whenever possible, such as when choosing whether   
 to designate coal ash as hazardous material.                       
                                                                    
                                                                    
 "Utility regulators are concerned that failure to address such     
 uncertainty in the near term could lead to higher costs and less   
 reliability in the future," agreed Richard Morgan, commissioner of 
 the Washington, D.C., Public Service Commission.                   
                                                                    
                                                                    
 "There are an increasing number of utilities who are pursuing      
 multi-pollutant planning," to address those issues, he said,       
 adding that energy efficiency and fuel switching are on utilities' 
 radar as a hedge against uncertainty.                              
                                                                    
                                                                    
 "What some people refer to as a 'train wreck' may actually be a    
 golden opportunity to look for synergies between different         
 compliance options," he said.                                      
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Congress gears up for an EPA fight                                 
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Sue Tierney, a managing principal for Analysis Group and former    
 assistant secretary for policy at the Department of Energy, said   
 that any delays would further fuel uncertainty.                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 "It's a bad idea to think flexibility means everyone should move   
 back," she said. There are more "surgical" approaches available to 
 solve problems on a case-by-case basis if they should crop up, she 
 said.                                                              
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Various projections have been presented by the private sector and  
 the Obama administration about future retirements of coal-fired    
 power plants (ClimateWire, Jan. 12). But what factors              
 decisionmakers will weigh more heavily when deciding plants' fates 
 -- EPA's regulations or expectations about a future price on       
 carbon or the cost of natural gas -- is a study in balancing       
 uncertainties, since EPA's rules have not been finalized.          
                                                                    
                                                                    
 Yesterday's event took place against a backdrop of strong          
 Republican rhetoric about how the party plans to rein in EPA's     
 regulatory authority.                                              
                                                                    
                                                                    
 "We don't want EPA to go too far, too fast," said Michael          
 Catanzaro, a Republican staffer for the Senate Environment and     
 Public Works Committee. He declined to discuss how the Republicans 
 plan to ratchet up their battle on EPA's regulations, but it is in 
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 their cross hairs, he said.                                        
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01268-EPA-5539

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

01/20/2011 10:39 AM

To "Cass Sunstein"

cc

bcc

Subject Re: good statements from Dominion in this story

Feliz ano. 

----- Original Message -----
From: "Sunstein, Cass R." [
Sent: 01/20/2011 09:32 AM EST
To: Richard Windsor
Subject: RE: good statements from Dominion in this story

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
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01268-EPA-5542

Scott Fulton/DC/USEPA/US 

02/01/2011 10:05 AM

To "David McIntosh", "Bob Sussman", "Michael Goo"

cc "Richard Windsor", "Bob Perciasepe", oster.seth

bcc

Subject Fw: As-Filed Brief in American Electric Power

Here's the brief that was filed by the SG on behalf of TVA  

. Scott 

  From: "Gannon, Curtis (SMO)" [Curtis.Gannon@usdoj.gov]
  Sent: 01/31/2011 04:50 PM EST
  To: "'Rodgers, Ralph E'" <rerodgers@tva.gov>; "'Cooper, Harriet A'" <hacooper@tva.gov>; "'Gillen, Maria 
Victoria'" <mvgillen@tva.gov>; "Maginnis, Joan" <jmaginnis@doc.gov>; "'Palfrey, Quentin'" 
<QPalfrey@doc.gov>; Scott Fulton; Avi Garbow; Sonja Rodman; "'Guzy, Gary S.'" 
<  "'Rachel.Jacobson@sol.doi.gov'" <Rachel.Jacobson@sol.doi.gov>; 
"'Adell.amos@sol.doi.gov'" <Adell.amos@sol.doi.gov>; "'Gregory.woods@dot.gov'" <Gregory.woods@dot.gov>; 
"'Koh, Harold Hongju'" <KohHH@state.gov>; "'kleinjm@state.gov'" <kleinjm@state.gov>; "Townley, Stephen G" 
<TownleySG@state.gov>; "'leslie.lagomarcino@ogc.usda.gov'" <leslie.lagomarcino@ogc.usda.gov>; 
"'timothy.lynch@hq.doe.gov'" <timothy.lynch@hq.doe.gov>; "'alcides.ortiz@osd.mil'" <alcides.ortiz@osd mil>; 
"Shenkman, Ethan (ENRD)" <Ethan.Shenkman@usdoj.gov>; "Kilbourne, Jim (ENRD)" 
<Jim.Kilbourne@usdoj.gov>; "Jones, Lisa (ENRD)" <Lisa.Jones@usdoj.gov>; "Pidot, Justin (ENRD)" 
<Justin.Pidot@usdoj.gov>; "Letter, Douglas (CIV)" <Douglas.Letter@usdoj.gov>; "Byron, H. Thomas (CIV)" 
<H.Thomas.Byron@usdoj.gov>; "Weiner, Robert (ODAG)" <Robert.Weiner@usdoj.gov>
  Cc: "Katyal, Neal (SMO)" <Neal.Katyal@usdoj.gov>; "Kneedler, Edwin S (SMO)" 
<Edwin.S.Kneedler@usdoj.gov>
  Subject: As-Filed Brief in American Electric Power

This attachment is the brief that we have just filed and served in American Electric Power .  
 
Thank you again for all of your helpful comments on the drafts that we circulated.
 
Curtis
 
 
Curtis E. Gannon
Assistant to the Solicitor General
U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Room 5636
Washington, DC 20530
Tel. (202) 514-1030
Fax (202) 307-4613
 
 

 10-174tsRespondentTVA.pdf10-174tsRespondentTVA.pdf
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No. 10-174

In the Supreme Court of the United States

AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER COMPANY INC., ET AL.,
PETITIONERS

v.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT, ET AL.

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

BRIEF FOR THE TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY
AS RESPONDENT SUPPORTING PETITIONERS

RALPH E. RODGERS
Acting General Counsel 

HARRIET A. COOPER
Assistant General Counsel

MARIA V. GILLEN  
Attorney  
Tennessee Valley Authority 
Knoxville, TN 37902

NEAL KUMAR KATYAL
Acting Solicitor General

Counsel of Record
IGNACIA S. MORENO

Assistant Attorney General
EDWIN S. KNEEDLER

Deputy Solicitor General
ETHAN G. SHENKMAN

Deputy Assistant Attorney
General

CURTIS E. GANNON
Assistant to the Solicitor

General
DOUGLAS N. LETTER
LISA E. JONES
H. THOMAS BYRON
JUSTIN R. PIDOT

Attorneys 
Department of Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001
SupremeCtBriefs@usdoj.gov
(202) 514-2217
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(I)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The court of appeals held that States and private
plaintiffs may maintain actions under federal common
law alleging that defendants—in this case, five electric
utilities—have caused, contributed to, or maintained a
“public nuisance” by contributing to global warming,
and may seek injunctive relief capping defendants’
carbon-dioxide emissions at judicially determined levels.
The questions presented are:

1. Whether States and private parties have standing
to seek judicially fashioned emissions caps on five utili-
ties for their alleged contribution to harms claimed to
arise from global climate change caused by more than a
century of emissions by billions of independent sources.

2. Whether a cause of action to cap carbon-dioxide
emissions can be implied under federal common law
where no statute creates such a cause of action, and the
Clean Air Act speaks directly to the same subject matter
and assigns federal responsibility for regulating such
emissions to the Environmental Protection Agency.

3. Whether claims seeking to cap defendants’
carbon-dioxide emissions at “reasonable” levels based on
a court’s weighing of the potential risks of climate
change against the socioeconomic utility of defendants’
conduct, would be governed by “judicially discoverable
and manageable standards” or could be resolved without
“initial policy determination[s] of a kind clearly for non-
judicial discretion.”  Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 217
(1962).
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(1)

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

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the court of appeals (Pet. App. 1a-
170a) is reported at 582 F.3d 309.  The opinion of the
district court (Pet. App. 171a-187a) is reported at 406
F. Supp. 2d 265.

JURISDICTION

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered on
September 21, 2009.  Petitions for rehearing were de-
nied on March 5, 2010, and March 10, 2010 (Pet. App.
188a-191a).  On May 26, 2010, Justice Ginsburg ex-
tended the time within which to file a petition for a writ
of certiorari to and including July 6, 2010.  On June 28,
2010, Justice Ginsburg further extended the time to Au-
gust 2, 2010, and the petition was filed on that date.  The
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1 See, e.g., Exec. Order 13,514, 3 C.F.R. 248 (2009 Comp.) (making
“reduction of greenhouse gas emissions a priority for Federal agen-
cies”); White House Council on Envt’l Quality, Progress Report of the

petition for a writ of certiorari was granted on Decem-
ber 6, 2010.  The jurisdiction of this Court rests on 28
U.S.C. 1254(1).

STATEMENT

This case concerns the methods by which the United
States will regulate carbon-dioxide emissions.  The con-
trol of such emissions is of singular importance due to
the pernicious effects of global climate change, and the
United States Government is committed to combating
climate change.  In this case, the plaintiffs seek to main-
tain federal common-law actions against five electric
utilities that have allegedly caused, contributed to, or
maintained a public nuisance by contributing to global
warming, and they seek injunctive relief to reduce defen-
dants’ carbon-dioxide emissions to judicially determined
levels.  When this case began (in July 2004) as well as
when it was argued in the court of appeals (in June
2006), the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) took
the view that the Clean Air Act (CAA), 42 U.S.C. 7401 et
seq., did not authorize it to issue mandatory regulations
to address global climate change, and that, even if it did
have the authority to set greenhouse-gas-emissions
standards, it was, at least at that time, unwise to do so.
See Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. 497, 511 (2007).

In the wake of this Court’s decision in Massachusetts
v. EPA, EPA’s position has dramatically changed.  EPA
has taken substantial steps to regulate greenhouse-gas
emissions under the CAA, consistent with other high-
priority efforts by the Executive Branch to develop ap-
propriate policies to combat climate change,1 and with
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Interagency Climate Change Adaptation Task Force: Recommended
Actions in Support of a National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy
16 (Oct. 2010) (explaining that efforts “to reduce the impacts of climate
change” include both mitigation of its causes and adaptation to its
effects), http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ceq/
Interagency-Climate-Change-Adaptation-Progress-Report.pdf.

2 See, e.g., U.S. Dep’t of State, U.S. Climate Action Report 2010, at
3, http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/usa_nc5.pdf (noting that as part
of the 2009 Copenhagen Accord, the United States proposed to “reduce
emissions in the range of 17 percent from 2005 levels by 2020”).

the United States’ efforts to address climate change in
recent international negotiations.2  Plaintiffs’ suits seek-
ing restrictions on greenhouse-gas emissions through an
injunction imposed by a district court should be dis-
missed, both because they are nonjusticiable and be-
cause any federal common-law nuisance action plaintiffs
may once have had has been displaced by EPA’s actions.

1. a. The CAA establishes a comprehensive frame-
work for regulating air pollution and vests EPA, and to
some extent the States and Indian Tribes, with imple-
menting authority.  It defines “air pollutant” to include
“any air pollution agent or combination of such agents,
including any physical, chemical, biological, radioactive
*  *  *  substance or matter which is emitted into or oth-
erwise enters the ambient air.”  42 U.S.C. 7602(g).  Sec-
tion 202(a)(1) of the CAA provides that the EPA Admin-
istrator “shall by regulation prescribe  *  *  *  standards
applicable to the emission of any air pollutant from
any class or classes of new motor vehicles or new motor
vehicle engines, which in his judgment cause, or contrib-
ute to, air pollution which may reasonably be anticipa-
ted to endanger public health or welfare.”  42 U.S.C.
7521(a)(1).  In Massachusetts v. EPA, the Court held
that Section 202 permits EPA to “regulate greenhouse-

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



4

3 Section 111(d) standards for existing sources are required if the
NSPS regulate emissions of an air pollutant that is not regulated under
Section 112 (42 U.S.C. 7412) and not subject to national ambient air
quality standards (NAAQS) by virtue of being a pollutant listed under
Section 108 (42 U.S.C. 7408).  (Only six pollutants—carbon monoxide,
lead, nitrogen dioxide, ozone, particulate matter, and sulfur dioxide—
have been listed under Section 108.  See 40 C.F.R. Pt. 50.)  Under
Section 111(d), States may apply standards less stringent than those
identified in EPA’s guidelines if they demonstrate that the application
of the guidelines to a facility or class of facilities imposes unreasonable
costs, is physically impossible, or presents some other factor that makes
less-stringent requirements more reasonable.  40 C.F.R. 60.24(f ).

gas emissions from new motor vehicles in the event that
it forms a ‘judgment’ ” that they “ ‘cause, or contribute
to, air pollution which may reasonably be anticipated to
endanger public health or welfare.’ ”  549 U.S. at 528
(quoting 42 U.S.C. 7521(a)(1)).

Section 111 of the CAA authorizes EPA to list cate-
gories of stationary sources that “cause[], or contribute[]
significantly to, air pollution which may reasonably be
anticipated to endanger public health or welfare.”  42
U.S.C. 7411(b)(1)(A).  Once EPA exercises its discretion
to list a category of stationary sources, Section 111 di-
rects it to establish performance standards for the emis-
sion of pollutants specified by EPA from new (or modi-
fied) sources in that category.  42 U.S.C. 7411(b)(1)(B).
Furthermore, in some circumstances, once EPA has
established such new source performance standards
(NSPS) for a particular category of sources, States are
required by Section 111(d) to issue performance stan-
dards—in accordance with EPA guidelines—for existing
sources in that category.3  42 U.S.C. 7411(d).  EPA may
issue such standards if a State does not do so.  Ibid.; see
also 40 C.F.R. 60.20-60.29 (establishing procedures for
the adoption of state plans).
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Section 165 of the CAA requires that any new “major
emitting facility” (or one to which a major modification
is made) must obtain a pre-construction permit to en-
sure the prevention of significant deterioration (PSD) of
air quality.  42 U.S.C. 7475; see generally 75 Fed. Reg.
31,520-31,521 (2010) (discussing PSD provisions perti-
nent to greenhouse-gas emissions).  Such PSD require-
ments apply to any “pollutant subject to regulation un-
der [the CAA].”  42 U.S.C. 7475(a)(4).  The definition of
“major emitting facility” includes stationary sources
that exceed specified amounts of emissions of any pollut-
ant.  42 U.S.C. 7479(1).  A permit application must show
that the facility will employ “the best available control
technology for each pollutant subject to regulation un-
der [the CAA].”  42 U.S.C. 7475(a)(4).

Finally, Title V of the CAA (42 U.S.C. 7661-7661f )
requires operators of major stationary sources to apply
for operating permits.  Title V generally does not add
substantive emissions-control requirements, but a Title
V permit must contain all otherwise-applicable require-
ments imposed by the CAA, and a major stationary
source must follow EPA-prescribed procedures in apply-
ing for an operating permit.  42 U.S.C. 7661a; see gener-
ally 75 Fed. Reg. at 31,521 (discussing Title V permit-
ting provisions pertinent to greenhouse-gas emissions).

b. The Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) is an Ex-
ecutive Branch agency with responsibility for the multi-
purpose development of the Tennessee Valley region.  16
U.S.C. 831.  Members of its board of directors are ap-
pointed by the President with the advice and consent of
the Senate.  16 U.S.C. 831a(a)(1).  TVA is expressly au-
thorized by federal statute to “produce, distribute, and
sell electric power,” 16 U.S.C. 831d(l), and all of its
power programs are self-financed, 16 U.S.C. 831n–4. It
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provides electricity to citizens in seven States, 55% of
which is generated by fossil-fuel-fired power plants in
Tennessee, Alabama, Kentucky, and Mississippi.  TVA
“[m]ay sue and be sued in its corporate name.”  16
U.S.C. 831c(b).

2. Petitioners and TVA (collectively, defendants) are
six entities that operate fossil-fuel-fired electric power
generation facilities in 20 States.  Pet. App. 2a.  Respon-
dents are eight States, the City of New York, and three
land trusts (collectively, plaintiffs).  Ibid.

In July 2004, plaintiffs filed two similar complaints in
the United States District Court for the Southern Dis-
trict of New York.  J.A. 56-116 (States’ Compl.); J.A.
117-154 (land trusts’ Compl.).  Both complaints allege
that defendants are substantial contributors to carbon-
dioxide emissions—amounting to 10% of such emissions
caused by human activities in the United States—and
thereby contribute to global warming.  J.A. 57, 118.
Plaintiffs claim that defendants are liable for creating,
contributing to, or maintaining a public nuisance under
federal common law (or, in the alternative, state law).
J.A. 103-110, 145-153.  They seek permanent injunctive
relief requiring defendants to abate the alleged nuisance
by capping and then reducing their emissions “by a
specified percentage each year for at least a decade.”
J.A. 110, 153.

Defendants moved to dismiss the complaints for lack
of jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted.  Pet. App. 178a-179a.  In Septem-
ber 2005, the district court granted defendants’ motions.
Id. at 171a-187a.  It held that both cases “present non-
justiciable political questions” because their resolution
would “require[] identification and balancing of eco-

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



7

nomic, environmental, foreign policy, and national secu-
rity interests.”  Id. at 187a.

3. On September 21, 2009, a two-judge panel of the
Second Circuit reversed.  Pet. App. 1a-170a. 

a. The court of appeals discussed the six indicia of a
political question articulated in Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S.
186, 217 (1962), and held that plaintiffs’ lawsuits do not
present a nonjusticiable political question.  Pet. App.
23a-41a.  With respect to the first Baker factor, it held
that defendants had forfeited any argument that limit-
ing carbon-dioxide emissions is textually committed to
the political Branches under the Commerce Clause, and
further held that the case would not interfere with the
President’s foreign-policy prerogatives because a single
court decision in a common-law nuisance action could not
“establish a national or international emissions policy.”
Id. at 24a-25a, 26a.  With respect to the second factor—
whether there is a “lack of judicially discoverable and
manageable standards for resolving” an issue, 369 U.S.
at 217—the court reasoned that “federal courts have
successfully adjudicated complex common law public
nuisance cases for over a century” and that there
would be judicially manageable standards here because
“[w]ell-settled principles of tort and public nuisance law
provide appropriate guidance,” Pet. App. 28a, 34a.  With
respect to the third factor—whether it is impossible to
decide an issue “without an initial policy determination
of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion,” 369 U.S. at
217—the court found that there would be no need for
any such “policy determination” because this case “ap-
pears to be an ordinary tort suit.”  Pet. App. 38a-39a
(internal quotation marks omitted).  Finally, the court
held that the last three Baker factors—which involve the
potential for disagreement between the judicial and
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political Branches—would not apply because the United
States had “no unified policy on greenhouse gas emis-
sions.”  Id. at 40a.

b. The court of appeals then considered three other
issues that had not been decided by the district court
but that defendants had raised as alternative grounds
for affirmance:  (1) whether plaintiffs have Article III
standing; (2) whether their complaints state a claim un-
der federal common law; and (3) whether the CAA has
displaced any such federal common-law claim.

With respect to standing, the court of appeals held
that the State plaintiffs have parens patriae standing
based on their interest in safeguarding public health and
natural resources within their borders.  Pet. App. 44a-
55a.  The court also concluded that the States and the
land trusts have met the Article III standard articulated
in Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-561
(1992), because (1) they alleged injury in fact as a result
of the effects of climate change on their property and
proprietary interests, Pet. App. 58a-67a; (2) their allega-
tions that defendants’ emissions contribute to climate
change satisfy the causation requirement, at least at the
motion-to-dismiss stage, id. at 67a-73a; and (3) a court
could provide effective relief, because reducing defen-
dants’ emissions would “slow or reduce” climate change,
id. at 75a (quoting Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. at
525); see also id. at 76a (agreeing that “[e]ven if emis-
sions increase elsewhere, the magnitude of [p]laintiffs’
injuries will be less if [d]efendants’ emissions are re-
duced than they would be without a remedy”).

Next, the court of appeals held that plaintiffs have
stated a claim under federal common law.  Pet. App. 77a-
123a.  Applying Section 821B of the Restatement (Sec-
ond) of Torts (1977), the court concluded that plaintiffs
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stated a claim by alleging that defendants contribute to
an “unreasonable interference with public rights,” Pet.
App. 82a-84a, 121a, including “the right to public com-
fort and safety, the right to protection of vital natural
resources and public property, and the right to use, en-
joy, and preserve the aesthetic and ecological values of
the natural world,” id. at 83a-84a.

Finally, the court of appeals held that the CAA had
not displaced a federal common-law public-nuisance
cause of action seeking to cap and reduce carbon-dioxide
emissions that contribute to climate change.  Pet. App.
137a-144a.  The court’s discussion of displacement drew
a line between the actual “regulation” of greenhouse-gas
emissions and mere “study” or “monitor[ing]” of such
emissions.  Id. at 135a & n.46, 156a.  It discussed EPA’s
2009 proposed finding in the context of Section 202 of
the CAA that greenhouse gases endanger public health
and welfare, but said that “[u]ntil EPA completes the
rulemaking process, we cannot speculate as to whether
the hypothetical regulation of greenhouse gases under
the Clean Air Act would in fact speak directly to the
particular issue raised” by plaintiffs.  Id. at 142a (inter-
nal quotation marks and alterations omitted).  The court
observed that “EPA has yet to make any determination
that [greenhouse-gas] emissions are subject to regula-
tion under the Act, much less endeavor actually to regu-
late the emissions.”  Id. at 144a.  In the absence of “the
requisite findings” from EPA, the court concluded that
the CAA “does not (1) regulate greenhouse gas emis-
sions or (2) regulate such emissions from stationary
sources.”  Ibid.  As a result, the court held that plain-
tiffs’ federal common-law claim had not yet been dis-
placed.  Ibid.
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4 On December 10, 2010, the D.C. Circuit denied motions to stay the
new regulations pending that court’s consideration of petitions for
review.  See Coalition for Responsible Regulation v. EPA, Nos. 09-
1322, 10-1073, 10-1092.

Petitioners and TVA filed petitions for panel or en
banc rehearing.  The court of appeals denied those peti-
tions on March 5 and 10, 2010.  Pet. App. 188a-191a.

4. As discussed in greater detail below (see pp. 46-
51, infra) in the 15 months since the court of appeals
issued its decision, EPA has taken several substantial
actions pursuant to its CAA authority to address green-
house-gas emissions.  EPA finalized the proposed rule
that the court of appeals discussed—the “endangerment
finding” (i.e., that greenhouse-gas emissions are reason-
ably anticipated to endanger public health and welfare).
It also adopted standards governing emissions of green-
house gases from certain motor vehicles.  As a result of
those regulations, which took effect on January 2, 2011,
carbon dioxide is now a “pollutant subject to regulation
under [the CAA].”  42 U.S.C. 7475(a)(4).4  On December
23, 2010, EPA announced a proposed settlement agree-
ment, under which it would commit to complete, by May
26, 2012, a rulemaking relating to NSPS for greenhouse
gases emitted by fossil-fuel-fired electric-utility steam-
generating units (i.e., the category of stationary sources
at issue in this case).

Thus, EPA’s actions have triggered a regulatory cas-
cade that will result in the application of PSD require-
ments to new and modified stationary sources that emit
greenhouse gases.  EPA will be required to assess what,
if any, NSPS it should issue for various categories of
stationary sources and what guidelines it should issue
and thus require States to implement with respect to
emissions from existing facilities within those categories
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of stationary sources.  As those actions demonstrate,
EPA is actively exercising its statutory discretion to
determine when and how greenhouse gases from station-
ary sources (including defendants’ power plants) will
become subject to emissions standards under the CAA.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.  A. Plaintiffs’ complaints should be dismissed for
lack of prudential standing.  Plaintiffs bring claims un-
der the federal common law of public nuisance against
six defendants alleged to emit greenhouse gases contrib-
uting to climate change.  But virtually every person,
organization, company, or government across the globe
also emits greenhouse gases, and virtually everyone will
also sustain climate-change-related injuries.  Principles
of prudential standing do not permit courts to adjudicate
such generalized grievances absent statutory authoriza-
tion, particularly because EPA, which is better-suited to
addressing this global problem, has begun regulating
greenhouse gases under the CAA.  As a result, plaintiffs’
suits must be dismissed.

B. Because plaintiffs cannot establish prudential
standing, the Court need not—and thus should not—
consider whether their allegations satisfy Article III
standing requirements at the pleading stage.  In any
event, although the issue is not free from doubt, plain-
tiffs’ allegations are sufficient to survive a motion to
dismiss.  The coastal State plaintiffs’ allegations closely
mirror those the Court found sufficient to establish Arti-
cle III standing in Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. 497
(2007).  Those plaintiffs have Article III standing based
on their interest in preventing the loss of sovereign ter-
ritory for which they are also the landowners.
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C. The Court also need not, and should not, decide
whether plaintiffs’ suits are barred by the political-
question doctrine.  This case does raise separation-of-
powers concerns highlighted by the second and third
factors used in Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186 (1962), to
describe the political-question doctrine:  “a lack of judi-
cially discoverable and manageable standards for resolv-
ing it; or the impossibility of deciding without an initial
policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial
discretion.”  Id. at 217.  In the circumstances of this
case, however, the principle of prudential standing that
bars judicial consideration of generalized grievances,
and the recognition that any common-law claims have
been displaced by EPA’s regulatory actions under the
CAA, are more restrained and appropriate grounds on
which to rest a decision to dismiss.

II. Any claim for public nuisance that federal com-
mon law may otherwise provide to plaintiffs has been
displaced by regulatory actions taken by EPA pursuant
to the CAA.  EPA has issued an endangerment finding
and promulgated emissions standards for light-duty mo-
tor vehicles, actions which rendered greenhouse gases
(including carbon dioxide) subject to regulation under
the CAA.  EPA has also promulgated a rule to phase in
the application of PSD requirements to greenhouse-gas
emissions from new and modified stationary sources.
EPA has, therefore, spoken directly to the question
plaintiffs ask the courts to resolve through federal com-
mon law.
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ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFFS’ COMMON-LAW NUISANCE CLAIMS ARE
NOT JUSTICIABLE

Petitioners advance two nonmerits grounds for dis-
missing these suits:  that plaintiffs lack standing (Pet.
13-20), and that their suits present nonjusticiable politi-
cal questions (Pet. 26-31).  Those arguments are both
rooted in petitioners’ legitimate concerns about the un-
precedentedly broad nature of plaintiffs’ nuisance suits,
which would require a federal court, in the course of
resolving asserted federal common-law claims against
six defendants, to make numerous significant scientific,
technical, and policy determinations about whether and
how to slow climate change—even though that phenome-
non is, by plaintiffs’ own account, a result of the actions
of innumerable sources of various kinds of emissions
from around the world over many decades.

The United States, including TVA, agrees that plain-
tiffs’ common-law nuisance suits present serious con-
cerns regarding the role of an Article III court under
the Constitution’s separation of powers—especially in
light of the representative Branches’ ongoing efforts to
combat climate change by formulating and implement-
ing domestic policy and participating in international
negotiations.  Those concerns are, however, best ad-
dressed under principles of prudential standing, which
constrain federal courts from entertaining generalized
grievances that are more appropriately addressed by
the representative Branches.
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A. Plaintiffs Lack Prudential Standing Because Their
Suits Are Generalized Grievances More Appropriately
Addressed By The Representative Branches

As this Court has explained, standing doctrine com-
prises two parts:  “Article III standing, which enforces
the Constitution’s case-or-controversy requirement, and
prudential standing, which embodies judicially self-
imposed limits on the exercise of federal jurisdiction.”
Elk Grove Unified Sch. Dist. v. Newdow, 542 U.S. 1, 11
(2004) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).
While prudential standing limitations are “closely re-
lated to Art[icle] III concerns,” they are not constitu-
tionally compelled and are “essentially matters of judi-
cial self-governance.”  Id. at 12 (quoting Warth v. Sel-
din, 422 U.S. 490, 500 (1975)).  “Without such limitations
*  *  *  the courts would be called upon to decide ab-
stract questions of wide public significance even though
other governmental institutions may be more competent
to address the questions and even though judicial in-
tervention may be unnecessary to protect individual
rights.”  Ibid. (quoting Warth, 422 U.S. at 500).  Careful
adherence to such principles of judicial self-restraint is
especially important when, as here, a court is asked to
entertain a cause of action based on federal common law,
which is itself fashioned by the Judiciary.

1. Federal courts must refrain from adjudicating gener-
alized grievances like plaintiffs’ common-law claims

One principle of prudential standing requires federal
courts to refrain from adjudicating “generalized griev-
ances more appropriately addressed in the representa-
tive branches.”  Newdow, 542 U.S. at 12 (quoting Allen
v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 751 (1984)).  Here, plaintiffs’
common-law claims are precisely that kind of “general-
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ized grievance[].”  Ibid.  This is not a situation in which
plaintiffs have invoked a “constitutional or statutory pro-
vision” that could “properly  *  *  *  be understood as
granting persons in the plaintiff [s’] position a right to
judicial relief.”  Warth, 422 U.S. at 500.  Congress,
rather, has vested a federal agency with the power to
regulate emissions from power plants and to regulate
carbon dioxide as a pollutant, and it has expressly pro-
vided for judicial review of EPA’s actions in exercising
those regulatory powers.  See Massachusetts v. EPA,
549 U.S. at 516 (discussing 42 U.S.C. 7607(b)(1)).  Con-
gress has also provided for citizen suits to enforce the
emissions standards that EPA establishes or to chal-
lenge the agency’s failure to perform any nondiscre-
tionary act or duty.  See 42 U.S.C. 7604.  But those stat-
utory provisions and remedies are not at issue here.

Instead of relying on any CAA standards or cause of
action, plaintiffs have elected to sue a handful of defen-
dants from among an almost limitless array of entities
that emit greenhouse gases.  Moreover, the types of in-
juries that plaintiffs seek to redress, even if concrete,
could potentially be suffered by virtually any landowner,
and to an extent, by virtually every person, in the
United States (and, indeed, in most of the world).  Even
if plaintiffs were found to have Article III standing to
raise such claims—an issue the Court need not reach—
principles of prudential standing counsel strongly in
favor of leaving the resolution of such widely shared
claims to the representative Branches.

a. Plaintiffs’ common-law nuisance claims are quin-
tessentially fit for political or regulatory—not judicial—
resolution, because they simultaneously implicate many
competing interests of almost unimaginably broad cate-
gories of both potential plaintiffs and potential defen-
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5 See Pet. App. 10a, 61a-62a (cataloging alleged “reduction of Cali-
fornia’s mountain snowpack” and damage to “States with ocean coast-
lines” and those “bordering the Great Lakes”; noting that “a rise in sea
level would  *  *  *  accelerate beach erosion,” “[w]armer temperatures
would threaten agriculture” in other States, and disruption of ecosys-
tems would “affect[] State-owned hardwood forests and fish habitats”).
See also Native Village of Kivalina v. Exxon Mobil Corp., 663 F. Supp.
2d 863, 868 (N.D. Cal. 2009) (nuisance claims based on allegation that
climate change requires relocation of Eskimo village), appeal pending,
No. 09-17490 (9th Cir.); Comer v. Murphy Oil USA, 585 F.3d 855, 861
(5th Cir. 2009) (nuisance claims based on allegation that climate change
contributed to property damage caused by Hurricane Katrina), opinion
vacated pending reh’g en banc, 598 F.3d 208, appeal dismissed, 607 F.3d
1049 (5th Cir. 2010), petition for mandamus denied sub nom. In re
Comer, S. Ct. No. 10-294 (Jan. 10, 2011).

dants.  On the plaintiffs’ side, the eight States, one city,
and three land trusts in these suits are a tiny subset of
those who could allege they are injured by greenhouse-
gas emissions that have contributed or will contribute to
global climate change.  The court of appeals focused
largely on plaintiffs’ asserted injuries as landowners.
See Pet. App. 59a-67a.  But plaintiffs’ allegations are not
unusual in that respect.  Global climate change will po-
tentially affect the property interests of most landown-
ers.  The court of appeals explained that the effects of
climate change come from the land, the sea, and the air,
and they will threaten the beaches, the fields, the hills—
and almost everywhere in between.5  Indeed, the court
of appeals’ analysis of the claims of the land-trust plain-
tiffs (id. at 62a-63a) confirms that nearly all landowners
will suffer injuries of the types they allege.  And the
effects of climate change will not be limited to landown-
ers; they will also be felt by individuals, corporations,
and governmental entities throughout the Nation and
around the world.
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6 It is cases of the latter sort on which the court of appeals relied as
examples of “the federal courts’ masterful handling of complex public
nuisance issues.”  Pet. App. 29a.  This Court last recognized a federal
common-law cause of action in the pollution context in Illinois v. City

Parallel breadth and complexities also characterize
the range of potential defendants in suits presenting
such common-law claims, because the categories of those
who emit carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases
(and thus contribute to climate change as plaintiffs al-
lege) are equally capacious.  Plaintiffs’ complaints name
a few entities that operate power plants in 20 States.
But the electric-utility industry comprises many more
companies in the United States and abroad, to say noth-
ing of many other sectors of the economy that are also
responsible for significant shares of greenhouse-gas
emissions.  See 75 Fed. Reg. at 31,519 (listing “impor-
tant sources” of such emissions, including motor vehi-
cles, “industrial processes (such as the production of ce-
ment, steel, and aluminum), agriculture, forestry, other
land use, and waste management”).

b. The multiplicity of potential plaintiffs and defen-
dants is rendered especially troubling by the very na-
ture of common-law public-nuisance claims seeking to
slow climate change.  The problem is not simply that
many plaintiffs could bring such claims and that many
defendants could be sued.  It is also that essentially any
potential plaintiff could claim to have been injured by
any (or all) of the potential defendants.  The medium
that transmits injury to potential plaintiffs is literally
the Earth’s entire atmosphere—making it impossible to
consider the sort of focused and more geographically
proximate effects that were characteristic of traditional
nuisance suits targeted at particular nearby sources of
water or air pollution.6
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of Milwaukee, 406 U.S. 91 (1972) (Milwaukee I ), which concerned dis-
charges into a particular body of water (Lake Michigan), though it sub-
sequently held that a water-pollution suit recognized in Milwaukee I
had been displaced by later statutory amendments, see City of Mil-
waukee v. Illinois, 451 U.S. 304, 317 (1981) (Milwaukee II ).  The other
nuisance cases discussed by the court of appeals long predated the CAA
and—unlike this case—also involved only localized rather than global
effects.  See, e.g., Georgia v. Tennessee Copper Co., 206 U.S. 230 (1907).
Accordingly, the prudential-standing argument advanced here would
not alter the standing analysis for traditional nuisance cases involving
such localized grievances.

In the context of climate change, a regulatory solu-
tion will be far better suited to addressing the scope of
the problem and to fashioning an appropriately tailored
set of remedies than a potentially open-ended series of
common-law suits in far-flung district courts.  Even a
single common-law proceeding would be a less efficient,
effective, manageable, and accountable means for con-
sidering in the first instance (rather than on judicial
review of an expert agency’s determination) how much
the Nation’s greenhouse-gas emissions should be re-
duced to address global climate change, how much of the
burden of reducing the Nation’s contributions should be
borne by the electric-utility industry, which segments of
that industry should make which changes, and at what
rate such reductions should occur.  A court—when no
statute or regulation is in place to provide guidance—is
simply not well-suited to balance the various interests
of, and the burdens reasonably and fairly to be borne by,
the many entities, groups, and sectors of the economy
that, although not parties to the litigation, are affected
by a phenomenon that spans the globe.

c. Establishing appropriate levels for the reduction
of carbon-dioxide emissions from power plants “by a
specified percentage each year for at least a decade” (as

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



19

plaintiffs request, J.A. 110, 153) would inevitably entail
multifarious policy judgments, which should be made by
decisionmakers who are politically accountable, have
expertise, and are able to pursue a coherent national or
international strategy—either at a single stroke or in-
crementally.  Cf. Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. at 524
(“[Agencies] whittle away at [massive problems] over
time, refining their preferred approach as circumstances
change and as they develop a more nuanced understand-
ing of how best to proceed.”).  For such reasons, courts
often accord the highest levels of deference to Executive
Branch agencies’ application of their regulatory and
scientific expertise and policy judgment to address such
complex problems.  See, e.g., Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v.
NRDC, 467 U.S. 837 (1984); NRDC v. EPA, 571 F.3d
1245, 1251-1253 (D.C. Cir. 2009); New Eng. Legal
Found. v. Costle, 666 F.2d 30, 33 (2d Cir. 1981).

EPA has recognized the complexity and resulting
uncertainty that exists about many of the localized ef-
fects of climate change.  See 74 Fed. Reg. 66,497 (2009)
(“[I]n light of existing knowledge  *  *  *  not all risks
and potential impacts can be quantified or characterized
with uniform metrics.  There is variety not only in the
nature and potential magnitude of risks and impacts, but
also in our ability to characterize, quantify and project
such impacts into the future.”).  Although plaintiffs ask
the courts to cap and reduce defendants’ emissions, the
myriad questions associated with developing a judgment
about reasonable levels of greenhouse-gas emissions
from defendants and the broader industry of which they
are a part are more properly answered by EPA.  EPA is,
after all, the regulatory agency charged by Congress
with the responsibility for setting standards for air-
pollutant emissions and with significant expertise in the
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scientific disciplines that must be brought to bear in
establishing appropriate limitations on emissions.

In the CAA, Congress has created a regime under
which EPA and state regulators determine the best
means of regulating air pollutants.  Since this Court held
in Massachusetts v. EPA in 2007 that carbon dioxide
falls within that regulatory authority, EPA has taken
several significant steps toward addressing the very
question presented here.  See pp. 46-51, infra.  That
regulatory approach is preferable to what would result
if multiple district courts—acting separately and with-
out the benefit of even the most basic statutory or regu-
latory guidance—were to use common-law nuisance
cases as opportunities to sit as arbiters of scientific and
technology-related disputes and de facto regulators of
power plants and other sources of pollution, not just
within their districts but nationwide.  Cf. North Caro-
lina ex rel. Cooper v. TVA, 615 F.3d 291, 296 (4th Cir.
2010) (observing, in a suit involving a state common-law
claim, that “encourag[ing] courts to use vague public
nuisance standards to scuttle the nation’s carefully cre-
ated system for accommodating the need for energy pro-
duction and the need for clean air” would result in “a
balkanization of clean air regulations and a confused
patchwork of standards, to the detriment of industry
and the environment alike”).

The confluence in this case of several factors—in-
cluding countless potential plaintiffs and defendants, the
lack of judicial manageability, and the unusually broad
range of underlying policy judgments that would need to
be made—demonstrates that plaintiffs’ concerns about
climate change should be resolved by the representative
Branches, not federal courts.  Questions about how to
regulate and reduce carbon-dioxide emissions are thus
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7 Despite a similarity in terminology, the prudential-standing analy-
sis articulated here is distinct from, and would not alter, this Court’s
settled approach to challenges that raise “undifferentiated, generalized
grievance[s] about the conduct of government.”  Lance v. Coffman, 549
U.S. 437, 442 (2007) (per curiam).  This Court has addressed the justi-
ciability of challenges to government action brought by taxpayers or
citizens as part of the inquiry into whether a plaintiff has alleged a
sufficiently particularized and concrete stake in litigation to establish
Article III injury.  See ibid.; see also Hein v. Freedom from Religion
Found., 551 U.S. 587, 633-634 & n.5 (2007) (Scalia, J., concurring in the
judgment) (concluding that a taxpayer’s “ ‘generally available grievance
about government’ ” fails to “satisfy Article III’s requirement that the
injury in fact be concrete and particularized,” notwithstanding prior
“dicta describ[ing] the prohibition on generalized grievances as merely
a prudential bar”) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S.
555, 573 (1992)); DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. Cuno, 547 U.S. 332, 345-346
(2006) (describing federal-taxpayer-standing doctrine as based on
Article III); FEC v. Akins, 524 U.S. 11, 23 (1998) (analyzing Article III
injury and considering whether harm is “of an abstract and indefinite
nature”).  Here, plaintiffs are not asserting the “generalized” interest
of a taxpayer or citizen in having the government follow the law.
Instead, they assert that their property interests have been damaged
largely by the actions of private parties.

the kind of generalized grievances that are “more appro-
priately addressed in the representative branches.”
Newdow, 542 U.S. at 12.7  And EPA is actively address-
ing how and when to regulate carbon-dioxide emissions
—decisions that the CAA in turn makes subject to judi-
cial review.  Plaintiffs thus lack prudential standing to
assert their claims directly in federal court by seeking
to invoke judge-made federal common law.

2. It is appropriate to resolve this case on prudential-
standing grounds before considering other threshold
grounds

Prudential standing is an issue that may be resolved
at the outset of a case.  See Tenet v. Doe, 544 U.S. 1, 7
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8 The concurring Justices in Newdow disagreed with the conclusion
that the plaintiff lacked prudential standing but did not criticize the
Court’s decision to address prudential standing first.  See 542 U.S. at
18-25 (Rehnquist, C.J., concurring in the judgment).

n.4 (2005) (“[T]he prudential standing doctrine[] repre-
sents the sort of ‘threshold question’ we have recognized
may be resolved before addressing jurisdiction.”).  In-
deed, it is well established that prudential standing may
be resolved before Article III standing.  See, e.g., Ko-
walski v. Tesmer, 543 U.S. 125, 129 (2004) (assuming
without deciding the existence of Article III standing in
order to address prudential standing); Newdow, 542
U.S. at 18 & n.8 (finding that plaintiff “lack[ed] pruden-
tial standing to bring this suit in federal court,” without
addressing Article III standing).8

In this case, compelling reasons counsel in favor of
addressing prudential standing before other threshold
questions, such as Article III standing and the political-
question doctrine.  It provides an appropriately nar-
rower ground for decision, because a prudential-stand-
ing decision would be based on the particular context
and circumstances of the claims here, which are asserted
under federal common law that is itself fashioned by the
courts.  Prudential standing also provides a more defer-
ential and restrained basis for dismissing suits like plain-
tiffs’ because that basis for dismissal could be revisited
by Congress, to the extent consistent with Article III.
As this Court has explained, principles of prudential
standing can, “unlike their constitutional counterparts,
*  *  *  be modified or abrogated by Congress.”  Bennett
v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 162 (1997); see also FEC v.
Akins, 524 U.S. 11, 20 (1998) (holding that the existence
of a statute embodying Congress’s intention to authorize
the “kind of suit” at issue meant that the plaintiffs
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“satisf [ied] ‘prudential’ standing requirements”); United
Food & Commercial Workers v. Brown Group, Inc., 517
U.S. 544, 558 (1996) (“prudential limitations are rules of
‘judicial self-governance’ that ‘Congress may remove
.  .  .  by statute’ ”) (quoting Warth, 422 U.S. at 509).

The restraint and flexibility inherent in prudential-
standing doctrine also respond to petitioners’ proper
insistence that the representative Branches’ active
role in addressing climate change must be respected.
See Pet. 27, 31, 34; see also Newdow, 542 U.S. at 12
(prudential-standing restrictions prevent courts from
deciding questions “of wide public significance even
though other governmental institutions may be more
competent to address the questions and even though
judicial intervention may be unnecessary to protect indi-
vidual rights”) (quoting Warth, 422 U.S. at 500).

The appropriateness of dismissing this case on
prudential-standing grounds follows as well from this
Court’s recognition in Massachusetts v. EPA that Con-
gress’s statutory “authorization” of the “type of chal-
lenge to EPA action” present there—but absent in the
common-law action here—was “of critical importance to
the standing inquiry.”  549 U.S. at 516 (citing Lujan v.
Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 580 (1992) (Ken-
nedy, J., concurring in part and concurring in the judg-
ment)).  Had this case fallen within the bounds of a
citizen-suit provision like 42 U.S.C. 7604, the existence
of that statutory cause of action would mean that Con-
gress had itself eliminated prudential-standing limita-
tions (see Bennett, 520 U.S. at 162) and had itself dimin-
ished to that extent an important concern animating the
prudential-standing doctrine:  that the representative
Branches are otherwise better suited than the federal
courts to resolve such matters.  When Congress has en-
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9 As noted in TVA’s brief at the certiorari stage (at 21), the parties
did not expressly address the question of prudential standing in the
lower courts.  Neither did the court of appeals, even though the Second
Circuit has held that prudential-standing limitations cannot be waived
by the parties.  See Thompson v. County of Franklin, 15 F.3d 245, 248
(1994) (the court’s “independent obligation to examine subject matter
jurisdiction  *  *  *  extends ‘to the prudential rules of standing’ ”)
(citation and footnote omitted).  In any event, the question is “fairly
included” (Sup. Ct. R. 14.1(a)) in the first question presented, which
refers to “standing” but is not limited to Article III standing, see Pet.
i.  And because the question is jurisdictional, this Court could address
it even if it had never been raised by the parties.  See, e.g., Newdow, 542
U.S. at 12-18 (dismissing for lack of prudential standing even though
that issue was not raised in the lower courts or in the parties’ briefs in
this Court).

acted a statute authorizing suit, the prudential-standing
inquiry is different because Congress presumably has
“at the very least identif[ied] the injury it seeks to vindi-
cate and relate[d] the injury to the class of persons enti-
tled to bring suit.”  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 580 (Kennedy, J.,
concurring in part and concurring in the judgment).

“The rules of standing, whether as aspects of the
Art[icle] III case-or-controversy requirement or as re-
flections of prudential considerations  *  *  * , are
threshold determinants of the propriety of judicial inter-
vention” that must be established by “the complainant”
who seeks “the exercise of the court’s remedial powers.”
Bender v. Williamsport Area Sch. Dist., 475 U.S. 534,
546 n.8 (1986) (quoting Warth, 422 U.S. at 517-518) (em-
phasis added).  Thus, before considering the merits of
plaintiffs’ suits, this Court must assure itself that, quite
aside from the requirements of Article III, “judicially
self-imposed limits on the exercise of federal jurisdic-
tion” would not be transgressed, Allen, 468 U.S. at 751.9

Plaintiffs’ suits would transgress those limits.
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B. Under Massachusetts v. EPA, At Least Some Of The
State Plaintiffs Have Article III Standing In Their Ca-
pacity As Sovereign Landowners

If the Court concludes, as urged above, that plaintiffs
lack prudential standing, then the Court need not—and
therefore should not—reach the issue of their standing
under Article III of the Constitution.  See Pearson v.
Callahan, 129 S. Ct. 808, 821 (2009) (following “the
older, wiser judicial counsel not to pass on questions of
constitutionality unless such adjudication is unavoid-
able”) (internal quotation marks and ellipsis omitted);
PDK Labs. Inc. v. United States DEA, 362 F.3d 786, 799
(D.C. Cir. 2004) (Roberts, J., concurring in part and con-
curring in the judgment) (“[I]f it is not necessary to de-
cide more, it is necessary not to decide more.”).  If, how-
ever, the Court reaches the Article III question, we be-
lieve that, although the question is not free from doubt,
the allegations advanced by the coastal States in their
capacity as sovereign landowners are sufficient to sur-
vive a motion to dismiss under this Court’s recent deci-
sion in Massachusetts v. EPA.  Some of the coastal
States’ allegations of potential injuries here are materi-
ally similar to those that were found sufficient in Massa-
chusetts v. EPA to satisfy the requirements for Article
III standing.  While there are differences between that
case and this one, the differences cut both ways and on
balance do not deprive plaintiffs of Article III standing
at the pleading stage.

1. Like its prudential counterpart, Article III stand-
ing serves as a means of determining whether “a litigant
is entitled to have a federal court resolve his grievance.”
Kowalski, 543 U.S. at 128.  In order to establish Article
III standing “[t]o seek injunctive relief,” a plaintiff must
make three showings:  (1) “that he is under threat of
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suffering ‘injury in fact’ that is concrete and particular-
ized [and] actual and imminent, not conjectural or hypo-
thetical”; (2) that the threat is “fairly traceable to the
challenged action of the defendant”; and (3) that it is
“likely that a favorable judicial decision will prevent or
redress the injury.”  Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 129
S. Ct. 1142, 1149 (2009).

In Massachusetts v. EPA, the Court held that the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts had established Arti-
cle III standing to petition for judicial review of EPA’s
decision under the CAA not to regulate greenhouse
gases emitted by motor vehicles.  See 549 U.S. at 516-
526.  The Court concluded that “[t]he harms associated
with climate change are serious and well recognized,”
that there is “a causal connection between man-made
greenhouse gas emissions and global warming,” and that
“[a] reduction in domestic emissions would slow the pace
of global emissions increases” and thus “reduce[] to
some extent” the “risk of catastrophic harm” from “the
rise in sea levels associated with global warming.”  Id. at
521, 523, 526.

The Court’s standing analysis in Massachusetts v.
EPA was carefully limited in two ways.  The Court con-
sidered only a single kind of plaintiff (a sovereign State)
and relied on only a single kind of injury (the loss of
state-owned land).  With respect to the first limitation,
the Court explained that it was “of considerable rele-
vance that the party seeking review here is a sovereign
State and not  *  *  *  a private individual,” and it ac-
knowledged that Massachusetts’ “quasi-sovereign inter-
ests” entitled it to “special solicitude in [the Court’s]
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10 The Court did not separately consider the standing of the non-State
petitioners in that case, which included local governments and private
organizations.  See 549 U.S. at 505.

11 The Court has recognized that “[a] State does not have standing as
parens patriae to bring an action against the Federal Government.”
Alfred L. Snapp & Son, Inc. v. Puerto Rico ex rel. Barez, 458 U.S. 592,
610 n.16 (1982) (citing Massachusetts v. Mellon, 262 U.S. 447, 485-486
(1923)).  Here, although TVA is a defendant, the Court, as in Massachu-
setts v. EPA, need not consider whether the States’ parens patriae
allegations would suffice to confer standing apart from the allegations
of direct injuries to state-owned property, including the erosion of
coastal beaches, because finding that the States have standing in their
proprietary capacity is sufficient.  See 549 U.S. at 522.

standing analysis.”  549 U.S. at 518, 520.10  The second
limitation on the Court’s analysis revealed that the
“quasi-sovereign interests” it invoked were not of a tra-
ditional parens patriae nature (i.e., brought on behalf of
citizens who had their own injuries).11  Those interests
were instead associated with land over which Massachu-
setts was both the sovereign and the owner.  When the
Court addressed the nature of Massachusetts’ concrete
injury in fact, it did not rely on anything other than the
injury Massachusetts would suffer “in its capacity as a
landowner” as “rising seas” swallowed “coastal land”
that was not only owned by the Commonwealth but also
its “sovereign territory.”  Id. at 522-523 & n.21; see also
id. at 519 (noting that Massachusetts had a “well-
founded desire to preserve its sovereign territory”) (cit-
ing Alden v. Maine, 527 U.S. 706, 715 (1999)); id. at 523
n.21 (stating that “[o]ur cases require nothing more”
than the allegation that rising seas “will lead to the loss
of Massachusetts’ sovereign territory”); id. at 539 (Rob-
erts, C.J., dissenting) (explaining that the majority’s
decision “applies our Article III standing test to the as-
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serted injury of the Commonwealth’s loss of coastal
property”).

2. In this case, some of the plaintiff States—includ-
ing Massachusetts’ neighbors, Connecticut and Rhode
Island—allege injuries that are materially identical to
the one the Court found sufficient to support standing in
Massachusetts v. EPA.  The States’ complaint alleges
that they have suffered and will suffer numerous inju-
ries from climate change, including the same array of
threatened injuries catalogued in the National Research
Council report cited in Massachusetts v. EPA.  See 549
U.S. at 521.  In particular, the complaint contains sev-
eral allegations about injuries associated with sea-level
rise, including allegations that it will inundate coastal
property, will “cause billions of dollars of damage to
property, including state-owned” property, and will lead
to increased erosion of beaches.  J.A. 89-92.  The com-
plaint specifically alleges that “[a]ccelerated sea-level
rise due to unrestrained global warming” threatens to
erode beaches “owned by” the coastal States.  J.A. 91-92
(identifying state-owned parks and beaches in New
York, California, Connecticut, and Rhode Island).  Con-
necticut and Rhode Island border Massachusetts, and it
is reasonable to assume at the pleading stage that cli-
mate change would affect public coastal property to a
similar extent in all three States.  Accordingly, like Mas-
sachusetts in the earlier case, the coastal States here
have adequately alleged a concrete injury in their capac-
ities as sovereign owners of land that is threatened with
destruction by sea-level rise associated with climate
change.

3. Massachusetts v. EPA is also instructive with
respect to the other two prongs of Article III standing
analysis:  causation and redressability.  With respect to
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causation, the Court first explained that agencies, like
legislatures, frequently approach problems incremen-
tally, and “[t]hat a first step might be tentative does not
by itself support the notion that federal courts lack ju-
risdiction to determine whether that step conforms to
law.”  549 U.S. at 524.  But the Court then further ex-
plained that, in any event, “reducing domestic automo-
bile emissions is hardly a tentative step,” because
“[ j]udged by any standard, U. S. motor-vehicle emis-
sions make a meaningful contribution to greenhouse gas
concentrations and hence, according to petitioners, to
global warming.”  Id. at 524-525.

Unlike Massachusetts v. EPA, this case does not
involve a challenge to a discrete agency action address-
ing a problem in an incremental way pursuant to a statu-
tory directive or authorization to proceed in such a man-
ner.  Rather, it is plaintiffs themselves, through their
choice of defendants, who seek to proceed incrementally,
and thereby to have the courts do so in the adjudication
of an asserted public nuisance under federal common
law.  The aspect of the Court’s rationale in Massachu-
setts v. EPA that focuses on the particular authority and
ability of agencies to proceed incrementally therefore is
not directly applicable here.

The Court’s further reasoning about causation in
Massachusetts v. EPA, focusing on the amount of emis-
sions, however, does appear to be applicable to this case.
Under that reasoning, plaintiffs have adequately alleged
that defendants’ emissions constitute a “meaningful con-
tribution  *  *  *  to global warming.”  549 U.S. at 525.
The States’ complaint alleges that defendants annually
emit approximately 650 million tons of carbon dioxide.
J.A. 84.  Although that figure is about one-third of the
amount that the Court mentioned in Massachusetts v.
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12 If the suit were to progress past the pleading stage, questions of
injury, causation, and redressability would of course need to be revis-
ited in light of the evidence.  See Lujan v. National Wildlife Fed’n, 497
U.S. 871, 889 (1990).

EPA, 549 U.S. at 524 (referring to emissions from the
entire “transportation sector,” not just the smaller
amount of automobile emissions that were actually at
issue in the case), the Court’s conclusion that “more
than 1.7 billion metric tons” was a meaningful contribu-
tion when “[j]udged by any standard” (id. at 524-525)
indicates that that amount was not at the outer limit of
what would satisfy the causation element of Article III
standing in a suit brought by a State alleging substantial
loss of sovereign lands.

With respect to redressability, the Court in Massa-
chusetts v. EPA reasoned that “[w]hile it may be true
that regulating motor-vehicle emissions will not by itself
reverse global warming,” it did not follow that the Court
“lack[ed] jurisdiction to decide whether EPA has a duty
to take steps to slow or reduce it.”  549 U.S. at 525.  The
Court concluded that the redressability requirement had
been satisfied because “[a] reduction in domestic emis-
sions would slow the pace of global emissions increases,
no matter what happens elsewhere” in the world with
other emitters.  Id. at 526.  In light of that discussion,
the court of appeals here was correct in concluding that
plaintiffs have adequately alleged—at least under “the
lowered bar for standing at the pleading stage”—that
“[e]ven if emissions increase elsewhere, the magnitude
of [p]laintiffs’ injuries will be less if [d]efendants’ emis-
sions are reduced than they would be without a remedy.”
Pet. App. 43a, 76a.12

4. Petitioners contend (Pet. 16) that Massachusetts
v. EPA is distinguishable.  They stress that the opinion

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



31

noted that the statute authorizing judicial review of
EPA decisions was “of critical importance to the stand-
ing inquiry” in that case because “ ‘Congress has the
power to define injuries and articulate chains of causa-
tion that will give rise to a case or controversy where
none existed before.’ ”  549 U.S. at 516 (quoting Lujan,
504 U.S. at 580 (Kennedy, J., concurring in part and con-
curring in the judgment)).  Here, by contrast, there is no
Act of Congress authorizing this cause of action.  Plain-
tiffs have not invoked the CAA’s citizen-suit provision.
Cf. Public Interest Research Group v. Powell Duffryn
Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 71-73 (3d Cir. 1990) (suit
for pollutant discharges in excess of amounts allowed by
Clean Water Act permit), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1109
(1991).  Nor is there any statute akin, for example, to the
Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. 1, 4), authorizing federal courts,
at the behest of certain injured parties, to enjoin unrea-
sonable emissions of greenhouse gases.

As the Court has recently explained, Congress’s abil-
ity to “loosen the strictures of the redressability prong”
in the context of a challenge to agency action accounts
for the inability to predict with assurance whether the
plaintiff would, after securing judicial vindication of his
claimed procedural right before the agency, ultimately
“be successful in persuading the [agency] to avoid im-
pairment of [the plaintiff ’s] concrete interests.”  Sum-
mers, 129 S. Ct. at 1150; see also Massachusetts v. EPA,
549 U.S. at 517-518.  This case does not involve that kind
of uncertainty, because plaintiffs are not challenging an
agency’s action or failure to act to limit emissions by
third parties.  Plaintiffs’ chains of causation and redres-
sability are shorter than the ones in Massachusetts, be-
cause they seek judicial relief directly from the entities
responsible for the allegedly unlawful emissions.  For
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13 Plaintiffs’ Article III standing also finds some support in the back-
ground proposition that the common law provides for claims against
those who contribute to a public nuisance, even when a particular defen-
dant is not the exclusive contributor to the nuisance.  See Restatement
(Second) of Torts § 840E at 177 (1977) (“[T]he fact that other persons
contribute to a nuisance is not a bar to the defendants’ liability for his
own contribution.”); id . cmt. b at 177 (public nuisance claim may lie
where “each of several persons contributes to a nuisance to a relatively
slight extent, so that his contribution taken by itself would not be an
unreasonable one and so would not subject him to liability”); Sprint
Communications Co. v. APCC Servs., Inc., 554 U.S. 269, 274 (2008)
(“We have often said that history and tradition offer a meaningful guide
to the types of cases that Article III empowers federal courts to con-
sider.”).

In Milwaukee I, for example, the Court recognized that Illinois could
sue Milwaukee for releasing untreated sewage into Lake Michigan.  See
406 U.S. at 103-108.  In the suit that followed on that claim, the district
court discussed the existence of harmful nutrients released into the lake
by non-point sources and by point sources in Illinois and Michigan, and
held that it would be “sufficient for plaintiffs to show that defendants’
nutrient discharges constitute a significant portion of the total nutrient
input to the lake.”  Illinois ex rel. Scott v. City of Milwaukee, No. 72 C
1253, 1973 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15607, at *21-*22 (N.D. Ill. 1973), aff ’d in
part, rev’d in part, Illinois v. City of Milwaukee, 599 F.2d 151 (7th Cir.
1979), vacated on other grounds, City of Milwaukee v. Illinois, 451 U.S.
304 (1981).  To be sure, Milwaukee I involved discharges into a particu-
lar body of water, through which the pollution reached the plaintiffs—
not, as here, emissions into the Earth’s atmosphere that affect plaintiffs
only to the extent they add to all other emissions of greenhouse gases
worldwide in a manner that allegedly visits harm on plaintiffs.  But that
distinction goes more to prudential than to Article III standing.

the same reason, their chains are also shorter than the
ones in Lujan, because their standing does not “hinge on
the response of [a] regulated (or regulable) third party
to  *  *  *  government action.”  504 U.S. at 562.13

5. If the Court agrees that, in light of Massachu-
setts v. EPA, the coastal States here have adequately
alleged Article III standing at the pleading stage be-
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14 Of course, if the Court were to conclude that the coastal States lack
Article III standing here, then the other plaintiffs would, a fortiori, lack
standing, whether they are private land trusts that have no “quasi-
sovereign interests” (Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. at 520), or inland
States that allege many potential injuries from climate change but not
the actual “loss of  *  *  *  sovereign territory” that they own (id. at 523
n.21), or a locality (the City of New York) that does not have the same
“dignity  *  *  *  of sovereignty” that States possess in our federal
system (id. at 519 (quoting Alden, 527 U.S. at 715)).  Accordingly, we do
not further discuss the other injuries alleged by plaintiffs.

cause, like Massachusetts, they are the owners of sover-
eign territory that could be destroyed by rising sea lev-
els associated with global warming, then constitutional
standing principles would pose no further barrier to this
Court’s consideration of whether the common-law nui-
sance claims asserted by plaintiffs have been displaced
by the CAA or regulatory actions taken by EPA.  See
Massachusetts v. EPA, 549 U.S. at 518 (“Only one of the
petitioners needs to have standing to permit us to con-
sider the petition for review.”); Rumsfeld v. Forum for
Academic & Institutional Rights, Inc., 547 U.S. 47, 52
n.2 (2006) (“[T]he presence of one party with standing is
sufficient to satisfy Article III’s case-or-controversy
requirement.”).14

C. This Case Raises Separation-Of-Powers Concerns Ad-
dressed By The Political-Question Doctrine, But Plain-
tiffs’ Lack Of Prudential Standing Provides A More
Appropriate Basis For A Dismissal On Grounds Of Non-
justiciability

Concluding that judicial resolution of the merits of
plaintiffs’ common-law nuisance claims would present
substantial separation-of-powers concerns, the district
court dismissed both complaints on the ground that they
“present non-justiciable political questions.”  Pet. App.
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187a.  The political-question doctrine, however, is only
one mechanism for identifying cases that are not fit for
judicial resolution; in the circumstances of this case, the
principle of prudential standing that bars judicial con-
sideration of generalized grievances is a more restrained
and appropriate ground on which to rest such a decision.

1. The political-question doctrine is animated by
separation-of-powers principles.  See Baker v. Carr, 369
U.S. 186, 210 (1962) (“The nonjusticiability of a political
question is primarily a function of the separation of pow-
ers.”).  But the same concerns undergird other doc-
trines, including prudential standing, which, as dis-
cussed above, is dispositive here.  As this Court has ob-
served:

All of the doctrines that cluster about Article III—
not only standing but mootness, ripeness, political
question, and the like—relate in part, and in differ-
ent though overlapping ways, to an idea, which is
more than an intuition but less than a rigorous and
explicit theory, about the constitutional and pruden-
tial limits to the powers of an unelected, unrepresen-
tative judiciary in our kind of government.

Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 750 (1984) (quoting Van-
der Jagt v. O’Neill, 699 F.2d 1166, 1178-1179 (D.C. Cir.)
(Bork, J., concurring), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 823 (1983));
see also, e.g., Poe v. Ullman, 367 U.S. 497, 508-509
(1961) (plurality opinion) (“Justiciability is of course not
a legal concept with a fixed content or susceptible of
scientific verification. Its utilization is the resultant of
many subtle pressures, including the appropriateness of
the issues for decision by this Court and the actual hard-
ship to the litigants of denying them the relief sought.”).
Like the prudential-standing doctrine, the political-
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15 Precedent supports resolving questions of standing before those of
political question, see Schlesinger v. Reservists Comm. to Stop the
War, 418 U.S. 208, 215 (1974), and the Court should follow that practice
here.  Cf. Ruhrgas AG v. Marathon Oil Co., 526 U.S. 574, 585, 588
(1999) (in choosing “among threshold grounds for denying audience to
a case on the merits,” it is appropriate to decide a “straightforward”
question before a more “difficult and novel” one).

question doctrine is “deriv[ed] in large part from pru-
dential concerns about the respect [courts] owe the po-
litical departments.”  Nixon v. United States, 506 U.S.
224, 252-253 (1993) (Souter, J., concurring in the judg-
ment) (citing Goldwater v. Carter, 444 U.S. 996, 1000
(1979) (Powell, J., concurring in the judgment)).  Indeed,
the Court could conclude that, in certain gray areas that
“cluster about Article III” and call for judicial self-re-
straint, the political-question doctrine has a distinct,
self-imposed prudential component akin to prudential
standing.  But if this Court finds that plaintiffs lack pru-
dential standing, as we argue above, there is no need to
determine whether the political-question doctrine also
bars a decision on the merits of their claims.15

2. In applying the political-question doctrine, there
is no simple and precise test for identifying which ques-
tions courts should refrain from addressing lest they
“inappropriate[ly] interfere[] in the business of the
other branches of Government.”  United States v.
Munoz-Florez, 495 U.S. 385, 394 (1990).  But in Baker v.
Carr, supra, the Court identified six guiding factors:

Prominent on the surface of any case held to involve
a political question is found [1] a textually demon-
strable constitutional commitment of the issue to a
coordinate political department; or [2] a lack of judi-
cially discoverable and manageable standards for
resolving it; or [3] the impossibility of deciding with-
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16 See Nixon, 506 U.S. at 229 (questions about the procedures for
trying an impeachment are textually committed to the Senate); Gilligan
v. Morgan, 413 U.S. 1, 7 (1973) (powers over “the training, weaponry,
and orders of the [National] Guard” are vested in the Legislative and
Executive Branches).  In Vieth, a four-Justice plurality concluded that
“political gerrymandering claims are nonjusticiable” under the second
Baker factor because there are “no judicially discernible and man-
ageable standards for adjudicating” them.  541 U.S. at 281.  Justice
Kennedy’s opinion concurring in the judgment in Vieth concluded only
that the Court was “require[d] [to] refrain from intervention in this
instance” because the plaintiffs had not proposed a suitable “standard[]
for measuring the burden a [partisan] gerrymander imposes on repre-
sentational rights,” and it remained possible that a standard could
“emerge in the future,” id. at 311, 317.

out an initial policy determination of a kind clearly
for nonjudicial discretion; or [4] the impossibility
of a court’s undertaking independent resolution with-
out expressing lack of the respect due coordinate
branches of government; or [5] an unusual need for
unquestioning adherence to a political decision al-
ready made; or [6] the potentiality of embarrassment
from multifarious pronouncements by various de-
partments on one question.

369 U.S. at 217.  Baker emphasized the “necessity for
discriminating inquiry into the precise facts and posture
of the particular case, and the impossibility of resolution
by any semantic cataloging.”  Ibid.  This Court’s subse-
quent cases have not provided much additional guidance.
A plurality of the Court recognized that the six Baker
factors “are probably listed in descending order of both
importance and certainty,” Vieth v. Jubelirer, 541 U.S.
267, 278 (2004), but the two cases since Baker in which
the Court found a political question relied upon the first
factor.16
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3. As the district court held (Pet. App. 187a) and as
petitioners argue (Pet. 28), this case does raise concerns
highlighted by the second and third Baker factors:  “a
lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards
for resolving it; or the impossibility of deciding without
an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for non-
judicial discretion.”  369 U.S. at 217.  Plaintiffs’ theory
of liability could provide virtually every person, organi-
zation, company, or government with a claim against
virtually every other person, organization, company or
government, presenting unique and difficult challenges
for the federal courts.  And resolving such claims would
require each court to consider numerous and far-reach-
ing technological, economic, scientific, and policy issues,
and to make difficult predictive judgments, in determin-
ing whether and to what extent each defendant should
be deemed liable under general principles of nuisance
law for some share of the injuries associated with global
climate change—and therefore be ordered by a court to
limit its emissions to some extent.

Those potential difficulties are compounded by the
prospect that different district courts entertaining such
suits could reach widely divergent results, based, inter
alia, on different findings of fact that would be subject
to appellate review only for clear error, or on different
assessments of what is “reasonable,” or on different ex-
ercises of equitable discretion in fashioning relief.  Such
suits would lack the benefits of centralized decisionmak-
ing that characterize Executive agency action.  More-
over, a judicial decision in one case brought by particu-
lar plaintiffs would not assure a final resolution for the
defendants involved because other potential plaintiffs
would not be bound by the judgment and could instead
bring their own suits.  Such suits would therefore lack
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the certainty and repose that the political Branches can
afford through legislative and regulatory action.

The separation-of-powers concerns in this case arise
from a confluence of factors, including the unique
breadth of plaintiffs’ claims; the complex and multifar-
ious policy judgments implicated by the claim that
greenhouse-gas emissions from the particular sources
selected by plaintiffs unreasonably interfere with public
rights; and Congress’s enactment, pursuant to its enu-
merated powers under Article I, Section 8 of the Consti-
tution, of the CAA provisions that authorize EPA to reg-
ulate air-pollutant emissions, coupled with EPA’s deci-
sions rendering greenhouse-gas emissions subject to
regulation under the CAA.  Determining appropriate
restrictions on greenhouse-gas emissions is a task best
suited for resolution by the representative Branches,
which possess the requisite scientific and technical ex-
pertise and centralized decisionmaking authority, and
are politically accountable.  Development by the Judi-
ciary of a parallel system of common-law regulation of
greenhouse-gas emissions would frustrate and compli-
cate those ongoing regulatory undertakings.

The claims (and defenses) in this case would thus
present unique problems for the Judiciary.  The diffi-
culty of those claims for judicial resolution—particularly
in the absence of a statute adopted by the political
Branches assigning such a role to the Judiciary—is
more marked in light of the steps that have been taken
by the political Branches to regulate in this area.  The
consequence of those steps is that any judicial remedy
that might otherwise have existed for a federal common-
law nuisance has been displaced by the actions of Con-
gress and EPA.  See pp. 42-53, infra.  Such displace-
ment of federal common law through the actions of the
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17 Just as Congress has the power to alter the prudential-standing
analysis and the displacement analysis, action by the political Branches
can bear on aspects of the political-question doctrine.  Congress could,
for instance, make the initial policy determinations to allow for adjudi-
cation of a common-law nuisance action to address climate change.  And
EPA could prescribe emissions standards that would—if such stan-
dards did not displace federal common law—provide discernible and
manageable standards for courts to apply in resolving such cases.
Plaintiffs here, however, have relied on the purported absence of action
by the political Branches as justification for their claims.

political Branches is itself a manifestation of the separa-
tion of powers.  See City of Milwaukee v. Illinois, 451
U.S. 304, 315 (1981) (Milwaukee II) (“Our ‘commitment
to the separation of powers is too fundamental’ to con-
tinue to rely on federal common law ‘by judicially de-
creeing what accords with “common sense and the public
weal” ’ when Congress has addressed the problem.”)
(quoting TVA v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 195 (1978)).

4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this case did not
involve a challenge to a phenomenon that is so widely
caused and has an impact that is so widely experienced
(which in this case separately demonstrates that plain-
tiffs lack prudential standing), and if EPA had not com-
menced regulating greenhouse gases under the CAA
(which demonstrates that any common-law claim has
been displaced), the separation-of-powers concerns it
presents would markedly diminish.17  Thus, we believe
that, although the Court could properly rely on the
political-question doctrine to direct dismissal of this
case, a decision on prudential-standing grounds (dis-
cussed above) or the displacement analysis (discussed
below) would be a more appropriate and tailored means
of recognizing why it is appropriate to withhold judicial
relief.  Those other grounds would also better account
for the principal way in which this case differs from
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18 Declining to address the political-question doctrine’s applicability
in the circumstances of this case would be analogous to the approach in
Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion in Vieth.  “[E]rr[ing] on the side
of caution” because “another case” might propose a suitable standard
for evaluating whether a partisan gerrymander burdens representa-
tional rights, Justice Kennedy did not find a political question, but nev-
ertheless concluded that the appellants (who proposed no suitable stan-
dard of their own) had failed to state a claim on which relief could be
granted.  541 U.S. at 311-313 (opinion concurring in the judgment).

most cases presenting a political question:  Plaintiffs are
not asking the courts to enforce a constitutional or an-
other external standard or norm that is typically in the
domain of nonjudicial actors.  Compare, e.g., Vieth, su-
pra.  Instead, they ask the judiciary to act in its own
domain by applying judicially fashioned federal common
law in a new context.  While it is of course true, as the
court of appeals observed, that “federal common law of
nuisance claim[s]  *  *  *  have been adjudicated in fed-
eral courts for over a century,” Pet. App. 38a, this case
is of a different order, in the ways discussed above.18

The applicability of the political-question doctrine
will, to be sure, often be a threshold, non-merits ques-
tion that should be resolved before a court would other-
wise decide a question beyond the proper scope of judi-
cial power.  In this case, however, a determination that
any common-law cause of action has been displaced (see
pp. 42-53, infra) would not actually require the Court to
do what the political-question doctrine would forbid (i.e.,
to decide an asserted common-law public-nuisance claim
based on alleged contributions to global climate change
in the absence of “judicially discoverable and manage-
able standards” or “an initial policy determination of a
kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion”).  Such a deter-
mination would not involve the impermissible assertion
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of judicial power, but would instead simply acknowledge
that, in light of actions already taken by the political
Branches, there is no place for judicial relief under the
mantle of federal common law.  Cf. Steel Co. v. Citizens
for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 101-102 (1998) (“For a
court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitu-
tionality of a state or federal law when it has no jurisdic-
tion to do so is, by very definition, for a court to act ultra
vires.”).

Moreover, there is another aspect of this case that
would support dismissal.  Plaintiffs seek only injunctive
relief, which “is a matter of equitable discretion” that
“does not follow from success on the merits as a matter
of course.”  Winter v. NRDC, 129 S. Ct. 365, 381 (2008).
Especially because the political-question doctrine in-
volves prudential concerns, the Court could determine
that plaintiffs’ complaints, because they are not based on
any statutory cause of action but rather invoke federal
common law, should be dismissed at the outset on equi-
table grounds that do not require the Court to resolve
whether a political question is presented or to decide
any political question.  Cf. O’Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S.
488, 499 (1974) (“[Article III standing] considerations
obviously shade into those determining whether the
complaint states a sound basis for equitable relief; and
even if we were inclined to consider the complaint as
presenting an existing case or controversy, we would
firmly disagree with the Court of Appeals that an ade-
quate basis for equitable relief against petitioners had
been stated.”).  Such a disposition, in the unique circum-
stances of a federal common-law claim, would rest on the
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19 See Quackenbush v. Allstate Ins. Co., 517 U.S. 706, 731 (1996)
(“[F]ederal courts have the power to dismiss or remand cases based on
abstention principles  *  *  *  where the relief being sought is equitable
or otherwise discretionary.”); Sanchez-Espinoza v. Reagan, 770 F.2d
202, 208 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (Scalia, J.) (“Whether or not this is  *  *  *  a
matter so entirely committed to the care of the political branches as to
preclude our considering the issue at all, we think it at least requires
the withholding of discretionary relief.”).

distinct separation-of-powers concerns that the case
presents.19

II. ANY FEDERAL COMMON-LAW CLAIMS HAVE BEEN
DISPLACED BY EPA’S REGULATORY ACTIONS UNDER
THE CLEAN AIR ACT

If the Court reaches the question, it should hold that
plaintiffs cannot state a claim for public nuisance under
federal common law because any such claim has been
displaced by the actions that EPA has taken under the
CAA to regulate carbon-dioxide emissions.

As this Court has explained, even in those few areas
where a federal common-law action has already been
recognized and persists, it is necessarily “ ‘subject to the
paramount authority of Congress,’ ” which means that a
“previously available federal common-law action” will be
“displaced” whenever a “scheme established by Con-
gress addresses the problem formerly governed by fed-
eral common law.”  Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at 313, 315
n.8 (quoting New Jersey v. New York, 283 U.S. 336, 348
(1931)); see also, e.g., Mobil Oil Corp. v. Higginbotham,
436 U.S. 618, 625 (1978).  To assess whether federal
common law has been displaced in a given context, “the
relevant inquiry is whether the statute ‘[speaks] directly
to [the] question’ otherwise answered by federal com-
mon law.”  County of Oneida v. Oneida Indian Nation,
470 U.S. 226, 236-237 (1985) (quoting Milwaukee II, 451
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20 Whether global climate change should be regarded as a public
nuisance cognizable under domestic common law is a novel question,
apparently decided for the first time by the court of appeals in this case.
In prior public nuisance cases, there was a geographic nexus between
those liable and those injured.  See, e.g., Milwaukee I, 406 U.S. at 93
(defendant’s sewage discharges into Lake Michigan, the waters of
which were used by Illinois); Georgia v. Tennessee Copper, 206 U.S. at
238 (noxious gases traveling from defendant’s plants “over great tracts
of Georgia land”).  Cf. Washington v. General Motors Corp., 406 U.S.
109, 114, 116 (1972) (calling air pollution a “public nuisance” and noting

U.S. at 315) (alterations and emphasis in Oneida).  Here,
regulatory actions that EPA has taken pursuant to its
authority under the CAA—largely after the court of ap-
peals’ decision in this case—meet that test and have dis-
placed any common-law nuisance claims that plaintiffs
might once have had.

This case differs from Milwaukee II because there
this Court had already recognized the availability of a
federal common-law cause of action in Milwaukee I,
which the Court then found in Milwaukee II to have
been displaced.  Here, the Court has not determined
whether a federal common-law cause of action would
otherwise be available if justiciability obstacles could be
overcome.  Whether to recognize in the first instance a
federal common-law cause of action to abate emissions
that contribute to global warming is a decision that
might be informed by the enactment of the CAA, this
Court’s decision in Massachusetts v. EPA, and any im-
plementing measures taken by EPA.  Because any fed-
eral common-law claim that might otherwise have been
advanced by plaintiffs has so clearly been displaced,
however, the Court need not determine whether federal
common law should, absent displacement, provide a
cause of action for public nuisance against persons and
entities that contribute to climate change.20
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that “corrective remedies for air pollution  *  *  *  necessarily must be
considered in the context of localized situations”).  The Court has never
addressed whether such a nexus is a prerequisite for a public nuisance.
In Missouri v. Illinois, 200 U.S. 496 (1906), the Court recognized that
public nuisance law adapts to changing scientific and factual circum-
stances.  In that case, determining whether sewage discharged by
Chicago could cause typhoid fever in St. Louis after traveling 357 miles
over eight to eighteen days was at the frontier of scientific understand-
ing.  See id. at 523.  The Court acknowledged there was “no pretense”
that Missouri had alleged “a nuisance of the simple kind that was known
to the older common law,” and that the suit “almost necessarily would
have failed” if it “had been brought fifty years ago.”  Id. at 522.  It held
that the then-present evidence did not support Missouri’s allegations,
id. at 526, but it did not suggest that the novel nature of the claim, the
difficulty of the scientific question, or the physical attenuation between
the release of sewage in Chicago and the alleged spread of disease in St.
Louis had placed that claim beyond the common law’s reach.

1. Federal common law is displaced when an admin-
istrative agency takes regulatory action, under the au-
thority of a comprehensive statutory program, to ad-
dress the issue raised in a putative common-law action.
Such displacement can occur when a plaintiff seeks re-
lief that would address the same issue, but in a manner
different in character or extent from what the regula-
tory program provides.  See Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at
324 (“The question is whether the field has been occu-
pied, not whether it has been occupied in a particular
manner.”); see also Mobil Oil, 436 U.S. at 623-625 (hold-
ing that any federal common-law damages remedy for
loss of society had been displaced by the Death on the
High Seas Act, which provided damages for pecuniary
loss but not for loss of society).  And displacement also
occurs when an agency, whose comprehensive statutory
authority to regulate the subject matter has been trig-
gered, decides to postpone or even forgo the imposition
of regulatory standards, where the decision is made
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through the exercise of that authority on the basis of a
weighing of relevant considerations under the statutory
scheme.  Courts may not substitute their judgment, un-
der the guise of common law, for the determinations
made by federal agencies as to how, when, and whether
regulation is appropriate.

Petitioners contend (Pet. 21) that Congress’s enact-
ment of the CAA was itself sufficient to displace plain-
tiffs’ common-law claims, without regard to any regula-
tory actions that EPA has taken pursuant to the CAA.
While there is little doubt that the CAA established a
“comprehensive” regulatory program, see, e.g., Chevron
U.S.A., 467 U.S. at 848, the CAA differs in important
respects from the Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 U.S.C.
1251 et seq., which was found to have displaced federal
common-law limits on the discharge of pollutants into
the waters of the United States.  See Middlesex County
Sewerage Auth. v. National Sea Clammers Ass’n, 453
U.S. 1, 11, 14-15 (1981); Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at 317-
320.  The terms of the CWA directly prohibit the dis-
charge of pollutants into the waters of the United States
without authorization from a proper permitting author-
ity.  See 33 U.S.C. 1311(a).  The terms of the CAA, by
contrast, impose few restrictions on the emissions of air
pollutants in the absence of regulations promulgated by
EPA.  This case, however, does not involve the mere
enactment of the CAA.

Exercising its regulatory authority under the CAA,
EPA has directly entered the field plaintiffs would have
governed by common-law nuisance suits.  Since January
2, 2011, greenhouse gases have been subject to regula-
tion under the CAA, and EPA is actively exercising its
judgment and statutory discretion to determine when
and how emissions from different categories of sources
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of greenhouse gases will be regulated.  As a result, the
CAA, as implemented by EPA, speaks directly to the
question of how carbon-dioxide emissions should be lim-
ited and thus displaces any common-law claims pertain-
ing to that question.

2. In the wake of this Court’s decision in Massachu-
setts v. EPA, the agency has taken several significant
actions to address greenhouse-gas emissions.

a. Two of EPA’s recent regulatory actions worked
in concert to render greenhouse gases “pollutant[s] sub-
ject to regulation under [the CAA]” for purposes of the
PSD permitting process that applies to new and modi-
fied emitting facilities.  42 U.S.C. 7475(a)(4).  First, on
December 15, 2009, EPA published a final finding under
Section 202 of the CAA that “greenhouse gases in the
atmosphere may reasonably be anticipated both to en-
danger public health and to endanger public welfare.”
74 Fed. Reg. at 66,497.  That so-called “endangerment
finding” also included a determination that carbon-diox-
ide and other greenhouse-gas emissions from new motor
vehicles contribute to the greenhouse-gas air pollution
that endangers public health and welfare.  Id. at 66,537.
In making that determination, EPA found that the por-
tion of the transportation sector regulated by Section
202 is responsible for just over 23% of greenhouse-gas
emissions in the United States, making it the “second
largest emitter within the United States behind the elec-
tricity generating sector.”  Id. at 66,499.

Second, on May 7, 2010, EPA (acting with the De-
partment of Transportation’s National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration) published a joint final rule re-
quiring reductions in greenhouse-gas emissions from
light-duty motor vehicles.  75 Fed. Reg. at 25,324.  Un-
der Section 202(a)(1) of the CAA, the promulgation of
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21 The CAA applies PSD requirements to a “major emitting facility,”
42 U.S.C. 7475(a), which is defined to include any “source with the
potential to emit” at least 250 tons per year of “any air pollutant,” as
well as certain “stationary sources of air pollutants” (including, as most
relevant here, fossil-fuel-fired steam electric plants and boilers), if they
emit or have the potential to emit at least 100 tons per year.  42 U.S.C.
7479(1).  EPA’s regulations implement those requirements by applying

those new emissions standards followed from EPA’s
December 2009 endangerment finding.  See 42 U.S.C.
7521(a)(1); 75 Fed. Reg. at 25,327.  Those standards took
effect on January 2, 2011 (for vehicles of model year
2012), and they will become increasingly stringent until
model year 2016.  Id . at 25,329-25,330.  EPA exercised
its discretion to phase in those standards over that pe-
riod to allow manufacturers to “incorporate technology
to achieve [greenhouse-gas] reductions” and to “plan for
compliance using a multi-year time frame,  *  *  *  con-
sistent with normal business practice.”  Id . at 25,332.

Because the final light-duty-vehicle standards have
taken effect (as of January 2, 2011), EPA now considers
greenhouse gases to be “pollutant[s] subject to regula-
tion under [the CAA],” in the sense meant by 42 U.S.C.
7475(a)(4), and therefore subject to Sections 165(a) and
169(1) of the CAA (42 U.S.C. 7475(a) and 7479(1)).  See
75 Fed. Reg. at 31,606-31,607 (to be codified at 40 C.F.R.
52.21(b)(49)-(50), effective January 2, 2011) (specifying
when greenhouse gases are “subject to regulation”); 75
Fed. Reg. at 17,019, 31,549-31,551 (explaining EPA’s
construction of the phrase “pollutant subject to regula-
tion”).  Those provisions—which apply to stationary
sources—require any new or modified “major emitting
facility” to obtain a so-called “PSD permit” under the
provisions of the CAA designed to prevent significant
deterioration of air quality.  42 U.S.C. 7470-7479.21  In
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them to “major stationary source[s],” 40 C.F.R. 52.21(a)(2), which are
defined to include stationary sources that emit at least 100 or 250 tons
per year of a “regulated NSR pollutant,” 40 C.F.R. 52.21(b)(2)(i), which
includes “[a]ny pollutant  *  *  *  subject to regulation under the
[CAA].”  40 C.F.R. 52.21(b)(50)(iv).

order to obtain such a permit, a facility must, among
other things, be “subject to the best available control
technology for each pollutant subject to regulation un-
der [the CAA].”  42 U.S.C. 7475(a)(4).

The promulgation of the light-duty-vehicle standards
also means that EPA considers greenhouse gases to be
subject to the permitting requirements under Title V of
the CAA.  See 42 U.S.C. 7661a(a), 7661(2)(B), 7602( j); 75
Fed. Reg. at 31,551-31,554 (describing EPA’s interpre-
tation of Title V’s applicability).  As the D.C. Circuit has
explained, the Title V permitting process “requires that
certain air pollution sources, including every major sta-
tionary source of air pollution, each obtain a single, com-
prehensive operating permit to assure compliance with
all emission limitations and other substantive CAA re-
quirements that apply to the source.”  Environmental
Integrity Project v. EPA, 425 F.3d 992, 993 (2005); see
also Virginia v. Browner, 80 F.3d 869, 873 (4th Cir.
1996) (describing Title V permit as “a source-specific
bible for [CAA] compliance”), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 1090
(1997).  Defendants’ power plants are “major stationary
source[s] of air pollution” and thus subject to Title V
permitting requirements.

By issuing the endangerment finding and light-duty-
vehicle rule, and thereby rendering greenhouse gases
“subject to regulation” under the existing statutory
scheme of the CAA, EPA displaced any federal common-
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22 As noted above (see note 4, supra), on December 10, 2010, the D.C.
Circuit denied several motions to stay EPA’s endangerment finding, its
motor-vehicle-emissions standards for greenhouse gases, its tailoring
rule, and its decision addressing the date on which greenhouse-gas
emissions became “subject to regulation” under the CAA.  The parties
in those pending challenges submitted briefing-format proposals to the
D.C. Circuit on January 10, 2011.

23 Pursuant to the first phase of the tailoring rule, sources became
subject to the PSD requirements on account of their carbon-dioxide
emissions as of January 2, 2011, only if (1) they were already subject to
such requirements due to emissions of non-greenhouse-gas air pollu-
tants, and (2) they undertook a modification that would increase their
carbon-dioxide emissions by at least 75,000 tons per year while also
significantly increasing emissions of non-greenhouse-gas pollutants.  75
Fed. Reg. at 31,516.  The second phase of the tailoring rule, beginning
on July 1, 2011, “will phase in additional large sources of [greenhouse-
gas] emissions.”  Ibid.  Similar phases apply in the case of Title V.  Id.
at 31,523-31,524.  In the third phase, beginning in July 2013, EPA may
regulate additional sources.  Ibid.  The tailoring rule specifies that EPA
will engage in further rulemaking to address any remaining PSD re-
quirements, but indicates that no sources or modifications below a

law requirements imposing alternative or additional
emissions standards for greenhouse gases.22

b. Additional EPA regulatory actions reinforce the
conclusion that plaintiffs’ common-law claims have been
displaced.  Recognizing that the light-duty-vehicle rule
was going to cause greenhouse gases to be regulated
pollutants subject to PSD and Title V permitting re-
quirements, EPA issued a so-called “tailoring rule” on
June 3, 2010.  See 75 Fed. Reg. at 31,514.  That tailoring
rule phases in the applicability of PSD requirements to
greenhouse gases emitted by stationary sources, dis-
cussed above (see pp. 5, 47-48, supra), applying those
requirements in January 2011 to sources already obtain-
ing permits for other pollutants, and later to additional
sources.  75 Fed. Reg. at 31,516.23  In the tailoring rule,

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



50

certain size would be made subject to PSD or Title V permitting re-
quirements before April 30, 2016.  Ibid.

24 The case—which was brought by, inter alia, several of the plaintiffs
here—is on voluntary remand from the D.C. Circuit.  See New York v.
EPA, No. 06-1322 (Sept. 24, 2007).  As discussed in TVA’s certiorari-
stage brief in this case (at 29-30 & n.19), EPA had previously announced
it was “in the process of responding to a remand from the D.C. Circuit
requiring it to consider whether to add standards for [greenhouse
gases] to the NSPS for utility boilers.”  73 Fed. Reg. 44,487 (2008).

EPA clarified that, in its considered judgment, reg-
ulation of greenhouse-gas emissions from stationary
sources should proceed in an orderly and phased fashion
based on a variety of considerations.  Cf. Massachusetts
v. EPA, 549 U.S. at 524.  Plaintiffs’ attempt to secure
court-ordered emissions reductions from emitters of
their choosing on their own schedule would be plainly
inconsistent with EPA’s systematic, phased approach.

In another significant step indicating EPA’s active
engagement in the process of determining how and when
greenhouse-gas emissions will be regulated, EPA an-
nounced on December 23, 2010 that it had entered into
a proposed settlement agreement in an earlier case
about whether the new source performance standards
(NSPS) for utility boilers (i.e., power plants like defen-
dants’) should include standards for greenhouse-gas
emissions.24  That proposed settlement (which was sub-
ject to a 30-day public-comment period that expired on
January 31, 2011, see 75 Fed. Reg. at 82,392) would com-
mit EPA to complete a NSPS rulemaking under Section
111 of the CAA (42 U.S.C. 7411).  If the settlement is
adopted by EPA, the purpose of the ensuing rulemaking
would be to consider standards applicable to new and
modified facilities; it would simultaneously consider
standards under which States would be required (under
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25 The text of the settlement agreement is available at http://www.epa.
gov/airquality/pdfs/boilerghgsettlement.pdf.  A commitment to com-
plete a rulemaking will not mean that EPA has prejudged the question
of what, if any, NSPS will be appropriate; EPA could ultimately exer-
cise its judgment to find the imposition of such standards inappropriate.

42 U.S.C. 7411(d)) to impose regulatory limitations on
emissions from existing facilities.  See p. 4, supra.  Un-
der the settlement, EPA would issue a proposed rule by
July 26, 2011 and promulgate final regulations by May
26, 2012.25  Thus, if the settlement is formally adopted,
EPA will have established a precise time line for decid-
ing whether and to what extent emissions standards
under the CAA will apply to the very carbon-dioxide
emissions at issue in this case.

3. As the foregoing discussion demonstrates, EPA
now regulates greenhouse-gas emissions under the cur-
rently existing statutory scheme of the CAA, and it may
soon be specifically committed to completing a rule-
making to address greenhouse-gas-emissions standards
applicable to defendants’ already-existing power plants,
even if they are not modified.  Thus, it is abundantly
clear that the CAA, as it is now being implemented
by EPA, “speak[s] directly” (Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at
315 (quoting Mobil Oil, 436 U.S. at 625)) to the particu-
lar issue presented by plaintiffs’ federal common-law
nuisance claims about climate change:  regulation of
greenhouse-gas emissions, and in particular emissions
from stationary sources (like defendants’ power plants).

The conclusion that EPA’s actions have displaced any
common-law emissions standards is unaffected by EPA’s
decision to adopt an incremental approach that will
not necessarily lead to standards specifically governing
greenhouse-gas emissions from defendants’ already-
existing power plants (unless they are modified and thus
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require a PSD permit under the new regulations), at
least until some time after May 26, 2012.  In Middlesex
County Sewerage Authority, the Court held that the
Marine Protection, Research, and Sanctuaries Act of
1972 displaced federal common law immediately and
entirely, even though “Congress allowed some continued
dumping of sludge” for nine years after the statute was
enacted based on its “considered judgment that it made
sense to allow entities like petitioners to adjust to the
coming change.”  453 U.S. at 22 n.32; see also Massachu-
setts v. EPA, 549 U.S. at 533 (recognizing that EPA pos-
sesses “significant latitude as to the manner, timing,
content, and coordination of its regulations”); id. at 524
(“Agencies, like legislatures, do not generally resolve
massive problems in one fell regulatory swoop.  They
instead whittle away at them over time, refining their
preferred approach as circumstances change and as they
develop a more nuanced understanding of how best to
proceed.”).

Although EPA has not yet done precisely what plain-
tiffs demand here (i.e., cap defendants’ carbon-dioxide
emissions and require them to be reduced annually for
at least a decade, J.A. 110, 153), that is not the relevant
test.  As this Court has stated:  “Demanding specific
regulations of general applicability before concluding
that Congress has addressed the problem to the exclu-
sion of federal common law asks the wrong question.
The question is whether the field has been occupied, not
whether it has been occupied in a particular manner.”
Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at 324; see also id. at 323 (“Al-
though a federal court may disagree with the regulatory
approach taken by the agency with responsibility for
issuing permits under the Act, such disagreement alone
is no basis for the creation of federal common law.”);
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Illinois v. Outboard Marine Corp., 680 F.2d 473, 478
(7th Cir. 1982) (refusing “to find that Congress has not
‘addressed the question’ because it has not enacted a
remedy against polluters,” because that “would be no
different from holding that the solution Congress chose
is not adequate,” and “Milwaukee II  *  *  *  precludes
the courts from scrutinizing the sufficiency of the con-
gressional solution”).

Because EPA’s regulatory activities speak directly to
the issue of greenhouse-gas emissions, any common-law
claims seeking to reduce such emissions have been dis-
placed.

CONCLUSION

The judgment of the court of appeals should be re-
versed.
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

JANUARY 2011
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01268-EPA-5543

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

02/01/2011 10:39 AM

To Scott Fulton

cc "Bob Sussman", "Michael Goo", "Richard Windsor", "Bob 
Perciasepe", oster.seth

bcc

Subject Re: Fw: As-Filed Brief in American Electric Power

Thanks Scott.  Immediately below I've pasted a series of short excerpts from the Federal Government's 
brief.   

 

 

a “previously available federal common-law action” will be “displaced” whenever a 
“scheme established by Congress addresses the problem formerly governed by federal 
common law.”

 

Here, regulatory actions that EPA has taken pursuant to its authority under the CAA—
largely after the court of appeals’ decision in this case—meet that test and have 
displaced any common-law nuisance claims that plaintiffs might once have had.

 

Petitioners contend (Pet. 21) that Congress’s enactment of the CAA was itself sufficient 
to displace plaintiffs’ common-law claims, without regard to any regulatory actions that 
EPA has taken pursuant to the CAA.

 

The terms of the CAA … impose few restrictions on the emissions of air pollutants in the 
absence of regulations promulgated by EPA. This case, however, does not involve the 
mere enactment of the CAA.

 

Exercising its regulatory authority under the CAA, EPA has directly entered the field 
plaintiffs would have governed by common-law nuisance suits. Since January 2, 2011, 
greenhouse gases have been subject to regulation under the CAA, and EPA is actively 
exercising its judgment and statutory discretion to determine when and how emissions 
from different categories of sources of greenhouse gases will be regulated. 

 

In the wake of this Court’s decision in Massachusetts v. EPA, the agency has taken 
several significant actions to address greenhouse-gas emissions.
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In another significant step indicating EPA’s active engagement in the process of 
determining how and when greenhouse-gas emissions will be regulated, EPA 
announced on December 23, 2010 that it had entered into a proposed settlement 
agreement in an earlier case about whether the new source performance standards 
(NSPS) for utility boilers (i.e., power plants like defendants’) should include standards for 
greenhouse-gas emissions. That proposed settlement (which was subject to a 30-day 
public-comment period that expired on January 31, 2011, see 75 Fed. Reg. at 82,392) 
would commit EPA to complete a NSPS rulemaking under Section 111 of the CAA (42 
U.S.C. 7411). If the settlement is adopted by EPA, the purpose of the ensuing 
rulemaking would be to consider standards applicable to new and modified facilities; it 
would simultaneously consider standards under which States would be required (under 
42 U.S.C. 7411(d)) to impose regulatory limitations on emissions from existing facilities. 
See p. 4, supra. Under the settlement, EPA would issue a proposed rule by July 26, 
2011 and promulgate final regulations by May 26, 2012. Thus, if the settlement is 
formally adopted, EPA will have established a precise time line for deciding whether and 
to what extent emissions standards

under the CAA will apply to the very carbon-dioxide emissions at issue in this case.

 

As the foregoing discussion demonstrates, EPA now regulates greenhouse-gas 
emissions under the currently existing statutory scheme of the CAA, and it may soon be 
specifically committed to completing a rulemaking to address 
greenhouse-gas-emissions standards applicable to defendants’ already-existing power 
plants, even if they are not modified. Thus, it is abundantly clear that the CAA, as it is 
now being implemented by EPA, “speak[s] directly” (Milwaukee II, 451 U.S. at 315 
(quoting Mobil Oil, 436 U.S. at 625)) to the particular issue presented by plaintiffs’ 
federal common-law nuisance claims about climate change: regulation of 
greenhouse-gas emissions, and in particular emissions from stationary sources (like 
defendants’ power plants).

-----Scott Fulton/DC/USEPA/US wrote: -----

To: "David McIntosh" <McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov>, "Bob Sussman" 
<Sussman.Bob@epamail.epa.gov>, "Michael Goo" <Goo.Michael@epamail.epa.gov>
From: Scott Fulton/DC/USEPA/US
Date: 02/01/2011 10:05AM
Cc: "Richard Windsor" <Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov>, "Bob Perciasepe" 
<Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov>, oster.seth@epa.gov
Subject: Fw: As-Filed Brief in American Electric Power

Here's the brief that was filed by the SG on behalf of TVA.  
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  From: "Gannon, Curtis (SMO)" [Curtis.Gannon@usdoj.gov]
  Sent: 01/31/2011 04:50 PM EST
  To: "'Rodgers, Ralph E'" <rerodgers@tva.gov>; "'Cooper, Harriet A'" <hacooper@tva.gov>; "'Gillen, 
Maria Victoria'" <mvgillen@tva.gov>; "Maginnis, Joan" <jmaginnis@doc.gov>; "'Palfrey, Quentin'" 
<QPalfrey@doc.gov>; Scott Fulton; Avi Garbow; Sonja Rodman; "'Guzy, Gary S.'" 
<  "'Rachel.Jacobson@sol.doi.gov'" <Rachel.Jacobson@sol.doi.gov>; 
"'Adell.amos@sol.doi.gov'" <Adell.amos@sol.doi.gov>; "'Gregory.woods@dot.gov'" 
<Gregory.woods@dot.gov>; "'Koh, Harold Hongju'" <KohHH@state.gov>; "'kleinjm@state.gov'" 
<kleinjm@state.gov>; "Townley, Stephen G" <TownleySG@state.gov>; 
"'leslie.lagomarcino@ogc.usda.gov'" <leslie.lagomarcino@ogc.usda.gov>; "'timothy.lynch@hq.doe.gov'" 
<timothy.lynch@hq.doe.gov>; "'alcides.ortiz@osd.mil'" <alcides.ortiz@osd.mil>; "Shenkman, Ethan 
(ENRD)" <Ethan.Shenkman@usdoj.gov>; "Kilbourne, Jim (ENRD)" <Jim.Kilbourne@usdoj.gov>; "Jones, 
Lisa (ENRD)" <Lisa.Jones@usdoj.gov>; "Pidot, Justin (ENRD)" <Justin.Pidot@usdoj.gov>; "Letter, 
Douglas (CIV)" <Douglas.Letter@usdoj.gov>; "Byron, H. Thomas (CIV)" <H.Thomas.Byron@usdoj.gov>; 
"Weiner, Robert (ODAG)" <Robert.Weiner@usdoj.gov>
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
 
 
 

[attachment "10-174tsRespondentTVA.pdf" removed by David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US]
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01268-EPA-5544

Diane 
Thompson/DC/USEPA/US 

02/07/2011 09:51 AM

To Richard Windsor, Bob Perciasepe

cc Seth Oster, Aaron Dickerson

bcc

Subject Fw: remarks at good jobs, green jobs conf next week

FYI

******************************************
Diane E. Thompson
Chief of Staff
U. S. Environmental Protection Agency
202-564-6999
----- Forwarded by Diane Thompson/DC/USEPA/US on 02/07/2011 09:50 AM -----

From: "Greenawalt, Andrei" <
To: Diane Thompson/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Daniel Kanninen/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Seth 

Oster/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, 'Rod O'Connor' <Rod.Oconnor@hq.doe.gov>, "'Hurlbut, Brandon'" 
<Brandon.Hurlbut@hq.doe.gov>, "Owens, Missy" <Missy.Owens@hq.doe.gov>, "Leistikow, Dan" 
<Dan.Leistikow@hq.doe.gov>, "'joan.deboer@dot.gov'" <joan.deboer@dot.gov>, 
"'kathryn.thomson@dot.gov'" <kathryn.thomson@dot.gov>, "jill.zuckman@dot.gov" 
<jill.zuckman@dot.gov>

Cc: "Zichal, Heather R." <  "Stevens, Clark" 
<  "Boots, Michael J." <

Date: 02/04/2011 06:30 PM
Subject: remarks at good jobs, green jobs conf next week

Administrator Jackson, Secretary LaHood, and Secretary Chu are I believe all speaking next week at the 
Good Jobs, Green Jobs conference here in DC.    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Thanks very much and let me know if you have any questions. 
 
 

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson

Ex.5 - Deliberative

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6) (b) (6)







01268-EPA-5545

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/07/2011 09:44 PM

To "Pete Rouse"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Murkowski & Begich response to Bristol Bay EPA review 
positive

Hi Pete. Hope all is well. Thought I would forward this as an FYI given your personal interest in Alaska issues. Lisa

  From: Bob Perciasepe
  Sent: 02/07/2011 09:40 PM EST
  To: Richard Windsor; "Diane Thompson" <thompson.diane@epa.gov>; Bob Sussman; Arvin Ganesan; David 
McIntosh; Seth Oster; Betsaida Alcantara
  Subject: Murkowski & Begich response to Bristol Bay EPA review positive

All:
 
Kelly Harrell, Executive Director of the Alaska Marine Conservation Council sent these to me. I trust you 
have all seen these from our internal sources, but I haven't seen until now. There has also been good 
response from the conservation folks. I spoke with NWF, Trout, Ducks and Audubon earlier. Good work 
all around, especially this personal effort from Administrator.
 
Bob P

February 7, 2011

Begich Responds to EPA Review of 
Large-Scale Development Projects

Begich Responds to EPA Review of Large -Scale  Development Projects

U.S. Sen. Mark Begich today issued the following statement after the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) announced it will review the suitability of large-scale development projects in the Bristol Bay 
watershed. 

“I’ve long said that decisions about large-scale development such as the Pebble Mine must be based on 
sound science and not people’s fears.  I’m pleased the EPA agreed with me not to use its preemptive 
‘veto’ authority in the Clean Water Act in favor of a process that will inform the debate over this project.  

“I still want to see more details about this process and how it will proceed. As I told Administrator Lisa 
Jackson this morning, I hope for a fully transparent process, that invites all sides to the table and involves 
all the affected stakeholders including fishing groups, tribes, Alaska Native Corporations and local 
communities. I also want to ensure this is a thorough and robust vetting of the issues involved and not 
just a bureaucratic exercise. 

“Bristol Bay is one of Alaska’s most valuable resources and any proposed development within its 
watershed deserves no less than a rigorous review.”

http://begich.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?p=InNews&ContentRecord id=963bd403-a9e8-4cea-985f-5ae
29ce80773 
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Murkowski Welcomes EPA Decision to Study Bristol Bay Watershed

WASHINGTON, D.C. – U.S. Sen. Lisa Murkowski, R-Alaska, today commended Environmental 
Protection Agency officials on their decision to assess the potential impacts of mining and other 
development projects on the Bristol Bay watershed. 

“The EPA’s decision to withhold judgment on the potential environmental impact of projects, like the 
Pebble Mine, until all the scientific information has been collected and analyzed is a prudent decision,” 
Murkowski said. 

Opponents of the Pebble Mine last year petitioned the EPA to preemptively block the development. EPA 
Administrator Lisa Jackson called Murkowski today to tell her the agency was instead commissioning 
further study of the region. 

Murkowski, the ranking member of the Senate Energy and Natural Resources Committee and the Interior 
Appropriations Subcommittee, said the agency’s pronouncement is in keeping with President Obama’s 
pledge to base his administration’s decisions on the best available science. 

“I am committed to letting the science decide whether mining is right for the Bristol Bay region, but any 
attempt to prejudge a project before the environmental work is finished would be a troubling signal, as 
well as a clear violation of the environmental review process,” Murkowski said. 

Pebble, located in Southwest Alaska to the north of Lake Iliamna, is one of the largest prospects for 
copper, gold, molybdenum and silver in the world. The companies working on the mine proposal have 
invested more than $100 million in research, studies and field work in preparation to begin applying for 
the necessary environmental permits in 2011 or 2012. 

Bristol Bay is also home to the world’s largest sockeye salmon fishery, and it is because of the fishery’s 
importance to the state’s economy and the traditional subsistence activities of local residents that 
Murkowski has reserved judgment on whether mining should occur until the environmental assessment 
is completed. 

“I remain staunchly committed to protecting the health of the Bristol Bay watershed, but fishing and 
subsistence alone are not enough to ensure the survival of many of our smallest communities,” 
Murkowski said. “I will not trade fish for minerals, but I believe that companies willing to invest in our 
region deserve to be given a fair shake to present their proposals.” 

Murkowski told Jackson that she hopes this decision will start the process of improving communication 
between Alaska officials and the EPA on a host of issues, including Shell’s air permit for its Beaufort Sea 
exploration plan, Healy coal, ConocoPhillips’ CD-5 oil field and marine air pollution issues.

 

###

http://murkowski.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?p=PressReleases&ContentRecord id=edafaf75-fd32-474
a-8da2-9ece1aebe5b3
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"Rouse, Peter M." 
<
ov> 

02/08/2011 07:22 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject RE: Murkowski & Begich response to Bristol Bay EPA review 
positive

Good job.  Thanks.
 
From: Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov [mailto:Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov] 
Sent: Monday, February 07, 2011 9:45 PM
To: Rouse, Peter M.
Subject: Fw: Murkowski & Begich response to Bristol Bay EPA review positive
 

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
 
Kelly Harrell, Executive Director of the Alaska Marine Conservation Council sent 
these to me. I trust you have all seen these from our internal sources, but I 
haven't seen until now. There has also been good response from the 
conservation folks. I spoke with NWF, Trout, Ducks and Audubon earlier. Good 
work all around, especially this personal effort from Administrator.
 
Bob P
 
 

February 7, 2011

Begich Responds to EPA Review 
of Large-Scale Development 
Projects

Begich Responds to EPA Review of Large-Scale  Development Projects

U.S. Sen. Mark Begich today issued the following statement after the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) announced it will review the suitability of large-scale development 
projects in the Bristol Bay watershed. 
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“I’ve long said that decisions about large-scale development such as the Pebble Mine must 
be based on sound science and not people’s fears.  I’m pleased the EPA agreed with me not 
to use its preemptive ‘veto’ authority in the Clean Water Act in favor of a process that will 
inform the debate over this project.  

“I still want to see more details about this process and how it will proceed. As I told 
Administrator Lisa Jackson this morning, I hope for a fully transparent process, that invites 
all sides to the table and involves all the affected stakeholders including fishing groups, 
tribes, Alaska Native Corporations and local communities. I also want to ensure this is a 
thorough and robust vetting of the issues involved and not just a bureaucratic exercise. 

“Bristol Bay is one of Alaska’s most valuable resources and any proposed development 
within its watershed deserves no less than a rigorous review.”
http://begich.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?p=InNews&ContentRecord_id=963bd403-a9e8-4cea
-985f-5ae29ce80773 

Murkowski Welcomes EPA Decision to Study Bristol Bay 
Watershed

WASHINGTON, D.C. – U.S. Sen. Lisa Murkowski, R-Alaska, today commended 
Environmental Protection Agency officials on their decision to assess the potential impacts 
of mining and other development projects on the Bristol Bay watershed. 

“The EPA’s decision to withhold judgment on the potential environmental impact of 
projects, like the Pebble Mine, until all the scientific information has been collected and 
analyzed is a prudent decision,” Murkowski said. 

Opponents of the Pebble Mine last year petitioned the EPA to preemptively block the 
development. EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson called Murkowski today to tell her the agency 
was instead commissioning further study of the region. 

Murkowski, the ranking member of the Senate Energy and Natural Resources Committee 
and the Interior Appropriations Subcommittee, said the agency’s pronouncement is in 
keeping with President Obama’s pledge to base his administration’s decisions on the best 
available science. 

“I am committed to letting the science decide whether mining is right for the Bristol Bay 
region, but any attempt to prejudge a project before the environmental work is finished 
would be a troubling signal, as well as a clear violation of the environmental review 
process,” Murkowski said. 

Pebble, located in Southwest Alaska to the north of Lake Iliamna, is one of the largest 
prospects for copper, gold, molybdenum and silver in the world. The companies working on 
the mine proposal have invested more than $100 million in research, studies and field work 
in preparation to begin applying for the necessary environmental permits in 2011 or 2012. 

Bristol Bay is also home to the world’s largest sockeye salmon fishery, and it is because of 
the fishery’s importance to the state’s economy and the traditional subsistence activities of 
local residents that Murkowski has reserved judgment on whether mining should occur until 
the environmental assessment is completed. 
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“I remain staunchly committed to protecting the health of the Bristol Bay watershed, but 
fishing and subsistence alone are not enough to ensure the survival of many of our 
smallest communities,” Murkowski said. “I will not trade fish for minerals, but I believe that 
companies willing to invest in our region deserve to be given a fair shake to present their 
proposals.” 

Murkowski told Jackson that she hopes this decision will start the process of improving 
communication between Alaska officials and the EPA on a host of issues, including Shell’s 
air permit for its Beaufort Sea exploration plan, Healy coal, ConocoPhillips’ CD-5 oil field 
and marine air pollution issues.

 

###
http://murkowski.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?p=PressReleases&ContentRecord_id=edafaf75-f
d32-474a-8da2-9ece1aebe5b3
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Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US 

02/08/2011 04:41 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: request from the Chair

 

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator
Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency
----- Forwarded by Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US on 02/08/2011 04:41 PM -----

From: "Karimjee, Anhar H." <
To: Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Date: 02/08/2011 03:28 PM
Subject: request from the Chair

Hi Bob,
Hope you’re doing well.    

  

I wanted to touch base with you 1
st

 to see if you guys want to set it up or if we should organize it and 
keep you in the loop.  Let me know your preference.
Thanks,
Anhar 
 
Anhar Karimjee
Deputy Associate Director for Energy and Climate Change
White House Council on Environmental Quality
p:  |  |
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01268-EPA-5548

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/08/2011 04:53 PM

To Bob Sussman

cc

bcc

Subject Re: request from the Chair

 
  
Bob Sussman

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Bob Sussman
    Sent: 02/08/2011 04:41 PM EST
    To: Richard Windsor
    Subject: Fw: request from the Chair

 

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

From: "Karimjee, Anhar H." <Anhar_H._Karimjee@ceq.eop.gov>
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
p: | f: 202.456.2710 |
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01268-EPA-5549

Seth Oster/DC/USEPA/US 

02/09/2011 02:19 PM

To "Lisa Jackson"

cc David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Fw: Draft

Administrator -- the blog below is going up on the WH site shortly from Heather.   

Seth

  From: "Stevens, Clark" [
  Sent: 02/09/2011 02:09 PM EST
  To: Seth Oster
  Subject: Draft

FYI – Let me know if you have any concerns here. 

So What Does the Clean Air Act Do?
Posted by Heather Zichal on February 09, 2011
Today, EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson testified before the House Energy and Commerce 
Committee. In her testimony the Administrator highlighted the agency’s ongoing efforts to 
develop sensible standards that update the Clean Air Act, while ensuring that the landmark law 
continues to provide Americans the protections from dangerous pollution that they deserve. 
These reasonable steps will ensure that the air our children breath and the water they drink is 
safe, while also providing certainty to American businesses.
Despite these pragmatic steps to implement long overdue updates, big polluters are trying to gut 
the Clean Air Act by asking Congress to carve out special loopholes from air pollution standards.  

The Clean Air Act gives the Environmental Protection Agency the necessary tools to protect our 
families from mercury, arsenic, smog, particulates and carbon dioxide that can cause asthma and 
lung disease – especially in children.  Weakening these standards would allow more pollution in 
the air we breathe and threaten our children’s health. We thought it might be helpful to refresh 
everyone on how this landmark law affects our country and protects our health.

160,000 Lives Saved Last Year
In the year 2010 alone, clean air regulations are estimated to have saved over 160,000 
lives.
  
More than 100,000 Hospital Visits Avoided Last Year
In 2010, clean air standards prevented millions of cases of respiratory problems, 
including bronchitis and asthma. It enhanced productivity by preventing millions of lost 
workdays, and kept kids healthy and in school, avoiding millions of lost school days due 
to respiratory illness and other diseases caused or exacerbated by air pollution.
  
60% Less Pollution in Our Air, Strong Economic Growth and Lower Electricity 
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Prices
Since 1970, the Clean Air Act has reduced key air pollutants that cause smog and 
particulate pollution by more than 60%.  At the same time the economy more than 
tripled.  And Since the Clean Air Act Amendments in 1990, electricity production is up 
and prices are down.  In 2009, electric utilities delivered 33 percent more electricity to 
U.S. households and businesses than in 1990, while nationwide electricity prices were 10 
percent lower.
  
Benefits Far Out Weigh Costs
Over its forty-year span, the benefits of the Clean Air Act – in the form of longer lives, 
healthier kids, greater workforce productivity, and ecosystem protections – outweigh the 
costs by more than 30 to 1. 

Heather Zichal is Deputy Assistant to the President for Energy and Climate Change  
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01268-EPA-5550

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/09/2011 02:26 PM

To Seth Oster, "Lisa Jackson"

cc David McIntosh

bcc

Subject Re: Draft

Tx

  From: Seth Oster
  Sent: 02/09/2011 02:19 PM EST
  To: "Lisa Jackson" <windsor richard@epa.gov>
  Cc: David McIntosh
  Subject: Fw: Draft

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
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01268-EPA-5551

David 
McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US 

02/10/2011 10:29 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc "Seth Oster", Michael Goo, Bicky Corman

bcc

Subject Fw: RE: Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants 
Loom, Chu Says

Hi Administrator.  
 

 
-----Forwarded by David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US on 02/10/2011 10:22AM -----

To: David McIntosh/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
From: "Utech, Dan G." <
Date: 02/10/2011 10:09AM
Subject: RE: Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants Loom, Chu Says

We're working w/ DOE on this.

-----Original Message-----
From: McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov [mailto:McIntosh.David@epamail.epa.gov] 
Sent: Thursday, February 10, 2011 8:59 AM
To: Utech, Dan G.; Heimbach, Jay;  Papa, Jim
Subject: Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants Loom, Chu Says

Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants Loom, Chu Says | << image 1
>><http://news.vocus.com/click/here.pl?z4034475262&z=1250248928><< image
2 >><mailto:?subject=News Forwarded: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants 
Loom, Chu Says...&body='Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants Loom, Chu 
Says%0A02/09/2011%0ANewsMax - Online%0A%0AFeb. 9 (Bloomberg)
-- The U.S. has an aging inventory of coal-fired power plants and many units 
might be closed before the end of the decade, Energy Secretary Steven Chu 
said.''We're going to see massive retirements within the next five, eight 
years,'' C...%0A%0ALink:
http://news.vocus.com/click/here.pl?z4034475262&z=1250248928>

Outlet Full Name: NewsMax - Online
News OCR Text: Feb. 9 (Bloomberg) -- The U.S. has an aging inventory of 
coal-fired power plants and many units might be closed before the end of the 
decade, Energy Secretary Steven Chu said.

“We're going to see massive retirements within the next five, eight years,” 
Chu said today at a renewable-energy conference in Washington.
“Much of our fleet of coal plants is 40 to 50 years old.”

President Barack Obama said last month the U.S. should eliminate tax subsidies 
for fossil-fuel production worth $4 billion a year so it can boost spending on 
renewable energy and cars that run on alternative fuels, such as electricity.

The U.S. also should require that 80 percent of its electricity comes from 
“clean” sources, such as wind turbines and nuclear reactors, by 2035, Obama 
said. Only coal-fired power plants that capture and store their carbon-dioxide 
emissions would be considered clean under Obama's proposed standard.
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“Clean-coal” equipment isn't yet available for large power plants, said Chu, 
whose Energy Department is funding research into the technology.

The U.S. had 314 gigawatts of coal-fired generating capacity last year, which 
provided almost half the nation's electricity, according to the Energy 
Information Administration. One gigawatt of coal-fired capacity can power more 
than 500,000 average U.S. homes, according to EIA data.

Mercury, Acid Rain

Regulations targeting mercury pollution and chemicals that cause acid rain and 
smog would trigger the coal-plant closures, not new rules from the 
Environmental Protection Agency on carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases 
linked to climate change or Obama's proposed clean-energy standard, Chu said. 
He declined to say how many gigawatts of coal capacity face closure.

The EIA predicts plants with 7.7 gigawatts of capacity will close by 2018. 
Cambridge, Massachusetts-based The Brattle Group, a consulting firm, said in 
December that 50 to 65 gigawatts of capacity may be closed by 2020 because of 
environmental regulations. Analysts at Zurich-based bank Credit Suisse Group 
AG said in September that about 60 gigawatts of coal capacity may be retired.

If Congress approves Obama's clean-energy standard, coal's share of the U.S. 
electricity market “will shrink a little bit until we develop those 
technologies that would use coal in a clean way,” Chu said. Nuclear reactors, 
natural gas-fired plants and renewable sources such as wind turbines and solar 
panels would expand to make up lost output from coal, he said.

It's likely “smaller, older units” that burn coal “won't be economic under new 
clean air standards,” said Luke Popovich, a spokesman for the Washington-based 
National Mining Association, which represents coal mining companies such as 
Consol Energy Inc. and Peabody Energy Corp.

New coal-fired plants with better pollution controls can be built to replace 
the closed units while carbon-capture technology is developed, Popovich said 
in an e-mail.

--Editors: Steve Geimann, John Lear
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01268-EPA-5552

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/10/2011 10:43 AM

To David McIntosh, "Gina (Sheila) McCarthy"

cc Seth Oster, Michael Goo, Bicky Corman

bcc

Subject Re: RE: Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants 
Loom, Chu Says

Tx

  From: David McIntosh
  Sent: 02/10/2011 10:29 AM EST
  To: Richard Windsor
  Cc: Seth Oster; Michael Goo; Bicky Corman
  Subject: Fw: RE: Headline: 'Massive' Closures of U.S. Coal Plants Loom, Chu Says

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
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President Barack Obama said last month the U.S. should eliminate tax 
subsidies for fossil-fuel production worth $4 billion a year so it can boost 
spending on renewable energy and cars that run on alternative fuels, such as 
electricity.

The U.S. also should require that 80 percent of its electricity comes from 
“clean” sources, such as wind turbines and nuclear reactors, by 2035, Obama 
said. Only coal-fired power plants that capture and store their 
carbon-dioxide emissions would be considered clean under Obama's proposed 
standard.

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
Information Administration. One gigawatt of coal-fired capacity can power 
more than 500,000 average U.S. homes, according to EIA data.

Mercury, Acid Rain

Regulations targeting mercury pollution and chemicals that cause acid rain 
and smog would trigger the coal-plant closures, not new rules from the 
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
natural gas-fired plants and renewable sources such as wind turbines and 
solar panels would expand to make up lost output from coal, he said.

It's likely “smaller, older units” that burn coal “won't be economic under 
new clean air standards,” said Luke Popovich, a spokesman for the 
Washington-based National Mining Association, which represents coal mining 
companies such as Consol Energy Inc. and Peabody Energy Corp.

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
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01268-EPA-5553

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/11/2011 07:23 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc "David McIntosh", "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Fw: Boiler MACT

Administrator -  
    

  From: "Milakofsky, Ben" [
  Sent: 02/11/2011 07:09 PM EST
  To: Gina McCarthy
  Cc: "Greenawalt, Andrei" <
  Subject: Boiler MACT

Gina,
 
Hope all is well.  The WH is pulling together a senior level meeting to discuss the rollout of Boiler MACT 
on Monday.  The time is shuffling around a bit but will either be at 4 or 5:30 p.m. on Monday in the 
White House.  Right now its set for 4 p.m. 
 
Heather Zichal thought it would be helpful to have you brief the group at the beginning.  Are you 
available to join the beginning of this meeting?

If so, please send your full name, dob, and ssn and I can clear you in.
 
Thanks so much and have a nice weekend.
 
‐Ben
 
Ben Milakofsky 
White House Cabinet Affairs
Assistant Director

 (direct)
 (cell)
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01268-EPA-5554

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/11/2011 08:29 PM

To Gina McCarthy

cc "David McIntosh", "Seth Oster", "Bob Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Boiler MACT

  From: Gina McCarthy
  Sent: 02/11/2011 07:23 PM EST
  To: Richard Windsor
  Cc: "David McIntosh" <McIntosh.David@EPA.GOV>; "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>
  Subject: Fw: Boiler MACT

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
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01268-EPA-5555

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/11/2011 09:54 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc "David McIntosh", "Seth Oster", "Bob Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Boiler MACT

 

  From: Richard Windsor
  Sent: 02/11/2011 08:29 PM EST
  To: Gina McCarthy
  Cc: "David McIntosh" <mcintosh.david@epa.gov>; "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>; "Bob Perciasepe" 
<perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
  Subject: Re: Boiler MACT

it?

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
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01268-EPA-5556

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/12/2011 07:36 AM

To Gina McCarthy

cc "David McIntosh", "Seth Oster", "Bob Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Boiler MACT

Yup

  From: Gina McCarthy
  Sent: 02/11/2011 09:54 PM EST
  To: Richard Windsor
  Cc: "David McIntosh" <McIntosh.David@EPA.GOV>; "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>; "Bob Perciasepe" 
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

v
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01268-EPA-5557

Bob 
Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US 

02/12/2011 09:28 AM

To Richard Windsor

cc Gina McCarthy, "David McIntosh", "Seth Oster", "Bob 
Perciasepe"

bcc

Subject Re: Boiler MACT

Gina:
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Bob

-----Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US wrote: -----

To: Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
From: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US
Date: 02/12/2011 07:36AM
Cc: "David McIntosh" <mcintosh.david@epa.gov>, "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>, "Bob 
Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
Subject: Re: Boiler MACT

Yup

  From: Gina McCarthy
  Sent: 02/11/2011 09:54 PM EST
  To: Richard Windsor
  Cc: "David McIntosh" <McIntosh.David@EPA.GOV>; "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>; "Bob 
Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
  Subject: Re: Boiler MACT

 

  From: Richard Windsor
  Sent: 02/11/2011 08:29 PM EST
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  To: Gina McCarthy
  Cc: "David McIntosh" <mcintosh.david@epa.gov>; "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>; "Bob 
Perciasepe" <perciasepe.bob@epa.gov>
  Subject: Re: Boiler MACT

I think we can only brief the WH if the rollout plan is near final. How far along is it?

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

 

Hope all is well.  The WH is pulling together a senior level meeting to discuss the rollout of Boiler MACT 
on Monday.  The time is shuffling around a bit but will either be at 4 or 5:30 p.m. on Monday in the White 
House.  Right now its set for 4 p.m. 

 

Heather Zichal thought it would be helpful to have you brief the group at the beginning.  Are you available 
to join the beginning of this meeting?

If so, please send your full name, dob, and ssn and I can clear you in.

 

Thanks so much and have a nice weekend.

 

-Ben
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Ben Milakofsky 

White House Cabinet Affairs

Assistant Director

(direct)

 (cell)
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01268-EPA-5558

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/13/2011 09:35 AM

To Richard Windsor, "Seth Oster", "David McIntosh", "Bob 
Perciasepe"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Boiler mact update

               
     
   

   
 

   

----- Original Message -----
From: "Zichal, Heather R." [
Sent: 02/13/2011 06:25 AM EST
To: Gina McCarthy
Subject: Re: Boiler mact update

Sorry for delayed response.

 
 

 

 

----- Original Message -----
From: McCarthy.Gina@epamail.epa.gov <McCarthy.Gina@epamail.epa.gov>
To: Zichal, Heather R.
Sent: Sat Feb 12 15:18:35 2011
Subject: Boiler mact update
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01268-EPA-5560

Heidi Ellis/DC/USEPA/US 

02/15/2011 05:50 PM

To ellis.heidi

cc

bcc Richard Windsor

Subject Wednesday, February 16, 2011 Schedule for Lisa P. Jackson

*** do not copy or forward this information ***

 Schedule for Lisa P. Jackson EPA Administrator
Wednesday, February 16, 2011

Notes: 

Drivers Shift Leaders Staff Contact

Heidi Ellis 202-355-5212

08:45 AM - 09:15 AM Administrator's 
Office

Daily Meeting

09:30 AM - 09:50 AM Administrator's 
Office

1 on 1 with Paul Anastas
Ct: Nathan Gentry 564-9084

Staff:
Paul Anastas (ORD)

Optional:
Diane Thompson, Bob Perciasepe, Bob Sussman (OA)

10:15 AM - 11:00 AM Administrator's 
Office

Update on Semi-Conductor Industry Issues
Cindy Huang - 202-564-1850

Staff: 
Gina McCarthy, Janet McCabe, Joseph Goffman, Anna Wood, Elliot 
Zenick (OAR)
Steve Page, Michael Ling (OAQPS)
Scott Fulton, Avi Garbow (OGC)

Optional:
Diane Thompson, Bob Perciasepe, Bob Sussman (OA)

11:00 AM - 11:20 AM Administrator's 
Office

1 on 1 with Cynthia Giles
Ct: Linda Huffman - 202-564-3139

Staff: Cynthia Giles (OECA)

Optional:
Diane Thompson, Bob Sussman, Bob Perciasepe (OA)

11:30 AM - 12:00 PM Administrator's 
Office

Meeting on Boiler MACT
Chris Busch - 202-250-8798
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Staff:
Bob Perciasepe, Bob Sussman, Jose Lozano, Diane Thompson (OA)
Gina McCarthy (OAR)
Mathy Stanislaus (OSWER)
Scott Fulton (OGC)
Seth Oster, Brendan Gilfillan, Stephanie Owens (OEAEE)

12:00 PM - 12:45 PM Administrator's 
Office

No Meetings

12:45 PM - 01:00 PM Ariel Rios Depart for the WH

01:00 PM - 01:30 PM WH - West Wing Meeting with Melody Barnes
Ct: Allison Zelman - 

01:45 PM - 02:00 PM White House Depart for DOI

02:00 PM - 03:00 PM Department of 
Interior Building
Auditorium of the 
South Interior 
Buidling

AGO Reception at DOI
*The Administrator may attend this reception. 

Other attendees:
Secretary Vilsack (USDA) -- will arrive at 2:15 PM
Secretary Salazar (DOI)
Chair Sutley (CEQ)

03:00 PM - 03:15 PM DOI Depart for TBD

03:15 PM - 03:30 PM TBD Depart for WH

03:30 PM - 05:00 PM Bullet Room FYI: Senior Policy Meeting
*Bob Perciasepe will lead this meeting.

03:30 PM - 06:00 PM East Room, White 
House

AGO Announcement

3:30 PM: Gates open on cue by Social Office staff.
 -All Guests proceed to the State Floor. 
-Cabinet Affairs staff greets and escorts on-stage participants, Secretary 
Vilsack, Secretary Salazar, and Administrator Jackson to the Green Room.

 4:20 PM: Doors to the East Room are opened.  Guests proceed to seats in 
the East Room.

 4:40 PM: POTUS proceeds to the Green Room.  VIP clutch.

 4:45 PM: POTUS delivers remarks with TBD participants on stage 
behind him.

5:00 PM:  POTUS exits.

5:30 PM: Stakeholder Call with all the principals.

*** 02/15/2011 05:47:49 PM ***
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01268-EPA-5561

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 12:17 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Fw: Boiler MACT paper

 
 

 
  

  From: "Cutter, Stephanie" [
  Sent: 02/17/2011 08:31 AM EST
  To: Gina McCarthy
  Cc: "Zichal, Heather R." <  "DeParle, Nancy-Ann M." 
<  "Stevens, Clark" <  "Lane, David" 
<
  Subject: Boiler MACT paper

 
 

    
 
Thank you!  
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01268-EPA-5562

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 12:32 PM

To Gina McCarthy

cc "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Re: Fw: Boiler MACT paper

  

  Thanks, Lisa

Gina McCarthy 02/17/2011 12:17:45 PMJust wanted you to know I received this...

From: Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US
To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Cc: "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>
Date: 02/17/2011 12:17 PM
Subject: Fw: Boiler MACT paper

 
 

 
  

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
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01268-EPA-5563

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 12:39 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Re: Fw: Boiler MACT paper

 

 
 

Richard Windsor

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Richard Windsor
    Sent: 02/17/2011 12:32 PM EST
    To: Gina McCarthy
    Cc: "Seth Oster" <oster.seth@epa.gov>
    Subject: Re: Fw: Boiler MACT paper

  
 

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
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01268-EPA-5564

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 12:44 PM

To Gina McCarthy

cc "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Re: Fw: Boiler MACT paper

  
Gina McCarthy

    ----- Original Message -----
    From: Gina McCarthy
    Sent: 02/17/2011 12:39 PM EST
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
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01268-EPA-5565

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 01:00 PM

To "Stephanie Cutter"

cc "Seth Oster"

bcc

Subject Boiler MACT Package

Hi Stephanie,

 
Thanks, Lisa

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson

(b) (5)



01268-EPA-5566

"Cutter, Stephanie" 
<

 

02/17/2011 01:04 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc Seth Oster

bcc

Subject RE: Boiler MACT Package

Thanks, Lisa.  
 

-----Original Message-----
From: Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov [mailto:Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov
] 
Sent: Thursday, February 17, 2011 1:01 PM
To: Cutter, Stephanie
Cc: Seth Oster
Subject: Boiler MACT Package

Hi Stephanie,

 Thanks, Lisa
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01268-EPA-5567

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 01:10 PM

To "Gina (Sheila) McCarthy"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Boiler MACT Package

Hey.  

----- Original Message -----
From: "Cutter, Stephanie" [
Sent: 02/17/2011 01:04 PM EST
To: Richard Windsor
Cc: Seth Oster
Subject: RE: Boiler MACT Package

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
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01268-EPA-5568

Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US 

02/17/2011 01:46 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Re: Boiler MACT Package

 

----- Original Message -----
From: Richard Windsor
Sent: 02/17/2011 01:10 PM EST
To: "Gina (Sheila) McCarthy" <mccarthy.gina@epa.gov>
Subject: Fw: Boiler MACT Package

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
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01268-EPA-5569

Bob 
Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US 

02/20/2011 11:55 PM

To Michael Goo, Richard Windsor, Diane Thompson, Bob 
Sussman, Mathy Stanislaus, Gina McCarthy, Seth Oster, 
Scott Fulton, David McIntosh

cc

bcc

Subject Re: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule

Michael 

We are signing the Boiler MACT Monday. 

Bob 

Bob Perciasepe
Deputy Administrator
(o)202 564 4711
(c) 

----- Original Message -----
From: Michael Goo
Sent: 02/20/2011 11:30 PM EST
To: Richard Windsor; Diane Thompson; Bob Sussman; Mathy Stanislaus; Gina 
McCarthy; Seth Oster; Scott Fulton; David McIntosh; Bob Perciasepe
Subject: Fw: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule

As the email below indicates, OMB has completed review of the air toxics rule. 

So we are good to go on that front with signing the rule. 

 
 

 

 

----- Original Message -----
From: "Mancini, Dominic J." [
Sent: 02/20/2011 11:02 PM EST
To: Nicole Owens; "Higgins, Cortney" <
Cc: Michael Goo; "Fitzpatrick, Michael A." 
<
Subject: RE: Reginfo and rules

Hello Nicole,

Thanks for emailing.  We have reviewed the final documents uploaded tonight 
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and I wanted to confirm we are ready to conclude review.  I would note,
however, that there is a bracketed comment about including a citation on page 
4-10 of the boilers rule RIA (the jobs impact section).  I certainly would not 
hold up concluding review over this, but it may be something you want to fix 
before the rules are published in the Federal Register and you make the RIA 
available in the docket or on your website.

 

 
  

  

Thanks,
Dom

-----Original Message-----
From: Owens.Nicole@epamail.epa.gov [mailto:Owens.Nicole@epamail.epa.gov] 
Sent: Sunday, February 20, 2011 10:47 PM
To: Mancini, Dominic J.; Higgins, Cortney
Cc: Nicole Owens
Subject: Reginfo and rules
Importance: High

Hi.   

  Call if you need more
info.

Nicole
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01268-EPA-5570

Michael Goo/DC/USEPA/US 

02/21/2011 08:15 AM

To Bob Perciasepe, Richard Windsor, Diane Thompson, Bob 
Sussman, Mathy Stanislaus, Gina McCarthy, Seth Oster, 
Scott Fulton, David McIntosh

cc

bcc

Subject Re: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule

Yes sorry. I meant the boiler mact, not the toxics rule. 

----- Original Message -----
From: Bob Perciasepe
Sent: 02/20/2011 11:55 PM EST
To: Michael Goo; Richard Windsor; Diane Thompson; Bob Sussman; Mathy 
Stanislaus; Gina McCarthy; Seth Oster; Scott Fulton; David McIntosh
Subject: Re: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule

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



01268-EPA-5571

Michael Goo/DC/USEPA/US 

02/21/2011 09:31 AM

To Mathy Stanislaus, Diane Thompson, Richard Windsor, Bob 
Sussman, Gina McCarthy, Seth Oster, Scott Fulton, David 
McIntosh, Bob Perciasepe, "Venu Ghanta", "Bicky Corman"

cc "Jose Lozano"

bcc

Subject Re: Completion of OMB Review of Boiler MACT URGENT

OMB has just sent us a formal notice indicating final clearance of the Boiler 
MACT Package.  

----- Original Message -----
From: Mathy Stanislaus
Sent: 02/21/2011 09:01 AM EST
To: Diane Thompson; Richard Windsor; Michael Goo; Bob Sussman; Gina McCarthy; 
Seth Oster; Scott Fulton; David McIntosh; Bob Perciasepe
Cc: "Jose Lozano" <lozano.jose@epa.gov>
Subject: Re: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule - URGENT re 
CONFERENCE CALL

Ok

----- Original Message -----
From: Diane Thompson
Sent: 02/21/2011 07:48 AM EST
To: Richard Windsor; Michael Goo; Bob Sussman; Mathy Stanislaus; Gina 
McCarthy; Seth Oster; Scott Fulton; David McIntosh; Bob Perciasepe
Cc: "Jose Lozano" <lozano.jose@epa.gov>
Subject: Re: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule - URGENT re 
CONFERENCE CALL

Works for me

----- Original Message -----
From: Richard Windsor
Sent: 02/21/2011 07:30 AM EST
To: Michael Goo; Diane Thompson; Bob Sussman; Mathy Stanislaus; Gina McCarthy; 
Seth Oster; Scott Fulton; David McIntosh; Bob Perciasepe
Cc: "Jose Lozano" <lozano.jose@epa.gov>
Subject: Completion of OMB Review of utility air toxics rule - URGENT re 
CONFERENCE CALL

Thanks Michael. FOLKS - I am going to have to do a bilateral mtg at 10 am your 
time. Can we please move our briefing conference call to 10 45 am EST ?  Jose 
is sitting next to me and I am looping him in here. Tx. Lisa
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
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01268-EPA-5572

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/21/2011 09:41 PM

To "Nancy Sutley"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Oilmarks Replace Earmarks in Budget; Obama Remains 
Silent

  From: David McIntosh
  Sent: 02/21/2011 03:55 PM EST
  To: Richard Windsor; thompson.diane@epa.gov; Bob Perciasepe; Bob Sussman; "Seth Oster" 
< >; gilfillan.brendan@epa.gov; andy.adora@epa.gov; Arvin Ganesan; 
goo.michael@epa.gov; Bicky Corman; Lawrence Elworth; bennett.barbara@epa.gov; 
garcia.lisa@epa.gov; Daniel Kanninen; Eric Wachter; Scott Fulton; Jose Lozano
  Subject: Fw: Oilmarks Replace Earmarks in Budget; Obama Remains Silent

  From: Jeremy Symons [symons@nwf.org]
  Sent: 02/21/2011 03:42 PM EST
  To: Jeremy Symons <symons@nwf.org>
  Subject: FW: Oilmarks Replace Earmarks in Budget; Obama Remains Silent

From: Jeremy Symons 
Sent: Monday, February 21, 2011 2:22 PM
To: Jeremy Symons
Subject: Oilmarks Replace Earmarks in Budget; Obama Remains Silent
 

Earmarks Give Way to Oilmarks in GOP 
Spending Bill
0 2/20/2011 // Jeremy Symons // 

White House Remains Silent on Clean 
Air, Clean Water Attacks
new GOP majority in Congress promised to reduce the deficit, but failed to mention they would 
give polluters free reign to replace Pork Barrel spending with Oil Barrel favors.  In a 
week-long marathon of votes, the House spending bill to keep the government running in 2011 
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became a polluter piñata.  Oil companies and other corporate polluters looked on gleefully as 
their allies in Congress took beating sticks to the Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act.  Polluters 
rejoiced further when the House defeated the one oil amendment that actually would have made 
a dent in the deficit by removing billions of dollars of taxpayer subsidies for oil companies.  In 
this budget charade, the target became polluter regulators, not polluter subsidies.  This extreme 
and reckless bill amounts to the largest assault on America’s bi-partisan legacy of 
environmental and wildlife safeguards in history. The bill was passed by the House on a vote 
of 235-189, largely along party lines.  No Democrats supported the bill and only 3 Republicans 
voted against it.  Click here to see how members voted.

Earmarks Give Way to Oilmarks

An oilmark is a congressional prohibition added to a spending bill that prevents government 
regulators and watchdogs from ensuring that corporate polluters comply with specific 
environmental laws. Oilmarks are measures to handcuff regulators, forcing them to look the 
other way as polluters endanger the air we breathe, the water we drink, and the lands and 
waters that nurture fish and wildlife. As with earmarks, oilmarks are usually attached to 
spending bills to avoid a full debate and instead protect an unpopular measure as part of a bigger 
bill that must be signed into law.

The House voted to add oilmark after oilmark to the spending bill, all without adding a single 
penny in savings to the bottom line budget.  In all, 14 of the 51 amendments voted onto the 
bill were oilmarks seeking to impose politics over science and common sense public health 
protections. 

One of the oilmarks (amendment #533) was offered by Rep. Don Young (R-Alaska), who is on 
the threshold of joining Big Oil’s Million Dollar Club with $993,000 in reported contributions 
from the oil industry over his career, according to Opensecrets.org.  His amendment would push 
aside federal regulators to allow Shell Oil to rush forward with ”exploratory drilling” in the 
Chuckchi and Beaufort Seas off of Alaska’s coast.  These seas are one of the last undamaged 
ocean frontiers, home to polar bears and other Arctic wildlife and marine life.

Does this sound familiar?  You may recall that “exploratory” drilling was the reassuring term 
used by BP for the Deepwater Horizon before it dumped millions of gallons of toxic crude into 
the Gulf, with devastating impacts on wildlife.  Did we learn nothing from the disaster?  
According to the Commission that investigated the disaster, the spill was caused in large part “by 
failures of government to provide effective regulatory oversight of offshore drilling.” Having 
failed to implement the Commission’s recommendations, the House is rushing instead to move in 
the other direction and open an Alaska-sized loophole in the Clean Air Act and send a clear and 
intimidating signal to oil regulators that they will be punished by Congress for doing their job. 
His amendment passed with support of 230 Republicans and 13 Democrats (218 votes are 
needed to pass).  Click here to see how members voted.

Other oilmarks added to the bill with only a few minutes of debate are detailed at the end of this 
posting.  Koch Industries, a large oil refining company that gave more campaign cash to 
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House members than any other oil company this past election, will be one of the largest 
beneficiaries of weakened pollution standards.  Not surprisingly, Americans for Prosperity, a 
Koch-founded advocacy group,  lobbied Congress to support many of these amendments.

Oilmarks added to the bill would:
Allow 5,000 additional tons of hazardous air pollution and mercury emissions. 

Block new health standards to reduce soot pollution that is particularly harmful to the lungs of 

our children. 
Block funding for climate change science and sensible regulations to start reducing carbon 

dioxide pollution from oil refineries and power plants. 
Block science‐based restoration of the Chesapeake Bay, Klamath Basin, San Francisco Bay Delta, 

and Florida waters. 
Block new rules and guidance to prevent hazardous coal ash from entering water supplies as 

happened in the 2008 Tennessee disaster. 
Block new guidance and rules to protect stream valleys and wetlands from dumping of waste 

from mountain top removal and other sources. 
Block implementation of the Equal Access to Justice Act, enacted by President Reagan. 

The total budget savings for these 14 oilmarks was ZERO dollars.  Not one dime was shaved 
from the deficit that was ostensibly the purpose of this bill.  To the contrary, they will drive up 
health care costs and put people out of work.  The Clean Air Act is one of the most successful 
and most thoroughly studied pieces of legislation in history, preventing lung diseases such as 
asthma and delivering $2 trillion in health benefits while making American industry a leader in 
environmental technology industries that employ 1.7 million Americans.

Preserving Oil Company Subsidies

While adding all kinds of oilmarks to the spending bill, the House rejected the one amendment, 
offered by Rep. Markey (D-Mass.), that would have eliminated billions of dollars in taxpayer 
subsidies to oil companies.  Closing a royalty payment loophole for oil companies operating in 
the Gulf of Mexico could save taxpayers $53 billion in the coming years, but the amendment 
(#27) was defeated 251-174. 226 Republicans and 25 Democrats voted to protect these 
subsidies.  Click here to see how members voted. 

The Crushing Weight of Polluter Money in Washington

Not long ago, our government reflected Americans’ strong environmental values. When 
Congress updated the Clean Air Act in 1990 to protect thousands of lives and curb acid rain, the 
House passed the legislation with an overwhelming vote of 401-25.  Today, we instead face bold 
and unprecedented assaults from Congress seeking to roll back America’s legacy of 
environmental safeguards. As soon as the dust settled on the 2010 elections, GOP House leaders 
sent a letter to oil companies and 150 other businesses and trade associations asking what 
regulations they wanted scaled back.  What has changed? In 1990, major polluters made $20 
million in campaign contributions. Since that time, polluters have used their profits to pour more 
and more money into buying access and influence in Washington.  Corporate polluters have 
spent more than a billion dollars on campaign contributions and lobbying in the past two 
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years alone.

White House Silent

Fortunately, the voting public still strongly supports America’s environmental laws. A  recent 
poll confirms that 77% of Americans, including 61% of Republicans, believe that “Congress 
should let the EPA do its job.”  This attack can be turned back if the public finds out what is 
happening.  It’s up to all of us to spread the word and make sure everyone knows what’s at 
stake.  But it is troubling that President Obama hasn’t  yet said anything about this assault 
on America’s bedrock environmental laws. Importantly, President Obama has threatened to 
veto the spending bill.   But the president is missing an important opportunity to educate the 
public about the benefits of the Clean Water Act , the Clean Air Act, and the wildlife programs 
that create jobs and protect our Great Outdoors throughout America. We will continue to see 
more of these hidden polluters attacks on other pieces of legislation until they are brought from 
the backrooms of Congress into the light, and nobody has a brighter flashlight than the president.

Oilmarks in the GOP House Spending Bill

[Note: The exact text of amendments can be found in one of two Congressional Record files here 
and here by searching on the name of the sponsor; similarly, a GOP summary of all 500+ 
amendments that were filed can be found here; only a portion of the amendments were debated 
and only 51 were approved by recorded vote.] 

Putting Polluter Soot Ahead of Our Children’s Lungs

An oilmark added by the House would force EPA to ignore recent scientific studiesconfirming 
that specific air pollutants — coarse particles, or soot – penetrate deeply into our lungs and 
trigger asthma attacks in young children.  The oilmark, sponsored by Rep. Noem (R-SD), would 
put a halt to the scientific process established by the Clean Air Act to update the health standards 
for soot based on the latest science and studies.   The standards are the basis of pollution control 
requirements that oil refiners and other major emitters must adhere to.  Here is the text of Rep. 
Noem’s oilmark (Amendment #563), which passed by a vote of 255-168. Click here to see how 
members voted.

No funds made available by this Act may be used to modify the national primary ambient air 
quality standard or the national secondary ambient air quality standard applicable to coarse 
particulate matter under section 109 of the Clean Air Act. 

Thousands of Pounds of Mercury and 5,000 Tons of Hazardous Air Pollutants 
– Seriously?

Another oilmark amendment added to the budget bill would prevent EPA from enforcing a rule 
that reduces emissions of toxins including mercury, which is an acute threat to fish, wildlife and 
our health.  According to the amendment (#165), sponsored by Rep. Carter (R-TX), ”None of the 

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



funds made available by this Act may be used to implement, administer, or enforce the rule 
entitled ‘National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants [the cement production 
industry],’” which is the third-largest industrial source of toxic mercury emissions.  The 
amendment  passed 250-177.  Click here to see how members voted. The American Lung 
Association, the American Public Health Association and other public health groups wrote a 
letter to Congress opposing the amendment.  Here’s an excerpt:

As the American Academy of Pediatrics notes, “mercury in all of its forms is toxic to the fetus 
and children, and efforts should be made to reduce exposure to the extent possible to pregnant 
women and children as well as the general population.” Cement plants are the third-largest 
source of human-caused mercury emissions; rolling back mercury standards for such plants 
would be a step in exactly the wrong direction. Under the standards, which the Environmental 
Protection Agency issued in final form in September 2010, cement plants emissions of mercury 
and other pollutants would fall dramatically, reducing mercury pollution by 16,400 pounds, other 
hazardous air pollutants by 5,200 tons, and acid gases by 5,900 tons. In addition, EPA calculates 
that the standards would greatly reduce fine particulate pollution from cement plants, preventing 
up to 2,500 premature deaths annually and saving up to $18 billion in human health costs.

Clean Water Act Under Attack

One of the most far-reaching oilmarks in the bill was included in the underlying bill unveiled by 
GOP leaders last week.  A letter from 45 of National Wildlife Federation’s state affiliates 
opposing the spending bill explains:

One rider in the bill explicitly extends loopholes in the Clean Water Act that jeopardize drinking 
water for 117 million Americans and handed over 20 million acres of wetlands and prime 
wildlife habitat to polluters and developers. The CR bans the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) from working to close these loopholes, which threaten wetlands such as those in the 
Prairie Pothole Region—the breeding grounds for the majority of North America’s ducks.

Additional oilmarks that have been added to the spending bill and undermine the Clean Water 
Act include the following:

Endangering the Chesapeake Bay:Amendment #467, sponsored by Rep. Goodlatte (R‐VA), 

would block efforts to clean the Chesapeake Bay just as progress is finally being made around 
the region.  The amendment bars funds for the promulgation, development and implementation 
of measures that govern the amount of allowable pollution in waters that feed the bay (TMDLs).  
It passed 230‐195.  Click here to see how members voted. 
Dumping Waste from Mountain Top Removal in Stream Valleys: Amendment #109, sponsored 

by Rep. Griffith (R‐VA), would block EPA from using its funding to implement or enforce new 
guidance for the review of water pollution from proposed coal‐mining projects, including 
mountain‐top removal mining. It passed 235‐185.  Click here to see how members voted. 
Endangering Florida Waters: Amendment #13, sponsored by Rep. Tom Rooney (R‐Florida), 

would stop EPA from implementing and enforcing new water quality standards for Florida’s 
lakes and flowing waters, which were issued in November. This amendment would stop public 
education to help protect Florida’s waters from excess pollution from sewage, manure and 
fertilizer.  It passed 237‐189.  Click here to see how members voted. 
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Blocking Klamath Salmon Restoration:Amendment #296, sponsored by Rep. McClintock (R‐CA), 

would prohibit use of funds to complete the Klamath Dam Removal and Sedimentation Study 
that is needed to, as the Sacramento Bee writes in an editorial, “reopen hundreds of miles of 
spawning habitat for endangered coho salmon, the largest salmon restoration project on the 
West Coast; assure water and reduced‐rate electricity for farmers on a federal irrigation project; 
remove four PacifiCorp dams; and allow Indians tribes to buy back some land.” It passed 
narrowly by a 215‐210 vote.  Click here to see how members voted. 
Endangering the San Francisco Bay Delta: A measure included in the underlying bill would 

overrule the biological opinions of scientists on California’s incredible San Francisco Bay Delta.  
The measure would instead further subsidizes corporate special interests and jeopardizes the 
existence of salmon and Delta smelt and the health of the entire Bay ecosystem, which is reliant 
on its life‐giving water supply. 
Blocking Hazardous Coal Ash Rules:Amendment #217, sponsored by Rep. McKinley (R‐WV) 

,would restrict EPA’s authority to implement strong, national safeguards on coal ash. Coal ash is 
a dangerous hazardous waste that has been insufficiently regulated, as evidenced by the 2008 
disaster in Tennessee that blocked a tributary of the Tennessee river with more than a billion 
gallons.  Coal ash is generated by burning coal for energy, and it contains many hazardous 
metals and chemicals like arsenic and lead. EPA has the authority and responsibility to put in 
place common‐sense rules that protect human health and the environment by controlling the 
disposal of coal ash to protect communities from dangerous pollution. The amendment passed 
239 – 183, and you can click here to see how members voted. 
EPA Blocked from Protecting Wetlands and Streams from Harmful Dumping: Amendment #216 

,sponsored by Rep. McKinley (R‐WV), would block EPA from protecting wetlands, streams and 
rivers from being destroyed by dumping fill and dredge material.  It would stop EPA from 
administering or enforcing section 404 (c) of the Clean Water Act, which requires EPA to deny 
the dumping of dredged or fill material in waters of the United States (including wetlands) 
whenever it determines, after notice and opportunity for public hearing, that the dumping 
would have an unacceptable adverse impact on fisheries, wildlife, municipal water supplies, or 
recreational areas. It passed 240‐182.  Click here to see how members voted. 

Climate Change:  “Stop Work” and Science Blindfolds

A series of oilmark amendments have been included in the bill that pull the plug on scientific 
exploration of climate change and prudent efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

Blindfold on International Climate Science:  Amendment #149, sponsored by Rep. Luetkemeyer 

(R‐Missouri), prohibits funding for the Nobel‐Prize‐Winning international science panel (the 
IPCC) that was launched by President George H.W. Bush to encourage the world’s best scientists 
to advance our understanding of how pollution is contributing to the planet’s increasingly 
chaotic climate.  It passed 244‐179. Click here to see how members voted. 
“Stop Work” Order on Reducing Carbon Dioxide and other Greenhouse Gases:Amendment 

#466, sponsored by Rep. Poe (R‐Texas), would bar EPA from beginning to regulate carbon 
dioxide pollution and other greenhouse gas emissions from refineries and other major sources, 
as currently required by the Clean Air Act and a Supreme Court order.  It would ensure that 
more dangerous pollution is dumped into the air and that U.S. companies fall behind in the 
global competition for clean energy markets. The amendment states that:  “None of the funds 
made available by this Act may be used by the Environmental Protection Agency to implement, 
administer, or enforce any statutory or regulatory requirement pertaining to emissions of 
carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, sulfur hexafluoride, hydrofluorocarbons, or 
perfluorocarbons from stationary sources that is issued or becomes applicable or effective after 
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January 1, 2011.”  It passed 249‐177.  Click here to see how members voted. 
Blindfold on NOAA Climate Science:  Amendment #495, sponsored by Rep. Hall (R‐Texas), 

eliminates the NOAA National Climate Service, a climate science program designed to provide 
scientific assistance to farmers, fishery managers, water managers and transportation managers. 
It passed 233‐187.  Click here to see how members voted. 
Gag Order for America’s Negotiating Team: Amendment #204, sponsored by Rep. Scalise 

(R‐Louisiana), eliminates funding for the State Department’s Special Envoy on Climate Change, 
the main negotiator responsible for the United States at international treaty negotiations, and a 
positive force for getting other nations to reduce their pollution that affects the security of the 
United States.  It passed 249‐179. Click here to see how members voted. 

Federal Agency Environmental Compliance

Amendment #195, sponsored by Rep. Lummis (R-WY), would block implementation of the 
Equal Access to Justice Act, which was signed into law by President Reagan.  The law, which 
gives people the right to recoup attorney fees if they prevail in court, has helped to ensure that 
federal agencies are held accountable for violations of environmental, health and safety laws.  It 
passed 232-197.  Click here to see how members voted.

Oversized Budget Hatchet Jeopardizes Successful Wildlife 
Programs

While ignoring opportunities to cut billions in oil company subsidies, the House spending bill 
also makes dramatic and oversized funding cuts in programs that have been incredibly successful 
in protecting wildlife and America’s Great Outdoors.  Read more about these cuts here.  
Unlike the oilmarks listed above, the spending cuts  affect the government’s bottom line and are 
part of the budget debate.  However, keep in mind that over the past 30 years, America’ 
investment in parks, wildlife, clean water, and clean air has fallen from 1.7% of federal 
spending to 0.6% of federal spending. Yet a disproportionately large share of the proposed 
cuts come from the Department of Interior and EPA.  Although programs implemented by 
Department of Interior and EPA are a small sliver of federal spending, they currently deliver a 
big payoff in the form of 3 million jobs in communities throughout America.

The spending bill would:
Eliminate funding for the State and Tribal Wildlife Grant Program, which is the nation’s premier 

program for keeping species off the endangered species list by supporting non‐regulatory, 
state‐based conservation efforts to keep common species common. This program leverages 
more than $100 million per year in state and private dollars, and directly supports jobs in 
virtually all states. 
Eliminate funding for the North American Wetlands Conservation Fund, a key program for 

conserving waterfowl and other migratory bird habitat through providing a catalyst for 
leveraging non‐Federal funding and fostering public and private sector partnerships. Through 
the work of more than 4,000 partners, this program has leveraged over $2 billion in matching 
funds affecting 25 million acres, and fostered public and private sector cooperation for 
migratory bird conservation, flood control, erosion control, and water quality. Hunters depend 
on this program to ensure healthy populations of waterfowl, which in turn is essential for 
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sustaining strong local economies especially in rural communities.
Cut funding to the Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) by 90%. LWCF, which is funded 

by oil royalties and helps expand national parks, protects hunting and fishing areas, and funds 
local projects like city parks and playing fields.  LWCF has provided crucial funding for some of 
America’s most amazing places throughout the nation, from Yellowstone National Park to the 
Appalachian National Scenic Trail to Gettysburg National Military Park. 

 
~~~~~~~~~~~~
Jeremy Symons
Senior Vice President, Conservation and Education
National Wildlife Federation
(202) 306‐7902
symons@nwf.org
Twitter:  @JeremySymons
 
National Wildlife Federation's mission is to inspire Americans to protect wildlife for our children's 
future.
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01268-EPA-5573

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

02/21/2011 09:42 PM

To "Stephanie Cutter"

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Oilmarks Replace Earmarks in Budget; Obama Remains 
Silent

Hey Stephanie. FYI. 

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
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fertilizer.  It passed 237‐189.  Click here to see how members voted.
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
January 1, 2011.”  It passed 249‐177.  Click here to see how members voted. 
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
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on this program to ensure healthy populations of waterfowl, which in turn is essential for
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



01268-EPA-5574

"Holdren, John P." 
<
gov> 

02/22/2011 11:07 AM

To "'John P. Holdren'"

cc

bcc

Subject PowerPoint of my plenary speech to AAAS annual meeting 
last Friday

Dear Friends – Attached here is a PDF of the PowerPoint from my plenary speech on “Policy for 
Science, Technology, and Innovation in the Obama Administration – A Mid‐Course Update”, 
which I gave Friday evening to an audience of about 2,000 at the annual meeting of the AAAS 
here.   It summarizes quite a lot of what we’ve been up to in OSTP and PCAST for the past two 
years – with the remarkable leadership of President Obama ‐‐ as well as some of what I hope is 
coming.  A lot is left out (it had to fit in 50 minutes), and I find one of my biggest challenges in 
this game is squeezing 20 pounds of stuff into a 10‐pound bag.  Suggestions and other 
comments including cries of outrage always welcome.  My best, John
 
JOHN P. HOLDREN
Assistant to the President for Science and Technology,
Director, Office of Science and Technology Policy,
Co‐Chair, Presidents Council of Advisors on Science and Technology
Executive Office of the President of the United States
email 
assistant Karrie Pitzer  , 

 2011-02-18_AAAS plenary_JPH_rev5.pdf2011-02-18_AAAS plenary_JPH_rev5.pdf
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John P. H l r n

Policy for Science, Technology, & Innovation    
in the Obama Administration:                 

A Mid‐Course Update

Jo o d e
Assistant to the President for Science and Technology                               

Director, Office of Science and Technology Policy                                    
Co‐Chair, President’s Council of Advisors on Science and Technology

Plenary Lecture         

2011 Annual Meeting of the AAAS

Washington DC  •  18 February 2011

          
            

  
  

  

“Science is more essential for our prosperity, our security, our 
health, our environment, and our quality of life than it has ever 
been before.”          - President Barack Obama,  April 27, 2009
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Challenges linked to ST&I:  Domestic

• economic recovery & growth:  S&T as drivers  
(infotech, biotech, nanotech, greentech...?)

• health care: better outcomes for all at lower costhealth care: better outcomes for all at lower cost

• energy & climate:  cleaner, safer energy supply 
(incl reduced oil imports & GHG emissions)

• other resources & environment:  water, land use, 
coastal zones, toxics, biodiversity, sustainability

• national & homeland security:  IED detection & 
disarming, cyber‐ & power‐grid security, bio‐
defense, ensuring safety/reliability of shrinking 
US nuclear stockpile without nuclear testing

Challenges linked to ST&I:  Global
• Health:  Defeating preventable and pandemic disease

• Development: Eradicating poverty and providing the    
possibility of sustainable prosperity for all

• Energy‐Climate: Providing for societies everywhere the 
energy their economies need without wrecking the 
climate their environments need

• Land‐Water:  Managing the intensifying competition 
for the world’s land & fresh water among food, fiber,for the world s land & fresh water among food, fiber, 
fuel, infrastructure/industry, and ecosystem function

• Oceans: Maintaining their ecological integrity & 
productivity

• WMD: Avoiding use of nuclear and biological weapons
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President Obama’s views on the challenges

• They’re interdisciplinary and interconnected (I&I)

• S&T are not just germane to success but central.

• Centrality means putting S&T in the center of what the• Centrality means putting S&T in the center of what the 
federal government thinks, says, and does about these 
challenges – “Science in its rightful place.”

• Success requires not only applying S&T to specific 
challenges but also nurturing the cross‐cutting 
foundations of strength in S&Tfoundations of strength in S&T. 

• I&I mean solutions require partnerships across:  federal 
agencies;  branches & levels of government;  public, 
private, & philanthropic sectors; and nations.

The centrality of S&T:  What do we need?

• The Economy:  innovation that yields better 

manufacturing techniques, better products & services, 

and (thus) high‐quality, sustainable jobs…

• Health:  new IT tools for medical records, doctor‐doctor 

& doctor‐patient interaction;  better, cheaper 

diagnostics;  faster vaccine development & production;  

cancer therapies that target only cancer cells…

• Energy:  better batteries, cheaper photovoltaic cells, 

lower‐impact biofuels, CO2 capture & sequestration, 

safer nuclear fuel cycles, fusion…
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What we need from S&T (continued)

• Agriculture:  stress‐tolerant crop varieties, livestock 

resistance to disease, farmer access to knowledge & 

markets through IT

• Climate Change:  better monitoring in‐situ & from 

space;  better models on faster computers; regional 

disaggregation of impacts to support adaptation; better 

scientific communication for public understanding…

• National & Homeland Security: better detection of 

conventional & nuclear explosives and of clandestine 

weapons facilities;  faster identification of & response to 

bio‐threats;  better defenses against cyber‐threats… 

Cross‐cutting foundations of strength in S&T

• the institutions that do most basic research

– research universities, national labs, nonprofits

• other key infrastructureother key infrastructure  

– IT/broadband, high‐speed computing, energy, 
transportation, space technology

• science, technology, engineering, & math (STEM) 
education

• economic & policy conditions conducive to 
entrepreneurship, innovation, partnerships 

– IPR, financing, tax policy, export policy, immigration 
policy, transparency & predictability in regulation
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OSTP‐managed entities
• National Science & Technology Council (NSTC)

– Deputy secretaries & undersecretaries of cabinet 
departments with S&T missions, plus heads of NSF, NIH, 
NASA NOAA NIST EPA USGS CDCNASA, NOAA, NIST, EPA, USGS, CDC

– Nominally chaired by the President;  chaired in practice by 
the OSTP Director / Science Advisor; administered by OSTP

– Coordinates S&T activities that cross agency boundaries

• President’s Council of Advisors on Science and 
Technology (PCAST)

– Co‐Chairs J Holdren & E Lander

– Vice‐Chairs W Press &  M Savitz

– 16 other members from academia, industry, NGOs

– Helps link White House to wider ST&I community

Putting science “in its rightful place”: 
Presidential appointments
• Five Nobel Laureates in science

– Energy Secretary Chu, OSTP Associate Director for 
Science Wieman NCI Director Varmus PCASTScience Wieman, NCI Director Varmus, PCAST 
Members Molina and Zewail  

• Another 25+ members of the NAS, NAE, IOM, and 
American Academy of Arts & Sciences
– Including heads of NIH, NOAA, USGS, FDA, NIFA 

• A CTO (Chopra) and a CIO (Kundra) in the White 
House for the first time

• An engineer running EPA (Lisa Jackson)

ST&I have never been so prominent in leadership positions.

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



2/22/2011

8

President Obama with his PCAST, NAS Board Room, 4-27-09

“Rightful place”: speeches & events

Highlighting ST&I in…
• Speeches throughout the campaign, then Inaugural 
Address and speeches at:  2009 annual meeting of the 
NAS Alb NY MIT St t f thNAS, Cairo Egypt, Albany NY, MIT, State of the Union 
(2010, 2011), Kennedy Space Center, Marquette MI, 
Portland OR (today!)

• White House events with nat’l middle‐school and high‐
school science & math winners, National Medal of 

d f &Science and National Medals of Technology & Innovation 
winners, groups of US astronauts (on 7 occasions), US 
Nobel Prize winners, math & science teaching & 
mentoring award winners, PECASE winners.

No president has ever talked as much about ST&I.
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With middle‐school “Mathletes” in the Oval Office

“Rightful place”: PCAST studies undertaken
• PCAST studies requested and completed:

– The science and technology of 2009‐H1N1 Influenza

– Reengineering the Influenza Vaccine Production Enterprise

– Assessment of the National Nanotechnology InitiativeAssessment of the National Nanotechnology Initiative

– Prepare and Inspire: K‐12 STEM Education

– Accelerating the Pace of Change in Energy Technologies

– Realizing the Full Potential of Health IT to Improve Healthcare

– Designing a Digital Future: Networking and IT R&D

• PCAST studies underway (with more to come):y ( )

– Advanced manufacturing

– Biodiversity preservation and ecosystem sustainability

– The science of carbon offsets

– STEM Higher Education – the first two years

No President has asked PCAST to do so much so soon.
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The President and his PCAST

President Obama, VP Biden, and PCAST in the East Wing, 11-04-10

“Rightful place”: PCAST studies implemented

PCAST recommendations that are part of the President’s 2012 strategy: 

• Prepare an additional 100,000 K‐12 STEM teachers by the end of the 
decade 

• Launch a new Advanced Research Projects Agency Education (ARPA‐ED)• Launch a new Advanced Research Projects Agency  Education (ARPA‐ED)

• Initiate improvements to influenza vaccine manufacturing to shorten 
production timeframe

• Accelerate breakthroughs in advanced manufacturing technologies

• Expand funding for Advanced Research Projects Agency – Energy (ARPA‐E) 
and three new Energy Innovation Hubs

• Accelerate adoption of Electronic Health Records, and develop standards 
for health information exchange over the internet

• Support research to foster the next revolution in IT, to help transform 
healthcare, energy efficiency, education, and transportation

This PCAST works for a President who is listening!
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“Rightful place”:  budgets

Investments in S&T

• Science got a huge boost in the stimulus/recovery 
package (American Recovery & Reinvestment Act ‐‐
ARRA) d th FY2009 / FY2010 2009ARRA) and the FY2009 / FY2010 budgets, giving 2009‐
10 the highest federal research spending ever.

• Total ARRA funds for S&T, including IT & transportation 
infrastructure, applied energy technology, space 
exploration, exceeded $100 billion.

• Investment goals announced in 2009: double budgets 
of basic science agencies in 10 yr; make Research & 
Experimentation Tax Credit permanent:  lift public + 
private investment in R&D to ≥ 3% of GDP.
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The President at the MIT Energy Lab, October 2009

Initiatives: energy & env’t 2009-10 (continued)

• OMB/OSTP budget letter to agencies (7-21-10)
– Calls for priority on understanding, mitigating, & adapting 

to climate change, and for support for the new National 
Climate Assessment covering these basesClimate Assessment covering these bases.

• Executive Order on Federal Leadership in Environ-
mental, Energy, & Economic Performance (10-09)
– “to establish an integrated strategy towards sustainability 

in the Federal Government and to make reduction of 
greenhouse gas emissions a priority…”greenhouse gas emissions a priority…

– designation of agency senior sustainability officers

– sustainable buildings & acquisition policies

– targets for GHG reductions in Federal agencies (28% 
reduction by 2020)
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Sustainability “on the ground”:  the First Couple planting trees in a DC wetland.

Initiatives: energy & env’t 2011

• FY2012 Budget has $550M for ARPA-E;  EERE 
up 43%; energy hubs doubled 36

• Making climate change mitigation & adaptation aMaking climate change mitigation & adaptation a 
priority for initiatives in departments & agencies, 
employing existing authorities.

• Working with the new Congress on initiatives for 
accelerating the transition to cleaner & more 
efficient energy options that bring multipleefficient energy options that bring multiple 
economic, environmental, & security benefits.

• Working with other major emitting countries to 
build technology cooperation + individual & joint 
climate policies for mitigation and adaptation.
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National Oceans Policy 
Executive Order 13547, 19 July 2010

• The EO establishes our Nation’s first ever National Policy for 
Stewardship of the Ocean, our Coasts, and the Great Lakes

• Creates an interagency National Ocean Council to provide 
sustained, high‐level, and coordinated attention to advance 
the National Policy

• Prioritizes 9 categories for action that seek to address the 
most pressing challenges facing the ocean, our coasts, and 
the Great Lakes

• Establishes a flexible framework for effective coastal and 
marine spatial planning to address conservation, economic 
activity, user conflict, and sustainable use of ecosystem 
services

33

President Obama signing the National Oceans 
Policy Executive Order (19 July 2010)
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National Oceans Policy:                         
The nine categories of action

• Four priority objectives to improve the way we do business:
✓Ecosystem-based management
✓Coastal and marine spatial planning
✓Inform decisions and improve understanding
✓Coordinate and support

• Five areas of special focus:
✓Resiliency/adaptation to climate change and ocean acidification
✓Regional ecosystem protection and restoration✓Regional ecosystem protection and restoration
✓Water quality and sustainable practices on land
✓Changing conditions in the Arctic Ocean
✓Ocean, coastal, and Great Lakes observations and infrastructure

35 35

The President’s American Innovation Strategy

• Invest in the building blocks of innovation

– educate Americans with 21st century skills

strengthen leadership in fundamental research– strengthen leadership in fundamental research

– Building a leading physical infrastructure

– develop an advanced IT “ecosystem”

• Promote market‐based innovation

l b d– accelerate business innovation w R&E tax credit

– encourage innovation‐based entrepreneurship

– grow investments in ingenuity w effective IPR policy

– promote innovative, open, competitive markets
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The American Innovation Strategy (continued)

• Catalyze breakthroughs for national priorities

– unleash a clean‐energy revolution

– accelerate  i t h  n n t h  & advanced mfgacce e a e b o ec , a o ec , & ad a ced g

– develop breakthroughs in space applications

– drive breakthroughs in health‐care technology

– create a leap forward in educational technologies

• These efforts include increased support for…

– scientists & engineers early in their careers

– commercializing university research

– multidisciplinary & high‐risk/high‐return research

STEM‐education initiatives

• Increased collaboration of White House (OSTP, DPC) with 
Dept of Education & NSF, HHS, DoD, DOE, NASA

• New national goals: moving American kids from middleNew national goals: moving American kids from middle 
to top of international rankings on science & math tests, 
increasing American proportion of college graduates to 
first in the world by 2020.

• $4.4 billion “Race to the Top” in the ARRA included 
preference to states whose  ro osals emphasize p p p p
innovation in STEM education.

• “Educate to Innovate” program (11‐09) for K‐12 STEM 
education w $700+ million in private‐sector & philan‐
thropic support; “Change the Equation” added 9‐10
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The White House Science Fair, 18 October 2010

Initiatives on principles & procedures

• Stem‐cell guidelines

– expanding stem‐cell lines that can be used with 
federal support while respecting ethical boundaries

• Reporting procedures for Federal grants

– streamlined and made consistent across agencies

• Scientific integrity principles

– Presidential memo 3‐09, add’l guidelines 12‐10

– ensuring openness, transparency, reliance on peer‐
reviewed science across Federal agencies

• Open government

– expanded access to databases at every agency
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Initiatives: NASA
• The Obama Administration inherited a space program in disarray 

after years of mismatch of resources and vision.  

• The Augustine Committee deemed the Constellation program for 
crewed missions beyond low Earth orbit (LEO) “unexecutable”crewed missions beyond low Earth orbit (LEO)  unexecutable .

• Meanwhile Earth science, space science, & aeronautics had been 
gutted to feed Constellation;  the ISS was going to be scrapped in 
2016;  and the projected gap in ability to transport US astronauts 
to LEO on US rockets after Shuttle retirement was lengthening. 

• The new Administration developed a plan to rebalance NASA’s 
programs, with longer use of the ISS, more science, more R&D on 
advanced systems, more diverse destinations for crewed missions, 
and increased reliance on commercial transport of crew to LEO.

• The new plan was rolled out with the President’s FY2011 Budget 
and elaborated in a speech by the President at KSC on 4‐15‐10.

President Obama visits KSC & SpaceX Falcon 9, 4‐15‐2010

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



2/22/2011

23

NASA (continued)

• The NASA Authorization Act of 2010 represented a compro‐
mise containing much that the President and NASA leadership 
wanted but reflecting a Congressional preference for using 
existing technologies and contracts to develop a replacement 
for Constellation’s “heavy lift” rocket by the end of 2016.

• The FY 2012 budget funds every element of the 2010 Act, but 
there will be arguments about the numbers proposed, some 
rooted in challenges arising from the lack of a 2011 budget. 

• Omens for success of “commercial crew” have been 
improving including 2 recent successful launches of theimproving, including 2 recent successful launches of the 
SpaceX company’s Falcon 9 rocket (the 2nd one with orbit and 
on‐target splashdown of a dummy crew capsule), and the 
entry of a Constellation prime contractor into the commercial‐
crew competition.

Partnerships:  working w the private sector
• Firms fund 67% of US R&D, perform 72%.

• Pres Obama has proposed to make the Research 
& Experimentation tax credit permanent.

• Recovery Act has helped start & grow clean‐
energy businesses across the country.

• Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) 
initiative provides funding from diverse agencies 
for many avenues of innovation.y

• Small business lending bill (signed 9‐27‐10) 
increases loans & cuts taxes for entrepreneurs.

• DOE’s energy‐innovation hubs link national labs, 
universities, and industry.
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President visiting GE Schenectady, 21 January 2011

Partnerships with the private sector (continued)

• Launched Jan. 31, Startup America is facilitating entrepreneurship 
by increasing the success of high‐growth startups that create 
broad economic growth and quality jobs 
– Aims to accelerate the transfer of new ideas from labs to the market

– Create new opportunities for small business financing

– Improve regulatory environment for starting and growing new businesses

• 15 private‐sector leaders have committed to Startup America’s 
goal of catalyzing & developing entrepreneurial ecosystems 
across the Nation

• Last week the President visited Northern Michigan University toLast week the President visited Northern Michigan University to 
unveil the Wireless Innovation and Infrastructure Initiative (Wi3), 
an ambitious blueprint to connect 98 percent of the US 
population with 4G wireless
– “To attract the best jobs and newest industries, we’ve got to out‐innovate, 

out‐educate, out‐build and out‐hustle the rest of the world." ‐ President 
Obama at NMU
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Harnessing private innovation:  prizes and 
challenges

• Prizes & challenges harness the ingenuity that 
lurks in individuals, schools, firms all across the lurks in individuals, schools, firms all across the 
society.

• Sponsors/organizers set an ambitious goal 
without prescribing the best means to achieve 
it, pay only for results.

• The Administration’s new challenge.gov website 
provides 1‐stop shopping for innovators looking 
for opportunities.

Prizes and challenges (continued)

• The recent Progressive Insurance / DOE 
Automotive X‐Prize illustrates the leverage in 
thi hthis approach.

– $10M in prizes for super‐fuel‐efficient passenger 
vehicles (over 100 miles per gallon of gasoline 
equivalent) called forth $100M+ in investments in 
innovation by competitors.

– Winning designs achieved up to 200 MPGe.
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Automotive X-Prize awards, September 16, 2010

©The X-Prize Foundation   All rights reserved   Used here by permission

Partnerships: International ST&I cooperation

• Reviving & strengthening the high‐level Joint Commission 
Meetings on S&T cooperation with China, India, Brazil, 
Japan, S Korea, Russia

• Nurturing the strong S&T cooperation that has long 
existed with the EU, Canada, Australia, NZ…

• Convening the Multilateral Economic Forum, US‐China 
S&ED, US‐Russia Presidential Commission strong ST&I 
focus

• Streamlining the visa procedures that apply to visiting 
scientists & technologists

• S&T as a centerpiece of Cairo speech (Science Envoys, 
centers of excellence) & USAID strategy 

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



2/22/2011

27

Science Envoys: the 1st two cohorts

Bruce Alberts
Indonesia,
Pakistan to 
come

Rita Colwell
Bangladesh, 
Malaysia,
Vietnam

2009-10 2011-12

come

Elias Zerhouni
Morocco, Libya,
Algeria, Tunisia,
Qatar, Kuwait,
Saudi Arabia

Vietnam

Gebisa Ejeta
South Africa,
Tanzania,
Ethiopia or 
Kenya

http://www.america.gov/science_envoys.html

Ahmed Zewail
Egypt, Turkey,
Lebanon, 
Jordan

Alice Gast
Azerbaijan,
Kazakhstan,
Uzbekistan 
or Georgia

Priorities identified in the 1st round of 
envoy visits

• Global S&T knowledge‐sharing initiative

– Expand broadband access

– Electronic libraries

– Global e‐Learning resources for students and teachers

– Tools for mentoring and collaboration

• Enhance USG coordination, awareness

• Promote academic exchange and sustain collaborations• Promote academic exchange and sustain collaborations

• Promote centers/networks of excellence

OSTP will sponsor a conference at NAS in spring 2011 
on ways to enhance international S&T engagement.
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The linchpin of progress in S&T policy: a 
committed President
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To "Sutley, Nancy H."

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: 

  

Rupert Murdoch: News Corp Is Carbon 
Neutral 
First Posted: 03/ 1/11 11:01 AM Updated: 03/ 1/11 11:01 AM 

Amazing
Inspiring
Funny
Scary
Hot
Crazy
Important
Weird
Read More: Carbon Neutral, Climate Change, Fox News, Fox News Climate Change, Murdoch Climate 
Change, News Corp, News Corp Carbon Neutral, News Corp Climate Change, Rupert Murdoch, Media 
News 

WASHINGTON -- The corporate parent of Fox News, the cable network most closely associated with 
denying the dangers of climate change, has achieved its goal of becoming carbon neutral three years 
after making the commitment, its top executive, Rupert Murdoch, announced in a letter to News Corp 
employees obtained by The Huffington Post. 

Fox News hosts have routinely ridiculed efforts to reduce the human population's carbon footprint and has 
mocked environmentalists and politicians for proposing more efficient light bulbs and better inflated tires. 

Yet such measures helped News Corp reach its goal, Murdoch told his staff. "[W]e have saved millions of 
dollars by improving the energy efficiency of our day-to-day operations. Our efficiency projects pay for 
themselves in less than two years, on average, and span from simple solutions like lighting retrofits and 
automatic PC shut-down to systemic changes like installing telepresence and videoconferencing 
technology to reduce the need for air travel," Murdoch wrote. 

Murdoch also noted that some of his media properties have been recognized for their committed 
coverage to the threat facing the planet -- though Fox News did not make that list. 

"Most important, throughout this endeavor we have continued to do what we do best: engage our 
audiences around the world with the most compelling content," he wrote. "Twentieth Century Fox's Ice 
Age franchise and the most successful film of all time, Avatar, prove that passionate environmental 
messages can be fodder for both blockbusters and real-world action, like the million trees planted in 2010 
through the Avatar Home Tree initiative. National Geographic Channel offers scientifically rigorous 
programs, like Preserve Our Planet and Great Migrations, that are also visually stunning. The Times of 
London built on its long history of outstanding science coverage to launch Eureka, a monthly magazine 
supplement dedicated to science, innovation, and the environment. News Limited recently launched the 
public face of its award-winning employee-facing One Degree initiative. And The Wall Street Journal's 
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fourth annual ECO:nomics conference, the leading forum for conversations at the intersection of business 
and the environment, kicks off tomorrow."

Murdoch hailed his company's leadership in the environmental sustainability movement. "I am proud to 
announce that News Corporation has reached its first major sustainability milestone: we have become 
carbon neutral across all of our global operations and we are the first company of our kind to do so," he 
wrote.

Read the full letter:

Dear Colleagues, 

I am proud to announce that News Corporation has reached its first major sustainability 
milestone: we have become carbon neutral across all of our global operations and we are the first 
company of our kind to do so.

We made a bold commitment in 2007 to embed the values of energy efficiency and environmental 
sustainability into all of our businesses - for the benefit of our communities and our bottom line. 

But achieving net zero carbon emissions was never our only goal. Less than four years ago, I 
invited all of our employees, business partners and audiences to join us in this exciting initiative - 
and your response has been extraordinary. Today, I'm pleased to share some of our successes 
across the Company, as well as our long-term commitment to environmental sustainability.

Together, despite some of the toughest markets our industry has ever seen, we have saved 
millions of dollars by improving the energy efficiency of our day-to-day operations. Our efficiency 
projects pay for themselves in less than two years, on average, and span from simple solutions 
like lighting retrofits and automatic PC shut-down to systemic changes like installing telepresence 
and videoconferencing technology to reduce the need for air travel. The Company's global data 
center consolidation strategy alone will save approximately $20M per year and reduce data 
center emissions by almost 15% when completed.

Our support of clean energy - through on-site projects, renewable energy certificates, and carbon 
credits - spans the globe, from Los Angeles to India. Our UK businesses now procure 100% of 
their electricity from renewable sources. Dow Jones is close to completing a 4.1MW solar power 
system on its campus in New Jersey, which will be the largest solar installation of its kind in the 
United States; at peak, it will provide 50% of the site's electricity needs.

We have provided leadership in our industry, across our supply chain, and among the global 
business community. Fox Entertainment developed robust carbon footprinting standards and 
tools for film, television, sports, and event production, as well as a sustainable vendor guide. The 
standards we set helped lead to a new industry-wide consortium and the online, open-source 
Green Production Guide. Our initiative has even prompted major suppliers, like paper 
manufacturer Norske Skog, to set their own ambitious environmental targets. We have 
collaborated with business partners who were already leading the way, including our DVD supply 
chain initiative with Wal-mart, which pioneered an eco-case that reduced emissions from raw 
materials alone by 13% and has become the industry standard. Most recently, we became 
founding members of the UK-India Business Leaders Climate Group.

Most important, throughout this endeavor we have continued to do what we do best: engage our 
audiences around the world with the most compelling content. Twentieth Century Fox's Ice Age 
franchise and the most successful film of all time, Avatar, prove that passionate environmental 
messages can be fodder for both blockbusters and real-world action, like the million trees planted 
in 2010 through the Avatar Home Tree initiative. National Geographic Channel offers scientifically 
rigorous programs, like Preserve Our Planet and Great Migrations, that are also visually stunning. 
The Times of London built on its long history of outstanding science coverage to launch Eureka, a 
monthly magazine supplement dedicated to science, innovation, and the environment. News 
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Limited recently launched the public face of its award-winning employee-facing One Degree 
initiative. And The Wall Street Journal's fourth annual ECO:nomics conference, the leading forum 
for conversations at the intersection of business and the environment, kicks off tomorrow. 

News Corp.'s leadership in this area has been recognized by key independent parties, recently 
earning top marks in the Carbon Disclosure Project's leadership indices and winning big in the 
Environmental Media Association's 20th annual awards, with top honors going to Avatar and 
Bones.

We are well on our way to becoming the innovative, regenerative business we want to be. In the 
long term, we aim to grow our business without growing our carbon footprint, to power our 
operations with clean electricity, to minimize solid waste to landfill from our production operations, 
and to continue to engage our audiences on sustainability issues through partnerships and 
content of the highest caliber.

To help us realize this vision, I ask only that you apply the same creative thinking to sustainability 
that you already do to your jobs every day.

Congratulations and thank you for putting us on the right path. We have come a long way and we 
have much to do together. 

Sincerely,

Rupert Murdoch
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To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Re:

Kind of a jaw dropper

----- Original Message -----
From: Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov <Windsor.Richard@epamail.epa.gov>
To: Sutley, Nancy H.
Sent: Tue Mar 01 14:05:14 2011
Subject: Fw: 

Rupert Murdoch: News Corp Is Carbon Neutral

First Posted: 03/ 1/11 11:01 AM Updated: 03/ 1/11 11:01 AM

Amazing
Inspiring
Funny
Scary
Hot
Crazy
Important
Weird
Read More: Carbon Neutral, Climate Change, Fox News, Fox News Climate
Change, Murdoch Climate Change, News Corp, News Corp Carbon Neutral,
News Corp Climate Change, Rupert Murdoch, Media News

WASHINGTON -- The corporate parent of Fox News, the cable network most
closely associated with denying the dangers of climate change, has
achieved its goal of becoming carbon neutral three years after making
the commitment, its top executive, Rupert Murdoch, announced in a letter
to News Corp employees obtained by The Huffington Post.

Fox News hosts have routinely ridiculed efforts to reduce the human
population's carbon footprint and has mocked environmentalists and
politicians for proposing more efficient light bulbs and better inflated
tires.

Yet such measures helped News Corp reach its goal, Murdoch told his
staff. "[W]e have saved millions of dollars by improving the energy
efficiency of our day-to-day operations. Our efficiency projects pay for
themselves in less than two years, on average, and span from simple
solutions like lighting retrofits and automatic PC shut-down to systemic
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changes like installing telepresence and videoconferencing technology to
reduce the need for air travel," Murdoch wrote.

Murdoch also noted that some of his media properties have been
recognized for their committed coverage to the threat facing the planet
-- though Fox News did not make that list.

"Most important, throughout this endeavor we have continued to do what
we do best: engage our audiences around the world with the most
compelling content," he wrote. "Twentieth Century Fox's Ice Age
franchise and the most successful film of all time, Avatar, prove that
passionate environmental messages can be fodder for both blockbusters
and real-world action, like the million trees planted in 2010 through
the Avatar Home Tree initiative. National Geographic Channel offers
scientifically rigorous programs, like Preserve Our Planet and Great
Migrations, that are also visually stunning. The Times of London built
on its long history of outstanding science coverage to launch Eureka, a
monthly magazine supplement dedicated to science, innovation, and the
environment. News Limited recently launched the public face of its
award-winning employee-facing One Degree initiative. And The Wall Street
Journal's fourth annual ECO:nomics conference, the leading forum for
conversations at the intersection of business and the environment, kicks
off tomorrow."

Murdoch hailed his company's leadership in the environmental
sustainability movement. "I am proud to announce that News Corporation
has reached its first major sustainability milestone: we have become
carbon neutral across all of our global operations and we are the first
company of our kind to do so," he wrote.

Read the full letter:

      Dear Colleagues,

      I am proud to announce that News Corporation has reached its first
      major sustainability milestone: we have become carbon neutral
      across all of our global operations and we are the first company
      of our kind to do so.

      We made a bold commitment in 2007 to embed the values of energy
      efficiency and environmental sustainability into all of our
      businesses - for the benefit of our communities and our bottom
      line.

      But achieving net zero carbon emissions was never our only goal.
      Less than four years ago, I invited all of our employees, business
      partners and audiences to join us in this exciting initiative -
      and your response has been extraordinary. Today, I'm pleased to
      share some of our successes across the Company, as well as our
      long-term commitment to environmental sustainability.
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      Together, despite some of the toughest markets our industry has
      ever seen, we have saved millions of dollars by improving the
      energy efficiency of our day-to-day operations. Our efficiency
      projects pay for themselves in less than two years, on average,
      and span from simple solutions like lighting retrofits and
      automatic PC shut-down to systemic changes like installing
      telepresence and videoconferencing technology to reduce the need
      for air travel. The Company's global data center consolidation
      strategy alone will save approximately $20M per year and reduce
      data center emissions by almost 15% when completed.

      Our support of clean energy - through on-site projects, renewable
      energy certificates, and carbon credits - spans the globe, from
      Los Angeles to India. Our UK businesses now procure 100% of their
      electricity from renewable sources. Dow Jones is close to
      completing a 4.1MW solar power system on its campus in New Jersey,
      which will be the largest solar installation of its kind in the
      United States; at peak, it will provide 50% of the site's
      electricity needs.

      We have provided leadership in our industry, across our supply
      chain, and among the global business community. Fox Entertainment
      developed robust carbon footprinting standards and tools for film,
      television, sports, and event production, as well as a sustainable
      vendor guide. The standards we set helped lead to a new
      industry-wide consortium and the online, open-source Green
      Production Guide. Our initiative has even prompted major
      suppliers, like paper manufacturer Norske Skog, to set their own
      ambitious environmental targets. We have collaborated with
      business partners who were already leading the way, including our
      DVD supply chain initiative with Wal-mart, which pioneered an
      eco-case that reduced emissions from raw materials alone by 13%
      and has become the industry standard. Most recently, we became
      founding members of the UK-India Business Leaders Climate Group.

      Most important, throughout this endeavor we have continued to do
      what we do best: engage our audiences around the world with the
      most compelling content. Twentieth Century Fox's Ice Age franchise
      and the most successful film of all time, Avatar, prove that
      passionate environmental messages can be fodder for both
      blockbusters and real-world action, like the million trees planted
      in 2010 through the Avatar Home Tree initiative. National
      Geographic Channel offers scientifically rigorous programs, like
      Preserve Our Planet and Great Migrations, that are also visually
      stunning. The Times of London built on its long history of
      outstanding science coverage to launch Eureka, a monthly magazine
      supplement dedicated to science, innovation, and the environment.
      News Limited recently launched the public face of its
      award-winning employee-facing One Degree initiative. And The Wall
      Street Journal's fourth annual ECO:nomics conference, the leading
      forum for conversations at the intersection of business and the
      environment, kicks off tomorrow.

      News Corp.'s leadership in this area has been recognized by key
      independent parties, recently earning top marks in the Carbon
      Disclosure Project's leadership indices and winning big in the
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      Environmental Media Association's 20th annual awards, with top
      honors going to Avatar and Bones.

      We are well on our way to becoming the innovative, regenerative
      business we want to be. In the long term, we aim to grow our
      business without growing our carbon footprint, to power our
      operations with clean electricity, to minimize solid waste to
      landfill from our production operations, and to continue to engage
      our audiences on sustainability issues through partnerships and
      content of the highest caliber.

      To help us realize this vision, I ask only that you apply the same
      creative thinking to sustainability that you already do to your
      jobs every day.

      Congratulations and thank you for putting us on the right path. We
      have come a long way and we have much to do together.

      Sincerely,

      Rupert Murdoch
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01268-EPA-5577

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

03/01/2011 02:13 PM

To "Sutley, Nancy H."

cc

bcc

Subject Re:

Do as I say not as I do.  Note - if this is true and not a hoax that they are using carbon markets (offsets) 
(trading!) to achieve carbon neutrality.

"Sutley, Nancy H." 03/01/2011 02:06:19 PMKind of a jaw dropper ----- Original...

From: "Sutley, Nancy H." <
To: Richard Windsor/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Date: 03/01/2011 02:06 PM
Subject: Re:

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
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01268-EPA-5578

Richard 
Windsor/DC/USEPA/US 

03/01/2011 02:26 PM

To scutter

cc

bcc

Subject one more for you

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
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01268-EPA-5579

Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US 

03/01/2011 03:14 PM

To Richard Windsor, Nancy Stoner, Shawn Garvin, Shawn 
Garvin, Cynthia Giles-AA, Seth Oster

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Next NYT fracking story posted

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator
Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency
----- Forwarded by Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US on 03/01/2011 03:13 PM -----

From: "Bordoff, Jason E." <
To: Bob Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Hayes, David" 

<David_Hayes@ios.doi.gov>, "Smith, Christopher A" <Chris.Smith@hq.doe.gov>
Date: 03/01/2011 02:50 PM
Subject: Next NYT fracking story posted

Next NYT fracking story has posted. 
 
http://www.nytimes.com/2011/03/02/us/02gas.html? r=1&hp=&pagewanted=print 
 
March 1, 2011

Gas Drillers Recycle Wastewater, but Risks 
Remain
By IAN URBINA
As drilling for natural gas started to climb sharply about 10 years ago, energy companies faced mounting criticism 
over an extraction process that involves pumping millions of gallons of water into the ground for each well and can 
leave significant amounts of hazardous contaminants in the water that comes back to the surface. 
So, in a move hailed by industry as a major turning point, drilling companies started reusing and recycling the 
wastewater. 
“Water recycling is a win-win,” one drilling company, Range Resources, says on its Web site. “It reduces fresh water 
demand and eliminates the need to dispose of the water.” 
But the win-win comes with significant asterisks. 
In Pennsylvania, for example, natural-gas companies recycled less than half of the wastewater they produced during 
the 18 months that ended in December, according to state records. 
Nor has recycling eliminated environmental and health risks. Some methods can leave behind salts or sludge highly 
concentrated with radioactive material and other contaminants that can be dangerous to people and aquatic life if 
they get into waterways. 
Some well operators are also selling their waste, rather than paying to dispose of it. Because it is so salty, they have 
found ready buyers in communities that spread it on roads for de-icing in the winter and for dust suppression in the 
summer. When ice melts or rain falls, the waste can run off roads and end up in the drinking supply. 
Yet in Pennsylvania, where the number of drilling permits for gas wells has jumped markedly in the last several years, 
in part because the state sits on a large underground gas formation known as the Marcellus Shale, such waste remains 
exempt from federal and state oversight, even when turned into salts and spread on roads. 
When Pennsylvania regulators tried to strengthen state oversight of how drilling wastewater is tracked, an industry 
coalition argued vehemently against it. Three of the top state officials at the meeting have since left the government — 
for the natural-gas industry. 
One executive at a drilling wastewater recycling company said that for all the benefits of recycling, it was not a 
cure-all. 
“No one wants to admit it, but at some point, even with reuse of this water, you have to confront the disposal 
question,” said Brent Halldorson, chief operating officer of Aqua-Pure/Fountain Quail Water Management, adding 
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that the wastewater has barium, strontium and radioactive elements that need to be removed. 
Mr. Halldorson emphasized that he had not seen high radioactivity readings at the plant he operates in Williamsport, 
Pa. He said he firmly believed in the benefits of recycling — to reduce the waste produced and water used and to help 
promote a shift toward natural gas, which burns cleaner than coal for producing electricity. 
“But there still needs to be a candid discussion, and there needs to be accountability about where even the recycled 
wastewater is going,” Mr. Halldorson added. 
More than 90 percent of well operators in Pennsylvania use this process, known as hydrofracking, to get wells to 
produce. From 10 percent to 40 percent of the water injected into each well resurfaces in the first few weeks of the 
process. 
Many states send their drilling waste to injection wells, for storage deep underground. But because of the geological 
formations in Pennsylvania, there are few injection wells, and other alternatives are expensive. So natural-gas well 
operators in the state have turned to recycling. 
“The technical breakthroughs that have allowed us to lead the nation in water recycling are complemented by a 
carefully orchestrated water-management system, involving a combination of on-site and off-site treatment, 
depending on specific geography and economics,” said Kathryn Klaber, president of the Marcellus Shale Coalition, an 
industry trade group. 
State and company records show that in the year and a half that ended in December 2010, well operators reported 
recycling at least 320 million gallons. But at least 260 million additional gallons of wastewater were sent to plants 
that discharge their treated waste into rivers, out of a total of more than 680 million gallons of wastewater produced, 
according to state data posted Tuesday. Those 260 million gallons would fill more than 28,800 tanker trucks, a line of 
which would stretch from about New York City to Richmond, Va. 
While the total amount of recycling occurring in the state is nowhere near the 90 percent that the industry has been 
claiming over the past year, the practice has undoubtedly been on the rise in recent months. The amount reported 
recycled in the past six months is roughly 65 percent of the total produced, up from roughly 20 percent during the 12 
months before that. At least 50 million additional gallons of wastewater is unaccounted for, according to state 
records. 
The fate of more of the wastewater is unknown because of industry lobbying. In 2009, when regulators tried to 
strengthen oversight of the industry’s methods for disposing of its waste, the Marcellus Shale Coalition staunchly 
opposed the effort. 
“There is no other industry in Pennsylvania that is required to have a manifest system for residual waste,” industry 
officials argued, according to notes from a meeting on March 11, 2009, with state regulators and officials from the 
governor’s office. Under the proposed system, a manifest would have been required so that each load of wastewater 
was tracked from the well to its disposal, to verify that it was not dumped at the side of the road. 
After initially resisting, state officials agreed, adding that they would try to persuade the secretary of Pennsylvania’s 
Department of Environmental Protection to agree, according to the notes. 
In the end, the state’s proposed manifest system for tracking was not carried out. 
Three of the top state officials in the meeting — K. Scott Roy, Barbara Sexton and J. Scott Roberts — have since left 
their posts for jobs in the natural-gas industry. 
The tracking system that was put in place requires monthly or yearly reports to the state from well operators 
indicating where their waste was taken, but offers no way for the state to guarantee that the waste actually reached 
the disposal sites. 
The challenges of tracking and disposing all of the industry’s drilling waste will not go away soon. At least 50,000 new 
Marcellus wells are supposed to be drilled in Pennsylvania over the next two decades, up from about 6,400 permitted 
Marcellus wells now. 
Wells also create waste that is not captured by recycling, because operators typically recycle only for the first several 
months after a well begins producing gas. 
Though the amount of wastewater decreases over time, the wells can continue to ooze for decades, long after many of 
them are abandoned. 
“This is important because as the well ages, the fluids that come up from it become more toxic, and the state or 
companies are even less likely to be tracking it,” said Anthony Ingraffea, a drilling expert and professor of civil and 
environmental engineering at Cornell University. 
State regulators predict that the heaviest burdens are still to come. 
“The waste that flows back slowly and continuously over the 20- to 30-year life of each gas well could produce 27 tons 
of salt per year,” Pennsylvania officials wrote in new rules adopted last August about salt levels in drilling wastewater 
being sent through sewage treatment plants. “Multiply this amount by tens of thousands of Marcellus gas wells,” they 
said, and the potential pollution effects are “tremendous.” 
In an interview on Sunday, John Hanger, who in January stepped down as secretary of Pennsylvania’s Department of 
Environmental Protection , pointed to these rules as some of the strongest in the country and cited other 
accomplishments during his term, including increasing inspections of drilling industry trucks, more than doubling his 
department’s natural gas staff and improving well-design requirements. 
The natural-gas industry uses a number of methods to recycle drilling waste. 
Some drillers have used recycling equipment at the well site or truck the water to a dedicated recycling facility. The 
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wastewater is filtered, evaporated and then distilled, to be used again at the well. Other companies add fresh water to 
the wastewater, to dilute the salts and other contaminants, before pumping it back in the ground for more 
hydrofracking. 
Any sludge that settles from these various processes is taken to landfills, which in Pennsylvania are equipped with 
radiation monitors, or sent to injection disposal wells. 
But drilling experts say that virtually all forms of recycling still result in liquid waste that can be more toxic than it 
was after the first use. 
“The wastewater that comes up from the well will, without a doubt, increase to some degree in radium and other 
radionuclides with each new fracking,” said Radisav Vidic, an environmental engineering professor and drilling 
expert at the University of Pittsburgh. 
Industry officials said there was no reason for concern about radioactivity levels in wastewater. 
“All of our reports indicate that this industry operates within the same standards set forth and observed by all water 
consumers in Pennsylvania,” said Matt Pitzarella, a spokesman from Range Resources-Appalachia, a part of the 
natural-gas company Range Resources. 
Some energy companies have found more profitable options for getting rid of their drilling wastewater. 
In West Virginia, for example, environmental regulators and highway officials last year announced plans for the state 
to start paying around five cents per gallon for gas drilling wastewater known as brine, which tends to be extremely 
salty, to melt ice on roads. 
They planned to buy about 1.2 million gallons of the wastewater at more than 120 sites around the state and to buy 
more as needed. 
West Virginia’s water and waste management director, Scott Mandirola, has said that he recognized that the waste 
may have radioactive contaminants and that some of the waste would find its way to the state’s waters. 
But he added that it would be highly diluted by rain or snow and that de-icing the roads was important. State officials 
also said that only wastewater from shallow wells would be used, thereby reducing levels of radioactivity. 
Pennsylvania also allows salty brine produced from the wastewater to be spread on roads for dust suppression or 
de-icing. 
More than 155,000 gallons of this wastewater was sent by a drilling company called Ultra Resources to nine towns for 
dust suppression in 2009, state records show. The water came from two gas wells in Tioga County and contained 
radium at almost 700 times the levels allowed in drinking water. 
“I was told nothing about frack water or any gas-well brines or anything else,” said Deborah Kotulka, the secretary of 
Richmond Township, in Tioga County, whose name appears on the state record. Her township received 101,640 
gallons of the water from wells with high radioactivity, those records show. 
As gas producers have tried to find new ways to get rid of their waste, they have sought reassurances from state and 
federal regulators that the industry’s exemptions from federal laws on hazardous waste were broad enough to protect 
them. 
In late 2009, for example, officials from an industry trade group, the Pennsylvania Oil and Gas Association, wrote to 
regulators to confirm that drilling waste, regardless of how it was handled, would remain exempt from the federal law 
governing hazardous materials. The association said it was asking in case companies sought to distill the waste into 
salts for de-icing roads. 
“The query has monumental significance,” Steve Rhoads, then the president of the association, wrote in a September 
2009 e-mail to state regulators explaining his members’ concerns about any attempt by federal officials to categorize 
drilling waste as hazardous material. The correspondence was obtained through open-records requests filed with the 
state. 
If drillers were to lose the exemption from federal law that allowed their waste not to be considered hazardous, they 
would probably be forced, at great expense, to start more rigorously testing the waste for toxicity. 
They might also have to do what most other industries do: ship any radioactive sludge or salts that is high in 
radioactivity to Idaho or Washington, where there are some of the only landfills in the country permitted to accept 
such waste. 
Instead, federal regulators informed the industry that their exemption remained intact, a decision that association 
officials quickly passed on to their members. State regulators declined to comment on the exchange because it 
concerns a federal, not state, exemption. Federal officials said the salts were regulated by the states. 
“In short,” Mr. Rhoads wrote his members, the Environmental Protection Agency has determined that the exemption 
“remains in effect once the waste is generated, regardless of how the waste is treated or managed.” 
 
 
Jason E. Bordoff
Associate Director for Energy and Climate Change
White House Council on Environmental Quality
p:  | f: 202.456.2710 |  
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01268-EPA-5580

Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US 

03/01/2011 03:32 PM

To Richard Windsor

cc

bcc

Subject Fw: Follow up to NYT story

very interesting.

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator
Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency
----- Forwarded by Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US on 03/01/2011 03:31 PM -----

From: "McConville, Drew" <
To: "Utech, Dan G." <  Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Bordoff, 

Jason E." <
Cc: Bob Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Date: 03/01/2011 01:02 PM
Subject: RE: Follow up to NYT story

Here's the blog post Dan mentioned from John Hanger (former PA DEP Secretary):

http://www.johnhanger.blogspot.com/

SUNDAY, FEBRUARY 27, 2011
Statement regarding Sunday NYT February 27th Drilling Article
No compromises can be made about the safety of drinking water.  The Sunday NYT 
article raises serious issues that must be definitely resolved immediately.

The most serious issue raised by the NYT is whether or not unhealthy levels of 
radium are in the drinking water as a result of gas drilling wastewater.

Good reasons exist to believe that the answer is no, including the new 
drilling wastewater disposal rule that went into effect in August 2010 and the 
now widespread use of recycling technology to manage at least 70% of drilling 
wastewater.  But belief is not good enough.

We must not drift into a war of competing theories or studies.  We need the 
facts.  Pennsylvanians deserve nothing less.

The Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection should order today all 
public water systems in Pennsylvania to test immediately for radium or 
radioactive pollutants and report as soon as good testing allows the results 
to the public.  Only testing of the drinking water for these pollutants can 
resolve the issue raised by the NYT.

Moreover, once the results comeback and no matter what the results are, 
testing should continue on a regular basis at least at the 65 public water 
systems identified by the NYT.

Why did I not take these steps when I was Secretary is a fair question?  One 
answer is that a much stronger rule governing drilling wastewater discharges 
became final in August 2010 that limited future drilling wastewater discharges 
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(See below for much more detail).

But the main reason is that I was not presented with information in the manner 
that the NYT does in this article. The NYT references confidential reports, 
anonymous statements supposedly made by EPA scientists, and other material 
that I have never seen until this article.  I was informed by agency radiation 
experts that the radiation levels were not a threat to truck drivers, workers 
at sewage treatment facilities or the public.   To be clear the buck stopped 
with me up to January 18th, 2011 and I believe the agency staff were handling 
this issue in a serious, careful manner.  I still believe that to be in the 
case

But as I said, beliefs are not good enough.  Now only testing can resolve one 
way or another the issue about radium that the NYT raises.

Having said that, some further points about the article need to be made.

1. The piece looks at a three year period and characterizes regulation in 
Pennsylvania as lax. Lax regulation is the theme or narrative of the piece and 
virtually all elements and word choices of the article are consistent with 
that theme.

Buried late in this enormous piece is a paragraph that states that the rules 
today are much stronger.  Shortly after I became Secretary on September 2nd, 
2010, I concluded Pennsylvania's rules governing gas drilling and protecting 
our waters needed to be strengthened.  I directed 4 new policies or rules be 
drafted and completed as soon as possible.  All now have been.

2. The 4 strengthening regulatory packages that were barely or not all 
mentioned in the NYT article included:

First, finalizing protective water withdrawal policies requiring at the time 
of the drilling application the submittal of a water plan that insured water 
withdrawals would not damage streams even during droughts.

Second, I ordered a major rule to end Pennsylvania's decades long practice of 
allowing unlimited amounts of drilling wastewater untreated for total 
dissolved solids (salts etc) into rivers and streams and won passage of this 
rule over opposition from the gas industry, the coal mining industry, the 
Pennsylvania Chamber of Business and Industry, and other supporters of the gas 
industry.

The new drilling wastewater rule became effective in August 2010 and applies 
to all sources of TDS pollution, including mining and industrial sources.  The 
rule, however, singles out drilling wastewater for the strongest requirements.  
The 2010 rule requires new or existing drilling wastewater plants that expand 
to treat drilling wastewater to the Safe Drinking Water Standard for TDS if it 
is returned to a river.

The rule does allow plants that had been operating for many decades to 
conditionally do so if they do not expand and if the river to which they 
discharge has TDS levels below 75% of the Safe Drinking Water standard of 500 
mg/liter.  The NYT erroneously suggests that the existing plants if they do 
not expand can continue operating under the rule no matter their impact on the 
receiving stream.  False.  If the receiving stream has TDS increase as a 
result of the existing plants discharge or other reasons, these existing 
plants will have to modify how they operate and possibly cease operations.

The drilling wastewater rule is hugely important and must be enforced fully.
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Third, I ordered a strengthening across the board of the rules governing
drilling well design, materials, construction, monitoring, testing, and 
disclosure of chemicals.  This rule became effective on February 5, 2011 after 
being begun in 2009. They are state of the art standards.  They must be 
followed and enforced.

Fourth, we enacted a 150 foot buffer requirement from all development for High 
Quality streams, Pennsylvania's best waters.  About 22,000 miles of streams 
receive this protection or one-quarter of all of Pennsylvania's streams.  This 
rule commenced in 2009 and was final in November 2010.

3. I also concluded in 2008 that the DEP gas staff was too small so we more 
than doubled the drilling staff from 88 to 202 positions.  This substantial 
staffing increase was paid for by using emergency rulemaking powers to raise 
the drilling application fee to $5,000 to $10,000 per Marcellus application 
from the ridiculous amount of $100 that had been set in 1984 and never raised.  
We hired in 2009 and twice in 2010.  We opened a new drilling staff office in 
Williamsport in 2009 and another in Scranton during 2010.

Pennsylvania is the only state that has hired substantial or any staff for its 
drilling operation.  The NYT does not say that, because it does not fit its 
narrative of lax Pennsylvania regulation.  Indeed, the reporter deliberately 
did not include a long list of actions by DEP that represented strong 
enforcement.

4. On these first 3 points, in a sea of ink, the NYT article just says: 
"Recently Pennsylvania has tried to increase its oversight, doubling the 
number of regulators, improving well-design requirements and sharply 
decreasing how much drilling waste many treatment plants can accept or 
release."  Yes, indeed.  See the above for some of the details.

5. The NYT piece makes errors when discussing the 2008 high TDS levels on the 
Mon River.  The NYT fails to state that it was state regulators, the 
Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, at my direction that 
issued Drinking Water Advisories to the public when TDS levels on the Mon 
River exceeded the Safe Drinking Water Act secondary drinking water standards.

6. The NYT piece does not state clearly or fully that in October 2008 that DEP 
issued orders to municipal sewage plants discharging to the Mon River or its 
tributaries to cut by 95% its drilling wastewater volumes.  Those orders were 
not lifted.  The order to cut by 95% drilling wastewater discharges applied to 
any municipal treatment plant that had been taking drilling wastewater without 
a specific permit to do so.

Reporting accurately and fully this action plus that DEP issued the Public 
Water Advisory would not fit with the article's determined narrative of lax 
regulation.  Some themes just cannot be moved no matter what.

7. Near the end of the piece the article argues that DEP has lax regulation.  
Its major evidence for that proposition is that DEP issues twice as many 
warning as fines for violations.

Here is what the NYT completely and apparently willfully ignored or placed 
outside of the main story due to the famous space limitations.  It is quite a 
coincident that the facts or points that were ignored completely or not 
included in the main story are the ones showing strong regulation.

1. Telling its readers that DEP has issued 1400 violations to the industry 
just for the period from January 1, 2008 to June 30, 2010.
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2. Telling its readers that DEP has issued to companies orders to stop
drilling for weeks and months;
other orders to companies to stop fracking for weeks and months; orders to 
companies to pay fully for all spills and leaks.  These orders cost companies 
tens of millions of dollars and greatly exceed the amount of fines.  Fines run 
into the millions, but the Legislature should raise the maximum amount of 
fines.

3. Telling its readers that DEP required Cabot Oil and Gas to plug wells and 
repair wells at the cost of many millions of dollars to remedy a gas migration 
that impacted 19 water wells.

4. Telling its readers that DEP won a settlement with Cabot that paid the 19 
impacted families on average $200,000 per family or twice the market value of 
the property, while allowing families to keep their property and their mineral 
rights. Payments and yet another major fine exceeded $4 million in this single 
action. These payments were won even for 14 of the 19 properties were testing 
indicated that methane had been removed from the water supplies.

5. Telling its readers that DEP and the State Police do major truck inspection 
operations, pulling drilling trucks over for inspection.  That these repeated 
operations have put about 40% of the drilling trucks inspected out of service.

6. Telling its readers that the DEP gas drilling regulatory program was 
reviewed in 2010 by an Independent Auditing organization called STRONGER that 
includes reviewers from industry, other states, and environmental 
organizations.  The DEP regulatory program received high marks.  Of course the 
reporter did not include the fact of this independent audit in the story.

These are facts and important ones for the public to know and for a good 
reporter to report.  There are still more that could be shared with a reporter 
interested.

UPDATE
Lastly, though I am quoted in the piece, this reporter never interviewed me 
prior to the publication of the sunday article. The reporter claims that he 
told DEP staff that he wanted to interview me.  I was never told so and have 
not confirmed the request. As Secretary, I was interviewed hunreds and 
probably thousands of times.  I made myself totally accessible to reporters.  
My staff knew that I was available to reporters. This reporter today says he 
asked Governor Corbett's administration at DEP on January 21st, three days 
after Governor Rendell and I left office, to confirm the quotation that the 
reporter strung togehter from some other source.  The words that I find myself 
saying in this piece were said by me somewhere at some time and in some 
context but they were not said in the context of an interview for this piece. 
The reporter never called me after January 18th for any purpose including to 
confirm the quotation that he put together for me.  The reporter did not ask 
the new administration for my contact information after I left office.  He 
made no attempt to reach me from January 18th until the piece was published, 
including again to confirm the quotation he uses.  The reporter did make 
effort to contact my former colleague Secretary Quigley after he left office 
and did interview former Secretary Quigley about a week ago.

Update II

Secretary Quigley was a superb Secretary of the Department of Conservation and 
Natural Resources, the agency charged with managing state parks and state 
forests.  He oversaw gas leasing of state forest land and did a great job in 
difficult circumstances, including writing a very protective lease for gas 
drilling on state forests. Secretary Quigley has unmatched dedication and 
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knowledge about the state forests and parks.

Some confusion exists about the jurisdictions and roles of DCNR and DEP. The 
DCNR does not regulate the oil and gas industry in Pennsylvania. DEP does. The 
Department of Environmental Protection enforces the state Oil and Gas Act, the 
state clean streams law, the federal Clean Water Act, the federal Safe 
Drinking Water Act, the federal and state clean air laws, the state waste 
management laws and other provisions of law that apply to gas drilling.  DEP 
promulgates all rules and regulations governing oil and gas drilling.

I suspect that I will have more to say on this soon.

-----Original Message-----
From: Utech, Dan G.
Sent: Tuesday, March 01, 2011 12:08 PM
To: 'Sussman.Bob@epamail.epa.gov'; Bordoff, Jason E.
Cc: McConville, Drew; 'Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov'
Subject: Re: Follow up to NYT story

Bob P - we're getting started - let us know if you need the dial in info.

----- Original Message -----
From: Sussman.Bob@epamail.epa.gov <Sussman.Bob@epamail.epa.gov>
To: Bordoff, Jason E.
Cc: McConville, Drew; Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov 
<Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov>; Utech, Dan G.
Sent: Tue Mar 01 11:38:37 2011
Subject: Re: Follow up to NYT story

I'm coming over. bob will be on the phone.

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency

From:   "Bordoff, Jason E." <
To:     Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Cc:     "McConville, Drew" <  Bob
            Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, "Utech, Dan G."
            <
Date:   03/01/2011 11:07 AM
Subject:        Re: Follow up to NYT story

Just checking if you guys are planning to come over or if we shld just do on 
phone. Thanks.
--------------------------
Jason E. Bordoff
Associate Director for Energy and Climate Change White House Council on 
Environmental Quality
p:  | f: 202.456.0753 |  

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
Sent: Tue Mar 01 08:26:46 2011
Subject: Re: Follow up to NYT story

Jason -- do you want to do the 12:00 mtg in person?

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency

From:            "Bordoff, Jason E." <
To:              Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Bob Perciasepe/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Cc:              "Utech, Dan G." <  "McConville,
            Drew" <
Date:            03/01/2011 07:44 AM
Subject:                 Re: Follow up to NYT story

Thanks Bob
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
To: Bordoff, Jason E.; Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov 
<Perciasepe.Bob@epamail.epa.gov>
Cc: Utech, Dan G.; McConville, Drew
Sent: Tue Mar 01 06:42:39 2011
Subject: Re: Follow up to NYT story

Jason. 

  From: "Bordoff, Jason E." [
  Sent: 02/28/2011 09:50 PM EST
  To: Bob Sussman; Bob Perciasepe
  Cc: "Utech, Dan G." <  "McConville, Drew"
<
  Subject: Follow up to NYT story

Bob:  

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



01268-EPA-5581

Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US 

03/01/2011 04:03 PM

To Richard Windsor, Bob Perciasepe, Michael Goo

cc Seth Oster, David McIntosh, Arvin Ganesan

bcc

Subject Fw: Report on the Costs and Benefits of the 1990 Clean Air 
Act

This study, released to Congress today, presents very significant findings about the costs and benefits of 
regulation under the CAA.   

 
 

Robert M. Sussman
Senior Policy Counsel to the Administrator
Office of the Administrator
(202)-564-7397
US Environmental Protection Agency
----- Forwarded by Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US on 03/01/2011 03:59 PM -----

From: Rob Brenner/DC/USEPA/US
To: <
Cc: Gina McCarthy/DC/USEPA/US@EPA, Bob Sussman/DC/USEPA/US@EPA
Date: 03/01/2011 01:38 PM
Subject: Report on the Costs and Benefits of the 1990 Clean Air Act

 Hi Mike,

   Here are the final versions of the study we released today on the Costs and Benefits of the 1990 Clean 
Air Act.

   The history here is  that the previous versions of the 812 studies were Reports to Congress and 
therefore went to OMB for review before they were released.  Several years ago Congress dropped the 
812 reporting requirement along with numerous other study provisions contained in other pieces of 
legislation.   We decided that the 812 Study has significant value and decided to continue developing it as 
an EPA report instead of a Report to Congress.

   It received extensive review by three external panels of  health experts, air quality modelers, and 
economists (including Nat Keohane).   The panels were selected and managed by our Science Advisory 
Board.

                                 Rob Brenner

__________________
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The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act fron 1990 to 2020 

 

 

ABSTRACT 

Section 812 of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments requires the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency to develop periodic reports that estimate the benefits and costs of the 
Clean Air Act.  The main goal of these reports is to provide Congress and the public with 
comprehensive, up-to-date, peer-reviewed information on the Clean Air Act’s social 
benefits and costs, including improvements in human health, welfare, and ecological 
resources, as well as the impact of the Act’s provisions on the US economy.  This report 
is the third in the Section 812 series, and is the result of EPA’s Second Prospective 
analysis of the 1990 Amendments. 

The Clean Air Act Amendments (CAAA) of 1990 augmented the significant progress made 
in improving the nation's air quality through the original Clean Air Act of 1970 and its 
1977 amendments.  The amendments built off the existing structure of the original Clean 
Air Act, but went beyond those requirements to tighten and clarify implementation goals 
and timing, increase the stringency of some federal requirements, revamp the hazardous 
air pollutant regulatory program, refine and streamline permitting requirements, and 
introduce new programs for the control of acid rain and stratospheric ozone depleters.  
The main purpose of this report is to document the costs and benefits of the 1990 CAAA 
provisions incremental to those costs and benefits achieved from implementing the 
original 1970 Clean Air Act and the 1977 amendments. 

The analysis estimates the costs and benefits of reducing emissions of air pollutants by 
comparing a "with-CAAA" scenario that reflects expected or likely future measures 
implemented under the CAAA with a “without-CAAA” scenario that freezes the scope 
and stringency of emissions controls at the levels that existed prior to implementing the 
CAAA.  There are six basic steps undertaken to complete this analysis: 1. air pollutant 
emissions modeling; 2. compliance cost estimation; 3. ambient air quality modeling; 4. 
health and environmental effects estimation; 5. economic valuation of these effects; and 
6. results aggregation and uncertainty characterization. 

The results of our analysis, summarized in the table below, make it abundantly clear that 
the benefits of the CAAA exceed its costs by a wide margin, making the CAAA a very 
good investment for the nation.  We estimate that the annual dollar value of benefits of air 
quality improvements will be very large, and will grow over time as emissions control 
programs take their full effect, reaching a level of approximately $2.0 trillion in 2020.  
These benefits will be achieved as a result of CAAA-related programs and regulatory 
compliance actions estimated to cost approximately $65 billion in 2020.  Most of these 
benefits (about 85 percent) are attributable to reductions in premature mortality 
associated with reductions in ambient particulate matter; as a result, we estimate that 
cleaner air will, by 2020, prevent 230,000 cases of premature mortality in that year.  The 
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LIST OF ACRONYMS 
 

ACS  American Cancer Society 

AEO  Annual Energy Outlook (from the US Department of Energy) 

AERMOD American Meteorological Society/Regulatory Model 

AIM  Architectural and Industrial Maintenance 

AMI  Acute myocardial infarction 

APEEP  Air Pollution Emissions Experiments and Policy analysis model 

AQMS  Air Quality Modeling Subcommittee (of the Council) 

AMET  Atmospheric Model Evaluation Tool 

ANC  Acid Neutralizing Capacity 

BenMAP Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program 

CAA  Clean Air Act of 1970 

CAAA  Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 

CAIR  Clean Air Interstate Rule 

CAMR  Clean Air Mercury Rule 

CARB  California Air Resources Board 

CAVR  Clean Air Visibility Rule 

CDC  Centers for Disease Control 

CGE  Computable General Equilibrium 

CMAQ  Community Multi-scale Air Quality [System] 

CO  Carbon monoxide 

COI  Cost of illness 

CONUS Continental United States (domain in CMAQ model) 

Council Advisory Council on Clean Air Compliance Analysis 

C-R Concentration-Response 

CTG Control Techniques Guideline 

CV Contingent valuation 

DDT Dichlorodiphenyl-trichloroethane 

DOE United States Department of Energy 

EC Elemental carbon 

EE Expert elicitation 

EES Ecological Effects Subcommittee (of the Council) 
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EGU Electric Generating Unit 

EMPAX-CGE Economic Model for Policy Analysis – Computable General Equilibrium 

EPA  United States Environmental Protection Agency 

EUS  Eastern United States (domain in CMAQ model) 

EV  [Hicksian] equivalent variation 

eVNA  Enhanced Voronoi Neighbor Averaging 

FACA  Federal Advisory Committee Act 

FASOM Forest and Agriculture Sector Optimization Model 

FRM  Federal Reference Method 

GDP  Gross Domestic Product 

GHG  Greenhouse gas 

HAP  Hazardous Air Pollutant 

HAPEM6 Hazardous Air Pollution Exposure Model, Version 6 

HDDV  Heavy-Duty Diesel Vehicle 

HES  Health Effects Subcommittee (of the Council) 

I&M  Inspection and maintenance 

IC/BC  Initial and boundary conditions 

IMPROVE Interagency Monitoring of Protected Visual Environments 

IPM  Integrated Planning Model 

LEV  Low-Emission Vehicle 

LML  Lowest measured level 

MACT  Maximum Available Control Technology 

MAGIC Model of Acidification of Groundwater in Catchments 

MATS  Modeled Attainment Test Software 

MCIP  Meteorology-Chemistry Interface Processor 

MM5  Fifth Generation Mesoscale Model 

MSA  Metropolitan statistical area 

NAA  Non-Attainment Area 

NAAQS National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

NAICS  North American Industry Classification System 

NAPAP National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program 
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NEI  National Emissions Inventory 

NEMS  National Energy Modeling System 

NESHAP National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants 

NH3  Ammonia 

NH4  Ammonium 

NMMAPS National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study 

NO3  Nitrate 

NOx  Nitrogen oxides 

NPV  Net present value 

NSPS  New Source Performance Standard 

O&M  Operation and maintenance 

OC  Organic carbon 

OTC  Ozone Transport Commission 

Pb  Lead 

PCB  Polychlorinated biphenyl 

PM  Particulate matter 

PM2 5  Particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 microns  

PM10  Particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter less than 10 microns 

PPB  Parts per billion 

PRB  Powder River Basin  

PSU/NCAR Pennsylvania State University/National Center for Atmospheric Research 

RACT  Reasonably Available Control Technology 

RADM/RPM Regional Acid Deposition Model/Regional Particulate Model 

REMSAD Regulatory Modeling System for Aerosols and Acid Deposition 

RfC  Reference concentration 

RFP  Rate of Further Progress 

RIA  Regulatory Impact Analysis 

RSM  Response Surface Model  

RUM  Random Utility Model  

SAB  Science Advisory Board 

SANDWICH Sulfates, Adjusted Nitrates, Derived Water, Inferred Carbonaceous mass, 
and estimated aerosol acidity (H+)) process 
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SCAQMD South Coast Air Quality Management District 

SIP  State Implementation Plan 

SMAT  Speciated Modeled Attainment Test 

SMOKE Sparse-Matrix Operator Kernel Emissions 

SO2  Sulfur dioxide 

SOx  Sulfur oxides 

SOA  Secondary organic aerosol 

STN  Speciation Trends Network 

SUV  Sport-Utility Vehicle 

TAC  Total Annualized Cost 

TSP  Total Suspended Particulates 

UVb or UVB Ultraviolet B radiation 

VMT  Vehicle miles traveled 

VNA  Voronoi Neighbor Averaging 

VOC  Volatile organic compound 

VSL  Value of statistical life 

WTAC  Willingness-to-accept-compensation 

WTP  Willingness-to-pay 

WUS  Western United States (domain in CMAQ model) 

gm-3 or g/m3 Micrograms per cubic meter (unit for PM2 5 measurement) 
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CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION 

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE  
 

Section 812 of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments established a requirement that EPA 
develop periodic reports that estimate the benefits and costs of the Clean Air Act (CAA).  
The main goal of these reports is to provide Congress and the public with comprehensive, 
up-to-date, peer-reviewed information on the Clean Air Act’s social benefits and costs, 
including improvements in human health, welfare, and ecological resources, as well as 
the impact of CAA provisions on the US economy.  This report is the third in the Section 
812 series, and is the result of EPA’s Second Prospective analysis of the 1990 
Amendments. 

The first report EPA created under this authority, The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air 
Act: 1970 to 1990, was published and conveyed to Congress in October 1997.  This 
Retrospective analysis comprehensively assessed benefits and costs of requirements of 
the 1970 Clean Air Act and the 1977 Amendments, up to the passage of the Clean Air 
Act Amendments of 1990.  The results of the Retrospective analysis showed that the 
nation's investment in clean air was more than justified by the substantial benefits that 
were gained in the form of increased health, environmental quality, and productivity.  The 
aggregate benefits of the CAA during the 1970 to 1990 period exceeded costs by a factor 
of 10 to 100.  

A second Section 812 report, The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act: 1990 to 2010, 
was completed in November of 1999 and addressed the incremental costs and benefits of 
the Clean Air Act Amendments (CAAA) enacted by Congress and signed by the 
President in November of 1990.  This First Prospective analysis addressed 
implementation of the CAAA over the period 1990 to 2010, and found that aggregate 
benefits of the Amendments alone, excluding provisions in place prior to 1990, exceeded 
the costs by a factor of four.   

Similar to these prior analyses, this document has one primary and several secondary 
objectives.  The main goal is to provide Congress and the public with comprehensive, up-
to-date, peer-reviewed information on the CAAA's social costs and benefits, including 
health, welfare, and ecological benefits.  Data and methods derived from the 
Retrospective and First Prospective analysis have already been used to assist policy-
makers in refining clean air regulations over the last several years, and we hope the 
information continues to prove useful to Congress during future Clean Air Act 
reauthorizations.  Beyond the statutory goals of Section 812, EPA also intends to use the 
results of this study to help support decisions on future investments in air pollution 
research.  In addition, lessons learned in conducting this analysis will help better target 
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efforts to improve the accuracy and usefulness of future prospective analyses, generated 
either as part of this series or as part of EPA’s ongoing responsibility to estimate benefits 
and costs of major rulemakings. 

RELATIONSHIP OF THIS REPORT TO OTHER ANALYSES 

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 augmented the significant progress made in 
improving the nation's air quality through the original Clean Air Act of 1970 and its 1977 
amendments.  The amendments built off the existing structure of the original Clean Air 
Act, but went beyond those requirements to tighten and clarify implementation goals and 
timing, increase the stringency of some federal requirements, revamp the hazardous air 
pollutant regulatory program, refine and streamline permitting requirements, and 
introduce new programs for the control of acid rain and stratospheric ozone depleters.  
Because the 1990 Amendments represented an additional improvement to the nation's 
existing clean air program, the analysis summarized in this report was designed to 
estimate the costs and benefits of the 1990 CAAA incremental to those costs and benefits 
assessed in the Retrospective analysis.  In economic terminology, this report addresses 
the marginal costs and benefits of the 1990 CAAA.  Figure 1-1 below outlines this 
relationship among the section 812 Retrospective, the First Prospective, and the Second 
Prospective. 

As illustrated in Figure 1-1, this report effectively updates and augments the First 
Prospective.  This report addresses essentially the same scenario and target variables as 
the First Prospective, but incorporates a number of significant enhancements.  First, this 
report extends the time period of analysis an additional ten years relative to the First 
Prospective, covering the period from the signing of the amendments in 1990 through 
2020.  Second, this report reflects updated cost and emissions estimation methods, 
including use of a new model suited to nonroad engine regulation and incorporation of 
the effects of learning-by-doing on projections of direct costs.  Third, this report 
incorporates new information on the benefits of air pollutant regulation, including use of 
an integrated national-scale air quality model, more comprehensive characterization of 
ecological benefits, and an air toxics case study.  Fourth, the report reflects investments in 
more comprehensive uncertainty analysis, including quantitative analyses where feasible.  
Finally, this report incorporates a sophisticated economy-wide model to estimate effects 
of the CAAA on such measures as GDP, prices, and consumer welfare.  The 
Retrospective analysis employed a similar model for assessing the direct costs of 
compliance, but for the first time in this study the Agency has explored the economy-
wide implications of both the direct costs and the health benefits of the CAAA on 
economic productivity, providing a much more complete picture of the full implications 
of CAAA regulations. 

The scope of this analysis is to estimate the costs and benefits of reducing emissions of 
criteria pollutants under two scenarios, depicted in schematic form in Figure 1-1 below:  
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problematic.  As a result, the emissions forecasts for electric generating units 
incorporated in the with-CAAA scenario may not reflect the controls that are ultimately 
implemented in a modified program.  We acknowledge and discuss these types of 
discrepancies and their impact on the outcome of our analysis in the document. 

In addition, despite our efforts to comprehensively evaluate the costs and benefits of all 
provisions of the Clean Air Act and its Amendments, there remain a few categories of 
effects that are not addressed by the Retrospective or either prospective analysis.  For 
example, this Second Prospective analysis does not assess the effect of CAAA provisions 
on lead exposures, primarily because the 1990 Amendments did not include major new 
provisions for the control of lead emissions until the NAAQS for lead was recently 
revisited and made significantly more stringent; the NAAQS revision was finalized after 
our emissions inventory development had been completed, too late for inclusion in our 
analysis.  In addition, persistent data and model limitations preclude a full quantitative 
treatment of some costs and many benefits of other clean air programs.  Therefore, while 
we considered all potentially relevant effects of the Clean Air Act and related programs, 
the quantitative results we present are not fully comprehensive, even for programs 
included in our assessment.  Other, more modest omissions are acknowledged in the 
supporting documentation for this effort.2 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE 1990 CLEAN AIR ACT AMENDMENTS  
This Second Prospective analysis, within the limitations discussed above, presents a 
comprehensive estimate of costs and benefits of the key regulatory titles of the 1990 
Clean Air Act Amendments.  The 1990 Amendments consist of the following eleven 
titles: 

Title I. Establishes a detailed and graduated program for the attainment and maintenance 
of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards.  

Title II. Regulates mobile sources and establishes requirements for reformulated gasoline 
and clean fuel vehicles.  

Title III. Expands and modifies regulations of hazardous air pollutant emissions; and 
establishes a list of 189 hazardous air pollutants to be regulated. 

Title IV. Establishes control programs for reducing acid rain precursors.  

Title V. Requires a new permitting system for primary sources of air pollution. 

Title VI. Limits emissions of chemicals that deplete stratospheric ozone. 

Title VII. Presents new provisions for enforcement.  

Titles VIII through XI. Establish miscellaneous provisions for issues such as 
disadvantaged business concerns, research, training, new regulation of outer continental 

                                                      
2 See www.epa.gov/oar/sect812 for a complete list and opportunity to download supporting documentation for this Second 

Prospective analysis. 
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shelf sources, and assistance for people whose employment opportunities shift as a result 
of the Clean Air Act Amendments. 

As part of the requirements under Title VIII, section 812 of the Clean Air Act 
Amendments of 1990 established a requirement that EPA analyze the costs and benefits 
to human health and the environment that are attributable to the Clean Air Act.  In 
addition, section 812 directed EPA to measure the effects of this statute on economic 
growth, employment, productivity, cost of living, and the overall economy of the United 
States.  

This analysis does not provide updated information on the costs and benefits of CAAA 
Title V regulations, which were thoroughly assessed in the First Prospective.  Although 
Title V is believed to have yielded benefits in the efficiency of air permitting, those 
benefits are largely unquantified – as a result, the main effect of including Title V in the 
First Prospective was to increase the cost estimate by about $300 million.  Similarly, we 
omit further consideration of Title VI regulation of the emissions of stratospheric ozone 
depleting substances, which was also assessed in the First Prospective.  Although 
regulations under Title VI are continually updated and refined, the major components of 
Title VI were in place prior to the First Prospective and were thoroughly analyzed as part 
of that effort, resulting in the finding that the benefits of Title VI vastly exceeded its cost.  
As a result, EPA chose to focus resources in the Second Prospective on other areas and 
refinements.  Because Titles V and VI have been previously assessed, and because Titles 
VII through XI are largely procedural and have mostly modest effects on air pollutant 
emissions and costs, this Second Prospective analysis is focused on the major emissions 
regulatory programs of the CAAA, which make up Titles I through IV of the statutory 
language.3 

ANALYTICAL DESIGN AND REVIEW  
 

TARGET VARIABLE  

The Second Prospective analysis compares the overall health, welfare, ecological and 
economic benefits of the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendment programs to the costs of these 
programs.  By examining the overall effects of the Clean Air Act, this analysis 
complements the Regulatory Impact Analyses (RIAs) developed by EPA over the years 
to evaluate individual regulations.  We relied on information about the costs and benefits 
of specific rules provided by these RIAs, as well as other EPA analyses, in order to use 
resources efficiently.  For this analysis, although costs can be reliably attributed to 
individual programs, the broad-scale approach adopted in this prospective study largely 
precludes reliable re-estimation of the benefits on a per-standard or per-program level.  
Similar to the Retrospective and First Prospective benefits analysis, this study calculates 

                                                      
3 Note that some elements of Title VII enforcement efforts, such as settlements for historical violations of CAA provisions, 

particularly in the electric utility and petroleum refining sectors, are included in the emissions inventories of the with-CAAA 

scenario.  For more information, see EPA’s detailed emissions report supporting this study at www.epa.gov/oar/sect812 
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the change in incidences of adverse effects implied by changes in ambient concentrations 
of air pollutants. However, pollutant emissions reductions achieved contribute to changes 
in ambient concentrations of those, or secondarily formed, pollutants in ways that are 
highly complex, interactive, and often nonlinear. Although it would be possible to design 
specific scenarios that focused analyses only on a subset of regulations (for example, all 
of Title IV), those policy scenarios are not realistic.  For example, exclusion of major 
components of the Federal rules required under the CAAA would then trigger a much 
greater need for reductions at the local level, in order to achieve NAAQS standards which 
apply at the metropolitan area scale.  Further, emissions reductions achieved by the 
provisions of each Title, or more broadly by regulations across the CAAA provisions that 
apply to a specific category of emitting sources, interact with other regulations to affect 
the benefits implications of any emissions reduction.  Therefore, benefits cannot be 
reliably isolated or matched to provision-specific changes in emissions or costs.  
Focusing on the broader target variables of overall costs and overall benefits of the Clean 
Air Act, the EPA Project Team adopted an approach based on construction and 
comparison of two distinct scenarios, briefly mentioned above: a “without-CAAA” and a 
“with-CAAA" scenario.  The without-CAAA scenario essentially freezes federal, state, and 
local air pollution controls at the levels of stringency and effectiveness which prevailed in 
1990. The with-CAAA scenario assumes that all federal, state, and local rules promulgated 
pursuant to, or in support of, the 1990 CAAA were implemented.  This analysis then 
estimates the differences between the economic and environmental outcomes associated 
with these two scenarios.  For more information on the specific construction of the 
scenarios and their relationship to historical trends, see Chapter 2 of this document. 

KEY ASSUMPTIONS  

Similar to the Retrospective and First Prospective analyses, we made two key 
assumptions during the scenario design process to avoid miring the analytical process in 
endless speculation.  First, as stated above, we froze air pollution controls at 1990 levels 
throughout the “without-CAAA” scenario.  Second, we assumed that the geographic 
distributions of population and economic activity remain the same between the two 
scenarios, although these distributions could be expected to change over time under both 
scenarios in response to differences across scenarios in income and air quality. 

The first assumption is an obvious simplification.  In the absence of the 1990 CAAA, one 
would expect to see some air pollution abatement activity, either voluntary or due to state 
or local regulation.  It is conceivable that state and local regulation would have required 
air pollution abatement equal to – or even greater than – that required by the 1990 
CAAA, particularly since some states, most notably California, have in the past done so.  
If one were to assume that state and local regulations would have been equivalent to 1990 
CAAA standards, then a cost-benefit analysis of the 1990 CAAA would be a meaningless 
exercise since both costs and benefits would equal zero.  Any attempt to predict how 
states’ and localities’ regulations would have differed from the 1990 CAAA would be too 
speculative to support the credibility of the ensuing analysis.  Instead, the without-CAAA 
scenario has been structured to reflect the assumption that states and localities would not 
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have invested further in air pollution control programs after 1990 in the absence of the 
federal CAAA.  Thus, this analysis accounts for all costs and benefits of air pollution 
control from 1990 to 2020 and does not speculate about the fraction of costs and benefits 
attributable exclusively to the federal CAAA. Nevertheless, it is important to note that 
state and local governments and private initiatives are responsible for a significant portion 
of these total costs and total benefits.  In the end, the benefits of air pollution controls 
result from partnerships among all levels of government and with the active participation 
and cooperation of private entities and individuals. 

The second assumption concerns changing demographic patterns in response to air 
pollution.  In the hypothetical without-CAAA scenario, air quality is worse than the actual 
1990 conditions and the projected air quality in the with-CAAA scenario.  It is possible 
that under the without-CAAA scenario more people, relative to the with-CAAA case, 
would move away from the most heavily polluted areas.  Rather than speculate on the 
scale of population movement, the analysis assumes no differences in demographic 
patterns between the two scenarios.  Similarly, the analysis assumes no differences 
between the two scenarios with respect to the level or spatial pattern of overall economic 
activity.  Both scenarios do, however, reflect recent Census Bureau projections of 
population growth and the distribution of population across the country. 

ANALYTIC SEQUENCE 
The analysis comprises a sequence of six basic steps, summarized below and described in 
detail later in this report.  These six steps, listed in order of completion, are: 

1. emissions modeling 

2. direct cost estimation 

3. air quality modeling 

4. health and environmental effects estimation 

5. economic valuation 

6. results aggregation and uncertainty characterization 

Figure 1-2 summarizes the analytical sequence used to develop the prospective results; 
we describe the analytic process in greater detail below. 

The first step of the analysis is the estimation of the effect of the 1990 CAAA on 
emissions sources.  We generated emissions estimates through a three step process: (1) 
construction of an emissions inventory for the base year (1990); (2)  projection of 
emissions for the without-CAAA case for three target years -- 2000, 2010, and 2020 -- 
assuming a freeze on emissions control regulation at 1990 levels and continued economic 
progress, consistent with sector-specific Department of Energy Annual Energy Outlook 
economic activity projections; and (3) construction of with-CAAA estimates for the same 
three target years, using the same set of economic activity projections used in the without-
CAAA case but with regulatory stringency, scope, and timing consistent with EPA's 
CAAA implementation plan (as of late 2005).  The analysis reflects application of utility 
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inherent in the Title IV trading programs – thereby estimating emissions reductions and 
compliance costs simultaneously.  Direct costs are addressed in Chapter 3. 

Emissions estimates also form the first step in estimating benefits.  After the emissions 
inventories are developed, they are translated into estimates of air quality conditions 
under each scenario.  For secondary particulate matter, ozone, and other air quality 
conditions that involve substantial non-linear formation processes and/or long-range 
atmospheric transport and transformation, the EPA Project Team employed EPA’s 
Community Multi-scale Air Quality (CMAQ) system.  This modeling system, for the first 
time in the series of Section 812 studies, provides a fully national, integrated analysis of 
multiple emissions and their interactions.  The result is a consistent estimate of air quality 
for both primary and secondarily formed pollutants, as well as deposition and visibility 
outcomes that represent the core of the subsequent benefit analyses.  Air quality modeling 
is covered in Chapter 4. 

Up to this point of the analysis, modeled conditions and outcomes establish the without-
CAAA and with-CAAA scenarios.  However, at the air quality modeling step, the analysis 
returns to a foundation based on actual historical conditions and data, providing a form of 
“ground-truthing” of the results.  Specifically, actual 2000 historical air quality 
monitoring data are used to define the baseline conditions from which the without-CAAA 
and with-CAAA scenario air quality projections are constructed. We derive air quality 
conditions under each of the projected years of the with-CAAA scenario by scaling the 
historical data adopted for the base year (2000) by the ratio of the modeled with-CAAA 
and base year air quality.  We use the same approach to estimate future year air quality 
for the without-CAAA scenario.  This method takes advantage of the richness of the 
monitoring data on air quality, provides a realistic grounding for the benefit measures, 
and yet retains analytical consistency by using the same modeling process for both 
scenarios.  The outputs of this step of the analysis are profiles for each pollutant 
characterizing air quality conditions at each monitoring site in the lower 48 states.  This 
procedure also provided a means for calibrating model results in those grid cells where no 
monitors exist, combining model results with nearby monitor data to yield a “surface” of 
air quality that avoids the problems with direct extrapolation of results from monitors not 
located within a grid cell boundary. 

The without-CAAA and with-CAAA scenario air quality profiles serve as inputs to a 
modeling system that translates air quality to physical outcomes (e.g., mortality, 
emergency room visits, or crop yield losses) through the use of concentration-response 
functions.  Scientific literature on the health and ecological effects of air pollutants 
provides the source of these concentration-response functions.  At this point, we derive 
estimates of the differences between the two scenarios in terms of incidence rates for a 
broad range of human health and other effects of air pollution by year, by pollutant, and 
by geographic area. 

In the next step, we use economic valuation models or coefficients to estimate the 
economic value of the reduction in incidence of those adverse effects amenable to 
monetization.  For example, a distribution of unit values derived from the economic 
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literature provides estimates of the value of reductions in mortality risk.  In addition, we 
compile and present benefits that cannot be expressed in economic terms.  In some cases, 
we calculate quantitative estimates of scenario differences in the incidence of a 
nonmonetized effect.  In many other cases, available data and techniques are insufficient 
to support anything more than a qualitative characterization of the change in effects.   
Health effects estimation and valuation are addressed in Chapter 5, and welfare effects, 
including ecological impacts, visibility, and agriculture and forest productivity effects, 
and their valuation, are addressed in Chapter 6. 

Next, we compare costs and monetized benefits to provide our primary estimate of the net 
economic benefits of the 1990 CAAA and associated programs, and a range of estimates 
around that primary estimate reflecting quantified uncertainties associated with the 
physical effects and economic valuation steps.  The monetized benefits used in the net 
benefit calculations reflect only a portion of the total benefits due to limitations in 
analytical resources, available data and models, and the state of the science.  For example, 
in many cases we are unable to quantify or monetize the potentially large benefits of air 
pollution controls that result from protection of the health, structure, and function of 
ecosystems.  In addition, although available scientific studies demonstrate clear links 
between air quality changes and changes in many human health effects, the available 
studies do not always provide the data needed to quantify and/or monetize some of these 
effects.  Details are provided in Chapter 7. 

In addition to the sequence of analyses outlined in Figure 1-2, which are focused on 
generating the key target variable of national net monetized benefits, a number of 
supplemental analyses were also conducted to provide further insights on the impacts of 
CAAA provisions for natural resources, health, and economic output.  The first of these 
supplemental analyses uses the Second Prospective’s national direct cost, health 
incidence, and health benefits valuation results to conduct further national-scale 
economy-wide modeling using what is known as a Computable General Equilibrium 
(CGE) model.  The CGE model simulates, in a simplified way, shifts in markets and 
transactions throughout the economy that might result from CAAA provisions.  It is 
therefore useful in assessing impacts on Gross Domestic Product (GDP), prices, and 
sector shifts in production (e.g., from “dirty” to “clean” industries).  Most past 
applications of CGEs have focused on the economy-wide implications of the costs of 
complying with regulations – as a result, many prior applications, including the use of 
CGE in the Retrospective study, tell only half the story.  Air pollution regulations not 
only impose direct costs, but also yield benefits, and at least some of these benefits (e.g., 
reduced medical expenditures, improved labor productivity owing to better health) affect 
market transactions in ways that can be assessed in the CGE framework.  Not all benefits 
are amenable to analysis in a CGE, however – for example, nonmarket effects such as 
willingness-to-pay to avoid pain and suffering of air pollutant-linked disease cannot be 
incorporated.  Nonetheless, this study represents one of the first broad applications of a 
CGE tool to regulatory costs and benefits.  More details are provided in Chapter 8.   
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Two other supplemental analyses represent local-scale case studies of difficult-to-
quantify benefits of air pollution regulation.  One is a case study of health benefits 
associated with air toxics control.  In prior section 812 studies, benefits of air toxics 
programs have been largely limited to their effects on criteria pollutant outcomes.  For 
example, many air toxics are also volatile organic compounds, and so contribute to ozone 
formation, an effect which can be fairly readily quantified.  The direct effects of air toxics 
on health, however, have been more difficult to quantify, partly because of data 
constraints, and partly because the highly localized effects of air toxics require a level of 
emissions and air quality modeling resolution that is currently infeasible for a national 
analysis.  The air toxics case study, the results of which are presented in Chapter 5, 
provides an example of the benefits of air toxics control for a pollutant (benzene) and 
geographic scope (Houston area) that is both relatively data rich and computationally 
manageable.   

A second case study involves ecological effects, focused on the Adirondack region of 
New York State.  This region was carefully chosen, based on the recommendation of the 
Advisory Council on Clean Air Compliance Analysis Ecological Effects Subcommittee 
(Council EES), because of its relatively high sensitivity to the effects of deposited air 
pollutants, because those same effects are relatively well-studied, and because methods 
exist to quantify and, in many cases, monetize the benefits of air pollution controls.  
Using the same emissions and air quality scenarios as in the overall national study, the 
ecological case study assesses the impact of sulfur and nitrogen deposition in the 
Adirondack region on aquatic resources, particularly lakes and ponds that support 
recreational fishing, and on commercial timber resources. 

Uncertainty analyses are also conducted at each phase of the analyses.  Where applicable, 
we present the results of a series of quantitative uncertainty analyses that test the effect of 
alternative methods, models, or assumptions that differ from those we used to derive the 
primary net benefit estimate.  The primary estimate of net benefits and the range around 
this estimate, however, reflect our current interpretation of the available literature; our 
judgments regarding the best available data, models, and modeling methodologies; and 
the assumptions we consider most appropriate to adopt in the face of important 
uncertainties. 

Finally, throughout the report, at the end of each chapter, we discuss the major sources of 
uncertainty for each analytic step.  Although the impact of many of these uncertainties 
cannot be quantified, we qualitatively characterize the magnitude of effect on our net 
benefit results by assigning one of two classifications to each source of uncertainty:  
potentially major factors could, in our estimation, have effects of greater than five percent 
of the total net benefits; and probably minor factors likely have effects less than five 
percent of total net benefits.    

The Second Prospective involved a much greater effort in uncertainty analyses than prior 
reports in this series.  Figure 1-3 illustrates the Project Team’s approach to uncertainty 
analysis in the Second Prospective, superimposed on the overall analytic chain for the 
study presented above.  The grey box in Figure 1-3 represents the extent of uncertainty 
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analysis in the first section 812 prospective analysis, which was largely limited to 
analysis of parameter uncertainty in the concentration-response and valuation steps of the 
benefits analyses.  Those parameter uncertainty analyses have become standard practice 
in EPA analyses of air pollution program benefits, and are an integral part of the 
BenMAP benefits assessment tool.  The results of the probabilistic modeling of these 
uncertainties constitute the “primary low” and “primary high” estimates presented in 
Table 5-7 in Chapter 5 as well as in Chapter 7. 

Enhancements employed in the current analysis include both “online” analyses (shown in 
color), that feed information on uncertainty into the analytical chain at various points and 
propagate it through the remaining steps in the chain, and separate “offline” analyses and 
research that provide insights into the uncertainty, sensitivity, and robustness of results to 
alternative assumptions that are currently most easily modeled outside the main analytical 
process. 

The online analyses consist of the selection of alternative inputs for mortality 
concentration-response and valuation in BenMAP, as well as an analysis of the effect on 
benefits of sector specific, marginal changes in PM-related emissions from the core 
scenarios.  This online analysis substitutes EPA’s Response Surface Model (RSM) for 
CMAQ.  RSM is a less resource intensive meta-model of CMAQ used to rapidly 
approximate PM concentrations from alternative emissions inputs.  Those analyses are 
described in much greater detail in the supporting uncertainty analysis report, referenced 
at the end of this chapter. 

The bottom box in Figure 1-3 lists additional offline research and analysis we 
incorporated into the current study.  As with the online analyses, these analyses were 
chosen because they address uncertainty in key analytical elements or choices that may 
significantly influence benefit or cost estimates.  Most of these are described in this 
integrated report, some only briefly, but full descriptions of the data, models, and 
methods applied in these analyses are included in the underlying uncertainty analysis 
report. 
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REVIEW PROCESS 
 

The 1990 CAA Amendments established a requirement that EPA consult with an outside 
panel of experts during the development and interpretation of the 812 studies.  This panel 
of experts was originally organized in 1991 under the auspices of EPA’s Science 
Advisory Board (SAB) as the Advisory Council on Clean Air Compliance Analysis 
(hereafter, the Council).   Organizing the review committee under the SAB ensured that 
highly qualified experts would review the section 812 studies in an objective, rigorous, 
and publicly open manner consistent with the requirements and procedures of the Federal 
Advisory Committee Act (FACA).  Council review of the present study began in 2003 
with a review of the analytical design plan.  Since the initial meetings, the Council and its 
subcommittees have met many times to review proposed data, proposed methodologies, 
and interim results.  While the full Council retains overall review responsibility for the 
section 812 studies, some specific issues concerning physical effects and air quality 
modeling were referred to subcommittees comprised of both Council members and 
members of other SAB committees.  The Council's Health Effects Subcommittee (HES), 
Air Quality Modeling Subcommittee (AQMS), and Ecological Effects Subcommittee 
(EES) held both in-person and teleconference meetings to review methodology proposals 
and modeling results and conveyed their findings and recommendations to the parent 
Council.  

REPORT ORGANIZATION  
 

The remainder of the main text of this report summarizes the key methodologies and 
findings of our prospective study.   

Chapter 2 summarizes emissions modeling and provides important additional detail 
on design of the regulatory scenarios. 

Chapter 3 discusses the direct cost estimation. 

Chapter 4 presents the air quality modeling methodology and results.  

Chapter 5 describes the approaches used and principal results obtained through the 
human health effects estimation and valuation processes. 

Chapter 6 summarizes the ecological and other welfare effects analyses, including 
assessments of commercial timber, agriculture, visibility, and other categories of 
effects. 

Chapter 7 presents aggregated results of the cost and benefit estimates and describes 
and evaluates important uncertainties in the results. 

Chapter 8 presents estimates of the effect of the Clean Air Act Amendments on 
economic growth, productivity, prices, household economic welfare, and the overall 
economy of the United States, through the application of an economy-wide 
economic simulation model. 
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Note that additional details regarding the methodologies and results of this study can be 
found in a series of supporting reports, available at EPA’s Section 812 website 
(www.epa.gov/oar/sect812).  These reports include the following: 

Emission Projections for the Clean Air Act Second Section 812 Prospective 
Analysis. 

Direct Cost Estimates for the Clean Air Act Second Section 812 Prospective 
Analysis. 

Memorandum to the Files Re Documentation of Second Prospective Study Air 
Quality Modeling. 

Health and Welfare Benefits Analyses to Support the Second Section 812 Benefit-
Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act. 

Effects of Air Pollutants on Ecological Resources: Literature Review and Case 
Studies. 

Section 812 Prospective Study of the Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act: Air 
Toxics Case Study – Health Benefits of Benzene Reductions in Houston, 1990-2020.  

Uncertainty Analyses to Support the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the 
Clean Air Act. 
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OVERVIEW OF APPROACH 

For four out of the five major source categories described in this report—all except 
electric generating units—we applied the following general method to estimate 
emissions: 

1. Select a "base" inventory for a specific year.  This involves selection of an 
historical year inventory from which projections will be based. 

2. Select activity factors to project growth in the level of pollution-generating 
activity in the target years.  The activity factors should provide the best 
possible means for representing future air pollutant emissions levels in the 
absence of controls. 

3. Develop a database of scenario-specific emissions control factors, to 
represent emissions control efficiencies under the two scenarios of interest.  
The control factors are "layered on" to the projected emissions levels absent 
controls to estimate future emissions levels, taking into account those 
controls required for CAAA compliance . 

Air pollutant emissions for the fifth category, EGUs, were estimated by application of the 
Integrated Planning Model (IPM), a model developed by ICF Consulting.  IPM estimates 
EGU emissions in the 48 contiguous states and the District of Columbia through an 
optimization procedure that considers costs of electricity generation, costs of pollution 
control, and external projections of electricity demand to forecast the fuel choice, 
pollution control method, and generation for each unit considered in the model.  We used 
IPM to estimate EGU emissions in both the with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios for 
2000, 2010, and 2020.   

SELECTION OF BASE YEAR INVENTORY 

The without-CAAA scenario emission projections are made from a 1990 base year, while 
the with-CAAA scenario emission projections use a base year of 2000.  The logic for these 
base year inventory choices relates to the specific definitions of the scenarios themselves.  
The with-CAAA scenario tracks compliance with CAAA requirements over time; as a 
result, the best basis for projecting the with-CAAA scenario is a current emissions 
inventory that incorporates decisions made since 1990 to comply with the act.  The 
without-CAAA scenario, on the other hand, freezes the stringency of regulation at 1990 
levels.  The analysis therefore uses 1990 emission rates as a base and adjusts those 
emissions to account for economic activity over time.  We determined that this method 
was less problematic than basing projections on a recent emissions inventory and trying 
to simulate the effect of removing CAAA emission controls currently in place.  Table 2-2 
summarizes the key databases that were used in this study to estimate emissions for 
historic years 1990 and 2000.  Note that, in some cases, we determined that the best 
representation for year 2000 emissions was actually a later year, either 2002 or 2001.  
Those decisions are explained below.    
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2000 and in 2002.  To estimate with-CAAA EGU emissions, we used data from a 
modified version of IPM that retrospectively modeled emissions for the year 2001.8 

The project team estimated 1990 and 2000 emissions for the onroad and nonroad 
vehicle/engine sectors independently using consistent modeling approaches and activity 
estimates.  For example, emission factors from EPA’s MOBILE6.2 model were used 
together with data from the 1990 and 2000 NEI vehicle miles traveled (VMT) databases 
to estimate onroad vehicle emissions for 1990 and 2000.  Similarly, EPA’s NONROAD 
2004 model was used to estimate 1990 and 2000 emissions for nonroad vehicles/engines. 

SELECTION OF ACTIVITY FACTORS FOR PROJECTIONS 

After specifying base year emissions, we projected emissions to 2000 (for the without-
CAAA scenario), 2010, and 2020.  To model emissions in the absence of controls, our 
general approach was to multiply an emission factor – derived from base year emissions 
estimates – by the level of emission-generating activity upon which the emission factor is 
based.  These emission-generating activities vary by source category, but they are 
generally related to economic activity, such as transportation, energy consumption, and 
industrial output.  Specifically, economic growth projections entered the emissions 
analysis in three places: 

 an electricity demand forecast (included in IPM);  

 a fuel consumption forecast for non-utility sectors; and  

 economic growth projections that serve as activity drivers for several other 
sources of air pollutants. 

For this analysis, we used fully integrated economic growth, energy demand, and fuel 
price projections to model economic growth in both the with-CAAA and the without-
CAAA scenarios.  The primary advantage of this approach is that it allowed us to conduct 
an internally consistent analysis of economic growth across all emitting sectors.  To 
implement this integrated approach, we chose the Department of Energy’s National 
Energy Modeling System (NEMS), which is used to produce DOE’s Annual Energy 
Outlook (AEO) projections.  Our emissions estimates primarily rely on AEO’s 2005 
“reference case” scenarios.  We supplemented these projections with additional forecasts 
from other data sources for emissions sources where we determined that AEO’s energy 
and socioeconomic forecasts would not adequately represent growth in emissions-
generating activities.9  Table 2-3 presents the values that we used for the AEO 2005 
projections for population, GDP, energy consumption, and oil price values in 2010 and 
2020.  For reference, the table also presents the historical values for each variable in 

                                                      
8 Due to resource constraints and model limitations, we relied primarily on a validation analysis EPA conducted on 2001 

emissions, rather than developing a new analysis for the year 2000. 

9 These emissions sources include agricultural production-crops, fertilizer application, and nitrogen solutions; agricultural 

tilling; animal husbandry; aircraft; forest wildfires; prescribed burning for forest management; residential wood fireplaces 

and wood stoves; and unpaved roads. 
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 Additional EGU regulations, such as the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR), the 
Clean Air Mercury Rule (CAMR), and the Clean Air Visibility Rule (CAVR).   

As a general rule, we incorporated the effects of CAAA rules promulgated through 
September 2005.11  As such, we did not account for the impacts of rules promulgated 
after that date, such as the revised NAAQS for lead.  Additionally, we modeled 
reductions from rules that have since been vacated, like the Clean Air Mercury Rule 
(CAMR) and the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR), though CAIR has since been 
remanded.  Rather than attempting to estimate the impacts of whatever rules might 
replace CAMR and CAIR, we modeled the rules as promulgated because that was the 
best information available when we made analytic commitments. 

A full list of the CAAA programs modeled for each source category is presented in Table 
2-4, together with the pollutants targeted by each program.  For each source category, we 
identified factors to use in modeling the effect of emission controls required by the 
CAAA.  For EGUs, onroad motor vehicles, and nonroad engines/vehicles, we used 
control factors included in the three EPA models we used to estimate base year 
emissions: IPM, MOBILE, and NONROAD, respectively.  For non-EGU industrial point 
sources and area sources, we relied on control factors developed by the five Regional 
Planning Organizations funded by EPA to address regional air pollution issues, as well as 
factors developed by the California Air Resources Board. 

                                                      
11 One exception is the Coke Ovens Residual Risk rulemaking, promulgated under Title III of the Act in March 2005. We 

omitted this rule because it has a very small impact on criteria pollutant emissions (less than 10 tons per year VOCs) 

relative to the with-CAAA scenario. The primary Maximum Achievable Control Technology (MACT) rule for coke oven 

emissions, however, involves much larger reductions and therefore is included in the with-CAAA scenario.  In addition, we 

also modeled emissions reductions from local controls implemented to comply with the 8-hour Ozone NAAQS, the PM2 5 

NAAQS, and the Clean Air Visibility Rule, using the proposed or promulgated forms of these rules as of January 2008. 
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EMISSIONS ESTIMATION RESULTS 

Table 2-5 summarizes the national emission estimates by pollutant for each of the 
scenario years evaluated in this study: 2000, 2010, and 2020.  As a reference, the table 
also presents total emissions for each pollutant in 1990.  Figures 2-1 through 2-4 provide 
a detailed breakdown of the emissions reductions in each target year by source category 
for NOx, VOC, SO2, and primary PM2 5.  We show the breakdown of emissions 
reductions by source category for these pollutants because they constitute (or are 
precursors of) the two main air quality impacts that drive the analysis of the benefits of 
the CAAA: ozone and particulate matter pollution.  The table and figures also incorporate 
our estimates of emissions reductions from local controls required to meet attainment 
requirements for 8-hour ozone and PM2 5 national ambient air quality standards 
(NAAQS).  Reductions needed for compliance, but for which we have not identified a 
specific pollutant reducing measure or sector to achieve the reduction, are incorporated in 
Table 2-5 and are presented as a separate category in Figures 2-1 through 2-4, labeled 
“unidentified measures.” 

For five of the pollutants examined—NOx, SO2, PM10, PM2 5, and NH3—we estimate that 
emissions in the absence of the amendments would increase steadily from 1990 through 
2000, 2010, and 2020, suggesting that emissions controls in place by 1990 would not be 
sufficient to prevent increases in pollutant emissions due to projected growth in economic 
activity.  For the remaining two pollutants—VOC and CO—emissions decrease between 
1990 and 2000 as a result of automobile tailpipe controls enacted prior to 1990, but which 
have delayed effects through the 1990s, before increasing from 2000 onward.   

In the with-CAAA scenario, we estimate that emissions of SO2 and NOx will decrease 
steadily from 1990 to 2020, while emissions of VOC, CO, PM10, and PM2 5 will decrease 
from 1990 to 2010 before leveling off between 2010 and 2020.  We also estimate that 
emissions of NH3 will increase even in the presence of CAAA regulations, though at a 
slightly slower pace than in the without-CAAA scenario.  NH3 is not a specific target of 
CAAA regulations, but some reductions result from efforts to control other pollutants.  
The net result of these trends in the two scenarios is that we estimate that emissions 
reductions, relative to the without-CAAA scenario, will increase for all pollutants 
throughout the 2000 to 2020 period.   

As Figure 2-1 shows, we estimate that reductions in NOx emissions will increase 
substantially from 2000 to 2010 and from 2010 to 2020.  All five major source categories 
contribute to these reductions in 2010 and 2020, though the largest reductions come from 
EGUs and on-road motor vehicles.  Reductions in NOx emissions from EGUs are driven 
largely by cap-and-trade programs, such as Phase II of the Ozone Transport Commission 
memorandum of understanding and the Clean Air Interstate Rule.12  In the motor vehicle 
sector, the large reductions in NOx emissions in 2010 and 2020 reflect both the delayed 

                                                      
12 Under Phase II of the OTC memorandum of understanding, eleven eastern states committed themselves to achieving 

regional reductions in NOx emissions through a cap-and-trade system similar to the SO2 trading program established under 

Title IV of the amendments. 
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impact of Tier 1 NOx tailpipe standards as well as the impact of Tier 2 standards, which 
went into effect in 2004. 

Figure 2-2 shows increasing VOC emissions reductions from 2000 to 2020, with 
contributions from all source categories, with the exception of EGUs.  The figure also 
shows a marked increase in on-road and nonroad emissions reductions between 2000 and 
2010, reflecting both the delayed impact of Tier 1 VOC standards and the effect of low-
sulfur gasoline regulations.  Additionally, about half of the rules affecting nonroad 
sources came into effect between 2000 and 2010, explaining the increase in emissions 
reductions during that time.  Area sources also show large emissions reductions across all 
three target years, driven primarily by regulations controlling evaporative emissions from 
solvents, though residential fireplace and woodstove emissions are also projected to 
decline as obsolete woodstoves are replaced with low-emitting models required by the 
CAAA.13   

In Figure 2-3, SO2 emissions reductions increase by more than 60 percent between 2000 
and 2010, with a smaller increase between 2010 and 2020.  Most reductions in SO2 
emissions in all three target years come from EGUs, with smaller contributions from non-
EGU point sources and area sources as well.  As with reductions in NOx emissions, the 
CAIR and the Title IV cap and trade program are partly responsible for SO2 reductions 
from EGUs, along with the revised PM2 5 NAAQS. 

Figure 2-4 presents reductions in PM2 5 emissions for the three target years, with a steady 
increase in reductions from 2000 through 2020, as PM2 5 NAAQS requirements ramp up.  
Reductions in primary fine particulate emissions are expected to come from area sources, 
nonroad and onroad vehicles, and EGUs.  Reductions from area sources are driven 
largely by the replacement of obsolete residential fireplaces and wood stoves, as well as 
local controls on construction sites for PM NAAQS compliance.  As noted above, we set 
PM2 5 emissions at non-EGU industrial point sources in the without-CAAA scenario to be 
equal to emissions in the with-CAAA scenario, so we do not estimate that there will be 
any significant direct PM2 5 emissions reductions from that source category.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
13 As noted earlier in this chapter, the woodstove NSPS was interpreted as part of the differential between the with- and 

without-CAAA scenarios.  NSPS compliance is required only for new units, which in practice are replaced very slowly.  We 

estimate that, almost 20 years after NSPS implementation, in 2010, about 70 percent of the wood stoves in use are pre-

NSPS uncertified models; by 2020, we estimate that turnover will reduce non-certified unit usage to just under 65 percent. 
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COMPARISON OF EMISSIONS ESTIMATES WITH THE FIRST PROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS 

DIFFERENCES IN METHODOLOGY 

In comparison with the First Prospective 812 Analysis, the Second Prospective includes a 
number of refinements and improvements in emissions estimation methods, as well as a 
different set of regulatory assumptions. 

1. Updated Emissions and Economic Activity Data: Because the Second Prospective 
analysis was developed ten years after the First Prospective, it incorporates 
additional information that was not available when the First Prospective was 
developed.  This information includes with-CAAA emissions estimates for the 
historical year 2000 as well as additional historical trend data used to project 
economic activity from 1990 to 2000. 

2. Additional Regulatory Requirements: The Second Prospective Analysis accounts 
for several major CAA regulations that were not yet promulgated in 1996, when 
decisions were made about which regulations to include in the First Prospective.  
These regulations include, but are not limited to, the Clean Air Interstate Rule 
(CAIR); the Clean Air Visibility Rule (CAVR); Tier II vehicle rules and heavy-
duty diesel vehicle rules, and the local controls required for the revised 8-hour 
ozone and PM2 5 NAAQS.  Because of this difference, the Second Prospective 
Analysis models greater emissions reductions in 2000 and 2010 than were 
predicted in the First Prospective, as we discuss in the following section. 

3. Integrated Economic Modeling Approach: In the First Prospective Analysis, we 
relied on a number of modeling tools to project future emissions, including 
projections of economic activity and population growth from the Bureau of 
Economic Analysis, and vehicle miles traveled from EPA’s MOBILE fuel 
consumption model.  By using fully-integrated economic growth, energy 
demand, and fuel price projections from DOE’s AEO 2005, we were able to 
achieve a greater degree of internal consistency in the Second Prospective 
Analysis.   

DIFFERENCES IN EMISSIONS RESULTS 

Figures 2-5 and 2-6 show estimates from the First and Second Prospective Analyses of 
cumulative criteria pollutant emissions and emissions reductions for 2000 and 2010, the 
two years that were modeled in both analyses.  The figures present emissions data for the 
four pollutants presented in Figures 2-1 through 2-4: VOC, NOx, SO2, and primary PM2 5.  
As Figure 2-5 shows, the Second Prospective Analysis estimates slightly higher 2000 
emissions in the without-CAAA scenario, and slightly lower emissions in the with-CAAA 
scenario.  VOC and primary PM2 5 emissions estimates are approximately the same in 
both analyses, but the Second Prospective estimates reductions in combined emissions of 
NOx and SO2 of about three million tons more than in the First Prospective.  As noted 
above, most of the difference in SO2 emissions reductions is attributable to SO2 controls 
from CAIR, but there are also substantial additional reductions attributable to reduced 
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without-CAAA scenario using an alternative counterfactual approach based on work done 
by Dr. A. Denny Ellerman of Massachusetts Institute of Technology.15  The with-CAAA 
results using the alternative EGU data appear very similar to the results using the IPM 
EGU data, but air quality difference maps indicate that overall PM2 5  exposures are 
slightly lower using the CEM data for the with-CAAA scenario in 2000, and PM2 5  
exposures are substantially higher using the data derived using the Ellerman 
counterfactual method for the without-CAAA scenario compared to the corresponding 
core scenarios.   

These exposure differences carry over into benefits calculations.  The health benefits of 
the CAAA in 2000 arrived at using the alternative EGU emissions are approximately 50 
percent greater than the benefits in the 2000 core scenario.  For the alternative EGU 
emissions scenarios, the substantial, 50 percent difference in air quality outcomes and 
benefits results appears to be derived from our construction of a substantially different 
without-CAAA scenario.  The original motivation of the analysis was concern that the 
spatial pattern of emissions for the with-CAAA scenario for 2000 predicted by an IPM run 
for a historical year differed from the spatial pattern observed in the emissions monitor 
data for the same year.  The analysis illustrated that the difference in benefits results is 
instead due primarily to differences in the without-CAAA scenario among the two 
alternative scenario specifications.  Not surprisingly, uncertainty in estimating a 
counterfactual scenario is much larger than uncertainty in estimating the factual case, at 
least for the EGU sector. 

UNCERTAINTIES  RELATED TO GROWTH FACTORS 

When projecting future growth in economic activity, even the most thorough projection 
model must tolerate a high amount of uncertainty.  The factors we used to model growth 
in this analysis reflect uncertainty both in the economic activity forecasted and in how 
this activity translates into emissions of criteria pollutants.  For example, because the 
AEO 2005 economic growth projection predates the recent economic downtown, it is 
possible that we overestimate emissions in both the with-CAAA and without-CAAA 
scenarios.  However, because we use the same growth factors to project emissions under 
the with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios, this source of uncertainty probably has a 
minor effect on our overall net benefits estimates.  In addition, we considered projecting 
emissions under high-growth and low-growth AEO projection scenarios, but we did not 
find sufficient variation in our conclusions to justify such an analysis.  For these reasons, 
we do not believe this is a significant factor in our results. 

                                                      
15 Dr. A. Denny Ellerman’s approach relies on multiplying a “baseline” pre-Title IV emissions rate by 2001 CEM heat input 

observations for each electric generating unit. 
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Similarly, our projected emissions from on-road motor vehicles are based on vehicle fleet 
compositions included in the MOBILE6.2 model.  Any change in fuel prices that might 
cause a shift away from low-fuel-efficiency vehicles could cause us to overestimate 
emissions from this sector.  However, we expect that the impact of this uncertainty on our 
estimate of net benefits is minor.  

UNCERTAINTIES  RELATED TO EMISSIONS CONTROL MODELING 

When modeling the with-CAAA scenario, we incorporated the effects of rules 
promulgated through September 2005.  Accordingly, we did not fully account for rules 
promulgated since that time, such as the revised NAAQS for lead, and we modeled 
reductions from rules that have since been vacated, like the Clean Air Mercury Rule 
(CAMR) and the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR), though CAIR has since been 
remanded.  We estimated that CAMR would have only a modest impact on the pollutants 
we examined in this analysis, since mercury controls do not have large co-control benefits 
with other pollutants.  However, our analysis projects that CAIR would have a large 
impact on NOx and SO2 emissions at EGUs in 2010 and 2020.  Ultimately, a new rule 
will be promulgated to replace CAIR, and the emissions reductions, compliance costs, 
and locations of emissions reductions could all be different from what we modeled in this 
analysis.  As a result, it is unclear whether our analysis overestimates or underestimates 
the net benefits of CAAA provisions on EGU emissions. 

Estimates of emissions of volatile organic compounds are also a source of uncertainty 
because VOCs can be emitted through fuel combustion—like SO2 and NOx—as well as 
evaporation of volatile materials.  Because evaporation rates depend largely on 
temperature, our estimates of future VOC emissions are influenced by the inherent 
difficulty of predicting future temperatures.  The analysis uses projections of average 
daily minimum and maximum temperatures in order to predict average VOC emissions, 
but the resulting estimates do not adequately capture the variability of such emissions.  
The likely significance of this uncertainty, in terms of its impact on the overall net 
benefits estimated in this analysis, is probably minor. 

Our future-year control assumptions are also a source of uncertainty.  The flexibility 
allowed by the CAAA in achieving air quality standard target emission levels allows for 
emissions control schemes that may differ significantly from the controls modeled in this 
analysis.  This is particularly true in the case of reductions needed for NAAQS 
compliance for which we have not identified a specific sector target.  This analysis treats 
those reductions as if they come from area sources, but they could come from any of the 
five source categories we consider.  We are not able to determine the direction of any 
possible bias caused by this uncertainty, but we do not expect it to have a major effect on 
our net benefits estimate. 
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have a net impact on social welfare through interactions with labor markets and other 
areas of the economy.  Further discussion of the CGE modeling conducted to estimate the 
impacts of the CAAA on net social welfare is presented in Chapter 8. 

This chapter consists of four sections. The first section summarizes our approach to 
estimating direct compliance costs. In the second section we present the results of the cost 
analysis. In the third section, we discuss how cost estimates in the Second Prospective 
Analysis differ from those generated for the First Prospective Analysis.  We conclude the 
chapter with a discussion of the major analytic uncertainties, including a summary of the 
results of quantitative sensitivity tests of key data and assumptions.  

OVERVIEW OF APPROACH 

The scope of this analysis is to estimate the incremental direct costs for all criteria and 
hazardous air pollutant regulations issued under CAAA programs.  Our approach to 
estimating the direct costs of CAAA compliance is closely integrated with our estimates 
of emissions reductions attributable to the amendments.  In general, our analysis of 
compliance costs is driven by the results of our analysis of CAAA-related emissions 
reductions, and in some cases, costs and emissions reductions are measured concurrently.  
As with the emissions analysis presented in the previous chapter, we modeled CAAA 
compliance costs in 2000, 2010, and 2020 by comparing the costs of air pollution 
abatement in two scenarios:  

 An historical "with-CAAA" scenario control case that reflects expected or likely 
future measures implemented since 1990 to comply with rules promulgated 
through September 2005; and 

 A counterfactual “without-CAAA” scenario baseline case that freezes the scope 
and stringency of emissions controls at their 1990 levels, while allowing for 
changes in emissions attributable to economic and population growth.17 

In addition, we also estimated costs separately for five major source categories: utilities, 
or electricity generating units (EGUs); non-EGU industrial point sources; onroad motor 
vehicles; nonroad engines/vehicles; and area sources.  Table 2-1 gives examples of 
emissions sources for each of the six categories examined in this analysis.  Additionally, 
the cost analysis considers the costs of local controls required to achieve further progress 
with the 8-hour Ozone NAAQS and the PM2 5 NAAQS as a separate category.   Another 
difference between the emissions analysis and the direct cost analysis discussed in this 
chapter is that, whereas the emissions analysis considered emissions of six major criteria 
pollutants (VOCs, NOx, SO2, CO, PM10, and PM2 5) and one other pollutant which is not 
currently regulated under the CAAA in any form (NH3), the cost analysis addresses 
CAAA provisions issued to control emissions of both criteria pollutants and hazardous air 
pollutants (HAPs).18   

                                                      
17 A full list of the regulations incorporated in the with-CAAA scenario is presented in Table 2-3.   

18 Except to the extent they are co-controlled by VOC limits or other measures focused on criteria pollutants, reductions in 

emissions of hazardous air pollutants were omitted because our benefits analysis focuses on the effect of criteria 
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We estimated direct compliance costs in each source category using one of two 
approaches: 

1. Cost Estimates Based on Unit Costs – Costs were estimated by collecting 
information on the costs associated with specific control measures required by 
CAAA regulations, or costs were calculated using estimates of the average cost 
per ton of pollutant emission reduced. 

2. Cost Estimates Based on Optimization – Costs were estimated concurrently with 
emissions estimation through a cost minimizing algorithm that modeled 
attainment with specified emissions reduction targets.  This approach was used 
for electric generating units, for example, where costs and emissions outcomes 
are outputs of the Integrated Planning Model. 

COST ESTIMATES BASED ON UNIT COSTS 

To estimate the cost of compliance CAAA regulations for most source categories, we 
obtained unit costs of control devices and other measures from various sources.  For costs 
related to the 1-hour Ozone and PM10 National Ambient Air Quality Standards 
(NAAQS), we used cost data from EPA’s AirControlNET database.  AirControlNET 
links detailed data on control technologies and pollution prevention measures with EPA’s 
National Emissions Inventory (NEI) to compute the costs associated with source- and 
pollutant-specific emission reductions.  To calculate the cost of emissions controls on 
nonroad engines and vehicles, we multiplied unit cost estimates by estimates of 
vehicle/equipment sales and fuel consumption from the 2004 edition of EPA’s 
NONROAD model.  The NONROAD model was also used to estimate CAAA-related 
emissions reductions in this sector, and direct cost estimates were developed consistent 
with those results.  For these nonroad engine and fuel rules, as well as for controls 
required under other parts of the CAAA, we obtained unit cost estimates from EPA’s 
regulatory impact analyses (RIAs) as well as analyses commissioned by other 
organizations, such as the Ozone Transport Commission and the California Air Resources 
Board.  Additional details on the specific data sources used to estimate unit costs for each 
source category are provided in the Second Prospective Cost Report.19 

                                                                                                                                                 

pollutants.  Benefits of HAP emissions reductions are discussed in the context of a limited case study, however, in Chapter 5 

of this document.  In addition, no CAAA emissions control measures are currently targeted to control NH3 emissions, so no 

costs for NH3 control are included in our overall CAAA cost estimates. 

19 See the report, Direct Cost Estimates for the Clean Air Act Second Section 812 Prospective Analysis.  Available at 

www.epa.gov/oar/sect812. 
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COST ESTIMATES BASED ON OPTIMIZATION 

We estimated control costs for EGUs using EPA’s Integrated Planning Model (IPM), 
which determines the utility sector’s least-cost strategy for meeting energy and peak 
demand requirements over a specified period of time, accounting for CAAA-mandated 
emissions caps.  In the process of estimating the SO2 and NOx emissions that we 
discussed in the previous chapter, IPM also produced cost estimates for NOx, SO2, and 
mercury controls at EGUs. 

We also used a least-cost optimization process to estimate the costs of local controls 
required to achieve further progress toward and, ultimately, approximate attainment of 
the 8-hour Ozone NAAQS.  For each designated nonattainment area, we first modeled the 
application of reasonably available control technology (RACT) and inspection and 
maintenance (I/M) programs.  Then, in areas where further emission reductions were 
necessary, a least-cost algorithm was used to identify and apply the control measures to 
meet progress and attainment requirements.20   

Table 3-1 summarizes the cost estimation methods that we used for each source category, 
organized by major rules within each category. 

ADDITIONAL COST ESTIMATION CONSIDERATIONS 

In addition to the general cost estimation methods described above, we also considered 
additional factors when estimating CAAA compliance costs, such as how to account for 
cost savings from “learning by doing,” how to represent the annual costs of control 
measures requiring initial capital investment, and how to estimate the costs of required 
emissions reductions for which control measures have not yet been identified. 

Learning – A significant body of literature suggests that the per unit cost of producing or 
using a given technology declines as experience with that technology increases over 
time.21  The mechanism through which these reductions occur is not well understood, as 
decreases in costs may reflect several different effects, including returns to research and 
development, productivity spillovers from outside an industry, economies of scale, or 
efficiency improvements associated with increased experience with a given technology 
(i.e., learning-curve impacts).  Given the multitude of factors that may lead to cost 
reductions over time, it is unclear whether such reductions should be modeled as 
learning-curve effects or as some other form of technological change.  Nordhaus (2008) 
suggests that it is difficult to distinguish learning-curve effects from exogenous 

                                                      
20 For PM NAAQS compliance, an optimization approach was not possible, because target emissions reductions were not 

available for each non-attainment area.  Instead, we developed a model SIP for all PM nonattainment areas, and estimated 

costs for those measures in the model SIP for each nonattainment area. 

21 These studies include John M. Dutton and Annie Thomas, "Treating Progress Functions as a Managerial Opportunity," 

Academy of Management Review, 1984, Vol. 9, No. 2, 235-247; Dennis Epple, Linda Argote, and Rukmini Devadas, 

"Organizational Learning Curves: A Method for Investigating Intra-plant Transfer of Knowledge Acquired Through Learning by 

Doing," Organizational Science, Vol. 2, No. 1, February 1991; International Energy Agency, Experience Curves for Energy 

Technology Policy, 2000; and Paul L. Joskow and Nancy L. Rose, "The Effects of Technological Change, Experience, and 

Environmental Regulation on the Construction Cost of Coal-Burning Generating Units," RAND Journal of Economics, Vol. 16, 

Issue 1, 1-27, 1985. 
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Where possible, we based our learning curve adjustments on learning rates presented in 
the empirical literature.  For some sectors, however, empirical estimates of learning rates 
were not available.  We identified learning rate estimates for SO2 and NOx control 
technologies in the EGU sector and in the onroad vehicle sector, where we used learning 
rates for vehicle production to estimate the impact of learning on motor vehicle engine 
controls.  For other technologies and industries affected by the amendments, we applied a 
default learning rate of 10 percent, consistent with the recommendation of the Council 
that advised EPA on this study.22,23 

Cost Accounting – The costs presented in this analysis are expressed as total annualized 
costs (TAC) in 2000, 2010, and 2020.  Annualized costs include both operation and 
maintenance (O&M) costs and, for CAAA provisions that require investment in pollution 
control equipment, capital investment costs.  In order to make appropriate comparisons of 
costs in 2000, 2010, and 2020, we annualized these investment costs over the expected 
life of the control equipment, rather than assigning total capital investment costs to the 
year in which the investment is expected to be made.  We applied a discount rate of five 
percent to annualize capital costs over an estimated equipment life.24  These annualized 
capital costs, combined with the annual O&M costs for a given pollution control measure, 
make up the total annualized cost estimates that we present for the three target years.  
Because some control measures require more capital investment than others, the degree to 
which our discount rate assumption affects our cost estimates varies by source category.   

For CAAA-related rules that affect fuel economy, we also incorporate fuel savings or 
losses into our cost estimates.  Where possible, we estimate the value of these benefits or 
costs based on fuel price projections presented in the Energy Information 
Administration's Annual Energy Outlook 2005 (AEO 2005).  In addition, for rules that 
affect the fuel economy of an engine over a period of several years, we estimate these 
benefits or costs as the present value of the fuel economy impacts realized over the entire 
life of the engine. 

Local Controls for NAAQS Compliance – When estimating the costs of compliance with 
the 8-Hour Ozone and PM2 5 NAAQS, we first estimated the cost of applying known and 
commercially available control technologies in nonattainment areas.  We limited the 
application of these known controls to those with an estimated cost not exceeding 
$15,000 per ton for PM and ozone precursors (i.e., SO2, NOx, and VOCs).  The rationale 
for incorporating this threshold into the analysis is that controls more costly than $15,000 

                                                      
22 The Council recommended that we apply a default learning rate of 5 to 10 percent to sectors for which no empirical data 

are available.  We chose 10 percent as a default learning rate because this value is more consistent with the learning rates 

presented in the empirical literature than the low end of the Council's recommended range. 

23 The Project Team makes no learning curve adjustments for motor vehicle inspection and maintenance programs.  Because 

most states either run centralized inspection centers themselves or regulate the fees charged by decentralized inspection 

centers, it is unclear whether the learning curve impacts for I&M programs would be significant.   

24 Note that the discount rate we use to annualize capital investment costs is distinct from the discount rate used to 

calculate the total net present value of costs and benefits incurred through the full 1990 to 2020 study period.  The net 

present value of costs and benefits is examined separately in Chapter 7 where we compare total costs to total benefits. 
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per ton may not be cost effective.  Thus, local air quality agencies would seek reductions 
from other (unidentified) control measures.  This is roughly consistent with the practice 
of the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD 2006) in California, 
which attempts to identify viable alternatives for any control requirements with an 
estimated cost exceeding $16,500 per ton.  When costs are above this threshold, the 
SCAQMD also conducts more detailed cost-effectiveness and economic impact analyses 
of the controls. 

For areas projected to remain in nonattainment with the 8-Hour Ozone NAAQS with 
identified controls, we estimated the costs associated with reducing emissions using 
additional controls not yet identified.  To estimate the cost of these unidentified controls, 
we assumed that the cost of implementing these measures is $15,000 per ton of pollutant 
reduced, consistent with the cost threshold for identified controls. 

DIRECT COMPLIANCE COST RESULTS 

In this section we summarize the compliance cost analysis results by source category.  As 
noted above, the control measures included in this analysis are consistent with our 
assumptions in the emissions analysis and reflect any post-1990 regulations promulgated 
(or reasonably anticipated, such as controls to meet RFP requirements) after passage of 
the 1990 CAAA.  In general, the emissions analysis and this cost analysis reflect all of the 
regulations that were promulgated before September 2005.   Similar to the emissions 
projection analysis, regulations promulgated after September 2005 (e.g., the revised Lead 
NAAQS) are not reflected in this report, in an effort to make the costs and benefits 
analyses as consistent as possible.   

Table 3-2 summarizes the estimated costs of the CAAA by sector for the three analysis 
years: 2000, 2010 and 2020.  The table shows that the direct compliance costs in 2000 are 
estimated to be approximately $20 billion and that these costs are dominated by the costs 
of motor vehicle-related provisions of the CAAA as well as MACT standards and electric 
utility controls.  The major components of motor vehicle-related control costs in 2000 are 
for emission standards, fuel standards, and vehicle emission inspection programs in 
nonattainment areas.  Motor vehicle emissions standard costs in 2000 are primarily for 
low emission vehicle programs, Tier 1 tailpipe standards, and on-board diagnostics.  
Prominent motor vehicle fuel control programs in 2000 include Federal and California 
reformulated gasoline.  These two reformulated gasoline programs are focused primarily 
in serious, severe and extreme 1-hour ozone NAAQS nonattainment areas.  

Table 3-2 shows that the estimated costs of complying with 1990 CAAA provisions are 
expected to more than double between 2000 and 2010 as areas develop and implement 8-
hour ozone and PM2 5 NAAQS State Implementation Plans (SIPs).  One of the major 
components of CAAA compliance costs in 2010 is the estimated cost to achieve 
sufficient reductions of ozone precursor emissions to demonstrate 8-hour ozone NAAQS 
attainment.  As noted above, we estimated 8-hour ozone compliance costs in two phases: 
first, we estimated the cost of applying known and commercially available control 
technologies in nonattainment areas; second, we estimated the costs associated with 
additional emissions reductions required to reach NAAQS attainment using controls not 
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The growth in costs between 2000 and 2020 partially reflects population growth during 
this period and the corresponding increase in emissions-generating activity (e.g., 
increased vehicle miles traveled).  Normalized for population growth, annual costs 
increase from approximately $70 per capita in 2000 to $170 per capita in 2010 and $190 
per capita in 2020.  These results suggest that annual costs per capita grow by 
approximately 170 percent between 2000 and 2020, whereas annual costs (not normalized 
for population) grow by approximately 230 percent during this period. 

COMPARISON OF COST ESTIMATES WITH THE FIRST PROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS 

In many areas, cost estimation methods in the Second Prospective Analysis were identical 
to those in the First Prospective, even to the point of using the same unit costs (adjusted 
for inflation).  In general, the Second Prospective improves on the First Prospective by 
using more current cost estimates (where available) and more advanced least-cost 
optimization tools.  In addition, a major methodological innovation included in the 
Second Prospective is the adjustment of compliance costs to account for the learning 
curve effects of increased experience with pollution control measures. 

Figure 3-1 shows the estimated compliance costs in 2000 and 2010 from the First and 
Second Prospective Analyses, organized by source category.  Overall, the year 2000 cost 
estimate presented in Table 3-2 is considerably lower than the corresponding cost 
estimate in the First Prospective ($27.6 billion), while the 2010 cost estimate presented in 
Table 3-2 is higher than the corresponding First Prospective estimate ($37.8 billion).  
Costs for electric utilities and area sources are significantly lower than were estimated in 
the First Prospective.  The significant difference for utilities likely reflects differences in 
assumptions about the cost of obtaining low-sulfur coal from the Powder River Basin 
(PRB) in Wyoming.  Although the Project Team was aware of the downward trend in 
PRB coal costs when the First Prospective was completed, this effect was not fully 
addressed in the data and models available at the time of the First Prospective study.   

It is useful to note that the Second Prospective’s $1.37 billion estimate for EGU 
compliance cost in 2000, which represent the pre-CAIR Title IV program requirements, 
fits well within the range of costs estimated in a series of ex-post econometric studies of 
compliance cost, which yield results of costs in 2000 of $1 to $1.4 billion.25  In addition, 
the National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program‘s (NAPAP) 2005 assessment of the 
Clean Air Act Title IV requirements provides another basis for evaluating the 
reasonableness of the EGU cost estimates presented in this report (NSTC 2005).  The 
2005 NAPAP assessment summarizes the findings of several economic studies that 
estimated the cost of fully implementing the Title IV SO2 provisions.  According to 

                                                      
25 See, for example, A Denny Ellerman, 2003, "Ex Post Evaluation of Tradable Permits: The U.S. SO2 Cap-and-Trade Program," 

MIT Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research Working Paper number WP-2003-003, available at: 

web.mit.edu/ceepr/www/publications/workingpapers_2000_2004.html#2003.  Ellerman cites two papers for these 

estimates: Curtis P. Carlson, Dallas Burtraw, Maureen Cropper, and Karen Palmer, (2000) ”SO2 Control by Electric Utilities: 

What are the Gains from Trade?” Journal of Political Economy, 108 (6):1292-1326; and A. Denny Ellerman, Paul L. Joskow, 

Richard Schmalensee, Juan-Pablo Montero, and Elizabeth Bailey (2000). Markets for Clean Air: The U.S. Acid Rain Program. 

Cambridge University Press. 
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NAPAP, these studies estimate annual costs ranging from $1.2 billion to $2.3 billion for 
full implementation in 2010, but these estimates exclude the cost of CAIR, CAMR, and 
some other regulations that are part of the Second Prospective estimate for 2010.26   

Overall, the Second Prospective cost estimates for 2010 are higher than those estimated 
for the First Prospective mainly because many federal motor vehicle control programs not 
included in the First Prospective study with-CAAA scenario have been promulgated since 
the First Prospective was completed.  For the same reason, the Second Prospective cost 
estimates are also higher for motor vehicles in 2000, though to a lesser degree.  In 
addition, cost estimates in the current analysis are higher than in the First Prospective 
because they include the costs of meeting the 8 hour ozone, PM2 5 NAAQS and Clean Air 
Visibility Rule requirements in 2010.  In both 2000 and 2010, estimated costs at area 
sources are higher in the First Prospective than in the Second Prospective, by roughly a 
factor of three, even though estimated emissions reductions are roughly a factor of three 
greater in the Second Prospective.  This difference is due primarily to a much lower 
estimated cost per ton to reduce PM2 5 emissions in the Second Prospective – on average, 
cost per ton of PM2 5 reduced is approximately $2,000 in the Second Prospective, and was 
almost $20,000 in the First Prospective.  One reason for the reduction is that the controls 
in the Second Prospective are better targeted at fine particulate control - controls in the 
First Prospective were actually focused on sources of PM10, with PM2 5 emissions 
reductions as a co-benefit.  In addition, we have learned that pre-2002 NEI emissions 
estimates for PM2 5 were very uncertain, suggesting that perhaps the estimated PM2 5 
emissions reductions in the First Prospective were understated.     

                                                      
26 The NAPAP assessment cites a range of $1 billion to $2 billion, in year 2000 dollars.  Adjusting for inflation using the GDP 

deflator, this range increases to $1.2 billion to $2.3 billion in year 2006 dollars. 
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sectors for which we could not identify a rate in the empirical literature.  The results of 
these sensitivity tests on our 2020 cost estimates are presented in Table 3-3.27   

Local Controls Analysis – Unidentified Controls 

As indicated above, when estimating the cost of local controls required for further 
progress with the 8-hour Ozone and PM2 5 NAAQS, we used a cost cap of $15,000 per 
ton to estimate the costs of identified local controls and also applied a cost of $15,000 per 
ton to unidentified controls.  To assess the sensitivity of the local controls analysis to 
changes in these values, we estimated the costs of local controls based on a $10,000-per-
ton cost cap for identified controls and a $10,000-per-ton estimated cost for unidentified 
controls. As indicated in Table 3-3, this alternative approach would yield lower cost 
estimates for both identified local controls and unidentified measures. The estimated costs 
of identified controls decline when the $10,000 cap is applied because controls that cost 
between $10,000 and $15,000 per ton are not implemented. In addition, although the 
application of the $10,000 cost cap increases the emissions reductions to be achieved 
through unidentified controls (relative to when the $15,000 cost cap is used), reducing the 
cost of unidentified controls to $10,000 per ton more than offsets the costs associated 
with these additional emissions reductions.  Based on preliminary analyses conducted 
early in the development of the direct cost estimates, we found that in general higher 
thresholds do not change the emissions reductions to be achieved by unidentified 
controls, because few identified controls have a cost per ton higher than the $15,000 
threshold used in the analysis.  Accordingly, the major effect of increasing the cost cap 
would be to increase the estimated cost of reductions achieved by unidentified controls, 
whose cost is estimated based on the dollar per ton cap. 

Composition of Motor Vehicle Sales and Fleet Fuel Efficiency 

Our analysis of the costs associated with motor vehicle tailpipe and fuel rules is based on 
sales and fuel efficiency projections from the 2005 version of DOE’s Annual Energy 
Outlook.  Since the release of AEO 2005, however, fuel prices have been more volatile 
than in previous years, leading many consumers to shift to more fuel efficient vehicles, 
and the Department of Transportation revised the Federal Corporate Average Fuel 
Economy (CAFE) standards.  Given these developments, AEO 2008 projects that 
passenger cars will make up a greater portion of light-duty vehicle sales in 2010 and 2020 
than is projected by AEO 2005.  AEO 2008 also assumes that the light-duty vehicle fleet 
will be nearly 15 percent more fuel efficient relative to the projections in AEO 2005.  To 
assess the extent to which our cost estimates for the on-road sector would change under 
the alternative AEO 2008 assumptions, we estimated the cost of motor vehicle tailpipe 
and fuel rules for both the 2010 and 2020 target years based on the AEO 2008 data.  As 
indicated in Table 3-3, using AEO 2008 projections increases the estimated cost of motor 
vehicle tailpipe standards and reduces the estimated cost of motor vehicle fuel rules in 
2020.  Although the alternative estimated cost of fuel rules is about 9 percent less than the 

                                                      
27 We present sensitivity test results for 2020 estimates because the differences between the primary cost estimates and the 

alternative cost estimates discussed in this section are most pronounced in 2020. 
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primary estimate presented in Table 3-2, the reduction in estimated costs of both tailpipe 
and fuel CAAA motor vehicle programs in aggregate is more modest, at 3.6 percent.28 

Vehicle Inspection Failure Rate 

Our estimates of the repair costs associated with motor vehicle I&M programs employed 
program- and year-specific inspection failure rates derived from 2003 and 2004 data for 
Wisconsin I&M programs.  In its June 2007 review of the Draft Direct Cost Report, the 
Council noted that a 2001 National Research Council report referenced a failure rate 
about one-seventh the value derived from the Wisconsin data.29  To assess the sensitivity 
of the I&M cost analysis to the assumed failure rate for annual dynamometer-based 
programs, we developed alternative cost estimates for CAAA-mandated I&M programs 
based on the failure rate reported by the NRC.  We found that the estimated cost of these 
programs declined by more than 40 percent when the alternative failure rates were used in 
place of those supporting the Second Prospective Cost Report.   In addition, as indicated 
in Table 3-3, using these alternative values reduced total CAAA-related costs for the on-
road sector by about 12 percent in 2020.  This suggests that the cost estimates for the on-
road sector are fairly sensitive to the assumed failure rate for I&M programs, in light of 
the range of failure rates obtained from readily available data sources. 

Default Learning Rate 

As discussed above, we adjusted total program costs to account for “learning curve” 
impacts (i.e., the extent to which the costs of a technology decline as experience with that 
technology increases over time).  Wherever possible, we employed technology- or 
industry-specific learning rates obtained from the literature.  Where industry-specific 
learning rates were not readily available in the empirical literature, we applied a default 
rate of 10 percent to the following technologies: 

 Selective non-catalytic reduction at electric generating units (EGUs) (O&M costs 
only); 

 Activated carbon injection at EGUs; 

 Motor vehicle fuel rules; 

 Non-road engine and fuel rules; 

 Non-EGU point source controls; 

 Area source controls; and 

 Local controls: EGU, non-EGU point source, and area source. 

                                                      
28 Note that in both our central case estimates and in our sensitivity analysis for fleet composition, the same fleet 

composition is assumed in the with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios.  It is likely that, as compliance costs increase, the 

CAAA could have a significant effect on fleet composition, but our current analysis does not address that factor. 

29 Committee on Vehicle Emission Inspection and Maintenance Programs, Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, 

Transportation Research Board, National Research Council. Evaluating Vehicle Emissions Inspection and Maintenance 

Programs. 2001. 

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson





The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act fron 1990 to 2020 

 

3-15 

QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS OF KEY FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO UNCERTAINTY 

In addition to the uncertainties outlined above, we identified several other areas of 
uncertainty related to the direct compliance costs of the amendments that we did not 
address quantitatively.  These include the Project Team’s projections of economic 
activity, the impact of CAAA compliance on productivity, product quality degradation 
resulting from the CAAA, the influence of technological innovation on CAAA 
compliance costs, and the impact of input substitution on the costs of complying with the 
amendments. 

Economic Activity Projections: The cost of the amendments in 2010 and 2020 will 
depend in large part on the future size and composition of the U.S. economy.  If the AEO 
2005 economic growth projections used to estimate emissions reductions in 2010 and 
2020 underestimate or overestimate economic activity, we could likewise overestimate or 
underestimate the costs of CAAA compliance.  In addition, the particular composition of 
economic output in 2010 and 2020 may deviate from the AEO 2005 projections, which 
would also cause our cost projections to differ from the actual costs of the amendments. 

Industrial Productivity: As stated in the introduction to this chapter, our cost estimates 
represent the direct costs of the CAAA, i.e., the expected expenditures of regulated 
facilities to comply with the amendments.  Several peer-reviewed studies have suggested, 
however, that the direct costs of pollution control measures do not adequately represent 
the total costs of environmental protection, due to the effects of pollution abatement on 
industrial productivity.31  Although our cost estimates do not capture these productivity 
effects, the literature is not clear on the magnitude and direction of these effects.  While 
some studies have found that pollution control negatively affects productivity, others 
have found that the productivity impact is positive or ambiguous.32  

Effects of the CAAA on Product Quality: In addition to increasing the cost of producing 
goods and services, CAAA requirements may also affect product quality.  For example, 
motor vehicle emission control requirements may reduce the performance of automobiles, 
and changes in paint formulations (to reduce VOC emissions) may adversely affect how 
well paint adheres to unfinished surfaces.  On the other hand, changes in product quality 
may also have unquantified benefits – while we capture the fuel saving benefits of many 
motor vehicle engine changes, the benefits of low-VOC paint in improving indoor air 
quality and human health are not captured in our estimates.  As a result, product quality 

                                                      
31 Barbera, A.J. and McConnell, V.D. (1986) “Effects of Pollution Control on Industry Productivity: A Factor Demand 

Approach.” The Journal of Industrial Economics. Vol. XXXV, 161-172.   

Barbera, A.J. and McConnell, V.D. (1990) “The Impact of Environmental Regulations on Industry Productivity: Direct and 

Indirect Effects.” Journal of Environmental Economics and Management. Vol. 18, 50-65. 

Gray, W.B. and Shadbegian, R.J. (1994) “Pollution Abatement Costs, Regulation, and Plant-Level Productivity.” Center for 

Economic Studies. 

Morgenstern, R.D., Pizer, W.A., and Shih, J-S. (2001) “The Cost of Environmental Protection.” Review of Economics and 

Statistics Vol. 83, No. 4, 732-738.  (doi:10.1162/003465301753237812). 

32 Barbera and McConnell (1986) found a negative impact of pollution control on productivity, while Barbera and McConnell 

(1990) and Gray and Shadbegian (1994) found an ambiguous impact, and Morgenstern et al. (1998) found a positive impact. 
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effects may reduce the welfare of households that consume products affected by the 
CAAA, or they may improve welfare.  Households that substitute to other products due to 
CAAA-related quality changes (e.g., households that substitute from automobiles to light-
duty trucks due to CAAA requirements that affect the performance of automobiles more 
than light-duty trucks) may also experience welfare losses or gains, as they would have 
otherwise preferred the product(s) that they would have consumed in the absence of the 
CAAA but may, in the balance, experience previously unrecognized gains.  

Technological Innovation: The CAAA could serve as in impetus for technological 
innovation in the development of new, low-cost technologies or processes to reduce 
emissions.  As indicated above, our cost estimates reflect the impact of experience-driven 
improvements in the productivity of existing control technologies—by accounting for 
learning curve impacts—but not the impact of technological innovation.  Because we did 
not attempt to model technological innovation that might be spurred by incentives to 
minimize compliance costs, the Second Prospective Analysis may overestimate costs.  

Input Substitution: To minimize the cost of complying with the amendments, regulated 
facilities may alter the mix of inputs used in the production of goods and services.  With 
the exception of fuel switching by EGUs (as part of compliance with the Title IV Acid 
Rain Program and CAIR), we did not capture input substitution as a control strategy in 
the Second Prospective Cost Report.  Ignoring the possible impact of input substitution 
could also cause our estimates to overstate CAAA compliance costs.  

Table 3-4 lists the key sources of uncertainty noted in the quantitative and qualitative 
discussions above and indicates—where possible—the expected impact of the uncertainty 
on the net benefits estimate of the Second Prospective Analysis. 
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example; it forms in the atmosphere through a series of complex, non-linear chemical 
interactions of precursor pollutants, particularly certain classes of volatile organic 
compounds (VOCs) and nitrogen oxides (NOx).  We faced similar challenges when 
estimating PM concentrations.  Atmospheric transformation of gaseous sulfur dioxide and 
nitrogen oxides to particulate sulfates and nitrates, respectively, contributes significantly 
to ambient concentrations of fine particulate matter.  In addition to recognizing the 
complex atmospheric chemistry relevant for some pollutants, air quality modelers also 
must deal with uncertainties associated with variable meteorology and the spatial and 
temporal distribution of emissions.   

Air quality modelers and researchers have responded to the need for scientifically valid 
and reliable estimates of air quality changes by developing sophisticated atmospheric 
dispersion and transformation models.  Some of these models have been employed in 
support of the development of federal clean air programs, national assessment studies, 
State Implementation Plans (SIPs), and individual air toxic source risk assessments.  In 
this analysis, we focused our air quality modeling efforts on estimating the impact of 
with- and without-CAAA emissions on ambient concentrations of ozone, PM10, and 
PM2 5, as well as acid deposition and visibility for each of the target years: 2000, 2010, 
and 2020.  The focus on these pollutants is consistent with the result in the First 
Prospective that most of the quantified benefits of the CAAA are attributable to PM and 
ozone. The ideal model for this analysis is a single integrated air quality model capable of 
estimating ambient concentrations for all of these key pollutants throughout the U.S.  In 
the prior First Prospective study, such a model had not yet been sufficiently developed 
and tested.  This analysis is the first Section 812 prospective analysis to use an integrated 
modeling system, the Community Multiscale Air Quality (CMAQ) model, to simulate 
national and regional-scale pollutant concentrations and deposition. The CMAQ model 
(Byun and Ching, 1999) is a state-of-the-science, regional air quality modeling system 
that is designed to simulate the physical and chemical processes that govern the 
formation, transport, and deposition of gaseous and particulate species in the atmosphere.   

The emissions data were processed for input to the CMAQ modeling using the Sparse-
Matrix Operator Kernel Emissions (SMOKE) emissions processing system (CEP, 2004).  
The model-ready emission inventories for each scenario and year were then used to 
obtain base year and target year estimates of the key criteria pollutants, as well as many 
other species. The air quality modeling analysis was designed to make use of tools and 
databases that have recently been developed and evaluated by EPA for other national- 
and regional-scale air quality modeling studies. In particular, model-ready meteorological 
input files for 2002 were provided by EPA for use in this study. For fine particulate 
matter (PM2 5) and related species, the CMAQ model was applied for an annual 
simulation period (January through December). A 36-km resolution modeling domain 
that encompasses the contiguous 48 states was used for the annual modeling. For ozone 
and related species, the CMAQ model was applied for a five-month simulation period 
that captures the key ozone-season months of May through September. Two 12-km 
resolution modeling domains (that when combined cover the key, ozone-significant areas 
of the contiguous 48 U.S. states) were used for the ozone-season modeling. Altogether, 
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model-ready emission inventories were prepared and the CMAQ model was applied for a 
total of 21 simulations (comprising seven core scenarios and three modeling domains). 

The outputs from the CMAQ model provide the basis for the calculation of health and 
ecological benefits of the CAA. The airborne criteria pollutants of interest include ozone 
and fine particulate matter (PM2 5), where PM2 5 consists of particles less than 2.5 microns 
in diameter. For health benefits analysis, it has become standard EPA practice to calibrate 
the CMAQ results monitor data, rather than use the CMAQ results directly – the process 
is sometimes called, “monitor and model relative adjustment.”  We follow that approach 
in this analysis as well, applying a tool called the Modeled Attainment Test Software 
(MATS) to develop and apply the calibration factors for particulate matter results relative 
to nearby monitors.  For ozone, the MATS procedure is not necessary; instead we use an 
inverse distance squared weighting procedure called Enhanced Voronoi Neighbor 
Averaging (eVNA), which calibrates the CMAQ model ozone results by weighing data 
from monitors closer to the grid cell more heavily than monitors that are further away.  
The eVNA interpolation and model to monitor calibration process is accomplished within 
the BenMAP benefits analysis tool, which is described in Chapter 5.  Visibility is also an 
air quality parameter of interest and this was calculated using a variety of the CMAQ 
output species. In addition, deposition of nitrogen and sulfur was also extracted from the 
model outputs.  An overview of the modeling approach is provided in Figure 4-1, which 
summarizes the emissions processing and air quality components. The CMAQ modeling 
components and application of the MATS tool are explained in further detail in the next 
section. 

AIR QUALITY MODELING TOOLS DEPLOYED 

THE CMAQ MODELING SYSTEM 

The Community Multiscale Air Quality (CMAQ) model is a state-of-the-science, regional 
air quality modeling system that can be used to simulate the physical and chemical 
processes that govern the formation, transport, and deposition of gaseous and particulate 
species in the atmosphere (Byun and Ching, 1999). The CMAQ tool was designed to 
improve the understanding of air quality issues (including the physical and chemical 
processes that influence air quality) and to support the development of effective 
emissions control strategies on both the regional and local scale. The CMAQ model was 
designed as a “one-atmosphere” model and this concept refers to the ability of the model 
to dynamically simulate ozone, particulate matter, and other species in a single simulation 
which captures interaction effects among these pollutants. In addition to addressing a 
variety of pollutants, CMAQ can be applied to a variety of regions with varying 
geographical, land-use and emissions characteristics, and for a range of different space 
and time scales. 
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FIGURE 4-1.  SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM OF SECTION 812 AIR QUALITY MODELING ANALYSIS  
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The CMAQ model numerically simulates the physical processes that determine the 
magnitude, temporal variation and spatial distribution of the concentrations of ozone and 
particulate species in the atmosphere and the amount, timing, and distribution of their 
deposition to the earth’s surface. The simulation processes include advection, dispersion 
(or turbulent mixing), chemical transformation, cloud processes, and wet and dry 
deposition. The CMAQ science algorithms are described in detail in Byun and Ching 
(1999). 

The CMAQ model requires several different types of input files. Gridded, hourly 
emission inventories characterize the release of anthropogenic, biogenic and, in some 
cases, geogenic emissions from sources within the modeling domain. The emissions 
represent both low-level and elevated sources and a variety of source categories 
(including, for example, point, onroad mobile, nonroad mobile, area, and biogenic 
emissions). The amount, spatial distribution, and temporal distribution of each emitted 
pollutant or precursor species are key determinants to the resultant simulated air quality 
values. 

The CMAQ model also requires hourly, gridded input fields of several meteorological 
parameters including wind, temperature, mixing ratio, pressure, solar radiation, fractional 
cloud cover, cloud depth, and precipitation. A full list of the meteorological input 
parameters is given in Byun and Ching (1999). The meteorological input fields are 
typically prepared using a data-assimilating prognostic meteorological model, the output 
of which is processed for input to the CMAQ model using the Meteorology-Chemistry 
Interface Processor (MCIP). The prescribed meteorological conditions influence the 
transport, vertical mixing, and resulting distribution of the simulated pollutant 
concentrations. Particular meteorological parameters, such as mixing ratio, can also 
influence the simulated chemical reaction rates. Rainfall and near-surface meteorological 
characteristics govern the wet and dry deposition, respectively, of the simulated 
atmospheric constituents. 

Initial and boundary conditions (IC/BC) files provide information on pollutant 
concentrations throughout the domain for the first hour of the first day of the simulation, 
and along the lateral and top boundaries of the domain for each hour of the simulation. 
Photolysis rates and other chemistry related input files supply information needed by the 
gas-phase and particulate chemistry algorithms.33 

                                                      
33 The latest available version of CMAQ, version 4.6, was used for this study. This version of the model supports several 

different gas-phase chemical mechanism, particle treatment, aerosol deposition, and cloud treatment options. All 

simulations conducted as part of this study used the CB05 chemical mechanism. For particles, the AERO4 particle 

treatment, which includes sea salt, was applied. Finally, the plume-in-grid feature of CMAQ was not used for this study.  

More details are available in Second Prospective Analysis of Air Quality in the U.S.: Air Quality Modeling, available at 

www.epa.gov/oar/sect812  
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CMAQ APPLICATION PROCEDURES FOR THE SECOND PROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS 

This specific application of CMAQ includes modeling domain specification and key 
input files.  The three modeling domains that were used for this analysis are shown in 
Figure 4-2. 

FIGURE 4-2.  CMAQ MODELING DOMAINS FOR THE 812 MODELING STUDY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: CONUS IS  THE CONTINENTAL US GRID USED FOR PM MODELING; WUS IS  THE 

WESTERN US GRID AND EUS IS  THE EASTERN US GRID USED FOR OZONE MODELING. 

 

The 36-km resolution continental U.S. (CONUS) domain is the large area that is covered 
by the outer grid box in Figure 4-2. The CONUS domain includes 148 x 112 grid cells 
(the total number of cells is 16,576). The tick marks denote the 36-km grid cells. For this 
domain, the model was run for the entire 2002 calendar year, using 2002 meteorology but 
varying the emissions inputs as outlined in each of the Second Prospective scenarios 
listed in Figure 4-1. In running the model, the annual simulation period was divided into 
two parts covering January through June and July through December, respectively. Each 
part of the simulation also includes an additional five start-up simulation days, which are 
intended to reduce the influence of uncertainties in the initial conditions on the simulation 
results. 

The Eastern U.S. (EUS) domain is comprised of 213 x 188 grid cells (total = 40,044 
cells) and the Western U.S. (WUS) domain includes 213 by 192 grid cells (total = 40,896 
cells). Together these two domains cover most of the continental U.S. with 12-km 
horizontal resolution. There is some overlap in the central part of the country. For both 
the EUS and WUS domains, the CMAQ model was run for the months of May through 
September. This five-month period is intended to represent the ozone season – runs using 
this domain provide the ozone inputs for subsequent steps of the analysis.  The seasonal 
simulation period was also divided into two parts covering May and June and July 
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through September, respectively. Each part of the simulation also includes an additional 
ten start-up simulation days. 

The 36- and 12-km resolution meteorological input files to support modeling in these 
domains were prepared using the Pennsylvania State University/National Center for 
Atmospheric Research (PSU/NCAR) Fifth Generation Mesoscale Model (MM5). The 
MM5 outputs were postprocessed by EPA for input to CMAQ using the Meteorology-
Chemistry Interface Processor (MCIP) program. The meteorological input preparation 
methodology and some information on MM5 model performance are provided by 
Dolwick et al. (2007). Existing initial condition, boundary condition, land-use and 
photolysis rate input files prepared by EPA for use in CMAQ modeling for the selected 
modeling domains and simulation period were used. 

After the initial CMAQ results were generated, the original primary PM emissions 
estimates generated for area and non-EGU point sources were found to be inaccurate due 
to two issues:  

1) As described in Chapter 2, some of the fine particulate emissions estimates 
derived from the 1990 NEI, on which the without-CAAA emissions estimates 
were based, were discovered to be inconsistent with those from the 2002 NEI, on 
which the with-CAAA emissions estimates were based.    

2) The original emissions estimates did not include application of transport factors 
for area source fine particulate emissions.  These transport factors are county-
specific adjustment factors that are applied to specific types of emissions 
estimates to account for the fact that only a fraction of total fugitive dust 
emissions remain airborne and are available for transport away from the vicinity 
of the source after localized removal (i.e., some of the particles are captured by 
the local vegetation or other surface obstructions).    

To correct these two errors, we first made the necessary adjustments to the primary 
PM2.5 emissions estimates for the affected non-EGU point and area sources, focusing on 
the PM2.5 species that contribute most significantly to primary PM emissions: elemental 
carbon (EC), organic carbon (OC), and crustal material.  We then calculated species-
specific adjustment factors for the CMAQ data, re-compiled the species-specific 
estimates to generate an adjusted version of the original CMAQ results, and then 
generated new MATS input files. All details of the procedure are described in a 
memorandum prepared by the Project Team, which was reviewed in detail by the 
Council’s Air Quality Modeling Subcommittee.34 

                                                      
34

 Memorandum of June 14, 2010 to Jim DeMocker, EPA, from Tyra Walsh, Henry Roman, and Jim Neumann, Industrial 

Economics, Inc. (IEc), “Description of the Adjustment to the Primary Particulate Matter Emissions Estimates and the 

Modeled Attainment Test Software Analysis (MATS) Procedure for the 812 Second Prospective Analysis.” The memo is 

available at www.epa.gov/oar/sect812. 
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MATS PROCEDURE 

Rather than using the direct CMAQ results as the basis for the health and ecological 
effects analyses, the Project Team conducted additional analyses using a speciated 
monitor and model calibration technique to generate PM2 5 air quality estimates.  The 
PM2 5 estimates used in the Second Prospective health analysis were prepared using 
EPA’s Modeled Attainment Test Software (MATS, Version 2.1.1, Build 807). MATS 
estimates quarterly mean PM2 5 chemical component concentrations at monitor locations 
by conducting a Speciated Modeled Attainment Test (SMAT) analysis. MATS can also 
estimate quarterly mean concentration estimates for each PM2 5 chemical component 
concentrations at all grid cells in a grid model such as CMAQ.   

Five of the six MATS PM2 5 concentration estimates for the Second Prospective scenarios 
were prepared using the MATS’ spatial and temporal relative adjustment method.  The 
MATS estimates for the 2000 with-CAAA scenario, which represents a historical year for 
which monitor data are available, used a spatial only relative adjustment method, relying 
on available monitor data and a single year of CMAQ modeling.  The MATS procedure 
was not applied for the 1990 base year scenario.   

MATS estimates the PM2 5 concentrations in CMAQ grid cells by interpolating values 
from nearby monitors using the inverse distance squared weighting option in the Voronoi 
Neighbor Averaging (VNA) procedure in MATS.  This is an algorithm that identifies a 
set of monitors close to the grid cell (called “neighbors”) and then estimates the PM 
species concentration in that grid cell by calculating an inverse-distance weighted average 
of the monitor values (i.e., the concentration values at monitors closer to the grid cell are 
weighted more heavily than monitors that are further away).  As noted above, for 
calibrating ozone model results to nearby monitors, only the VNA component of the 
procedure is used, because there is no need for the speciated interpolation approach 
required for PM. 

The spatial MATS analysis conducted for the PM2 5 estimates used the following input 
information: 

 observed quarterly PM2 5 data from 1,232 Federal Reference Method (FRM) 
monitors with sufficient data in 2002 – sufficient data is defined as at least one 
quarter of PM2 5 data.  The year 2002 was used because it corresponds to the 
vintage of the emissions estimates, which, as described in Chapter 2, were 
derived from the 2002 National Emissions Inventory;  

 observed daily chemically speciated fine particle mass data from both the PM2 5 

Speciation  Trends Network (STN) and the Interagency Monitoring of Protected 
Visual Environments (IMPROVE) network, providing a total of 273 monitors 
with sufficient data in 200235; 

                                                      
35 Most FRM monitors (about 75 percent) are not co-located with a speciation monitor.   Therefore, we also used data 

providing speciated PM mass from the STN and IMPROVE monitors. The MATS analysis used speciated data from 273 STN or 

IMPROVE monitors with at least two valid quarters of speciated data in 2002. 
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 speciated CMAQ estimates for 6 PM2 5 species (SO4, NO3, elemental carbon, 
organic carbon, NH4, and crustal material) at the 36 kilometer PM2 5 CMAQ grid 
cell level for each of the Second Prospective scenarios (from CMAQ speciated 
output data files). 

The MATS procedure enables the use of monitor data to effectively calibrate the results 
of air quality modeling for use in subsequent steps of the analysis.  To illustrate the 
effects of the MATS procedure, compare Figure 4-3, which is a scatter plot comparing 
the direct CMAQ results for those 1,058 PM2 5 monitors with at least two quarters of data 
for 2002, and Figure 4-4, which is a similar scatter plot, comparing the MATS results to 
the same set of PM2 5 monitors.  The agreement between monitor and model values in 
Figure 4-4 is greatly improved by the MATS procedure. 

FIGURE 4-3.  SCATTER PLOT OF DIRECT CMAQ ESTIMATES AND 2002 PM2 . 5  FEDERAL REFERENCE 

METHOD (FRM) MONITORS 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4-5 provides a further illustration of the effect of the MATS procedure, and the 
importance of individual PM species in achieving an effective calibration of the CMAQ 
results to monitor data.  The figure provides detailed species-specific CMAQ and MATS 
results for a CMAQ grid cell in the three largest cities and metropolitan areas in the US – 
New York, Los Angeles, and Chicago – and for Tucson, Arizona, a much smaller city but 

CMAQ vrs 2002 FRM Monitors

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

2002 FRM Monitors (1,058 Monitors), PM2.5 annual mean (ug/m3)

C
M

A
Q

 2
00

0 
w

 C
A

A
A

 P
M

2.
5 

(a
n

n
u

al
 m

ea
n

, 
u

g
/m

3)

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act fron 1990 to 2020 

 

4-10 

one for which one component of PM, crustal (shown in brown), plays a critical role in our 
analysis.  For each city, the two leftmost bars provide the 2002 FRM and STN annual 
average PM2 5 monitor data for a monitor of that type within the grid cell.  FRM monitors 
provide only total PM2 5 mass, while the STN monitors provide data for the seven PM 
species (plus estimated water) indicated at the bottom of each graph.36  The remaining 12 
bars in each panel show the CMAQ and MATS-adjusted results for the grid cell for the 
with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios, for target years 2000, 2010, and 2020. 

FIGURE 4-4 SCATTER PLOT OF MATS-ADJUSTED CMAQ ESTIMATES AND 2002 PM2 . 5  FEDERAL 

REFERENCE METHOD (FRM) MONITORS 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
36 The STN bar charts include an estimated water component, which the MATS input monitor files include to make STN and 

IMPROVE monitor data consistent with FRM monitor data. The water component is not an STN component, but was 

estimated using the SANDWICH (Sulfates, Adjusted Nitrates, Derived Water, Inferred Carbonaceous mass, and estimated 

aerosol acidity (H+)) process. 
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shown in the next bar.  As a result, the species-specific constituents in the MATS 
adjusted bar are in very nearly the same proportion as they appear for the STN monitor.   

It would also appear from this figure that MATS “overcorrects” in Manhattan because the 
2000 with-CAAA MATS bar is lower than the 2002 STN monitor bar.  However, the 
MATS procedure is estimating the concentration at the center of the grid cell, not at the 
location of the STN monitor.  In a 36 km grid cell, the monitor location can be many 
kilometers away from the center of the grid cell.  MATS considers not only monitors in 
the same grid cell, but also the data at other nearby FRM and STN monitors, and makes a 
spatial interpolation to estimate concentrations at the grid centroid.  The Manhattan STN 
monitor is near the intersection of four grid cells, which contain a total of 25 FRM and 
STN monitors, all of which influence the MATS result. 

The remaining MATS estimates for Manhattan, for the 2000 without-CAAA and the 2010 
and 2020 projections, are based on scaling of the corresponding CMAQ simulation by the 
species-specific factors developed from the 2000 with-CAAA to 2002 STN monitor 
comparison.  The effect of MATS in Manhattan is to adjust the CMAQ simulation 
concentrations downward.  Interestingly, the opposite is generally true in Los Angeles, 
because in that city CMAQ tends to underestimate the monitor data for 2002.  The mix of 
species in both cities is similar in 2002, but strikingly different over time, particularly in 
the without-CAAA scenario, where organic carbon (shown in green) in Los Angeles 
derives from mobile sources, and sulfates (shown in yellow) in Manhattan derives from 
long-range transport from coal-burning electric generating units. 

In Chicago, the effect of MATS is more complex, and the importance of considering PM 
species is highlighted.  In the with-CAAA scenarios, MATS yields a downward 
adjustment to the CMAQ simulations, because the 2000 with-CAAA CMAQ simulation is 
higher than the 2002 STN monitor value.  In the without-CAAA scenarios, however, there 
are much higher emissions of organic carbon, because certain OC emissions controls are 
not in place in the without-CAAA simulations that are in place in the with-CAAA scenario.  
Because CMAQ underestimates the ambient OC component in the 2000 with-CAAA 
(shown in green), the factor for OC that is applied to other scenarios yields an increase in 
concentration in the MATS-adjusted values.  That increase is large enough to dominate 
the overall adjustment across all eight species, yielding an overall PM2 5 mass increase for 
the without-CAAA scenarios relative to the CMAQ data. 

The data for Tucson also illustrates the importance of the species-specific scaling factors.  
If it were not for changes to one PM species, crustal (shown in brown), there would be 
only a relatively modest difference between the with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios 
in future years.  In Tucson the crustal component derives largely from construction 
activity, which in this relatively fast growing area of Arizona, and absent more stringent 
dust control measures, could become a larger issue in the projection years.  CAAA 
controls on fugitive dust emissions in the construction sector, however, yield a substantial 
difference in this component of PM concentrations, when comparing the with-CAAA and 
without-CAAA scenario results.  Other species differ much less across scenarios.  In many 
other places like Tucson, the species-specific MATS procedure likely yields a more 
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accurate projection of the impact of the CAAA than a calibration procedure that did not 
take into account the impact of these species-specific control strategies. 

AIR QUALITY RESULTS 

PARTICULATE MATTER 

As mentioned above, the CMAQ modeling results for the 36-km continental U.S. 
(CONUS) modeling domain provide the basis for particulate matter air quality used in the 
calculation of PM-related health effects and to calculate visibility, as well as sulfur and 
nitrogen deposition.  Summary results are presented in the maps in Figure 4-6 below, 
representing annual average concentrations across the CONUS domain for each of the 
seven scenario/target year combinations modeled.   The rows of Figure 4-6 show modeled 
PM2 5 concentrations for 2000, 2010, and 2020, contrasting the without-CAAA results on 
the left and the with-CAAA results on the right.   

As the figure indicates, over the thirty-year 1990-2020 simulation period air quality is 
projected to worsen somewhat in the absence of CAAA regulations, particularly in the 
Midwest and California, but with CAAA regulations in place air quality is estimated to 
improve markedly as early as the year 2000 and to show continued improvements 
through 2020.  In general, the with-CAAA results reflect a calibration of the 2002 model 
year results to monitor values, but as the accompanying Box 4-1 illustrates, such direct 
comparisons are not possible for the counterfactual without-CAAA results.  We conclude 
for the analyses described in the text box that the without-CAAA results, with a few 
exceptions, seem to imply a return of air quality conditions comparable to those that 
prevailed in the 1980-1990 period prior to implementation of the CAAA.  Such 
comparisons are limited, however, by the sparse PM2 5 monitoring data for this period and 
the uncertainty in adjusting available monitor data for other species.  Although the 
improvements attributed to the CAAA are nationwide, the most substantial gains are 
made in those areas that had the worst PM air quality in 1990, suggesting the CAAA has 
been and will continue to be effective in targeting improvements to the areas that would 
have experienced the worst air quality in the absence of the amendments.   
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FIGURE 4-6.  CMAQ S IMULATED AND MATS ADJUSTED ANNUAL AVERAGE PM2 . 5  SPECIES  

CONCENTRATION (MICROGRAMS PER CUBIC METERS) FOR THE CONUS DOMAIN 

OUTPUTS FOR THE 1990 TO 2020 PERIOD 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4-7 makes the gains in 2020 more clear, by illustrating the differences in PM2 5 
concentrations between the with-CAAA and without-CAAA scenarios in 2020.  The gains 
in some areas, particularly in the eastern half of the US, in California, and in urban 
centers nationwide, are dramatic, with reductions of more than 20 µg/m3 in some areas.  
These are consistent with the large decreases in PM precursor emissions for those areas, 
described in Chapter 2.  In some of these areas, the without-CAAA scenario 
concentrations also reach high levels because of the absence of without-CAAA controls 
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(see accompanying text box for a discussion of the without-CAAA scenario).  There are 
also some surprisingly large reductions in a few less populous areas, such as, west central 
Idaho and central Virginia.  The reductions in Idaho, as well as in a few other isolated 
areas of the rural West, are associated with CAAA requirements to limit emissions from 
agricultural burning operations.  The reductions in central Virginia are attributable to 
local controls on a large coal-burning industrial boiler.   

FIGURE 4-7.  DIFFERENCE IN CMAQ S IMULATED MATS ADJUSTED ANNUAL AVERAGE PM 2 . 5  SPECIES 

CONCENTRATION (MICROGRAMS PER CUBIC METER) FOR THE CONUS DOMAIN:   

2020 WITH-CAAA MINUS 2020 WITHOUT CAAA SCENARIOS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some areas also experience modest increases in PM concentrations with the CAAA – 
these areas show up in light orange on the map.  Some of the smallest estimated 
increases, less than 1 µg/m3, can be introduced by the MATS adjustment procedure, 
particularly when the locations are far from monitors and/or have very low modeled or 
monitored concentrations of a PM species.  We interpret very small increases such as 
these as effectively “no change” so adjusted the map legend to group these cells with 
others where are small benefits.37  There remain five cells with disbenefits greater than 1 

                                                      
37 There is one area in northeastern Utah where the MATS procedure yields results for the without-CAAA scenario that are so 

large as to be not plausible.  The result was associated with increases in agricultural burning in the without-CAA scenario, 
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µg/m3.  The three cells of these five with the smallest disbenefit estimates did not have 
disbenefits in the CMAQ modeling – we therefore conclude that the disbenefit result was 
introduced by the MATS procedure. 

In the remaining two cells, we conclude that implementation of the CAAA led to negative 
benefits, associated with actual increases in emissions resulting in the with-CAAA case 
relative to the without-CAAA case.  The largest disbenefit, of 4.1 µg/m3, is in the 
northwestern corner of New Mexico, in the cell which includes the Four Corners Power 
Plant, one of the largest coal-burning power plants in the West. The emissions data 
indicate sulfur dioxide emissions for that plant that are 14,000 tons greater in the 2020 
with-CAAA case, probably as a combined result of changes in dispatch and sulfur content 
of coal for this plant, which as of December 2010 does not have a sulfur scrubber.  The 
other cell shows a disbenefit of 1.25 µg/m3, and is located in Sweetwater County in south 
central Wyoming, which includes the Pacificorp-Jim Bridger Power Plant.  The air 
quality result here is also attributable to a difference in sulfur dioxide emissions from a 
power plant, in this case 2,000 tons greater in the 2020 with-CAAA scenario.  The 
dispatch of this unit appears to be identical in both scenarios, so the result is most likely 
attributable to a marginal reallocation of higher sulfur coal.  Note that, as indicated in the 
with-CAAA maps in Figure 4-6, these are areas that nonetheless would continue to 
experience PM2 5  concentrations below the 15 µg/m3 PM2 5 annual standard.  These 
relatively modest and geographically limited exceptions notwithstanding, it is clear that 
by 2020 the air quality benefits of the CAAA in reducing ambient concentrations of 
particulate matter are large and widespread. 

OZONE 

Figures 4-8 through 4-11 present similar CMAQ output data for ozone, with two 
important differences: (1) the ozone results are reported for the Eastern (EUS) and 
Western (WUS) 12-km modeling domains; and (2) the results presented are the average 
of daily maximum 8-hour ozone concentration, in ppb, over the course of a modeled 
ozone season (May 1 through September 30).  The average daily 8-hour maximum may 
seem like an odd metric for evaluating ozone concentrations, but because this is the 
metric used in epidemiological estimation of mortality risks of ozone this metric is 
closely correlated with the major mortality incidence and economic benefits associated 
with ozone precursor controls.  Results for the Eastern US are in Figures 4-8 and 4-9, and 
for the Western US in Figures 4-10 and 4-11. 

For the Eastern US, Figure 4-8 shows a similar pattern for ozone as was illustrated for 
particulate matter in Figure 4-6.  That is, while there are relatively modest increases in 

                                                                                                                                                 

coupled with otherwise low organic carbon monitor values in nearby monitors – the application of MATS therefore led to 

unusually high organic carbon and PM2.5 measures for that area.  For those three cells, we performed a moving average 

smoothing procedure to re-estimate the without-CAAA concentrations, using PM estimates from adjoining cells.  The 

adjustment is used only for the purposes of generating the maps in this chapter; for the purposes of health benefits 

modeling and valuation of benefits, we excluded these three suspect cells.  The cells represent very rural, sparsely 

populated areas in the Wasatch Mountains, and so we believe that excluding them from the benefits calculations is both 

prudent and has only a modest underestimation effect on the overall health benefits estimates. 
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ozone concentrations in the absence of the CAAA, the with-CAAA maps on the right side 
of the graphic show significant and widespread gains in air quality throughout the region, 
with air quality benefits increasing over time.  By 2020, Figure 4-9 shows that the 
difference in ozone concentrations is large in most areas of the east, with gains as large as 
30 ppb for this simulated day.   

Two other patterns in Figure 4-9 are also worth noting.  First, although the region-wide 
benefits of the CAAA are large, in many urban areas concentrations in the with-CAAA 
case are higher than in the without-CAAA case, in some cases near the Gulf Coast and in 
New York City by as much as 15 to 20 ppb.  Second, some of the areas with the largest 
improvements, such as those in the heart of the Midwest, include pockets of much smaller 
gains, particularly in some urban centers.  In both cases, these results are not unexpected.  
The complex chemistry of ozone includes a phenomenon known as “NOx-scavenging”, 
whereby nitrogen oxides, while participating as an ozone precursor, can also serve to 
scavenge or reduce ozone, particularly during the peak ozone season and in urban centers 
where ozone levels might otherwise be quite high.  The CAAA, in reducing the nitrogen 
oxide precursors, may in some cases reduce ozone on a regional level while leading to 
much smaller reductions or even increases in ozone in the center of certain urban areas.  
This effect explains both these results.  Nonetheless, as Figure 4-9 makes clear, the 
overall area (and population exposed) of ozone reductions is far greater than the 
corresponding areas with ozone increases. 

Ozone results in the Western US, in Figures 4-10 and 4-11, indicate a similar pattern to 
those for the Eastern US when examining concentrations in urban areas, although in the 
West the largest ozone air quality gains are restricted to a smaller area, centered in the 
areas in California that have historically struggled with ozone attainment.  In addition, in 
the Western US there are some more extensive areas in Figure 4-11 with ozone 
disbenefits attributed to the CAAA, particularly in Los Angeles.38  Another interesting 
result, not shown in Figure 4-10, is that we estimate that ozone concentrations will 
actually increase from 1990 to 2000 in most parts of California, in both the without-
CAAA and with-CAAA scenarios, before reductions in 2010 and 2020 bring ambient 
levels below those seen in 1990, at least in most areas.  This result is largely attributable 
to the longer attainment deadlines for the severe non-attainment areas in California – our 
scenario assumes that emissions will increase for some period before aggressive regional 
mobile source tailpipe standards and non-road fuel and engine standards, and local-scale 
ozone attainment plans, have their full effect later in our simulation period. 

  

                                                      
38 We examined this result further and found that, in cells with the largest disbenefits, the 2020 without-CAAA scenario 

yields concentrations of approximately 45 ppb, while concentrations in outlying areas are as high as 100 ppb or slightly 

higher.  One effect of CAAA controls is to suppress NOx-scavenging in the city center, where disbenefits are largest, yielding 

with-CAAA concentrations in the 60 to 65 ppb range.  The main effect of the CAAA, however, is large decreases in ozone in 

the outlying areas, to concentrations of 60 to 75 ppb. The net effect on a population weighted basis remains a lowering of 

overall exposures.   
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FIGURE 4-8.  CMAQ S IMULATED AND VNA ADJUSTED DAILY MAXIMUM 8-HOUR OZONE (PPB)  FOR 

THE EUS DOMAIN 
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FIGURE 4-9.  DIFFERENCE IN S IMULATED DAILY MAXIMUM 8-HOUR OZONE CONCENTRATION (PPB) 

FOR THE EUS DOMAIN FOR 15 JULY:  2020 WITH-CAAA MINUS 2020 WITHOUT-

CAAA SCENARIOS 
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FIGURE 4-10.  CMAQ S IMULATED AND VNA ADJUSTED DAILY MAXIMUM 8-HOUR OZONE (PPB)  FOR 

THE WUS DOMAIN 
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FIGURE 4-11.  DIFFERENCE IN S IMULATED DAILY MAXIMUM 8-HOUR OZONE CONCENTRATION (PPB) 

FOR THE WUS DOMAIN FOR 15 AUGUST:   2020 WITH-CAAA MINUS 2020 WITHOUT-

CAAA SCENARIOS 

 
 

UNCERTAINTY IN AIR QUALITY ESTIMATES 

Unlike the air quality modeling conducted over a decade ago for the first Section 812 
prospective analysis, which used two different models for ozone and particulate matter, 
the modeling conducted for the Second Prospective analysis utilized EPA’s Community 
Multiscale Air Quality (CMAQ) model, a “one-atmosphere” model that simulates the 
chemical formation, transport, and deposition of ozone and particulate matter together in 
one comprehensive system.39  The use of this comprehensive air quality modeling system 
provides a consistent platform for evaluating the expected responses to changes in 
precursor emissions, reducing many of the uncertainties which pertained in the First 
Prospective as a result of the limited ability of the models to capture important interaction 
effects among the ozone and PM precursor pollutants. 

                                                      
39 Use of an integrated model such as CMAQ for the current study was one of the recommendations made by the Council in 

their review of the First Prospective analysis. 
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Nonetheless, air quality modeling is a complex process and, as such, involves many 
uncertainties.  We provide a summary of some of the more important classes of air 
quality modeling uncertainties in Table 4-1 below.  These include a known 
meteorological bias in the 12-km eastern MM5 domain, which leads to a general 
tendency to underestimate the monthly observed precipitation; uncertainties in secondary 
organic aerosol (SOA) chemistry which lead to underestimation of SOA formation in the 
CMAQ simulations; issues in the detailed CMAQ modeling of some PM precursors; 
reliance for ozone modeling on a 12-km grid, suggesting NOx inhibition of ambient ozone 
levels may be under-represented in some urban areas; and some emissions estimation 
geographic scale/resolution issues.  In all cases but the ozone grid resolution and 
modeling of SOA formation, the effect of these uncertainties on our estimate of net 
benefits is of uncertain direction.  In addition, in all but one case, modeling of SOA 
formation, we believe the impact of these uncertainties is probably minor, or of an 
influence less than five percent of the total net benefits, based on current information.  
Use of the CMAQ model platform, which has been evaluated in many contexts and used 
extensively by EPA for broad regulatory analyses such as the Second Prospective, has 
been a major factor enhancing our understanding of the impact of air quality modeling 
exercises such as this. 

Another factor contributing to our understanding of key uncertainties is that the air 
quality modeling analysis conducted for the second Section 812 prospective study used 
national-scale modeling databases originally prepared by EPA for use in other recent 
modeling exercises conducted to support national rulemaking, including the latest 
available meteorological and other input databases (for 2002). Given that the modeling 
databases were originally prepared and utilized by EPA in other analyses, a 
comprehensive performance evaluation was not undertaken as part of this Section 812 
prospective analysis; though the overall projections were assessed using the Atmospheric 
Model Evaluation Tool (AMET), which showed bias and error statistics for our results 
were within the acceptable range for model performance.40 As noted in Table 4-1, biases 
or uncertainties could be manifest in the simulated concentration fields due to the use of 
the 36- and 12-km resolution grids, which might not be sufficiently detailed to resolve 
certain sub-grid scale processes in portions of the modeling domain. All air quality 
modeling exercises are affected by inherent uncertainties in model formulation, 
meteorological inputs, and emission inventory estimates. Nevertheless, the modeling was 
conducted following current EPA guidelines and in a manner consistent with EPA 
approaches/practice for similar national-scale modeling exercises. 

One factor identified in Table 4-1 involves uncertainties associated with corrections to the 
air quality outputs completed coincident with the Council review of the study outputs.   
These corrections, reflecting the need to adjust some categories of direct fine particulate 
emissions for the without-CAAA scenario, and to incorporate adjustments to take account 
of processes that remove fugitive dust from the ambient air at or close to the source of 
emissions, owing to the effect of forests, vegetation, and urban structures on fugitive dust, 

                                                      
40 ICF International, Evaluation of CMAQ Model Performance for the 812 Prospective II Study, November 24, 2009, page 31 
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This chapter presents an overview of our approach to modeling changes in adverse health 
effects and applying monetary value to these benefits, summarizes the results for major 
health effect categories and discusses key uncertainties related to the analysis.  As noted 
above, the chapter focuses primarily on the human health effects associated with 
exposure to criteria pollutants, however we also present the methodology and results of a 
case study of health benefits from a single air toxic pollutant (benzene) for a particular 
area of the United States (the Houston metropolitan area). 

OVERVIEW OF APPROACH 

We estimate the impact of the CAAA on human health by analyzing the difference in the 
expected incidence of adverse health effects between a “with-" and a “without-CAAA” 
regulatory scenario.  As described in Chapter 1, the without-CAAA scenario assumes no 
further controls on criteria pollutant emissions aside from those already in place in 1990, 
while the with-CAAA scenario assumes full implementation of the 1990 CAAA.  The 
analysis uses a sequence of linked analytical models to estimate health benefits, also 
described in Chapter 1, which includes forecasts of implementation activities undertaken 
in response to the CAAA, estimates of pollutant emissions associated with each scenario 
(see Chapter 2) and air quality modeling of criteria pollutant emissions under each 
scenario (see Chapter 4).   

Estimating health effects benefits from air quality modeling results involves three key 
steps, described in greater detail below.  The first step involves estimating the exposure of 
individuals to air pollutants.  Although exposure to air pollutants can occur in both 
outdoor and indoor environments, for our purposes it is appropriate to focus on outdoor 
air pollution concentrations as a measure of human exposure.  The main reason is that, in 
the second step of our approach, estimating the human response to exposure, the exposure 
measures used in the epidemiological studies used to derive human response are typically 
based on outdoor concentrations.  These “concentration-response functions” were 
developed to relate outdoor concentrations to changes in the incidence of health effects 
and mortality in response to pollutant exposure.  The third step, valuation of avoided 
human health risk, is accomplished by application of estimates from the literature to 
characterize unit values per case avoided.   

A critical tool in EPA’s analyses of health benefits is the Environmental Benefits 
Mapping and Analysis Program (BenMAP), developed and continuously maintained by 
EPA’s Office of Air and Radiation.41   BenMAP is capable of accepting a wide range of 
air quality inputs, and then performing exposure analysis that includes calibration of 
model results to monitor data for historical years, assessing the changes in health effects 
incidence resulting from those exposures, and estimating the monetized value of those 
avoided health effects.  Health effects in BenMAP are based on differences in two 
scenarios of exposure, and health effects and valuation estimates reflect the implications 
of the difference in exposure across scenarios, rather than absolute estimates of incidence 
                                                      
41 For more information, see the BenMAP User’s Manual and Appendices, September 2008, Prepared for the Office of Air 

Quality Planning and Standards, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC, by Abt Associates Inc. 

Release 4 - HQ-FOI-01268-12 All emails sent by "Richard Windsor" were sent by EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson



The Benefits and Costs of the Clean Air Act fron 1990 to 2020 

 

 5-3

associated with in any given scenario.  BenMAP required three types of inputs for this 
analysis: 1) forecasted changes in air quality from the without-CAAA to the with-CAAA 
scenarios in 2000, 2010 and 2020; 2) health impact functions that quantify the 
relationship between the forecasted changes in exposure and expected changes in adverse 
health effects; and 3) health valuation functions that assign a monetary value to changes 
in specific health effects.  We describe each of these inputs in greater detail below.  The 
outputs of BenMAP for this analysis include central estimates and distributions of health 
effects incidence and valuation, at the national and county level, for each of the three 
target years of analysis. 

The Project Team also estimates two other outputs related to avoided premature mortality 
attributed to the CAAA: life-years lost, and changes in life expectancy.  EPA developed a 
separate model, the Population Simulation model, to generate these outputs.  As 
described below, the population simulation approach provides some advantages over the 
BenMAP model in terms of simulation of the dynamic effects of mortality across a 
population through time, but also has several significant disadvantages relative to 
BenMAP in terms of the spatial resolution of pollutant exposure estimates.  As a result, 
the population simulation approach operates as a supplement to the BenMAP-based 
primary estimates for selected measures of the impact of reducing risks of premature 
mortality.     

EXPOSURE ASSESSMENT 

As described in Chapter 4, the Project Team used the Community Multi-scale Air Quality 
(CMAQ) integrated modeling system to simulate the physical and chemical processes 
that govern the formation, transport, and deposition of gaseous and particulate species in 
the atmosphere.  The CMAQ results serve as the basis of the air quality inputs required 
for BenMAP.  For particulate matter, the CMAQ model was applied for an annual 
simulation period (January through December) and utilized a 36-km resolution modeling 
domain that encompasses the contiguous 48 states.  For ozone and related species, the 
CMAQ model was applied for a five-month simulation period that captures the key 
ozone-season months of May through September, and used two 12-km resolution 
modeling domains (that when combined cover the contiguous 48 U.S. states). 
We also described in Chapter 4 the adjustment of the CMAQ results generated by 
combining those results with observed monitoring data, using a method known as the 
monitor and model relative adjustment procedure.  This technique was applied for the PM 
estimates using a program called the Modeled Attainment Test Software (MATS) (see 
Chapter 4 for a detailed description of this process).  The resulting 36 km grid cell 
concentrations for PM were then used as inputs for BenMAP.  For ozone, a similar 
adjustment process was completed, but the analysis was done directly within BenMAP, 
using the enhanced Voronoi Neighbor Averaging (eVNA) procedure.42  The eVNA and 
                                                      
42 As noted in Chapter 4, eVNA and VNA are procedures for interpolating values from nearby monitors using inverse distance 

squared weighting using Voronoi Neighbor Averaging.  This is an algorithm that identifies a set of monitors close to the grid 

cell (called “neighbors”) and then estimates the PM species concentration in that grid cell by calculating an inverse-

distance weighted average of the monitor values (i.e., the concentration values at monitors closer to the grid cell are 

weighted more heavily than monitors that are further away).  See the BenMAP manual for further information on the eVNA 
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MATS procedures provide gridded estimates of outdoor air quality at the same grid 
resolution as the CMAQ results.  These procedures also provide a means for calibrating 
model results in those grid cells where no monitors exist, combining both model results 
with nearby monitor results to yield a “surface” of air quality that avoids the problems 
with direct extrapolation of results from monitors not located within a grid cell boundary. 

HEALTH IMPACT FUNCTIONS 

Health impact functions estimate the change in a health endpoint of interest, such as 
hospital admissions, for a given change in ambient pollutant concentration.  A standard 
health impact function has four components: 1) the size of the potentially affected 
population; 2) a baseline incidence rate for the health effect (obtained from a source of 
public health statistics, such as the Centers for Disease Control, or sometimes from an 
epidemiological study itself); 3) a concentration-response (C-R) function (derived from 
epidemiological studies), which relates the change in the number of individuals in a 
population exhibiting a “response” to a change in pollutant concentration experience to 
the size of the exposed population; and 4) the estimated change in the relevant pollutant 
concentration.  The first three of these components are discussed in further detail below.  
The fourth is generated through the air quality modeling and exposure estimation 
procedure discussed above. 

Potent ia l ly  Affected Populat ions   

Health benefits resulting from the CAAA are related to the change in air pollutant 
exposure experienced by individuals.  Because the expected changes in pollutant 
concentrations vary from location to location, individuals in different parts of the country 
may not experience the same level of health benefits.  This analysis apportions benefits 
among individuals by matching the change in air pollutant concentration in a grid cell 
with the size of the population that experiences that change. 

BenMAP incorporates 2000 U.S. Census Bureau block-group population data to 
determine the specific populations potentially affected by ozone and PM2 5.  For future 
years (2010 and 2020), BenMAP scales the 2000 Census-based population estimates 
using the ratio of forecasted and 2000 county-level population estimates provided by 
Woods and Poole (2007).43    

                                                                                                                                                 

procedure. Abt Associations (2008). BenMAP: Environmental Benefits Mapping and Analysis Program User’s Manual. 

Prepared for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Research Triangle 

Park, NC, September.  

43 Woods & Poole Economics Inc., 2007.  Complete Demographic Database. Washington, DC. 

http://woodsandpoole.com/index.php. 
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Basel ine Inc idence Rates 

Baseline incidence rates are needed to convert the relative changes of a health effect in 
relation to a specific change in air pollution, which are reported in epidemiological 
studies, into the number of avoided cases.  For instance, an epidemiological study might 
report that for a 10 ppb decrease in daily ozone levels, hospital admissions decrease by 
three percent.  This estimate must then be multiplied by a baseline incidence rate (i.e., an 
estimate of the number of cases of the health effect per year) and the total population to 
determine how this three percent decrease translates into the number of fewer cases.      

For this analysis, we used nationally-representative age-specific incidence and prevalence 
rates, where available, for each health endpoint.  We obtained these data from a variety of 
sources, such as the CDC, the National Center for Health Statistics and the American 
Lung Association.  Information from individual epidemiological studies was used if data 
from other sources were not available, as these data are often specific to the study 
population and location and therefore may not be as nationally representative.44  For 
future years, mortality rates are projected based on available Bureau of the Census 
projections – other projected baseline incidence rates are generated to be consistent with 
the projections of population growth incorporated into BenMAP.  

Concentrat ion-Response Funct ions 

We calculate the benefits attributable to the CAAA as the avoided incidence of adverse 
health effects.  Such benefits can be measured using C-R functions specific to each health 
effect.  C-R functions are equations that relate the change in the number of individuals in 
a population exhibiting a “response” (in this case an adverse health effect such as 
respiratory disease) to a change in pollutant concentration experienced by that population.   

PM2 5 and ozone have been associated with a number of adverse health effects in the 
epidemiological literature, such as premature mortality, hospital admissions, emergency 
room visits, and respiratory and cardiovascular disease.  The published scientific 
literature contains information that supports the estimate of some, but not all, of these 
effects.  Thus, it is not possible currently to estimate all of the human health benefits 
attributable to the CAAA.  In addition, for some of the health effects we do quantify, the 
current economic literature does not support the estimation of the economic value of 
these effects.  Table 5-1 lists the human health effects of these pollutants that have been 
identified, indicating which have been included in our benefits estimates and those that 
we did not quantify.  See Chapter 2 of Health and Welfare Benefits Analyses to Support 
the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act, for a specific list of 
the C-R functions used for each health endpoint. 

                                                      
44 See Health and Welfare Benefits Analyses to Support the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act, 

February 2011, for a list of data sources and average baseline incidence rates for each health effect.   
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We rely on the most recently available, published scientific literature to ascertain the 
relationship between air pollution and adverse human health effects.  We use a set of 
criteria outlined in Table 5-2 to evaluate potential studies to use as the basis for the C-R 
function.  These criteria include consideration of whether the study was peer-reviewed, 
the study design and location, and characteristics of the study population, among others.  
In addition, we consider the input of the Council advising EPA for this study, as well the 
specific advice of the Health Effects Subcommittee (HES) of the Council, which 
explicitly focused on the health effects estimation component of the study.  Overall, the 
selection of C-R functions for benefits analysis is guided by the goal of achieving a 
balance between comprehensiveness and scientific defensibility.   

Epidemiological studies provide the basis for the C-R functions used in the health impact 
functions for assessing benefits of the CAAA.  These studies also provide an indication of 
a portion of the uncertainty associated with the C-R function, by reporting a confidence 
interval around the mean value, which we use to derive a low, central and high estimate 
of avoided cases.  However, this range only represents the statistical error in the 
estimates, which is related to the study population size and frequency of outcome.  
Several other sources of uncertainty exist in the relationship between ambient pollution 
and the health outcomes, including model uncertainty, potential confounding by factors 
that are both correlated with the health outcome and each other, and potential 
misclassification of the study population exposures.  For a full list of uncertainties related 
to application of a C-R function to estimate benefits, see the Uncertainty section of this 
chapter and the Second Prospective Uncertainty Report, Uncertainty Analyses to Support 
the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act.   

EPA recently conducted an expert elicitation (EE) study, which is the formal elicitation of 
subjective judgments, in order to more fully characterize the uncertainty surrounding the 
PM2 5/mortality C-R function.  This study allowed experts to consider and integrate 
several sources of uncertainty in the form of a probability distribution of the C-R 
function.  As discussed further below, the EE study results helped to inform our selection 
of a primary C-R function to estimate avoided premature mortality due to CAAA-related 
PM2 5 exposure reductions. 

Avoided premature mortality is the largest contributor to the monetized health benefits of 
PM2 5 and ozone.  Therefore, we describe below in further detail the specific C-R 
functions selected to quantify CAAA-related avoided deaths. 
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PM Mortality C-R Function 

The estimated relationship between particulate matter exposure and premature mortality 
is one of the most important parameters in the overall quantified and monetized benefit 
estimate for this study.  An extensive base of literature exists to support development of 
the C-R function linking fine particulate matter exposure with premature mortality.  Our 
knowledge of both the potential biological mechanisms linking PM2 5 exposure with 
mortality and the potential magnitude of this effect has grown since the First Prospective 
was completed as the result of continued research and follow-up of existing study 
populations.  Both short-term and long-term epidemiological studies have been conducted 
to examine the PM/mortality relationship.  Short-term exposure studies attempt to relate 
short-term (often day-to-day) changes in PM concentrations and changes in daily 
mortality rates up to several days after a period of elevated PM concentrations.  Long-
term exposure studies examine the potential relationship between longer-term (e.g., 
annual) changes in exposure and annual mortality rates.  Although positive, significant 
results have been reported using both of these study types, we rely exclusively on long-
term studies to quantify PM mortality effects.  This is because cohort studies are able to 
discern changes in mortality rates due to long-term exposure to elevated air pollution 
concentrations.  This provides a better match to the benefits of air pollution control 
programs under the CAAA, which are also focused on reducing long-term exposure.  
These effect estimates may also include some of the mortality changes due to short-term 
peak exposures.45  Therefore, the use of C-R functions from long-term studies is likely to 
yield a more complete assessment of the effect of PM on mortality risk.   

Among long-term PM studies, we prefer those using a prospective cohort design to those 
using an ecologic or population-level design.  Prospective cohort studies follow 
individuals forward in time for a specified period, periodically evaluating each 
individual’s exposure and health status.  Population-level ecological studies assess the 
relationship between population-wide health information (such as counts of daily 
mortality) and ambient levels of air pollution.  Prospective cohort studies are preferred 
because they are better at controlling a source of uncertainty known as “confounding.” 
Confounding is the mis-estimation of an association that results if a study does not 
control for factors that are correlated with both the outcome of interest (e.g., mortality) 
and the exposure of interest (e.g., PM exposure).  For example, smoking is associated 
with mortality.  If populations in high PM areas tend to smoke more than populations in 
low PM areas, and a PM exposure study does not include smoking as a factor in its 
model, then the mortality effects of smoking may be erroneously attributed to PM, 
leading to an overestimate of the risk from PM.  Prospective cohort studies are better at 
controlling for confounding than ecologic studies because the former follow a group of 
individuals forward in time and can gather individual-specific information on important 
risk factors such as smoking.   

                                                      
45 See Kunzli et al. (2001) for a discussion of this issue. 
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Two major prospective cohort studies have been conducted in the U.S.: the American 
Cancer Society (ACS) study and the Six Cities study.  These two cohorts are large, 
produce consistent results, provide broad geographic coverage and have been 
independently reexamined and reanalyzed.  Strengths of the ACS study over the Six 
Cities study include greater geographic coverage (50 U.S. cities) and larger sample size.  
However, a key limitation of this study is a recruitment method that led to a study 
population with higher income, more education, and greater proportion of whites than the 
general U.S. population.  In addition, available monitoring data was often assigned to all 
of the individuals within a large metropolitan area, potentially allowing for exposure 
misclassification.46  Both of these limitations could imply that the ACS results are 
potentially biased low.  The Six Cities study included a more representative sample of 
subjects within each community and set up monitors purposefully for the study.  It was 
therefore able to assign exposures at a finer geographic scale.  However, this study only 
included six cities and therefore may not be representative of the entire U.S. population, 
mix of air pollutants, and other potentially important factors. 

The extensive epidemiological literature is complemented by EPA’s 2006 expert 
elicitation (EE) study that asked 12 leading experts in PM health effects to integrate this 
pool of knowledge with the various sources of uncertainty that hinder our ability to 
precisely identify the true mortality impact of a unit change in annual PM2 5 concentration 
(IEc, 2006).  The results of the expert elicitation study showed three important findings: 
first, that advances in the scientific literature led many of the interviewed scientists to 
espouse greater confidence in the linkage between PM2 5 exposure and mortality; second, 
that many of the experts believed that the central estimate of the mortality effect  was 
considerably higher than the Pope et al. (2002) result used in the First Prospective; and 
third, that most of the experts’ uncertainty distributions of the mortality effect reflected a 
much wider range of possible values, both high and low, than were used in the First 
Prospective study.  The expert elicitation study does not, however, provide an integrated 
distribution across all 12 experts of possible values for the PM-mortality C-R function. 

Based on consultations with the Council’s Health Effects Subcommittee (HES), the 812 
Project Team developed a distribution of C-R function coefficients (i.e., the percent 
change in annual all-cause mortality per one μg/m3 change in annual average PM2 5) for 
use in the PM-mortality C-R function for the Second Prospective study.  This distribution 
is rooted in the epidemiological studies that most inform our understanding of the PM-
mortality C-R function, but reflects the broader findings of the EE study.  We based the 
primary C-R coefficient estimate of the Second Prospective study on a Weibull 
distribution with a mean of 1.06 percent decrease in annual all-cause mortality per one 
μg/m3.  This mean is roughly equidistant between the results of the two most well-studied 
PM cohorts, the ACS cohort (0.58, as derived from Pope et al., 2002) and the Six Cities 
cohort (1.5, as derived from Laden et al., 2006), both of whose results have been robust to 
continued follow-up and extensive re-analysis.  Half of the coefficient values in this 

                                                      
46 Studies have shown that greater spatial resolution of exposures can result in increased effect estimates (Jerrett et al., 

2005). 
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distribution fall between these two studies, one-quarter are higher than the Laden mean 
estimate, and one-quarter are lower than the Pope mean estimate; however all coefficient 
values are greater than zero.  This distribution is consistent with the EE results described 
above, showing considerable support for higher values based on results from more recent 
studies (e.g., the Laden et al. (2006) Six Cities follow-up) and concerns cited by the 
Council HES that the ACS cohort results may underestimate the true effect.  The use of 
all positive values is consistent with both the increased confidence in a causal link 
between PM2 5 exposure and mortality shown in the EE study and the lack of evidence in 
general to support a threshold for mortality effects of PM2 5 in the U.S. population.47   

The results of two recently published cohort studies provide additional support for the 
selection of the Weibull distribution as the primary estimate for the PM Mortality C-R 
function.  The first is a large retrospective cohort study of over 13 million Medicare 
participants (i.e., those aged 65 and above) throughout the US (Eftim et al. 2008; Zeger et 
al. 2008).  When the entire Medicare cohort was analyzed, authors found a 6.8 percent 
change in annual all-cause mortality in the eastern US (95% CI: 4.9-8.7) and a 13.2 
percent change in the central US (95% CI: 9.5-16.9) per 10 μg/m3 change in the long-term 
(six-year) average annual  PM2 5. There was no association found in the western US 
(Zeger et al., 2008).  These results are similar to the interquartile range of the Weibull 
distribution selected for the primary estimate for the Second Prospective.  An analysis 
restricted to those living in the locations corresponding to the ACS and Six Cities cohort 
study analyses yielded percent changes in annual all-cause mortality per 10 μg/m3 of 
PM2 5 of 10.9 (95% CI: 9.0-12.8) and 20.8 (95%CI: 14.8-27.1) respectively, which are 
somewhat higher than the estimates reported in the original studies (Eftim et al., 2008).48  
One possible explanation for this difference is the lack of control for lifestyle factors in 
the analyses by Eftim et al., such as smoking, potentially leading to confounded results.   

The second study is a prospective cohort of female nurses in the Northeastern and 
Midwestern regions of the US (Puett et al. 2008 and 2009).  An increase of 10 μg/m3 of 
PM2 5 in the previous year was associated with a 26 percent increase in annual all-cause 
mortality (a hazard ratio of 1.26 with a 95% CI ranging from  1.02 to 1.54).49  This 
estimate is at the upper end of our primary estimate Weibull distribution (roughly 
equivalent to the 95th percentile).  However, this study covered only two regions of the 
country and included only females and therefore may not be generalizable to the general 
population of the US.  

A final topic concerns EPA’s choice to estimate avoided mortality and morbidity 
associated with reductions in fine particles using estimates of changes in exposure to fine 

                                                      
47 See “Health Effects Subcommittee of the Council. Review of EPA’s Draft Health Benefits of the Second Section 812 

Prospective Study of the Clean Air Act.” (EPA-COUNCIL-10-001), available at http://www.epa.gov/advisorycouncilcaa 

48 Note that these results are based on a slightly different air quality dataset than the analysis of the full cohort.  The 

nationwide estimate is based on a six-year average (2000-2005) and the ACS and Six Cities location-specific results are 

based on two years of data (2000-2002). 

49 Biennial questionnaires on lifestyle factors were administered to participants, allowing for control of a number of 

individual-level confounders.   
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particle mass as the exposure input in the damage function.  The implication of this 
approach is that we assume that all fine particles, regardless of their chemical 
composition, are equally potent per unit concentration in producing premature mortality 
and other health outcomes.  If it could be shown that fine particle species exhibit 
significantly differentiated toxicity, then from a benefits analysis perspective, treatment 
of all fine particle species as equally toxic would lead to biased benefits estimates, 
because the composition of fine particle mass varies over space and time, as do the fine 
particle reductions resulting from different air pollutant control strategies.  We believe 
that these biases would likely be minor in an analysis such as the 812 study, which 
evaluates a blended particle reduction strategy targeting multiple particle types across the 
entire spectrum of control programs authorized under the Clean Air Act Amendments.  
Nonetheless, we conducted a careful evaluation of the potential for characterizing 
uncertainty in the differential toxicity of the components of fine particle pollution. 

There exists a limited but growing literature addressing the health effects of various fine 
particle components, including sulfate, nitrate, elemental carbon (EC), organic carbon 
(OC), and metals.50 A number of epidemiological studies, mostly time-series studies, 
have associated one or more of the components of fine particle pollution individually 
with mortality; however, so far no clear picture has emerged to implicate specific 
components as being consistently more toxic than fine particles in general or to classify 
any individual components of fine particle pollution as non-toxic.  However, the 
epidemiological evidence base is limited by the high correlations among many fine 
particle components (and between those components and fine particles as a whole).  It is 
difficult to corroborate this evidence toxicologically, given the fact that human exposure 
to single particle components is not a realistic scenario.  The literature base continues to 
expand, but significant investments in both epidemiological and toxicological research 
are needed to understand the potentially complex systems of particle interactions that may 
be responsible for the observed health effects of fine particle pollution.   

Thus, while treatment of all fine particle components as equally toxic may lead to biases 
in benefits estimates, we also acknowledge that any arbitrary assumption about the 
differential toxicities of specific fine particle types may also lead to biases in benefits 
estimates. Any of these biases may mask important spatial variation in the distribution of 
benefits of Clean Air Act programs across the U.S. due to regional variation in fine 
particle species mixes, which could affect selection of the most health beneficial 
measures to meet Clean Air Act requirements such as the National Ambient Air Quality 
Standards. However, the “equal toxicity” fine particle approach is rooted in both 
biological considerations (i.e., the importance of particle size to toxicity) and in largely 
consistent findings across an extensive set of epidemiological studies conducted across 
countries, states, and cities that show PM2 5 concentrations are associated with increased 
mortality and morbidity rates.  This consistency of results across a variety of fine particle 

                                                      
50 For specific examples of research addressing differential toxicity of PM components, see Chapter 5 of Uncertainty Analyses 

to Support the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act. 

http://www.epa.gov/oar/sect812/may10/IEc Uncertainty.pdf  
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FIGURE 5-1.  DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION WEIGHTED EXPOSURE TO PM2 . 5  SPECIES AS 

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL (TOP PANEL) AND IN MICROGRAMS PER CUBIC METER  

(BOTTOM PANEL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ozone Mortality C-R Function 

Several recent epidemiological studies suggest that ozone exposure likely contributes to 
premature mortality.52  Epidemiological data are also supported by recent human and 
                                                      
52 See, for example, National Research Council, 2008, Estimating Mortality Risk Reduction and Economic Benefits from 

Controlling Ozone Air Pollution.  A key recommendation of this NAS panel was that ozone mortality estimates from 

available epidemiological studies represent a separate and additive effect to those from PM/mortality epidemiological 

studies. 
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animal experimental data, which suggestive evidence for plausible pathways by which the 
risk of respiratory or cardiovascular mortality could be increased by ambient ozone.   

Multiple time-series epidemiological studies explore the relationship between short-term 
ozone exposure and premature mortality.  Most notably, a large multi-city study known 
as the National Morbidity, Mortality, and Air Pollution Study (NMMAPS) was designed 
to explore the association between several pollutants, including ozone, and daily 
mortality that focused on large cities across the US where levels of pollutants were varied 
(Samet et al., 2000).  Three recently published studies based on the NMMAPS database 
that focus on the ozone/premature mortality relationship include Bell et al. (2004) (95 
U.S. cities), Schwartz et al. (2005) (14 U.S. cities), and Huang et al. (2005) (19 U.S. 
cities). 

In addition to these multi-city estimates, C-R functions for short-term ozone mortality can 
be derived from meta-analyses, which combine the results of several studies.  Three 
meta-analyses were performed to obtain a summary estimate of ozone-related mortality 
risks and to attempt to describe heterogeneity in risk estimates (Ito et al., 2005; Levy et 
al., 2005; Bell et al., 2005).  Each of these studies used different statistical techniques and 
datasets and examined statistical concerns, such as confounding, collinearity and possible 
interaction effects.53   

In general, effect estimates from the meta-analyses are higher than the NMMAPS-based 
results.  This could potentially be due to publication bias, as the meta-analyses relied 
solely on published studies, which could be more likely to contain statistically significant 
results.  NMMAPS generally produces lower estimates than other epidemiological time-
series studies, however, which could reflect specific methodological choices made by 
these investigators.  Since these studies are associated with different strengths and 
limitations and no single study emerges as the most suitable to use as the basis for our 
primary estimate, we opted to use a pooled estimate, equally weighting the C-R functions 
from all six of these studies. 

In addition to time-series epidemiological studies, a limited number of studies examine 
the cumulative effect of long-term exposure to ozone on mortality.  One such recent study 
(Jerrett et al., 2009) used study population data from the ACS cohort study along with 
ozone monitoring data and reported a significant association between deaths from 
respiratory causes and long-term ozone exposure.  In a recent review of the 812 Second 
Prospective Analysis methodology, the Council HES found the use of the Jerrett et al. 
estimate as the primary estimate premature at this time, due to a lack of corroboration 
from other cohort studies .54 

  

                                                      
53 National Research Council (NRC) (2008). Estimating Mortality Risk Reduction and Economic Benefits from Controlling Ozone 

Air Pollution. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. 

54 See “Health Effects Subcommittee of the Council. Review of EPA’s Draft Health Benefits of the Second Section 812 

Prospective Study of the Clean Air Act.” (EPA-COUNCIL-10-001), available at http://www.epa.gov/advisorycouncilcaa 
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HEALTH VALUATION FUNCTIONS 

In environmental benefit-cost analyses, the dollar value of an environmental benefit, such 
as improved health or avoidance of a case of illness, is the dollar amount necessary such 
that the person would be indifferent between experiencing the benefit and possessing the 
money.  In most cases, the dollar amount required to compensate a person for exposure to 
an adverse effect is roughly the same as the dollar amount a person is willing to pay to 
avoid the effect.  Therefore, in economic terms, the “willingness-to-pay” (WTP) is the 
appropriate measure of the value of avoiding an adverse effect.  For example, the value of 
an avoided respiratory symptom would be a person’s WTP to avoid that symptom. 

For most goods, WTP can be observed by examining actual market transactions. For 
example, if a gallon of bottled drinking water sells for one dollar, it can be observed that 
at least those persons who choose to purchase that good are willing to pay at least one 
dollar for the water.  For goods that are not exchanged in the market, such as most 
environmental goods, valuation is not so straightforward.  Nevertheless, a value may be 
inferred from observed behavior, such as through estimation of the WTP for mortality 
risk reductions based on observed sales and prices of products that result in similar effects 
or risk reductions, (e.g., non-toxic cleaners or bike helmets).  Alternatively, surveys may 
be used in an attempt to directly elicit WTP for an environmental improvement.  
Wherever possible in this analysis, we use estimates of mean WTP.  In cases where WTP 
estimates are not available, we use the cost of treating or mitigating the effect as an 
alternative estimate. 

For example, for the valuation of hospital admissions we use the avoided medical costs as 
an estimate of the value of avoiding the health effects causing the admission.  These costs 
of illness (COI) estimates generally understate the true value of avoiding a health effect.  
They tend to reflect the direct expenditures related to treatment and not the utility an 
individual derives from improved health status or avoided health effect.  We use a range 
of values for most environmental effects, to support the primary central estimate of net 
benefits.  Table 5-4 summarizes the mean unit value estimates that we use in this 
analysis.   

Valuat ion of  Premature Morta l i ty  

Some forms of air pollution increase the probability that individuals will die prematurely.  
We use C-R functions for mortality that express the increase in mortality risk as cases of 
“excess premature mortality” per year.  The benefit provided by air pollution reductions, 
however, is the avoidance of small increases in the risk of mortality.  By summing 
individuals WTP to avoid small increases in risk over enough individuals, we can infer 
the value of a statistical premature death avoided.55  For expository purposes, we express 
this valuation as “dollars per mortality avoided,” or “value of a statistical life” (VSL), 

                                                      
55 Because people are valuing small decreases in the risk of premature mortality, it is expected deaths that are inferred.  For 

example, suppose that a given reduction in pollution confers on each exposed individual a decrease in mortal risk of 

1/100,000.  Then among 100,000 such individuals, one fewer individual can be expected to die prematurely.  If the average 

individual’s WTP for that risk reduction is $50, then the implied value of a statistical premature death avoided in that 

population is $50 x 100,000 = $5 million. 
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even though the actual valuation is of small changes in mortality risk experienced by a 
large number of people.  The economic benefits associated with avoiding premature 
mortality were the largest category of monetized benefits in the First Prospective 
Analysis and continue to be the largest source of monetized benefits for this Second 
Prospective Analysis.  Mortality benefits, however, are also the largest contributor to the 
range of uncertainty in monetized benefits.   

Because avoided premature mortality benefits are such an important part of this study’s 
results and findings, the remainder of this section provides an expanded discussion of 
some of the issues in valuing the avoidance of mortality risks from air pollution.  We first 
discuss some characteristics of an “ideal” measure of the value of mortality risk 
reductions from air pollution, and then review several dimensions in which the current 
estimates fall short of the ideal measure for this study.  For a more detailed discussion of 
the factors affecting the valuation of premature mortality see the Uncertainty section of 
this chapter and the Uncertainty Analyses to Support the Second Section 812 Benefit-Cost 
Analysis of the Clean Air Act.   

The health science literature on air pollution indicates that several human characteristics 
affect the degree to which mortality risk affects an individual.  For example, some age 
groups appear to be more susceptible to air pollution than others (e.g., the elderly and 
children).  Health status prior to exposure also affects susceptibility.  At-risk individuals 
include those who have suffered strokes or are suffering from cardiovascular disease and 
angina (Rowlatt, et al. 1998).  An ideal economic benefits estimate of mortality risk 
reduction would reflect these human characteristics, in addition to an individual’s WTP to 
improve one’s own chances of survival plus WTP to improve other individuals’ survival 
rates.56  The ideal measure would also take into account the specific nature of the risk 
reduction that is provided to individuals, as well as the context in which risk is reduced.  
To measure this value, it is important to assess how reductions in air pollution reduce the 
risk of dying from the time that reductions take effect onward, and how individuals value 
these changes.  Each individual’s survival curve, or the probability of surviving beyond a 
given age, should shift as a result of an environmental quality improvement.  For 
example, changing the current probability of survival for an individual also shifts future 
probabilities of that individual’s survival.  This probability shift will differ across 
individuals because survival curves are dependent on such characteristics as age, health 
state, and the current age to which the individual is likely to survive. 

                                                      
56 For a more detailed discussion of altruistic values related to the value of life, see Jones-Lee (1992). 
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A survival curve approach provides a theoretically preferred method for valuing the 
economic benefits of reduced risk of premature mortality associated with reducing air 
pollution, but the approach does not align well with current estimates of individual 
willingness to pay to avoid mortal risks.  We have adopted the survival curve approach in 
the population simulation model that we use to generate estimates of life years lost and 
reduced life expectancy associated with air pollution, but implementing that approach 
requires that we use a national measure of the change in air pollution exposure, and also 
does not include a valuation component.  As a result, the population simulation model 
results are not used for the primary results. 

The Project Team also considered whether other evidence might support an adjustment to 
the VSL used in this study, particularly to account for the age of individuals affected.  In 
general, studies of WTP to reduce mortality risk do not provide information on how VSL 
varies with life expectancy, but there are a few studies that attempt to assess the impact of 
age on VSL.57  Some economic models in the theoretical literature suggest that VSL 
follows an inverted U, rising through middle age and falling at older ages, though this 
model is only partially supported by the relevant empirical evidence (Johansson 2002, 
Hammitt 2007).  For example, revealed preference studies of the wage-risk literature 
support the inverted-U hypothesis (Aldy and Viscusi, 2007). These studies are limited, 
however, in that they necessarily include only employed workers and thereby exclude the 
elderly and those in poor health.  Stated-preference studies, which can include a broader 
population, yield mixed results. Some suggest little or no effect of age on VSL and others 
suggest a modest decrease at older ages (Krupnick, 2007).  Some studies, such as those 
by DeShazo (with Cameron, 2004), Chestnut (et al., 2004), and Alberini (et al., 2004) 
have found the effect of age on VSL to be statistically weak, suggesting a flatter 
relationship of VSL and age with a decline in VSL at much older ages.  Consistent with 
Hammitt (2007), we conclude that there is insufficient evidence in the empirical VSL 
literature at this time to support an adjustment to the base VSL for the age of the affected 
population. 

In sum, the economic valuation literature does not yet include good estimates of the value 
of this particular risk reduction commodity.  As a result, in this study we value avoided 
premature mortality risk using the value of statistical life approach.  As in the First 
Prospective Analysis, we use a mortality risk valuation estimate which is based on an 
analysis of 26 policy-relevant value-of-life studies (see Table 5-5).  Five of the 26 studies 
are contingent valuation (CV) studies, which directly solicit WTP information from 
subjects; the remaining studies are wage-risk studies, which base WTP estimates on 
estimates of the additional compensation demanded in the labor market for riskier jobs.  

                                                      
57 For a review of these studies, and this issue in particular see, for example, Hammitt (2007), Aldy and Viscusi (2007), and 
Krupnick (2007). 
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We used the best estimate from each of the 26 studies to construct a distribution of 
mortality risk valuation estimates for the section 812 study.  A Weibull distribution, with 
a mean of $7.4 million (in 2006$), provided the best fit to the 26 estimates.   

An additional uncertainty that is pertinent for this study’s results is the potential bias in 
using estimates of VSL that correspond to small changes in risk for the relatively larger 
changes in mortality risk estimated in this study.  As the results section below indicates, 
the large changes in PM2 5 that represent the difference between the with-CAAA and 
without-CAAA scenarios by 2020 lead to a change in annual mortality risk of 
approximately 1 in one thousand for adults aged 25 and older, or 7 in ten thousand for all 
ages, which corresponds to a roughly ten percent change from the national baseline 
mortality risk of approximately 1 in one hundred.58  This risk change is large compared to 
the mean mortality risk faced by subjects in the wage-risk studies that underlie our 
estimate of VSL – the mean risk for individual studies in our group of 26 varies from 4 in 
10,000 to 5 in 100,000, although clearly some individuals in those samples face higher 
individual risks.59  Economic theory suggests that individuals’ incremental willingness to 
pay to reduce mortality risk declines with an increasing size of the risk increment, but the 
rate at which it declines is uncertain.60  Estimates of differences in VSL across individuals 
in wage-risk study samples are also not informative, because they reflect variability in 
individuals’ risk tolerance rather than differences in WTP across a population for varying 
increments of risk reduction.  Further, it is not clear whether, in this context, the external 
risk imposed by air polluters on the exposed population implies that willingness-to-
accept-compensation (WTAC) to forgo air quality improvement may be the more 
relevant measure.  There is some theoretical work which suggests that, while valuation of 
a large risk increment may lead WTP estimates to be overestimated, it may lead WTAC 
estimates to be underestimated.61  Although the Project Team remains concerned that 
there may be a potentially important disparity between the large increment of risk valued 
in this study and relatively smaller increments of risk valued in the underlying VSL 
literature, we conclude that the current literature does not provide a sufficient basis to 
make a quantitative adjustment to our base VSL values to account for this factor.   

When valuing premature mortality for PM, we assume a lag between reduced PM 
exposure and the resulting reductions in incidences of premature mortality.62  This lag 
                                                      
58 Note that we are here reporting the total risk change that results from changes in 2020 exposures.  As outlined below, this 

risk is not immediate - instead we model this risk as occurring with latency over the course of the ensuing 20 years. 

59 See W. Kip Viscusi, 1992, Fatal Tradeoffs, (Oxford University Press: New York), Table 4-1. 

60 This issue is discussed to some extent in Thomas J. Kniesner, W. Kip Viscusi, and James P. Ziliak (2010), “Policy relevant 

heterogeneity in the value of statistical life: New evidence from panel data quantile regressions,” Journal of Risk and 

Uncertainty 40:15–31. 

61 See discussion papers provided in support of a recent EPA risk valuation workshop at 

http://www.epa.gov/air/toxicair/2009workshop.html (accessed November 24, 2010) in particular the papers and 

presentations by W. Kip Viscusi. 

62 Note that we do not employ a cessation lag for ozone mortality due to our reliance on short-term studies to estimate these 

benefits. 
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HEALTH EFFECTS MODELING RESULTS 

This section presents a summary of the differences in health effects resulting from 
improvements in air quality between the with-CAAA and the without-CAAA scenarios.  
Table 5-6 summarizes the CAAA-related avoided health effects in 2020 for each health 
endpoint included in the analysis and the associated monetary benefits.  The mean 
estimate is presented as the primary central estimate, the 5th percentile observation is 
presented as the primary low estimate and the 95th percentile is presented as the primary 
high estimate.63  In general, because the differences in air quality between the with- and 
without-CAAA scenarios are expected to increase from 1990 to 2020 and because 
population is also expected to increase during that time, the health benefits attributable to 
the CAAA are expected to increase consistently from 1990 to 2020.  More detailed 
results can be found in Health and Welfare Benefits Analyses to Support the Second 
Section 812 Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Clean Air Act, February 2011. 

AVOIDED PREMATURE MORTALITY ESTIMATES 

Our analysis indicates that the benefit of avoided premature mortality risk reduction 
dominates the overall net benefit estimate.  This is, in part, due to the high monetary 
value assigned to the avoidance of premature mortality relative to the unit value of other 
health endpoints.  As described in detail in this chapter, there are also significant 
reductions in other short-term and chronic health effects and a substantial number of 
health benefits that we could not quantify or monetize.  Mean results for all three target 
years are provided in Table 5-6, and the mean, primary low, and primary high estimates 
for 2020 are presented in Table 5-7. 

As shown in Table 5-7, our primary central estimate implies that PM and ozone 
reductions due to the CAAA in 2020 will result in 230,000 avoided deaths, with a 
primary low and primary high bound on this estimate of 45,000 and 490,000 avoided 
deaths, respectively.  These avoided deaths are valued at $1.8 trillion (2006$), with 
primary low and primary high bounds on this estimate of $170 billion to $5.5 trillion.  To 
provide some context for these large values, we estimated the per capita risk change and 
monetized benefits.  The estimated 230,000 avoided deaths in 2020 are equivalent to a 
total annual mortality risk reduction of 6.8 x 10-4 for the full estimated US population in 
2020.  With approximately 2.4 million estimated deaths in 2002, the avoided deaths in 
2020 would increase total deaths by about 9.5 percent.  The 230,000 avoided deaths are 
about 16 percent of the total mortality from the top four causes of death in the US in 
2002: heart disease (over 600,000 deaths); cancer (over 550,000 deaths); stroke (over 
130,000 deaths); and chronic lower respiratory disease (just less than 130,000 deaths).  
The monetized benefit per capita in 2020 is about $6,000, increasing from $2,700 in 2000 
and $4,200 in 2010.  Monetized benefits per household would be approximately $16,000 
in 2020, increasing from $7,300 in 2000 and $11,000 in 2010. 

  

                                                      
63 The distribution of incidence results represent the uncertainty associated with the coefficient of the C-R function for each 

health endpoint.  The distribution around the monetized benefits estimate reflects both uncertainty in the incidence as 

well as uncertainty associated with the valuation estimate. 
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